
 

 

 
 
Notice of a public meeting of  

Disabled Access Scrutiny Task Group 
 
To: Councillors Brooks, Fitzpatrick, Gunnell (Chair) and 

Barnes (Co-opted Non-Statutory Member) 
 

Date: Tuesday, 2 December 2014 
 

Time: 4.30 pm 
 

Venue: The Thornton Room - Ground Floor, West Offices (G039) 
 

A G E N D A 
 
1. Declarations of Interest    
 At this point, Members are asked to declare: 

 any personal interests not included on the Register of 
Interests 

 any prejudicial interests or 

 any disclosable pecuniary interests 
which they may have in respect of business on this agenda. 
 

2. Minutes   (Pages 1 - 4) 
 To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday 

26 August 2014. 
 

3. Public Participation 
        At this point in the meeting members of the public who have  

registered to speak regarding an item on the agenda or an issue 
within the Task Group’s remit can do so. The deadline for 
registering is 5pm the working day before the meeting, in this case 
5pm on Monday 1 December 2014. 

 
To register to speak please contact the Democracy Officers for the 
meeting, on the details at the foot of the agenda. 
 

 



 

 Filming or Recording Meetings 
Residents are welcome to photograph, film or record Councillors 
and Officers at all meetings open to the press and public. This 
includes the use of social media reporting, i.e. tweeting.  Anyone 
wishing to film, record or take photos at any public meeting 
should contact the Democracy Officers (whose contact details 
are at the foot of this agenda) in advance of the meeting. 
 
The Council’s protocol on Webcasting, Filming & Recording of 
Meetings ensures that these practices are carried out in a 
manner both respectful to the conduct of the meeting and all 
those present.  It can be viewed at 
http://www.york.gov.uk/downloads/download/3130/protocol_for_
webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings 
 

4. Disabled Access to York's Heritage & Cultural 
Offer - Interim Report   

(Pages 5 - 358) 

 This interim report presents information gathered to date in 
support on the ongoing scrutiny review of Disabled Access to 
York’s Heritage & Cultural Offer, and asks the Task Group to 
agree an appropriate way forward. 
 

5. Urgent Business    
 Any other business which the Chair considers urgent under the 

Local Government Act 1972. 
 
 

Democracy Officers: 
 
Name: Louise Cook/Catherine Clarke  (job-share) 
Contact Details: 

 Telephone – (01904) 551031  

 Email – louise.cook@york.gov.uk 
catherine.clarke@york.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.york.gov.uk/downloads/download/3130/protocol_for_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings
http://www.york.gov.uk/downloads/download/3130/protocol_for_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings
mailto:louise.cook@york.gov.uk
mailto:catherine.clarke@york.gov.uk


 

For more information about any of the following please contact the 
Democratic Services Officers responsible for servicing this meeting: 
 

 Registering to speak 

 Business of the meeting 

 Any special arrangements 

 Copies of reports and 

 For receiving reports in other formats 
 

Contact details are set out above. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



City of York Council Committee Minutes 

Meeting Disabled Access Scrutiny Task Group 

Date 26 August 2014 

Present Councillors Brooks, Gunnell and Barnes (Co-
opted Member) 

Apologies Councillor  Fitzpatrick 

 
1. Election of Chair  

 
Resolved: That Councillor Gunnell be appointed as Chair of the 

Disabled Access Scrutiny Task Group. 
 
 

2. Councillor Jeffries  
 
Following the recent passing of Councillor Jeffries, tribute was 
paid to the work that she had carried out to raise awareness of 
issues in respect of disabilities and equalities. 
 
 

3. Declarations of Interest  
 
Members were asked to declare any personal interests not 
included on the Register of Interests, or any prejudicial or 
disclosable pecuniary interests they might have in the business 
on the agenda.  None were declared. 
 
 

4. Public Participation  
 
It was reported that there were no registrations to speak at the 
meeting under the council’s Public Participation Scheme. 
 
 

5. Disabled Access to York's Heritage & Cultural Offer  
 
Members considered a report which presented the agreed remit 
for this review, together with information gathered in support of 
the objectives. 
 

Page 1 Agenda Item 2



(i) Members were asked to consider what additional 
information was required to support the review. 

 
Members suggested that the following additional 
information should be included within the report: 

 

 Reference to the mechanisms that would be in place to 
evaluate the outcome of the review. 

 Ways of promoting the sharing of good practice, for 
example by highlighting those organisations that were 
providing good access to their facilities or through 
nominated pioneers. 

 Raising awareness of the training offered by English 
Heritage on how to make properties more accessible.     

 A recommendation that the information provided by 
organisations should be presented in a more 
standardised format.  

 A recommendation that access to venues and 
attractions was considered as part of the city’s tourism 
strategy and that Visit York holds information on 
disabled access to venues and attractions in the area.   

 Consideration as to whether the Council’s service level 
agreements with organisations such as York Museums 
Trust and the Theatre Royal should require a 
Community Impact Assessment. 

 Further information on the Cinema Exhibitors 
Association card (CEA), including statistics on its use 
and feedback from consultees as to whether they were 
aware of the card. 

 Additional information in respect of paragraph 42, 
including clarification as to whether these 
arrangements were in place in cinemas in York.  It was 
also important that this provision was offered at a 
variety of times to give customer choice. 

 Referring to the provision that was in place in respect of 
live music, it was suggested that contact be made with 
York Pride, as they held live music events.  

 Additional information as to which venues had already 
been inspected by DisabledGo and which venues were 
due to be inspected this year. 

 Information as to the position of other York attractions 
on the  Vitalise list of the best and worst UK tourist 
attractions for wheelchair access to disabled visitors.  It 
would also be useful to identify arrangements that 

Page 2



could be put in place to improve an attraction’s position 
on the list. 

 Consideration of the information provided on the 
CHANGE website. 

 Further information about the Accessible York Card. 
 

(ii) Consideration was given to the arrangements for the 
proposed consultation sessions.  The following actions 
were agreed. 

 

 Prior to the consultation events with provider groups, a 
request would be made for an item about the review to 
be included on the agenda for a meeting of Visit York. 

 The consultation events would be held at West Offices. 

 The consultation event with users would be held on 15 
October 2014 at 6.00pm. (Following the meeting it was 
agreed that the event would be held on 21 October 
2014, as the preferred venue was not available on the 
15 October)   

 Further consideration would be given to a key note 
speaker for the consultation with provider groups.  As 
well as presenting the views identified at the 
consultation with users, questions could include 
identifying barriers to improving access, their views on 
presenting information in a more standardised format 
and how the sharing of good practice could be 
facilitated.  

 
Members noted the work that was taking place to make 
consultees aware of the review, including arranging for an 
article to be included in the CVS newsletter and emailing 
the Equality Advisory Group representatives. 

 
(iii) Members were asked to agree any additional consultees 

other than those list in paragraphs 53-61 of the report.  It 
was agreed that the following organisations should also be 
included as consultees: 

 Welcoming City Task Group 

 The Co-ordinator of the Human Rights City group 

 Jorvik Deaf Connection 

 York St John’s University (if a Disability Group had 
been established at the university)  

 Applefields School 

 Youth Council 

Page 3



 The Virtual Head 
 
Resolved: (a) That the additional information requested in 
    paragraph (i) be obtained. 
 
  (b) That the arrangements for the consultation 
    session be as detailed in paragraph (ii). 
 
  (c) That the groups detailed in paragraph (iii) be 
    added to the list of consultees. 
 
Reason: To progress the review in line with scrutiny 

procedures and protocols. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Councillor Gunnell, Chair 
[The meeting started at 5.00 pm and finished at 6.15 pm]. 

Page 4



 

 

  
 

   

 
Disabled Access Scrutiny Task Group 2 December 2014 
Report of the AD Governance & ITT 
 
Disabled Access to York’s Heritage & Cultural Offer – Interim Report 

 
Summary 

1. This interim report presents information gathered to date in support of 
the ongoing scrutiny review of Disabled Access to York’s Heritage & 
Cultural Offer, and asks the Task Group to agree an appropriate way 
forward. 

 Background to Review 

2. In June 2014 the Learning & Culture Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
agreed to proceed with a review of disabled access to York’s heritage 
and cultural offer, and set up a Task Group made up of the following 
Members to carry out the review on their behalf: 

 
 Cllr Julie Gunnell (Chair) 

Cllr Jenny Brooks 
Cllr Fiona Fitzpatrick 
Cllr Neil Barnes (Co-optee) 

 
3. The Task Group met for the first time in early August 2014, and agreed 

the following review remit: 
 
Aim: 
To improve all forms of access to York’s heritage and cultural offer 
 
Objectives: 
i. To understand legal requirements & identify best practice from 

elsewhere  

 

ii. To assess current levels of access for those with a range of 

impairments 

 
iii. To identify possible improvements and barriers  

Page 5 Agenda Item 4



 

 

iv. Facilitate the sharing of good practice across York’s network of 

providers 

 
Introduction  
 

4. The Equality Act defines disability as 'A physical or mental impairment 
which has a substantial and long term adverse effect on your ability to 
carry out normal day to day activities'.   The social model of disability 
uses the term ‘disabled people’ as a political one. People may have 
physical or sensory impairments, mental health conditions, or learning 
difficulties, but they face barriers in daily life because of the way society 
has developed. They are in essence, disabled by society. For example, a 
wheelchair user may have a physical impairment, but if buildings are 
developed with ramps and lifts, they are not 'disabled'. Similarly, if we 
provide sign language interpreters at meetings, deaf people who use 
signing are not disabled, but if we do not, they are. 
 

5. Nationally about one in five people live with an impairment or long-term 
health condition.  The population of York is 198,051.  According to the 
2014 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment for York, 6.6% of the population 
have a long-term health problem or disability which significantly limits day 
to day activities, this represents 13,018 people. Additionally, 3.1% of 
those aged 0-24 have a limitation in day-to-day activities. In 2009, 2,304 
people in York were diagnosed as having dementia. By 2015, this 
number is predicted to increase to 2,708. It is estimated that at any one 
time there are approximately 170 individuals living with a mental health 
condition for every 1,000 people aged 16 to 74 years in York. This 
equates to around 25,000 people experiencing various kinds of mental 
health conditions ranging from anxiety and depression to severe and 
enduring conditions including dementia and schizophrenia, (data from 
2008). Finally, there are 18,224 self-declared unpaid carers in York, 
9.2% of the population.  Taken together these statistics represent a 
significant proportion of the local population who are affected by disability 
or mental health in some way.   
 

6. In Summer 2013, Healthwatch York undertook a survey to look at the 
discrimination disabled people face in York, predominantly in terms of 
the attitudes disabled people faced both from service providers (GPs, 
shop assistants etc.) and the general public. They concluded that 
disabled people face a variety of discrimination from both service 
providers and the general public.  

Page 6



 

7. Beyond the moral and legal perspectives, there is a compelling business 
case for making an organisation’s products and services fully accessible 
to people with disabilities.  For example: 

 
• A third of people in the UK are disabled or close to someone who is.  
• 10 million disabled people live in the UK with a combined annual 

spending power in excess of £80 billion.  
 
8. In 2006, the Business Disability Forum1 and the Royal Association for 

Disability and Rehabilitation (now Disability Rights UK) undertook a 
survey into the opinions and shopping habits of disabled customers. 
What emerged was a picture of informed consumers who will reward 
good customer service and punish providers who don’t make any effort 
to meet their needs.  However, 83% of disabled people had 'walked 
away' from making a purchase, unable or unwilling to do so. The most 
important factor was inaccessible premises. Other important factors that 
discouraged disabled consumers from spending were poorly designed 
products and staff that were not disability confident, rude or appeared 
prejudiced. 

 
9. Poor or inappropriate communications was another area that affected 

spending. Inaccessible websites, telephone systems and printed 
information were all cited by respondents as reasons they did not make a 
purchase. 

 
10. Over a third of disabled people said that good disability service was the 

primary reason for choosing a provider or product. Two thirds chose 
businesses where they had received good customer service related to 
their disability. Companies that told disabled people about the 
accessibility of their products attracted those consumers. 

 
11. The Business Disability Forum has also developed a communication tool 

to explain how disability is likely to affect a customer base. These 
disability profiles provide some basic management information which 
helps to explain why an organisation needs to be disability-smart. A 
disability profile can help managers learn how to meet the needs of a 
wide range of customers and   they can be tailored to reflect the reality of 

                                            
1 Business Disability Forum is a not-for-profit member organisation that bringing together 
business people, disabled opinion leaders and government to understand what needs to 
change if disabled people are to be treated fairly so that they can contribute to business 
success, to society and to economic growth. 
 

Page 7



 

any particular business or industry sector.  Their UK customer profile for 
2014 is shown at Annex A. 

 
Information Gathered 

 
 Objective (i) - Legal Requirements & Best Practice 
 
12. Disability Law in the UK – The Equality Act 2010 

The Equality Act 2010 is the overarching piece of legislation that protects 
the rights of disabled people in the UK. It prohibits all discrimination on 
the basis of a range of characteristics including age and disability. In 
addition, the Act aims to promote and achieve equal opportunities for all. 
 

13. Prior to the introduction of the Act, duties on service providers towards 
disabled people had been phased in, over three stages under the 1995 
Disability Discrimination Act (DDA):  

 
• From December 1996 it was unlawful for service providers to treat 

disabled people less favourably for a reason related to their disability;  
 

• From October 1999 service providers had to make ‘reasonable 
adjustments’ for disabled people, such as providing extra help or 
making changes to the way they provide their services2; and  

 

• From October 2004, service providers had to take reasonable steps 
to remove, alter or provide a reasonable means of avoiding a physical 
feature which made it impossible or reasonably difficult for disabled 
people to use a service3.  

 
14. The Equality Act 2010 gives rights to people who have, or have had, a 

disability. ‘Disability’ covers both physical and mental impairments that 
have a substantial and a long-term effect on the person’s ability to carry 
out normal day-to-day activities. A long-term effect is one which has 
lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12 months or the rest of the 
person’s life (if shorter). Treatment and aids which alleviate or remove 
the effect of the impairment do not mean a person is not disabled. 

 

                                            
2 This does not place a duty on landlords to make ‘reasonable adjustments’ to their properties. 
3 The Disability Discrimination (Providers of Services) (Adjustment of Premises) Regulations 2001 
(SI 2001/3253) were laid before Parliament in October 2001 came into force in October 2004. 
These Regulations were amended twice to take account of changes to the Building Regulations – 
see SI 2004/1429 and SI 2005/1121 
 

Page 8



 

15. Progressive conditions are covered, as are conditions that have a 
substantial effect for short periods but are likely to recur. HIV, multiple 
sclerosis and cancer are deemed to be disabilities from the date of 
diagnosis. People with severe disfigurements are also deemed to be 
disabled by the Act, as are people who are registered as blind or partially 
sighted with their local authority or an ophthalmologist. People who have 
had a disability in the past are also protected by the Act. This is the case 
even if they have now fully recovered. 

 
16. The Act places duties on those providing goods, facilities or services to 

the public and those selling, letting or managing premises in the UK. 
The Act makes it unlawful for service providers, landlords and other 
persons to discriminate against disabled people in certain circumstances.  

 
17. People associated with a disabled person and people who are wrongly 

perceived to have a disability are also protected from direct 
discrimination and harassment but do not benefit from the duty to make 
reasonable adjustments. 

 
18. Although current UK equality law says disabled people must receive an 

equal experience to non-disabled peers, the reality is different. Scotland 
made disabled access part of its entertainment licensing laws in October 
2011 (provision for disabled visitors is now a condition for getting a new 
alcohol licence), the rest of the UK has no such requirements, and 
disabled music fans often find themselves excluded from events. 

 
19. Reasonable adjustments – A key aspect of the Equality Act that can 

impact on organisations is the duty to make reasonable adjustments. A 
service provider or provider of public functions has a duty under the 
Equality Act to make reasonable adjustments to prevent a disabled 
person from being placed at a substantial disadvantage by any provision, 
criterion or practice, or a physical feature of premises or the lack of an 
auxiliary aid. 

 
20. Where this is the case reasonable steps must be taken to remove or 

alter the feature or provide a reasonable means of avoiding the feature.  
The Equality Act also covers the provision of information which must be 
provided in an accessible format.   

 
21. The key provision governing reasonable adjustments for disabled people 

is in section 20 of the Equality Act 2010 and the explanatory notes to the 
Act explain the duties of service providers under section 20 – see 
relevant extract from the Act at Annex B.  

Page 9



 

 
22. The duty comprises three requirements which apply where a disabled 

person is placed at a substantial disadvantage in comparison with non-
disabled people: 

 
• The first requirement covers changing the way things are done (such 

as changing a practice), 
• The second covers making changes to the built environment (such as 

providing access to a building),  
• The third covers providing auxiliary aids and services (such as 

providing special computer software or providing a different service).  
 
23. Section 20 makes it clear that where the first or third requirements 

involve the way in which information is provided, a reasonable step 
includes providing that information in an accessible format.  

 
24. It sets out that under the second requirement, taking steps to avoid the 

disadvantage will include removing, altering or providing all reasonable 
means of avoiding the physical feature, where it would be reasonable to 
do so. It also makes it clear that, except where the Act states otherwise, 
it would never be reasonable for a person bound by the duty to pass on 
the costs of complying with it to an individual disabled person. 

  
25. The Equality Act 2010, as with the DDA before it, cannot require 

anything to be done that would contravene another piece of legislation. 
For example, where a service provider must get statutory consent to a 
particular alteration, including listed building or scheduled monument 
consent, and that consent is not given, the Equality Act 2010 will not 
have been contravened. However, a service provider would still need to 
take whatever other steps under the Act were reasonable to provide the 
service.  

 
26. Planning Guidance on Disabled Access to Historic Buildings 

Planning Policy Guidance Note (PPG 15) issued by the Department of 
the Environment, Transport and the Regions makes it clear that:  

 
‘It is important in principle that disabled people should have dignified 
easy access to and within historic buildings.  And that with a proper 
approach, it should normally be possible to plan suitable access for 
disabled people without compromising a building's special interest.’  

 
27. Reconciling the aims of improving access with the needs to conserve the 

importance and significance of the historic building is the next step. 

Page 10



 

Depending on the sensitivity and importance of the building, owners of 
historic buildings are advised to seek the advice of the local authority 
Conservation Officer, English Heritage, the relevant National Amenity 
Society, and the local Access Officer to ensure that proposals for 
alterations protect or enhance the historic building, and are of a suitable 
quality and effectiveness for people with disabilities to justify the 
alteration.  
 

28. It is not envisaged that every building will have ramps and lifts 
everywhere, for all sorts of reasons, and on occasions a strategic review 
of the services provided might be useful. For example if several premises 
are owned, would it be acceptable and desirable if one venue is easier to 
adapt and the others left unaltered?  Economic constraint is another 
aspect of reasonableness.  

 

29. Where physical barriers cannot apparently be overcome by making 
alterations, the Equality Act 2010 allows for alternative means of 
providing a service (for example such as by mail order or a ‘virtual’ visit 
or an alternative venue) or using an alternative route into the building, or 
providing personal assistance, or ensuring good access to services is 
provided on the ground floor. These may be referred to as managed 
solutions. Part M of the Building Regulations 2000 requires the 
submission of an Access Statement which will explain why the historic 
specialness of the building requires a deviation away from standard 
solutions. The Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings4 (SPAB) 
believes this flexible approach is to be welcomed: 

 
“It is our experience that most buildings can be successfully and 
effectively altered to provide reasonable access, but this does require a 
good understanding of both historic building conservation and how to 
accommodate the needs of people with disabilities. For example, you 
may have to look at good effective lighting which helps visually and 
hearing impaired people; sensible choice of colours and tones need not 
be garish to provide effective contrast to aid identification of possible 
hazards and changes in levels make the environment safer; automatic 
door openers may avoid alterations to building fabric being required; and 

                                            
4 The Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings was founded by William Morris in 
1877 to counteract the highly destructive 'restoration' of medieval buildings being practiced 
by many Victorian architects. Today it is the largest, oldest and most technically expert 
national pressure group fighting to save old buildings from decay, demolition and damage.  
The Society has a statutory role as adviser to local planning authorities, and must be 
notified of listed building applications that involve total or partial demolition.  
 

Page 11



 

we like to emphasise that beautifully designed and manufactured 
handrails, for example, and any other additions and alterations, keep our 
traditional arts and crafts alive.” 
 

30. The View of English Heritage 
English Heritage updated its booklet ‘Easy Access to Historic Properties’, 
in December 2012 to take account of the 2010 Act and changes to 
planning legislation – see copy at Annex C.  The booklet is designed to 
help those who own, manage, or are professionally concerned with 
historic properties to strike a balance between conservation and access.  

 
31. In addition, the English Heritage website contains the following statement 

on the need to reconcile access requirements without compromising the 
nature of historic buildings:  

 
‘Historic buildings, landscapes and monuments, the physical survivals of 
our past are protected for their sake and for ours. They are irreplaceable 
but sometimes they need to be changed. Appropriate or sensitive 
alteration will have due regard for what it is that makes a particular 
building special or significant. In most cases access can be improved 
without compromising historic buildings. The key lies in the process of 
information gathering about the building, understanding its significance 
and vulnerabilities and knowledge about the needs of people with 
disabilities.” 

 
32. English Heritage also provides information on the process through which 

service providers, including owners of historic buildings that are open to 
the public, should develop an “access strategy” – see Annex D. 

 
33. Best Practice - Cinemas & Theatres 

Cinemas and theatres are popular places for spending leisure time.  
Most cinemas, especially modern multi-screen types, are able to provide 
good facilities for people with disabilities, whilst some theatres are more 
restrictive due to the age and fabric of the buildings.  However many 
disabled people feel that as a disabled customer they often fail to receive 
the same service as a non-disabled person.   

 
34. In many cinemas and theatres only certain auditoriums are accessible to 

people with mobility difficulties. This has the effect of leaving disabled 
people with fewer options and facing discrimination. Disabled people 
often also have to call cinemas and theatres in advance to find out where 
performances are taking place which means they cannot make 
spontaneous choices. 

Page 12



 

35. Trailblazers, a nationwide organisation of 190 young disabled and non-
disabled campaigners5 reported in 2009 that wheelchair users often had 
no other option but to sit at the front of the auditorium or stage. This 
means that they had to lean back to watch the screen or stage - a 
position that proved tiring and painful for someone with a muscle-wasting 
condition - rather than straight ahead as a person seated further back in 
the auditorium would. They also told of being labelled a ‘fire risk’ by staff 
members at cinemas, when they transferred from their wheelchairs into a 
cinema or theatre chair to avoid sitting in an area of the auditorium that 
caused discomfort. 

 
36. Trailblazers also found it was common for wheelchair users to be refused 

entry to theatres unless they were joined by a non-wheelchair user and 
seated in an expensive area, thus being forced to buy a more expensive 
ticket (although receiving a concession for the PA/carer).  

 
37. The cinema industry however has been commended on its use of the 

Cinema Exhibitors Association card (CEA) which gives concessionary 
tickets for carers and personal assistants across the cinema industry.  
The Cinema Exhibitor Association introduced their card scheme 10+ 
years ago to assist cinemas in meeting their duties under the Equality 
Act 2010.  It was devised by the CEA in consultation with its disability 
advisers and representatives from several disability charities.  

 
38. All of the major cinema operators and many smaller cinema companies 

in the UK accept the CEA card, including all of the cinemas in York.  
Whilst it is not the only way cinemas can provide assistance to disabled 
customers, it is widely recognised and accepted as good practice.  Most 
cinemas hold application forms at the box office but they can also be 
downloaded from The Card Network website:  www.ceacard.co.uk/ 

 
39. The card entitles the cardholder (the person with the disability) to a free 

ticket for someone to accompany them when they visit the cinema (when 
one full price ticket is purchased).  The CEA card is valid for 1 year, and 
the cardholder can visit the cinema as many times as they wish during 
the year.  To apply, applicants need to supply a passport-sized photo 
with their application to appear on the Card, and submit proof to show 
that they meet one (or both) of the following criteria: 

 
                                            
5  Trailblazers are part of the Muscular Dystrophy Campaign, the leading UK charity 
focusing on all muscle disease. They aim to fight the social injustices experienced by 
young people living with muscle disease and ensure they can gain access to the services 
they need. 

Page 13

http://www.ceacard.co.uk/


 

• Be in receipt of Disability Living Allowance, Attendance Allowance or 
Personal Independence Payment.    

• Be registered blind. 
 
40. Best practice for cinemas suggests the following should be made 

available:  
 

• Audio description in films for the blind and visually-impaired.  This is 
where the action, scene changes and the actors' body language is 
described in addition to the dialogue. You listen to the commentary 
through a lightweight headset.  Some cinemas have the system for all 
their screens which means that every screening of a film can be 
audio-described.  At others, audio-described films are indicated in 
listings on the cinemas websites. 

 
• The layout of the cinema complex and other information in Braille and 

programme times available as a recorded message over the 
telephone.   

 
• Induction loops for deaf and hearing-impaired customers (infrared, 

induction or both).  Many cinemas also run subtitled screenings on a 
regular basis. This is usually indicated in listings.  

 
• A designated area for wheelchair users. Wheelchair users or those 

with restricted mobility are encouraged to contact a cinema in 
advance to check their facilities.  
 

• For those with an Assistance dog, most cinemas ask to be informed 
in advance so that they can allocate the most appropriate seating.   

 
41. The 'Your Local Cinema.com' website has country-wide listings of audio-

described screenings and subtitled screenings in cinemas, as well as 
available audio-described DVD titles.  Full details of the facilities offered 
by York’s cinemas are given in Annex E. 
 

42. Best Practice - Live Music Venues 
The charity ‘Attitude is Everything’ improves deaf and disabled people’s 
access to live music by working in partnership with audiences, artists and 
the music industry. 
 

43. Having begun as a pilot project in 2000, they are now a fully independent 
charity and part of Arts Council England’s National Portfolio of 
Organisations. Their aim is to encourage events producers to go beyond 

Page 14



 

the legal obligations set out in the Equality Act and implement best 
practice, providing a fair and equal service to their deaf and disabled 
customers. 
 

44. They support the music industry to understand Deaf and disabled 
people’s access requirements at music venues and festivals by building 
equality into the strategic process using a Charter of Best Practice.  The 
ethos of the Charter is that Deaf and disabled people should be as 
independent as they want to be at live music events and over 90 venues 
and festivals have already signed up. 

 
45. They also created a Charter Toolkit in order to bring together all of the 

knowledge, guidance and best practice advice they had developed from 
working with the live music industry. It was designed to guide event 
organisers through a wide range of accessibility topics, and ultimately 
enable organisations to be awarded the Charter and improve their 
accessibility. 

 
46. In 2014, as part of their initiative to help live music venues adapt, the 

charity produced its latest ‘State of Access’ report, a comprehensive 
study based on 228 mystery shopping reports, 159 from venues and 69 
from festivals, 40 questionnaires, and 13 interviews collated between 
April 2011 and March 2013.  The study had to exclude establishments 
where the mystery shoppers couldn't even enter the building. Not just 
access but also the attitude of staff was rated. – The detailed findings 
can be viewed at: 
http://www.attitudeiseverything.org.uk/resources/publications/state-of-
ccess-report-2014 
 

47. Best Practice - Tourist Attractions 
Visit England’s Visitor Attraction Quality Assurance Scheme, through its 
network of regional assessors, boasts an incredible reputation for 
instigating, modifying and shaping change to the customer experience at 
visitor attractions across England.   
 

48. Signing up to its National Code of Visitor Attractions is the first step in its 
accreditation process.  The 15 simple points of the Code, compiled by an 
independent panel of industry experts, are the basic fundamental actions 
that all well managed attractions should already be following.  It acts both 
as a checklist but also provides a certificate for display in a public area, 
preferably at admission point.  The Code confirms that a site is 
recognised by VisitEngland as a visitor attraction and that it fulfils the 
basic requirements of a recognised industry standard. The code also 

Page 15

http://www.attitudeiseverything.org.uk/resources/publications/state-of-ccess-report-2014
http://www.attitudeiseverything.org.uk/resources/publications/state-of-ccess-report-2014


 

includes what is expected of an attraction in regard to addressing the 
needs of disabled visitors – see copy of code at Annex F.   

 
49. Specifically in regard to wheelchair users, a new study published in April 

2014 by disability charity Vitalise6, revealed the best and worst UK tourist 
attractions.  The study rated 85 of the nation's most popular destinations 
by wheelchair access, number of disabled toilets and disabled parking 
spaces, as well as additional wheelchairs and disability and carer 
concessions.  The tourist destinations that made top place, with equal 
ratings for the best access for disabled visitors included York’s National 
Railway Museum.  There were no other York attractions in the Top 10 
best and worst ranking attractions.  Full details of the facilities offered by 
York’s tourist attractions are given in Annex E. 

 
Objective (ii) – Current Levels of Access 

 
50. At their meeting in August 2014, the Task Group considered a report 

detailing the Access information currently being made available on the 
city’s heritage and cultural providers’ websites – see Annex E.  
 

51. They also received information on DisabledGo who are the leading 
providers of access information for disabled people in the UK, featuring 
over 120,000 places of interest. Their aim is to provide information so 
that a disabled person can make up their own mind whether somewhere 
is right for them, before they get there.  Every single venue featured by 
DisabledGo is visited in person by one of their own specialist surveyors, 
and they cover any type of venue that a member of the public would visit, 
including: 

 
• Council offices 
• Parks 
• Leisure and sports centres 
• Stadiums and sports grounds 

• Tourist Attractions 
• Colleges 
• Restaurants 
• Libraries 

• Cinemas 
• Hotels 
• Hospitals 
• Pubs 

 
52. DisabledGo inspects 25 York venues per year on behalf of the Council.  

The Head of Communities and Equalities is responsible for monitoring 
the contract and commissioning those reviews.  Venues can be 
suggested by community groups, Equality Advisory Group and CYC 
officers e.g. the Sport and Active Leisure Team, and the findings are 

                                            
6 Vitalise is a national charity providing short breaks and holidays (respite care) for people with 
physical disabilities and carers. 
 

Page 16



 

uploaded onto DisabledGo’s website - there are currently 250 
entertainment, leisure and culture venues in York listed on their website. 
 
Consultation 
 

53. In order to assess the current access to York’s many heritage and 
cultural venues against the best practice information they considered, 
(review objectives i-ii), the Task Group agreed to carry out a number of 
consultation meetings: 

 
Meeting Date Consultees 
21 October 2014 @ 6pm • User-led Organisations & Interested 

Individuals 
5 November @ 4pm • Visit York 
2 December @ 4:30pm • DisabledGo 
 
Consultation Findings to Date 
 

54. In October 2014, the Task Group held a consultation event with a 
number of interested individuals and representatives from the following 
user-led organisations: 

 
• York Access Group 
• York CVS 

• Healthwatch  
• York Independent Living Network 

 
55. Recognising the Council has no powers to make external providers 

improve their access arrangements, those attending the event  asked the 
Task Group to consider how best to build peer pressure amongst York’s 
providers to encourage improvements across the board.  They also 
raised the following issues for Task Group’s consideration: 
 
• Access to cultural and heritage offer should start with the ability to 

access the city centre via public transport.  Issues with buses not 
allowing wheelchairs on board; drivers not asking those with 
pushchairs to collapse them to allow space for wheelchairs, drivers 
not lowering the bus ramp etc 

 
• There is a need to improve understanding and raise awareness of 

the needs of disabled people – improved training for public transport 
staff and staff at heritage and cultural venues, shops, cafes, 
restaurants etc. 

 

Page 17



 

• In regard to the ‘Residents First Weekend’, it would be helpful if 
information on the weekend was provided well in advance to all of 
the appropriate disability organisations, to allow them to raise 
awareness of the event to increase the number of disabled patrons 
taking advantage of the offer.   A query was also raised about 
whether any signed tours were available during the Weekend. 
 

• In regard to the city’s heritage and cultural providers, they should be 
encouraged to consider their access arrangements for: 

 

 Those with sight/hearing impairments,  
 Those with a range of mental health needs e.g. Dementia etc 
 Those with Autism 
 Those with physical disabilities e.g. those using mobility 

scooters, wheelchairs etc 
 The elderly  
 Those with learning difficulties or learning disabilities 

 
• The city’s heritage and cultural providers should also be encouraged 

to improve the access information on their websites  
 

• There should be no need to ring a venue first before deciding 
whether or not it is an accessible venue to visit.   

 

• It would be good to raise the profile of disabled people.  Perhaps by 
celebrating the lives of disabled people in a way that is specific and 
relevant to York, e.g. by perhaps marking disability history month, or 
international day of disabled people, or by marking the life of any 
disabled York residents (past or present). 

 

• It was suggested that more public seating was required within the 
city centre of the right type to aid sitting and standing.  Also that 
there was insufficient number of public toilets in the city centre.  Both 
issues being something that some disabled people need to consider 
when planning an outing.  

 

• A number of specific issues were raised around unmarked steps, 
lack of labelling, increased intolerance by drivers and cyclists, not 
enough large print or audio provision and signage at the wrong level. 

 

Page 18



 

• The need for improvements at West Offices was raised – issues 
raised around signage, lack of large print, verbal announcements, 
staff training etc. 

 

• Information was provided on North Yorkshire’s ‘Safe Places’ 
scheme, where a venue can display a symbol on their window which 
identified the venue as somewhere people with learning difficulties 
can go to ask for help if they are lost or maybe want more 
information etc. York Independent Living Network confirmed that 
have been talking to the Council, Inclusion North and North 
Yorkshire Police about introducing the Safe Places scheme in York 
as part of their 'Keeping York Safe for Disabled People' project.  

 

• The economic value of disabled tourists was also discussed, and all 
recognised that improved accessibility for disabled people benefitted 
other people too e.g. ramps are useful for young families with 
pushchairs and older people. 
 

• The attendees questioned how best to address the challenge of 
'historical building' inaccessibility, recognising that many of the 
heritage and cultural venues may be restricted in what they can 
change.  

 

• The organisations present questioned what they could do to 
contribute e.g. when a venue is being refurbished it is important to 
use focus groups and qualified assessors, rather than random 
volunteers.  An example was given of where an organisation had 
relied on the words of a wheelchair user telling them that it was 
alright not to have automatic doors as they would always have 
someone with them to open the doors.  However when they started 
getting complaints from people, they then had to spend quite a bit of 
extra money to install an automatic door and a path leading to it. 

 
56. Finally, the attendees questioned what information was being provided 

by tourist information on the accessibility of tourist attractions in York. 
 

57. With this in mind, the Task Group held a meeting with Visit York in early 
November 2014, to gather their views on improving accessibility, and to 
share with them what they had learnt from their consultation event. 
 

58. The Head of Visit York, the Marketing Manager and the Visitor 
Information Centre Manager attended the meeting, and confirmed that 

Page 19



 

some time ago Visit York carried out an exercise with DisabledGo, 
focussing on Museums and Galleries etc to assess the accessibility of 
those venues.  However they accepted that the information produced 
was now likely to be out of date and therefore ready for refreshing. 
 

59. They confirmed that Visit York: 
 

• Relies on organisations to provide information on their facilities for 
the disabled.  Also that the number of Hotels and bed and 
breakfasts etc attempting accreditation is low in York, perhaps due 
to the criteria being very stringent which may be putting a lot of 
organisations off. 

 

• Requires no particular Access standards, but does require Health & 
Safety standards. 

 

• Often receives requests from users about Access, but they do not 
always feel qualified to offer advice on behalf of the organisations 
they represent.  Instead it is their practice to direct visitors to the 
information on individual organisation’s websites.   

 

• Reviews the information in their database on an annual basis.  
However they have some restrictions in their IT software which limits 
the amount of information they can hold 

 

• Is not always aware of the access issues affecting specific venues, 
and they recognise some buildings will be very hard to adapt 

 

60. The Head of Visit York highlighted Lincoln Castle as an example of best 
practice, which is currently being refurbished and will include state of the 
art access facilities.  As the Castle is owned by Lincolnshire County 
Council, it was suggested it would be possible to gather more detailed 
information on the refurbishment work.   

 
61. Information was also provided on a Visit England pilot scheme called 

‘Access for All’.  It was confirmed that 10 cities had already been given 
pilot status (including Nottingham and Lincoln) and Visit England were 
currently looking for more.  It was also confirmed that Visit York had 
already submitted their interest in participating and agreed to provide 
feedback to Task Group in due course. 

 

Page 20



 

62. Overall, the Head of Visit York expressed the view that two things were 
needed – to find out what is happening already and to educate 
organisations/businesses on how they can do more. She confirmed that 
Visit York would be happy to facilitate a training event for businesses/ 
organisations to help raise awareness and encourage improved 
standards.  

 
Analysis to Date 
 

63. Objective (i) – Legal Requirements & Best Practice 
In considering section 20 of the Equality Act 2010, the Task Group noted 
the three requirements detailed in paragraph 22.  Recognising that some 
of the heritage/cultural offer in York are based in historical buildings, they 
accepted that there would be limitations to the alterations that could be 
made due to other pieces of legislation e.g. listed building consent.  
However, they agreed that those providers should be encouraged to be 
more innovative in finding ways to provide access to their offer.   
 

64. The Task Group noted English Heritage’s views on balancing 
conservation and access.  They questioned if any of the heritage and 
cultural providers based in an historical building in York, had developed 
an ‘Access Strategy’ and have an Access Plan in place (as described in 
Annex D). 
 

65. In regard to best practice, the Task Group was pleased to note that all 
York cinemas accepted the CEA card (see paragraph 38) and that the 
National Railway Museum had made top place in the 2014 study of the 
best and worst UK tourist attractions conducted by the charity Vitalise 
(see paragraph 50).  They also questioned whether the Charter Toolkit 
created by the Charity ‘Attitude is Everything’ could be adapted for use in 
theatres? (see paragraph 45). 
 

66. Objective (ii) - To assess current levels of access for those with a range 
of impairments 
The Task Group noted all of the feedback provided at their consultation 
event.  They agreed with the attendees that there is a need for ongoing 
training for public transport staff and staff at heritage and cultural venues, 
shops, cafes, restaurants etc.  They also noted the offer made by Visit 
York to facilitate a training event. 
 

67. In regards to the Residents First Weekend, the Task Group agreed that 
disability organisations should be given advance warning and that all 
providers should be encouraged to provide a full range of their 

Page 21



 

accessible services and aids during that weekend, to enable as many 
disabled people as possible to take advantage of the offer. 

 

68. Having considered the access information currently shown on the  city’s 
Heritage and Cultural providers websites (as detailed in Annex E), the 
Task Group noted that in some cases the information had been easy to 
find and in others it had not, which highlighted the difficulties faced by 
potential patrons.  The Task Group were also disappointed to note that in 
one or two cases there was no access information provided on a venues 
website.  
 

69. In a few instances, information on a website was minimal and patrons 
were being recommended to ring the venue to discuss their access 
requirements before attending.  They agreed with the consultees that 
ideally a disabled person should not need to do that.  However, having 
looked at the mixed quality and quantity of information provided on 
provider’s websites, they agreed the city’s heritage and cultural offer 
would benefit from some standards in approach, which in turn would lead 
to greater confidence in the information provided online and empower 
disabled people to make informed choices without drawing attention to 
their condition. 
 

70. The Task Group expressed a keen interest in having York participate in 
the Visit England pilot scheme (see paragraph 61).  They also liked the 
idea of introducing a Tourism Award to encourage member organisations 
to make their venue more accessible, agreeing it would be good if it were 
a user-group nominated award. 
 

71. Finally, the Task Group favoured the idea proposed to raise the profile of 
disabled people, and agreed this idea should be further explored with 
CYC’s Communities & Equalities Team. They agreed to pass on the 
information provided on the many issues affecting disabled people 
visiting West Offices, and to investigate further the refurbishment work 
being undertaken at Lincoln Castle and locally at York Art Gallery to 
evidence their good practice measures. 

 
Progressing the Review 
 

72. At this meeting, DisabledGo’s Local Authorities Account Manager will be 
in attendance to discuss the work of their organisation and the contract 
they have with the Council. 
 

Page 22



 

73. Following that discussion, the Task Group are asked to consider the new 
information provided at this meeting, the information previously gathered 
(see paragraphs 12-62 above), the analysis to date (see paragraphs 63- 
71) and identify any further analysis to be recorded.  This should include 
identifying any possible improvements and barriers, in support of review 
objective (iii). 
 

74. Furthermore, the Task Group has previously agreed that as part of their 
work on this review they would like to meet with a number of heritage 
and cultural providers.  In light of the information gathered to date, the 
Task Group is asked to agree:  
 

a) Whether the suggested meeting with individual providers is still 
required  
 

b) What further information is required in support of the review 
objectives? 

 

c) How best to achieve review objective (iv) 
 

75. Once all the required information has been considered, the Task Group 
will need to start identifying their review conclusions and draft 
recommendations. 

 
Options  

76. Having considered the information provided in this report, Members may 
choose to progress the work on the review by:  

 
• Requesting additional information in support of objective (ii), (iii) & (iv) 
• Identifying additional consultees 
• Agreeing dates and times for future Task Group meetings 

 
Council Plan 2011-15 
 

77. The work on this review supports the ‘Protect Vulnerable People’ priority 
within the Council Plan 2011-15. 
 
 
 

Page 23



 

 Implications & Risk Management 

78. At this early stage in the review, there are no known implications or risks 
associated with the review work.  Once the review reaches a stage 
where draft recommendations are being identified, the associated 
implications and risks will be explored. 

 Recommendations 

79. Members are recommended to: 

i. Carry out a full analysis of the information gathered to date 

ii. Identify what if any additional information is required in support of 
Objectives (ii), (iii) & (iv) as detailed in paragraph 3 above. 

iii. Agree if any further consultation is required 

v. Agree future Task Group meeting dates 

Reason:  To progress the review in line with scrutiny procedures and 
protocols 

 
Contact Details: 

Author: Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 
Melanie Carr  
Scrutiny Officer    
Tel No. 01904 552054  
e: melanie.carr@york.gov.uk 
 

Andrew Docherty 
AD ITT & Governance 
 
 

Report 
Approved 

 Date 18 November 2014 

Wards Affected: All  

 
Background Papers: None 
 
Annexes: 

Annex A – 2014 UK Customer Profile on Disability 
Annex B – Equality Act 2013 Extract 
Annex C – English Heritage Booklet 
Annex D – English Heritage Access Strategy Information 
Annex E – Access Information on York’s Heritage & Cultural Venues 
Annex F – Visit England Code of Practice for Visitors 
 
 

Page 24

mailto:melanie.carr@york.gov.uk


 

Report Abbreviations: 

CEA – Cinema Exhibitors Association  
CVS – Community Voluntary Sector 
CYC – City of York Council 
DDA – Disability Discrimination Act 
EAG – Equality Advisory Group 
GP – General Practitioner 

 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



UK Customer Profile on Disability 
 

More than 15  

million customers 

are likely to be  

disabled or close to        

         someone who is 

. 

  More than 7 million 

banking customers may 

have became disabled 

after the age  

of 16 Almost 7.5 million 

customers could be 

walking away from 

inaccessible services 

Over 1 million may have 

sight loss 

455,000 customers 

may have dementia 

Almost 700,000 may 

have a speech 

impairment 

Almost 8 million people are 

likely to have hearing loss 

More than 4.5 million 

customers may have 

dyslexia 

44% of disabled people have 

reported that they have at least 

three impairments. 

78% of disabled people 

acquired their impairment 

at the age of 16 or older 

83% of 

disabled 

people have 

walked away 

from an 

inaccessible 

service 

provider to 

take 

business 

elsewhere 

10% of the 

UK 

population 

has 

dyslexia 

Almost 1% of the worldwide 

population have dementia 

One in three people are 

disabled or close to 

someone who is 

1 in 6 of 

the 

population 

have 

hearing 

loss 

Almost 11% of the UK 

population have limited 

mobility  

More than 1.5% of the population have 

a speech impairment 

3% of the 

population 

have sight 

loss 

Adult 
population in 
England and 

Wales: 
 45.5 million 

Nearly  4 

million 

customers may 

have at least 

three 

impairments 

 Over 5 

million 

customers 

may have 

limited 

mobility 

19% of the UK 

population have a 

disability 

Almost 

6 million 

customers are  

likely to have 

paid or unpaid 

caring 

responsibilities 

1 in 8 adults are carers 

Nearly 9 

million 

customers  

may have 

a disability                                         

Annex A
P

age 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Equality Act 2010
CHAPTER 15

CONTENTS

PART 1

SOCIO-ECONOMIC INEQUALITIES

1 Public sector duty regarding socio-economic inequalities
2 Power to amend section 1
3 Enforcement

PART 2

EQUALITY: KEY CONCEPTS

CHAPTER 1

PROTECTED CHARACTERISTICS

4 The protected characteristics
5 Age
6 Disability
7 Gender reassignment
8 Marriage and civil partnership
9 Race

10 Religion or belief
11 Sex
12 Sexual orientation

CHAPTER 2

PROHIBITED CONDUCT

Discrimination
13 Direct discrimination

Page 29



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)ii

14 Combined discrimination: dual characteristics
15 Discrimination arising from disability
16 Gender reassignment discrimination: cases of absence from work
17 Pregnancy and maternity discrimination: non-work cases
18 Pregnancy and maternity discrimination: work cases
19 Indirect discrimination

Adjustments for disabled persons
20 Duty to make adjustments
21 Failure to comply with duty
22 Regulations

Discrimination: supplementary
23 Comparison by reference to circumstances
24 Irrelevance of alleged discriminator’s characteristics
25 References to particular strands of discrimination

Other prohibited conduct
26 Harassment
27 Victimisation

PART 3

SERVICES AND PUBLIC FUNCTIONS

Preliminary
28 Application of this Part

Provision of services, etc.
29 Provision of services, etc.

Supplementary
30 Ships and hovercraft
31 Interpretation and exceptions

PART 4

PREMISES

Preliminary
32 Application of this Part

Disposal and management
33 Disposals, etc.
34 Permission for disposal
35 Management

Page 30



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15) iii

Reasonable adjustments
36 Leasehold and commonhold premises and common parts
37 Adjustments to common parts in Scotland

Supplementary
38 Interpretation and exceptions

PART 5

WORK

CHAPTER 1

EMPLOYMENT, ETC.

Employees
39 Employees and applicants
40 Employees and applicants: harassment
41 Contract workers

Police officers
42 Identity of employer
43 Interpretation

Partners
44 Partnerships
45 Limited liability partnerships
46 Interpretation

The Bar
47 Barristers
48 Advocates

Office-holders
49 Personal offices: appointments, etc.
50 Public offices: appointments, etc.
51 Public offices: recommendations for appointments, etc.
52 Interpretation and exceptions

Qualifications
53 Qualifications bodies
54 Interpretation

Employment services
55 Employment service-providers
56 Interpretation

Page 31



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)iv

Trade organisations
57 Trade organisations

Local authority members
58 Official business of members
59 Interpretation

Recruitment
60 Enquiries about disability and health

CHAPTER 2

OCCUPATIONAL PENSION SCHEMES

61 Non-discrimination rule
62 Non-discrimination alterations
63 Communications

CHAPTER 3

EQUALITY OF TERMS

Sex equality
64 Relevant types of work
65 Equal work
66 Sex equality clause
67 Sex equality rule
68 Sex equality rule: consequential alteration of schemes
69 Defence of material factor
70 Exclusion of sex discrimination provisions
71 Sex discrimination in relation to contractual pay

Pregnancy and maternity equality
72 Relevant types of work
73 Maternity equality clause
74 Maternity equality clause: pay
75 Maternity equality rule
76 Exclusion of pregnancy and maternity discrimination provisions

Disclosure of information
77 Discussions about pay
78 Gender pay gap information

Supplementary
79 Comparators
80 Interpretation and exceptions

Page 32



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15) v

CHAPTER 4

SUPPLEMENTARY

81 Ships and hovercraft
82 Offshore work
83 Interpretation and exceptions

PART 6

EDUCATION

CHAPTER 1

SCHOOLS

84 Application of this Chapter
85 Pupils: admission and treatment, etc.
86 Victimisation of pupils, etc. for conduct of parents, etc.
87 Application of certain powers under Education Act 1996
88 Disabled pupils: accessibility
89 Interpretation and exceptions

CHAPTER 2

FURTHER AND HIGHER EDUCATION

90 Application of this Chapter
91 Students: admission and treatment, etc.
92 Further and higher education courses
93 Recreational or training facilities
94 Interpretation and exceptions

CHAPTER 3

GENERAL QUALIFICATIONS BODIES

95 Application of this Chapter
96 Qualifications bodies
97 Interpretation

CHAPTER 4

MISCELLANEOUS

98 Reasonable adjustments
99 Educational charities and endowments

Page 33



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)vi

PART 7

ASSOCIATIONS

Preliminary
100 Application of this Part

Membership, etc.
101 Members and associates
102 Guests
103 Sections 101 and 102: further provision

Special provision for political parties
104 Selection of candidates
105 Time-limited provision
106 Information about diversity in range of candidates, etc.

Supplementary
107 Interpretation and exceptions

PART 8

PROHIBITED CONDUCT: ANCILLARY

108 Relationships that have ended
109 Liability of employers and principals
110 Liability of employees and agents
111 Instructing, causing or inducing contraventions
112 Aiding contraventions

PART 9

ENFORCEMENT

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTORY

113 Proceedings

CHAPTER 2

CIVIL COURTS

114 Jurisdiction
115 Immigration cases
116 Education cases
117 National security
118 Time limits
119 Remedies

Page 34



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15) vii

CHAPTER 3

EMPLOYMENT TRIBUNALS

120 Jurisdiction
121 Armed forces cases
122 References by court to tribunal, etc.
123 Time limits
124 Remedies: general
125 Remedies: national security
126 Remedies: occupational pension schemes

CHAPTER 4

EQUALITY OF TERMS

127 Jurisdiction
128 References by court to tribunal, etc.
129 Time limits
130 Section 129: supplementary
131 Assessment of whether work is of equal value
132 Remedies in non-pensions cases
133 Remedies in pensions cases
134 Remedies in claims for arrears brought by pensioner members
135 Supplementary

CHAPTER 5

MISCELLANEOUS

136 Burden of proof
137 Previous findings
138 Obtaining information, etc.
139 Interest
140 Conduct giving rise to separate proceedings
141 Interpretation, etc.

PART 10

CONTRACTS, ETC.

Contracts and other agreements
142 Unenforceable terms
143 Removal or modification of unenforceable terms
144 Contracting out

Collective agreements and rules of undertakings
145 Void and unenforceable terms
146 Declaration in respect of void term, etc.

Page 35



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)viii

Supplementary
147 Meaning of “qualifying compromise contract”
148 Interpretation

PART 11

ADVANCEMENT OF EQUALITY

CHAPTER 1

PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY

149 Public sector equality duty
150 Public authorities and public functions
151 Power to specify public authorities
152 Power to specify public authorities: consultation and consent
153 Power to impose specific duties
154 Power to impose specific duties: cross-border authorities
155 Power to impose specific duties: supplementary
156 Enforcement
157 Interpretation

CHAPTER 2

POSITIVE ACTION

158 Positive action: general
159 Positive action: recruitment and promotion

PART 12

DISABLED PERSONS: TRANSPORT

CHAPTER 1

TAXIS, ETC.

160 Taxi accessibility regulations
161 Control of numbers of licensed taxis: exception
162 Designated transport facilities
163 Taxi licence conditional on compliance with taxi accessibility regulations
164 Exemption from taxi accessibility regulations
165 Passengers in wheelchairs
166 Passengers in wheelchairs: exemption certificates
167 Lists of wheelchair-accessible vehicles
168 Assistance dogs in taxis
169 Assistance dogs in taxis: exemption certificates
170 Assistance dogs in private hire vehicles
171 Assistance dogs in private hire vehicles: exemption certificates
172 Appeals
173 Interpretation

Page 36



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15) ix

CHAPTER 2

PUBLIC SERVICE VEHICLES

174 PSV accessibility regulations
175 Offence of contravening PSV accessibility regulations
176 Accessibility certificates
177 Approval certificates
178 Special authorisations
179 Reviews and appeals
180 Fees
181 Interpretation

CHAPTER 3

RAIL VEHICLES

182 Rail vehicle accessibility regulations
183 Exemptions from rail vehicle accessibility regulations
184 Procedure for making exemption orders
185 Annual report on exemption orders
186 Rail vehicle accessibility: compliance
187 Interpretation

CHAPTER 4

SUPPLEMENTARY

188 Forgery, etc.

PART 13

DISABILITY: MISCELLANEOUS

189 Reasonable adjustments
190 Improvements to let dwelling houses

PART 14

GENERAL EXCEPTIONS

191 Statutory provisions
192 National security
193 Charities
194 Charities: supplementary
195 Sport
196 General
197 Age

PART 15

FAMILY PROPERTY

198 Abolition of husband’s duty to maintain wife

Page 37



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)x

199 Abolition of presumption of advancement
200 Amendment of Married Women’s Property Act 1964
201 Civil partners: housekeeping allowance

PART 16

GENERAL AND MISCELLANEOUS

Civil partnerships
202 Civil partnerships on religious premises

EU obligations
203 Harmonisation
204 Harmonisation: procedure

Application
205 Crown application
206 Information society services

Subordinate legislation
207 Exercise of power
208 Ministers of the Crown, etc.
209 The Welsh Ministers
210 The Scottish Ministers

Amendments, etc.
211 Amendments, repeals and revocations

Interpretation
212 General interpretation
213 References to maternity leave, etc.
214 Index of defined expressions

Final provisions
215 Money
216 Commencement
217 Extent
218 Short title

Schedule 1 — Disability: supplementary provision
Part 1 — Determination of disability
Part 2 — Guidance

Schedule 2 — Services and public functions: reasonable adjustments
Schedule 3 — Services and public functions: exceptions

Page 38



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15) xi

Part 1 — Constitutional matters
Part 2 — Education
Part 3 — Health and care
Part 4 — Immigration
Part 5 — Insurance, etc.
Part 6 — Marriage
Part 7 — Separate and single services
Part 8 — Television, radio and on-line broadcasting and distribution
Part 9 — Transport

Part 10 — Supplementary
Schedule 4 — Premises: reasonable adjustments
Schedule 5 — Premises: exceptions
Schedule 6 — Office-holders: excluded offices
Schedule 7 — Equality of terms: exceptions

Part 1 — Terms of work
Part 2 — Occupational pension schemes

Schedule 8 — Work: reasonable adjustments
Part 1 — Introductory
Part 2 — Interested disabled person
Part 3 — Limitations on the duty

Schedule 9 — Work: exceptions
Part 1 — Occupational requirements
Part 2 — Exceptions relating to age
Part 3 — Other exceptions

Schedule 10 — Accessibility for disabled pupils
Schedule 11 — Schools: exceptions

Part 1 — Sex discrimination
Part 2 — Religious or belief-related discrimination
Part 3 — Disability discrimination

Schedule 12 — Further and higher education exceptions
Part 1 — Single-sex institutions, etc.
Part 2 — Other exceptions

Schedule 13 — Education: reasonable adjustments
Schedule 14 — Educational charities and endowments
Schedule 15 — Associations: reasonable adjustments
Schedule 16 — Associations: exceptions
Schedule 17 — Disabled pupils: enforcement

Part 1 — Introductory
Part 2 — Tribunals in England and Wales
Part 3 — Tribunals in Scotland
Part 4 — Admissions and exclusions

Schedule 18 — Public sector equality duty: exceptions
Schedule 19 — Public authorities

Part 1 — Public authorities: general
Part 2 — Public authorities: relevant Welsh authorities
Part 3 — Public authorities: relevant Scottish authorities

Schedule 20 — Rail vehicle accessibility: compliance
Schedule 21 — Reasonable adjustments: supplementary
Schedule 22 — Statutory provisions
Schedule 23 — General exceptions
Schedule 24 — Harmonisation: exceptions
Schedule 25 — Information society services
Schedule 26 — Amendments
Schedule 27 — Repeals and revocations

Page 39



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)xii

Part 1 — Repeals
Part 2 — Revocations

Schedule 28 — Index of defined expressions

Page 40



ELIZABETH II c. 15

Equality Act 2010
2010 CHAPTER 15

An Act to make provision to require Ministers of the Crown and others when
making strategic decisions about the exercise of their functions to have regard
to the desirability of reducing socio-economic inequalities; to reform and
harmonise equality law and restate the greater part of the enactments relating
to discrimination and harassment related to certain personal characteristics; to
enable certain employers to be required to publish information about the
differences in pay between male and female employees; to prohibit
victimisation in certain circumstances; to require the exercise of certain
functions to be with regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and other
prohibited conduct; to enable duties to be imposed in relation to the exercise
of public procurement functions; to increase equality of opportunity; to
amend the law relating to rights and responsibilities in family relationships;
and for connected purposes. [8th April 2010]

E IT ENACTED by the Queen’s most Excellent Majesty, by and with the advice and
consent of the Lords Spiritual and Temporal, and Commons, in this present

Parliament assembled, and by the authority of the same, as follows:— 

PART 1

SOCIO-ECONOMIC INEQUALITIES

1 Public sector duty regarding socio-economic inequalities

(1) An authority to which this section applies must, when making decisions of a
strategic nature about how to exercise its functions, have due regard to the
desirability of exercising them in a way that is designed to reduce the
inequalities of outcome which result from socio-economic disadvantage.

(2) In deciding how to fulfil a duty to which it is subject under subsection (1), an
authority must take into account any guidance issued by a Minister of the
Crown.

B

Page 41



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 1 — Socio-economic inequalities

2

(3) The authorities to which this section applies are—
(a) a Minister of the Crown;
(b) a government department other than the Security Service, the Secret

Intelligence Service or the Government Communications Head-
quarters;

(c) a county council or district council in England;
(d) the Greater London Authority;
(e) a London borough council;
(f) the Common Council of the City of London in its capacity as a local

authority;
(g) the Council of the Isles of Scilly;
(h) a Strategic Health Authority established under section 13 of the

National Health Service Act 2006, or continued in existence by virtue of
that section;

(i) a Primary Care Trust established under section 18 of that Act, or
continued in existence by virtue of that section;

(j) a regional development agency established by the Regional
Development Agencies Act 1998;

(k) a police authority established for an area in England.

(4) This section also applies to an authority that—
(a) is a partner authority in relation to a responsible local authority, and
(b) does not fall within subsection (3),

but only in relation to its participation in the preparation or modification of a
sustainable community strategy.

(5) In subsection (4)—
“partner authority” has the meaning given by section 104 of the Local

Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007;
“responsible local authority” has the meaning given by section 103 of that

Act;
“sustainable community strategy” means a strategy prepared under

section 4 of the Local Government Act 2000.

(6) The reference to inequalities in subsection (1) does not include any inequalities
experienced by a person as a result of being a person subject to immigration
control within the meaning given by section 115(9) of the Immigration and
Asylum Act 1999.

2 Power to amend section 1

(1) A Minister of the Crown may by regulations amend section 1 so as to—
(a) add a public authority to the authorities that are subject to the duty

under subsection (1) of that section;
(b) remove an authority from those that are subject to the duty;
(c) make the duty apply, in the case of a particular authority, only in

relation to certain functions that it has;
(d) in the case of an authority to which the application of the duty is

already restricted to certain functions, remove or alter the restriction.

(2) In subsection (1) “public authority” means an authority that has functions of a
public nature.

Page 42



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 1 — Socio-economic inequalities

3

(3) Provision made under subsection (1) may not impose a duty on an authority in
relation to any devolved Scottish functions or devolved Welsh functions.

(4) The Scottish Ministers or the Welsh Ministers may by regulations amend
section 1 so as to—

(a) add a relevant authority to the authorities that are subject to the duty
under subsection (1) of that section;

(b) remove a relevant authority from those that are subject to the duty;
(c) make the duty apply, in the case of a particular relevant authority, only

in relation to certain functions that it has;
(d) in the case of a relevant authority to which the application of the duty

is already restricted to certain functions, remove or alter the restriction.

(5) For the purposes of the power conferred by subsection (4) on the Scottish
Ministers, “relevant authority” means an authority whose functions—

(a) are exercisable only in or as regards Scotland,
(b) are wholly or mainly devolved Scottish functions, and
(c) correspond or are similar to those of an authority for the time being

specified in section 1(3).

(6) For the purposes of the power conferred by subsection (4) on the Welsh
Ministers, “relevant authority” means an authority whose functions—

(a) are exercisable only in or as regards Wales,
(b) are wholly or mainly devolved Welsh functions, and
(c) correspond or are similar to those of an authority for the time being

specified in subsection (3) of section 1 or referred to in subsection (4) of
that section.

(7) Before making regulations under this section, the Scottish Ministers or the
Welsh Ministers must consult a Minister of the Crown.

(8) Regulations under this section may make any amendments of section 1 that
appear to the Minister or Ministers to be necessary or expedient in consequence
of provision made under subsection (1) or (as the case may be) subsection (4).

(9) Provision made by the Scottish Ministers or the Welsh Ministers in reliance on
subsection (8) may, in particular, amend section 1 so as to—

(a) confer on the Ministers a power to issue guidance;
(b) require a relevant authority to take into account any guidance issued

under a power conferred by virtue of paragraph (a);
(c) disapply section 1(2) in consequence of the imposition of a requirement

by virtue of paragraph (b).

(10) Before issuing guidance under a power conferred by virtue of subsection (9)(a),
the Ministers must—

(a) take into account any guidance issued by a Minister of the Crown
under section 1;

(b) consult a Minister of the Crown.

(11) For the purposes of this section—
(a) a function is a devolved Scottish function if it is exercisable in or as

regards Scotland and it does not relate to reserved matters (within the
meaning of the Scotland Act 1998);

(b) a function is a devolved Welsh function if it relates to a matter in respect
of which functions are exercisable by the Welsh Ministers, the First

Page 43



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 1 — Socio-economic inequalities

4

Minister for Wales or the Counsel General to the Welsh Assembly
Government, or to a matter within the legislative competence of the
National Assembly for Wales.

3 Enforcement

A failure in respect of a performance of a duty under section 1 does not confer
a cause of action at private law.

PART 2

EQUALITY: KEY CONCEPTS

CHAPTER 1

PROTECTED CHARACTERISTICS

4 The protected characteristics

The following characteristics are protected characteristics—
age;
disability;
gender reassignment;
marriage and civil partnership;
pregnancy and maternity;
race;
religion or belief;
sex;
sexual orientation.

5 Age

(1) In relation to the protected characteristic of age—
(a) a reference to a person who has a particular protected characteristic is

a reference to a person of a particular age group;
(b) a reference to persons who share a protected characteristic is a reference

to persons of the same age group.

(2) A reference to an age group is a reference to a group of persons defined by
reference to age, whether by reference to a particular age or to a range of ages.

6 Disability

(1) A person (P) has a disability if—
(a) P has a physical or mental impairment, and
(b) the impairment has a substantial and long-term adverse effect on P’s

ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities.

(2) A reference to a disabled person is a reference to a person who has a disability.

(3) In relation to the protected characteristic of disability—
(a) a reference to a person who has a particular protected characteristic is

a reference to a person who has a particular disability;

Page 44



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 2 — Equality: key concepts
Chapter 1 — Protected characteristics

5

(b) a reference to persons who share a protected characteristic is a reference
to persons who have the same disability.

(4) This Act (except Part 12 and section 190) applies in relation to a person who has
had a disability as it applies in relation to a person who has the disability;
accordingly (except in that Part and that section)—

(a) a reference (however expressed) to a person who has a disability
includes a reference to a person who has had the disability, and

(b) a reference (however expressed) to a person who does not have a
disability includes a reference to a person who has not had the
disability.

(5) A Minister of the Crown may issue guidance about matters to be taken into
account in deciding any question for the purposes of subsection (1).

(6) Schedule 1 (disability: supplementary provision) has effect.

7 Gender reassignment

(1) A person has the protected characteristic of gender reassignment if the person
is proposing to undergo, is undergoing or has undergone a process (or part of
a process) for the purpose of reassigning the person’s sex by changing
physiological or other attributes of sex.

(2) A reference to a transsexual person is a reference to a person who has the
protected characteristic of gender reassignment.

(3) In relation to the protected characteristic of gender reassignment—
(a) a reference to a person who has a particular protected characteristic is

a reference to a transsexual person;
(b) a reference to persons who share a protected characteristic is a reference

to transsexual persons.

8 Marriage and civil partnership

(1) A person has the protected characteristic of marriage and civil partnership if
the person is married or is a civil partner.

(2) In relation to the protected characteristic of marriage and civil partnership—
(a) a reference to a person who has a particular protected characteristic is

a reference to a person who is married or is a civil partner;
(b) a reference to persons who share a protected characteristic is a reference

to persons who are married or are civil partners.

9 Race

(1) Race includes—
(a) colour;
(b) nationality;
(c) ethnic or national origins.

(2) In relation to the protected characteristic of race—
(a) a reference to a person who has a particular protected characteristic is

a reference to a person of a particular racial group;

Page 45



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 2 — Equality: key concepts

Chapter 1 — Protected characteristics

6

(b) a reference to persons who share a protected characteristic is a reference
to persons of the same racial group.

(3) A racial group is a group of persons defined by reference to race; and a
reference to a person’s racial group is a reference to a racial group into which
the person falls.

(4) The fact that a racial group comprises two or more distinct racial groups does
not prevent it from constituting a particular racial group.

(5) A Minister of the Crown may by order—
(a) amend this section so as to provide for caste to be an aspect of race;
(b) amend this Act so as to provide for an exception to a provision of this

Act to apply, or not to apply, to caste or to apply, or not to apply, to
caste in specified circumstances.

(6) The power under section 207(4)(b), in its application to subsection (5), includes
power to amend this Act.

10 Religion or belief

(1) Religion means any religion and a reference to religion includes a reference to
a lack of religion.

(2) Belief means any religious or philosophical belief and a reference to belief
includes a reference to a lack of belief.

(3) In relation to the protected characteristic of religion or belief—
(a) a reference to a person who has a particular protected characteristic is

a reference to a person of a particular religion or belief;
(b) a reference to persons who share a protected characteristic is a reference

to persons who are of the same religion or belief.

11 Sex

In relation to the protected characteristic of sex—
(a) a reference to a person who has a particular protected characteristic is

a reference to a man or to a woman;
(b) a reference to persons who share a protected characteristic is a reference

to persons of the same sex.

12 Sexual orientation

(1) Sexual orientation means a person’s sexual orientation towards—
(a) persons of the same sex,
(b) persons of the opposite sex, or
(c) persons of either sex.

(2) In relation to the protected characteristic of sexual orientation—
(a) a reference to a person who has a particular protected characteristic is

a reference to a person who is of a particular sexual orientation;
(b) a reference to persons who share a protected characteristic is a reference

to persons who are of the same sexual orientation.

Page 46



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 2 — Equality: key concepts
Chapter 2 — Prohibited conduct

7

CHAPTER 2

PROHIBITED CONDUCT

Discrimination

13 Direct discrimination

(1) A person (A) discriminates against another (B) if, because of a protected
characteristic, A treats B less favourably than A treats or would treat others.

(2) If the protected characteristic is age, A does not discriminate against B if A can
show A’s treatment of B to be a proportionate means of achieving a legitimate
aim.

(3) If the protected characteristic is disability, and B is not a disabled person, A
does not discriminate against B only because A treats or would treat disabled
persons more favourably than A treats B.

(4) If the protected characteristic is marriage and civil partnership, this section
applies to a contravention of Part 5 (work) only if the treatment is because it is
B who is married or a civil partner.

(5) If the protected characteristic is race, less favourable treatment includes
segregating B from others.

(6) If the protected characteristic is sex—
(a) less favourable treatment of a woman includes less favourable

treatment of her because she is breast-feeding;
(b) in a case where B is a man, no account is to be taken of special treatment

afforded to a woman in connection with pregnancy or childbirth.

(7) Subsection (6)(a) does not apply for the purposes of Part 5 (work).

(8) This section is subject to sections 17(6) and 18(7).

14 Combined discrimination: dual characteristics

(1) A person (A) discriminates against another (B) if, because of a combination of
two relevant protected characteristics, A treats B less favourably than A treats
or would treat a person who does not share either of those characteristics.

(2) The relevant protected characteristics are—
(a) age;
(b) disability;
(c) gender reassignment;
(d) race
(e) religion or belief;
(f) sex;
(g) sexual orientation.

(3) For the purposes of establishing a contravention of this Act by virtue of
subsection (1), B need not show that A’s treatment of B is direct discrimination
because of each of the characteristics in the combination (taken separately).

Page 47



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 2 — Equality: key concepts
Chapter 2 — Prohibited conduct

8

(4) But B cannot establish a contravention of this Act by virtue of subsection (1) if,
in reliance on another provision of this Act or any other enactment, A shows
that A’s treatment of B is not direct discrimination because of either or both of
the characteristics in the combination.

(5) Subsection (1) does not apply to a combination of characteristics that includes
disability in circumstances where, if a claim of direct discrimination because of
disability were to be brought, it would come within section 116 (special
educational needs).

(6) A Minister of the Crown may by order amend this section so as to—
(a) make further provision about circumstances in which B can, or in

which B cannot, establish a contravention of this Act by virtue of
subsection (1);

(b) specify other circumstances in which subsection (1) does not apply.

(7) The references to direct discrimination are to a contravention of this Act by
virtue of section 13.

15 Discrimination arising from disability

(1) A person (A) discriminates against a disabled person (B) if—
(a) A treats B unfavourably because of something arising in consequence

of B’s disability, and
(b) A cannot show that the treatment is a proportionate means of achieving

a legitimate aim.

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply if A shows that A did not know, and could not
reasonably have been expected to know, that B had the disability.

16 Gender reassignment discrimination: cases of absence from work

(1) This section has effect for the purposes of the application of Part 5 (work) to the
protected characteristic of gender reassignment.

(2) A person (A) discriminates against a transsexual person (B) if, in relation to an
absence of B’s that is because of gender reassignment, A treats B less
favourably than A would treat B if—

(a) B’s absence was because of sickness or injury, or
(b) B’s absence was for some other reason and it is not reasonable for B to

be treated less favourably.

(3) A person’s absence is because of gender reassignment if it is because the
person is proposing to undergo, is undergoing or has undergone the process
(or part of the process) mentioned in section 7(1).

17 Pregnancy and maternity discrimination: non-work cases

(1) This section has effect for the purposes of the application to the protected
characteristic of pregnancy and maternity of—

(a) Part 3 (services and public functions);
(b) Part 4 (premises);
(c) Part 6 (education);
(d) Part 7 (associations).

Page 48



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 2 — Equality: key concepts
Chapter 2 — Prohibited conduct

9

(2) A person (A) discriminates against a woman if A treats her unfavourably
because of a pregnancy of hers.

(3) A person (A) discriminates against a woman if, in the period of 26 weeks
beginning with the day on which she gives birth, A treats her unfavourably
because she has given birth.

(4) The reference in subsection (3) to treating a woman unfavourably because she
has given birth includes, in particular, a reference to treating her unfavourably
because she is breast-feeding.

(5) For the purposes of this section, the day on which a woman gives birth is the
day on which—

(a) she gives birth to a living child, or
(b) she gives birth to a dead child (more than 24 weeks of the pregnancy

having passed).

(6) Section 13, so far as relating to sex discrimination, does not apply to anything
done in relation to a woman in so far as—

(a) it is for the reason mentioned in subsection (2), or
(b) it is in the period, and for the reason, mentioned in subsection (3).

18 Pregnancy and maternity discrimination: work cases

(1) This section has effect for the purposes of the application of Part 5 (work) to the
protected characteristic of pregnancy and maternity.

(2) A person (A) discriminates against a woman if, in the protected period in
relation to a pregnancy of hers, A treats her unfavourably — 

(a) because of the pregnancy, or
(b) because of illness suffered by her as a result of it.

(3) A person (A) discriminates against a woman if A treats her unfavourably
because she is on compulsory maternity leave.

(4) A person (A) discriminates against a woman if A treats her unfavourably
because she is exercising or seeking to exercise, or has exercised or sought to
exercise, the right to ordinary or additional maternity leave.

(5) For the purposes of subsection (2), if the treatment of a woman is in
implementation of a decision taken in the protected period, the treatment is to
be regarded as occurring in that period (even if the implementation is not until
after the end of that period).

(6) The protected period, in relation to a woman’s pregnancy, begins when the
pregnancy begins, and ends—

(a) if she has the right to ordinary and additional maternity leave, at the
end of the additional maternity leave period or (if earlier) when she
returns to work after the pregnancy;

(b) if she does not have that right, at the end of the period of 2 weeks
beginning with the end of the pregnancy.

(7) Section 13, so far as relating to sex discrimination, does not apply to treatment
of a woman in so far as—

(a) it is in the protected period in relation to her and is for a reason
mentioned in paragraph (a) or (b) of subsection (2), or

(b) it is for a reason mentioned in subsection (3) or (4).

Page 49



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 2 — Equality: key concepts
Chapter 2 — Prohibited conduct

10

19 Indirect discrimination

(1) A person (A) discriminates against another (B) if A applies to B a provision,
criterion or practice which is discriminatory in relation to a relevant protected
characteristic of B’s.

(2) For the purposes of subsection (1), a provision, criterion or practice is
discriminatory in relation to a relevant protected characteristic of B’s if—

(a) A applies, or would apply, it to persons with whom B does not share
the characteristic,

(b) it puts, or would put, persons with whom B shares the characteristic at
a particular disadvantage when compared with persons with whom B
does not share it,

(c) it puts, or would put, B at that disadvantage, and
(d) A cannot show it to be a proportionate means of achieving a legitimate

aim.

(3) The relevant protected characteristics are—
age;
disability;
gender reassignment;
marriage and civil partnership;
race;
religion or belief;
sex;
sexual orientation.

Adjustments for disabled persons

20 Duty to make adjustments

(1) Where this Act imposes a duty to make reasonable adjustments on a person,
this section, sections 21 and 22 and the applicable Schedule apply; and for those
purposes, a person on whom the duty is imposed is referred to as A.

(2) The duty comprises the following three requirements.

(3) The first requirement is a requirement, where a provision, criterion or practice
of A’s puts a disabled person at a substantial disadvantage in relation to a
relevant matter in comparison with persons who are not disabled, to take such
steps as it is reasonable to have to take to avoid the disadvantage.

(4) The second requirement is a requirement, where a physical feature puts a
disabled person at a substantial disadvantage in relation to a relevant matter in
comparison with persons who are not disabled, to take such steps as it is
reasonable to have to take to avoid the disadvantage.

(5) The third requirement is a requirement, where a disabled person would, but
for the provision of an auxiliary aid, be put at a substantial disadvantage in
relation to a relevant matter in comparison with persons who are not disabled,
to take such steps as it is reasonable to have to take to provide the auxiliary aid.

(6) Where the first or third requirement relates to the provision of information, the
steps which it is reasonable for A to have to take include steps for ensuring that

Page 50



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 2 — Equality: key concepts
Chapter 2 — Prohibited conduct

11

in the circumstances concerned the information is provided in an accessible
format.

(7) A person (A) who is subject to a duty to make reasonable adjustments is not
(subject to express provision to the contrary) entitled to require a disabled
person, in relation to whom A is required to comply with the duty, to pay to
any extent A’s costs of complying with the duty.

(8) A reference in section 21 or 22 or an applicable Schedule to the first, second or
third requirement is to be construed in accordance with this section.

(9) In relation to the second requirement, a reference in this section or an
applicable Schedule to avoiding a substantial disadvantage includes a
reference to—

(a) removing the physical feature in question,
(b) altering it, or
(c) providing a reasonable means of avoiding it.

(10) A reference in this section, section 21 or 22 or an applicable Schedule (apart
from paragraphs 2 to 4 of Schedule 4) to a physical feature is a reference to—

(a) a feature arising from the design or construction of a building,
(b) a feature of an approach to, exit from or access to a building,
(c) a fixture or fitting, or furniture, furnishings, materials, equipment or

other chattels, in or on premises, or
(d) any other physical element or quality.

(11) A reference in this section, section 21 or 22 or an applicable Schedule to an
auxiliary aid includes a reference to an auxiliary service.

(12) A reference in this section or an applicable Schedule to chattels is to be read, in
relation to Scotland, as a reference to moveable property.

(13) The applicable Schedule is, in relation to the Part of this Act specified in the
first column of the Table, the Schedule specified in the second column.

21 Failure to comply with duty

(1) A failure to comply with the first, second or third requirement is a failure to
comply with a duty to make reasonable adjustments.

(2) A discriminates against a disabled person if A fails to comply with that duty in
relation to that person.

Part of this Act Applicable Schedule

Part 3 (services and public functions) Schedule 2

Part 4 (premises) Schedule 4

Part 5 (work) Schedule 8

Part 6 (education) Schedule 13

Part 7 (associations) Schedule 15

Each of the Parts mentioned above Schedule 21

Page 51



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 2 — Equality: key concepts
Chapter 2 — Prohibited conduct

12

(3) A provision of an applicable Schedule which imposes a duty to comply with
the first, second or third requirement applies only for the purpose of
establishing whether A has contravened this Act by virtue of subsection (2); a
failure to comply is, accordingly, not actionable by virtue of another provision
of this Act or otherwise.

22 Regulations

(1) Regulations may prescribe—
(a) matters to be taken into account in deciding whether it is reasonable for

A to take a step for the purposes of a prescribed provision of an
applicable Schedule;

(b) descriptions of persons to whom the first, second or third requirement
does not apply.

(2) Regulations may make provision as to—
(a) circumstances in which it is, or in which it is not, reasonable for a

person of a prescribed description to have to take steps of a prescribed
description;

(b) what is, or what is not, a provision, criterion or practice;
(c) things which are, or which are not, to be treated as physical features;
(d) things which are, or which are not, to be treated as alterations of

physical features;
(e) things which are, or which are not, to be treated as auxiliary aids.

(3) Provision made by virtue of this section may amend an applicable Schedule.

Discrimination: supplementary

23 Comparison by reference to circumstances

(1) On a comparison of cases for the purposes of section 13, 14, or 19 there must be
no material difference between the circumstances relating to each case.

(2) The circumstances relating to a case include a person’s abilities if—
(a) on a comparison for the purposes of section 13, the protected

characteristic is disability;
(b) on a comparison for the purposes of section 14, one of the protected

characteristics in the combination is disability.

(3) If the protected characteristic is sexual orientation, the fact that one person
(whether or not the person referred to as B) is a civil partner while another is
married is not a material difference between the circumstances relating to each
case.

24 Irrelevance of alleged discriminator’s characteristics

(1) For the purpose of establishing a contravention of this Act by virtue of section
13(1), it does not matter whether A has the protected characteristic.

(2) For the purpose of establishing a contravention of this Act by virtue of section
14(1), it does not matter—

(a) whether A has one of the protected characteristics in the combination;
(b) whether A has both.

Page 52



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 2 — Equality: key concepts
Chapter 2 — Prohibited conduct

13

25 References to particular strands of discrimination

(1) Age discrimination is—
(a) discrimination within section 13 because of age;
(b) discrimination within section 19 where the relevant protected

characteristic is age.

(2) Disability discrimination is—
(a) discrimination within section 13 because of disability;
(b) discrimination within section 15;
(c) discrimination within section 19 where the relevant protected

characteristic is disability;
(d) discrimination within section 21.

(3) Gender reassignment discrimination is—
(a) discrimination within section 13 because of gender reassignment;
(b) discrimination within section 16;
(c) discrimination within section 19 where the relevant protected

characteristic is gender reassignment.

(4) Marriage and civil partnership discrimination is—
(a) discrimination within section 13 because of marriage and civil

partnership;
(b) discrimination within section 19 where the relevant protected

characteristic is marriage and civil partnership.

(5) Pregnancy and maternity discrimination is discrimination within section 17 or
18.

(6) Race discrimination is—
(a) discrimination within section 13 because of race;
(b) discrimination within section 19 where the relevant protected

characteristic is race.

(7) Religious or belief-related discrimination is—
(a) discrimination within section 13 because of religion or belief;
(b) discrimination within section 19 where the relevant protected

characteristic is religion or belief.

(8) Sex discrimination is—
(a) discrimination within section 13 because of sex;
(b) discrimination within section 19 where the relevant protected

characteristic is sex.

(9) Sexual orientation discrimination is—
(a) discrimination within section 13 because of sexual orientation;
(b) discrimination within section 19 where the relevant protected

characteristic is sexual orientation.

Other prohibited conduct

26 Harassment

(1) A person (A) harasses another (B) if—

Page 53



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 2 — Equality: key concepts
Chapter 2 — Prohibited conduct

14

(a) A engages in unwanted conduct related to a relevant protected
characteristic, and

(b) the conduct has the purpose or effect of—
(i) violating B’s dignity, or

(ii) creating an intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating or
offensive environment for B.

(2) A also harasses B if—
(a) A engages in unwanted conduct of a sexual nature, and
(b) the conduct has the purpose or effect referred to in subsection (1)(b).

(3) A also harasses B if—
(a) A or another person engages in unwanted conduct of a sexual nature or

that is related to gender reassignment or sex,
(b) the conduct has the purpose or effect referred to in subsection (1)(b),

and
(c) because of B’s rejection of or submission to the conduct, A treats B less

favourably than A would treat B if B had not rejected or submitted to
the conduct.

(4) In deciding whether conduct has the effect referred to in subsection (1)(b), each
of the following must be taken into account—

(a) the perception of B;
(b) the other circumstances of the case;
(c) whether it is reasonable for the conduct to have that effect.

(5) The relevant protected characteristics are—
age;
disability;
gender reassignment;
race;
religion or belief;
sex;
sexual orientation.

27 Victimisation

(1) A person (A) victimises another person (B) if A subjects B to a detriment
because—

(a) B does a protected act, or
(b) A believes that B has done, or may do, a protected act.

(2) Each of the following is a protected act—
(a) bringing proceedings under this Act;
(b) giving evidence or information in connection with proceedings under

this Act;
(c) doing any other thing for the purposes of or in connection with this Act;
(d) making an allegation (whether or not express) that A or another person

has contravened this Act.

(3) Giving false evidence or information, or making a false allegation, is not a
protected act if the evidence or information is given, or the allegation is made,
in bad faith.

Page 54



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 2 — Equality: key concepts
Chapter 2 — Prohibited conduct

15

(4) This section applies only where the person subjected to a detriment is an
individual.

(5) The reference to contravening this Act includes a reference to committing a
breach of an equality clause or rule.

PART 3

SERVICES AND PUBLIC FUNCTIONS

Preliminary

28 Application of this Part

(1) This Part does not apply to the protected characteristic of— 
(a) age, so far as relating to persons who have not attained the age of 18;
(b) marriage and civil partnership.

(2) This Part does not apply to discrimination, harassment or victimisation—
(a) that is prohibited by Part 4 (premises), 5 (work) or 6 (education), or
(b) that would be so prohibited but for an express exception.

(3) This Part does not apply to—
(a) a breach of an equality clause or rule;
(b) anything that would be a breach of an equality clause or rule but for

section 69 or Part 2 of Schedule 7;
(c) a breach of a non-discrimination rule.

Provision of services, etc.

29 Provision of services, etc.

(1) A person (a “service-provider”) concerned with the provision of a service to the
public or a section of the public (for payment or not) must not discriminate
against a person requiring the service by not providing the person with the
service.

(2) A service-provider (A) must not, in providing the service, discriminate against
a person (B)—

(a) as to the terms on which A provides the service to B;
(b) by terminating the provision of the service to B;
(c) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(3) A service-provider must not, in relation to the provision of the service,
harass—

(a) a person requiring the service, or
(b) a person to whom the service-provider provides the service.

(4) A service-provider must not victimise a person requiring the service by not
providing the person with the service.

(5) A service-provider (A) must not, in providing the service, victimise a person
(B)—

(a) as to the terms on which A provides the service to B;

Page 55



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 3 — Services and public functions

16

(b) by terminating the provision of the service to B;
(c) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(6) A person must not, in the exercise of a public function that is not the provision
of a service to the public or a section of the public, do anything that constitutes
discrimination, harassment or victimisation.

(7) A duty to make reasonable adjustments applies to—
(a) a service-provider (and see also section 55(7));
(b) a person who exercises a public function that is not the provision of a

service to the public or a section of the public.

(8) In the application of section 26 for the purposes of subsection (3), and
subsection (6) as it relates to harassment, neither of the following is a relevant
protected characteristic—

(a) religion or belief;
(b) sexual orientation.

(9) In the application of this section, so far as relating to race or religion or belief,
to the granting of entry clearance (within the meaning of the Immigration Act
1971), it does not matter whether an act is done within or outside the United
Kingdom.

(10) Subsection (9) does not affect the application of any other provision of this Act
to conduct outside England and Wales or Scotland.

Supplementary

30 Ships and hovercraft

(1) This Part (subject to subsection (2)) applies only in such circumstances as are
prescribed in relation to—

(a) transporting people by ship or hovercraft;
(b) a service provided on a ship or hovercraft.

(2) Section 29(6) applies in relation to the matters referred to in paragraphs (a) and
(b) of subsection (1); but in so far as it relates to disability discrimination,
section 29(6) applies to those matters only in such circumstances as are
prescribed.

(3) It does not matter whether the ship or hovercraft is within or outside the
United Kingdom.

(4) “Ship” has the same meaning as in the Merchant Shipping Act 1995.

(5) “Hovercraft” has the same meaning as in the Hovercraft Act 1968.

(6) Nothing in this section affects the application of any other provision of this Act
to conduct outside England and Wales or Scotland.

31 Interpretation and exceptions

(1) This section applies for the purposes of this Part.

(2) A reference to the provision of a service includes a reference to the provision of
goods or facilities.

Page 56



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 3 — Services and public functions

17

(3) A reference to the provision of a service includes a reference to the provision of
a service in the exercise of a public function.

(4) A public function is a function that is a function of a public nature for the
purposes of the Human Rights Act 1998.

(5) Where an employer arranges for another person to provide a service only to the
employer’s employees—

(a) the employer is not to be regarded as the service-provider, but
(b) the employees are to be regarded as a section of the public.

(6) A reference to a person requiring a service includes a reference to a person who
is seeking to obtain or use the service.

(7) A reference to a service-provider not providing a person with a service
includes a reference to—

(a) the service-provider not providing the person with a service of the
quality that the service-provider usually provides to the public (or the
section of it which includes the person), or

(b) the service-provider not providing the person with the service in the
manner in which, or on the terms on which, the service-provider
usually provides the service to the public (or the section of it which
includes the person).

(8) In relation to the provision of a service by either House of Parliament, the
service-provider is the Corporate Officer of the House concerned; and if the
service involves access to, or use of, a place in the Palace of Westminster which
members of the public are allowed to enter, both Corporate Officers are jointly
the service-provider.

(9) Schedule 2 (reasonable adjustments) has effect.

(10) Schedule 3 (exceptions) has effect. 

PART 4

PREMISES

Preliminary

32 Application of this Part

(1) This Part does not apply to the following protected characteristics—
(a) age;
(b) marriage and civil partnership.

(2) This Part does not apply to discrimination, harassment or victimisation—
(a) that is prohibited by Part 5 (work) or Part 6 (education), or
(b) that would be so prohibited but for an express exception.

(3) This Part does not apply to the provision of accommodation if the provision—
(a) is generally for the purpose of short stays by individuals who live

elsewhere, or
(b) is for the purpose only of exercising a public function or providing a

service to the public or a section of the public.

Page 57



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 4 — Premises

18

(4) The reference to the exercise of a public function, and the reference to the
provision of a service, are to be construed in accordance with Part 3.

(5) This Part does not apply to—
(a) a breach of an equality clause or rule;
(b) anything that would be a breach of an equality clause or rule but for

section 69 or Part 2 of Schedule 7;
(c) a breach of a non-discrimination rule.

Disposal and management

33 Disposals, etc.

(1) A person (A) who has the right to dispose of premises must not discriminate
against another (B)—

(a) as to the terms on which A offers to dispose of the premises to B;
(b) by not disposing of the premises to B;
(c) in A’s treatment of B with respect to things done in relation to persons

seeking premises.

(2) Where an interest in a commonhold unit cannot be disposed of unless a
particular person is a party to the disposal, that person must not discriminate
against a person by not being a party to the disposal.

(3) A person who has the right to dispose of premises must not, in connection with
anything done in relation to their occupation or disposal, harass—

(a) a person who occupies them;
(b) a person who applies for them. 

(4) A person (A) who has the right to dispose of premises must not victimise
another (B)—

(a) as to the terms on which A offers to dispose of the premises to B;
(b) by not disposing of the premises to B;
(c) in A’s treatment of B with respect to things done in relation to persons

seeking premises.

(5) Where an interest in a commonhold unit cannot be disposed of unless a
particular person is a party to the disposal, that person must not victimise a
person by not being a party to the disposal.

(6) In the application of section 26 for the purposes of subsection (3), neither of the
following is a relevant protected characteristic—

(a) religion or belief;
(b) sexual orientation.

34 Permission for disposal

(1) A person whose permission is required for the disposal of premises must not
discriminate against another by not giving permission for the disposal of the
premises to the other.

(2) A person whose permission is required for the disposal of premises must not,
in relation to an application for permission to dispose of the premises, harass a
person—

Page 58



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 4 — Premises

19

(a) who applies for permission to dispose of the premises, or
(b) to whom the disposal would be made if permission were given.

(3) A person whose permission is required for the disposal of premises must not
victimise another by not giving permission for the disposal of the premises to
the other.

(4) In the application of section 26 for the purposes of subsection (2), neither of the
following is a relevant protected characteristic—

(a) religion or belief;
(b) sexual orientation.

(5) This section does not apply to anything done in the exercise of a judicial
function.

35 Management

(1) A person (A) who manages premises must not discriminate against a person
(B) who occupies the premises—

(a) in the way in which A allows B, or by not allowing B, to make use of a
benefit or facility;

(b) by evicting B (or taking steps for the purpose of securing B’s eviction);
(c) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(2) A person who manages premises must not, in relation to their management,
harass—

(a) a person who occupies them;
(b) a person who applies for them.

(3) A person (A) who manages premises must not victimise a person (B) who
occupies the premises—

(a) in the way in which A allows B, or by not allowing B, to make use of a
benefit or facility;

(b) by evicting B (or taking steps for the purpose of securing B’s eviction);
(c) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(4) In the application of section 26 for the purposes of subsection (2), neither of the
following is a relevant protected characteristic—

(a) religion or belief;
(b) sexual orientation.

Reasonable adjustments

36 Leasehold and commonhold premises and common parts

(1) A duty to make reasonable adjustments applies to—
(a) a controller of let premises;
(b) a controller of premises to let;
(c) a commonhold association;
(d) a responsible person in relation to common parts.

(2) A controller of let premises is—
(a) a person by whom premises are let, or

Page 59



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 4 — Premises

20

(b) a person who manages them.

(3) A controller of premises to let is—
(a) a person who has premises to let, or
(b) a person who manages them.

(4) The reference in subsection (1)(c) to a commonhold association is a reference to
the association in its capacity as the person who manages a commonhold unit.

(5) A responsible person in relation to common parts is—
(a) where the premises to which the common parts relate are let (and are

not part of commonhold land or in Scotland), a person by whom the
premises are let;

(b) where the premises to which the common parts relate are part of
commonhold land, the commonhold association.

(6) Common parts are—
(a) in relation to let premises (which are not part of commonhold land or

in Scotland), the structure and exterior of, and any common facilities
within or used in connection with, the building or part of a building
which includes the premises;

(b) in relation to commonhold land, every part of the commonhold which
is not for the time being a commonhold unit in accordance with the
commonhold community statement.

(7) A reference to letting includes a reference to sub-letting; and for the purposes
of subsection (1)(a) and (b), a reference to let premises includes premises
subject to a right to occupy.

(8) This section does not apply to premises of such description as may be
prescribed.

37 Adjustments to common parts in Scotland

(1) The Scottish Ministers may by regulations provide that a disabled person is
entitled to make relevant adjustments to common parts in relation to premises
in Scotland.

(2) The reference in subsection (1) to a disabled person is a reference to a disabled
person who—

(a) is a tenant of the premises,
(b) is an owner of the premises, or
(c) is otherwise entitled to occupy the premises,

and uses or intends to use the premises as the person’s only or main home.

(3) Before making regulations under subsection (1), the Scottish Ministers must
consult a Minister of the Crown.

(4) Regulations under subsection (1) may, in particular—
(a) prescribe things which are, or which are not, to be treated as relevant

adjustments;
(b) prescribe circumstances in which the consent of an owner of the

common parts is required before a disabled person may make an
adjustment;

(c) provide that the consent to adjustments is not to be withheld
unreasonably;

Page 60



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 4 — Premises

21

(d) prescribe matters to be taken into account, or to be disregarded, in
deciding whether it is reasonable to consent to adjustments;

(e) prescribe circumstances in which consent to adjustments is to be taken
to be withheld;

(f) make provision about the imposition of conditions on consent to
adjustments;

(g) make provision as to circumstances in which the sheriff may make an
order authorising a disabled person to carry out adjustments;

(h) make provision about the responsibility for costs arising (directly or
indirectly) from an adjustment;

(i) make provision about the reinstatement of the common parts to the
condition they were in before an adjustment was made;

(j) make provision about the giving of notice to the owners of the common
parts and other persons;

(k) make provision about agreements between a disabled person and an
owner of the common parts;

(l) make provision about the registration of information in the Land
Register of Scotland or the recording of documents in the Register of
Sasines relating to an entitlement of a disabled person or an obligation
on an owner of the common parts;

(m) make provision about the effect of such registration or recording;
(n) make provision about who is to be treated as being, or as not being, a

person entitled to occupy premises otherwise than as tenant or owner.

(5) In this section—
“common parts” means, in relation to premises, the structure and exterior

of, and any common facilities within or used in connection with, the
building or part of a building which includes the premises but only in
so far as the structure, exterior and common facilities are not solely
owned by the owner of the premises;

“relevant adjustments” means, in relation to a disabled person, alterations
or additions which are likely to avoid a substantial disadvantage to
which the disabled person is put in using the common parts in
comparison with persons who are not disabled.

Supplementary

38 Interpretation and exceptions

(1) This section applies for the purposes of this Part.

(2) A reference to premises is a reference to the whole or part of the premises.

(3) A reference to disposing of premises includes, in the case of premises subject
to a tenancy, a reference to—

(a) assigning the premises,
(b) sub-letting them, or
(c) parting with possession of them.

(4) A reference to disposing of premises also includes a reference to granting a
right to occupy them.

(5) A reference to disposing of an interest in a commonhold unit includes a
reference to creating an interest in a commonhold unit.

Page 61



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 4 — Premises

22

(6) A reference to a tenancy is to a tenancy created (whether before or after the
passing of this Act)—

(a) by a lease or sub-lease,
(b) by an agreement for a lease or sub-lease,
(c) by a tenancy agreement, or 
(d) in pursuance of an enactment,

and a reference to a tenant is to be construed accordingly.

(7) A reference to commonhold land, a commonhold association, a commonhold
community statement, a commonhold unit or a unit-holder is to be construed
in accordance with the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002.

(8) Schedule 4 (reasonable adjustments) has effect.

(9) Schedule 5 (exceptions) has effect.

PART 5

WORK

CHAPTER 1

EMPLOYMENT, ETC.

Employees

39 Employees and applicants

(1) An employer (A) must not discriminate against a person (B)—
(a) in the arrangements A makes for deciding to whom to offer

employment;
(b) as to the terms on which A offers B employment;
(c) by not offering B employment.

(2) An employer (A) must not discriminate against an employee of A’s (B)—
(a) as to B’s terms of employment;
(b) in the way A affords B access, or by not affording B access, to

opportunities for promotion, transfer or training or for receiving any
other benefit, facility or service;

(c) by dismissing B;
(d) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(3) An employer (A) must not victimise a person (B)—
(a) in the arrangements A makes for deciding to whom to offer

employment;
(b) as to the terms on which A offers B employment;
(c) by not offering B employment.

(4) An employer (A) must not victimise an employee of A’s (B)—
(a) as to B’s terms of employment;
(b) in the way A affords B access, or by not affording B access, to

opportunities for promotion, transfer or training or for any other
benefit, facility or service;

Page 62



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work
Chapter 1 — Employment, etc.

23

(c) by dismissing B;
(d) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(5) A duty to make reasonable adjustments applies to an employer.

(6) Subsection (1)(b), so far as relating to sex or pregnancy and maternity, does not
apply to a term that relates to pay— 

(a) unless, were B to accept the offer, an equality clause or rule would have
effect in relation to the term, or

(b) if paragraph (a) does not apply, except in so far as making an offer on
terms including that term amounts to a contravention of subsection
(1)(b) by virtue of section 13, 14 or 18.

(7) In subsections (2)(c) and (4)(c), the reference to dismissing B includes a
reference to the termination of B’s employment—

(a) by the expiry of a period (including a period expiring by reference to an
event or circumstance);

(b) by an act of B’s (including giving notice) in circumstances such that B is
entitled, because of A’s conduct, to terminate the employment without
notice.

(8) Subsection (7)(a) does not apply if, immediately after the termination, the
employment is renewed on the same terms.

40 Employees and applicants: harassment

(1) An employer (A) must not, in relation to employment by A, harass a person
(B)—

(a) who is an employee of A’s;
(b) who has applied to A for employment.

(2) The circumstances in which A is to be treated as harassing B under subsection
(1) include those where—

(a) a third party harasses B in the course of B’s employment, and
(b) A failed to take such steps as would have been reasonably practicable

to prevent the third party from doing so.

(3) Subsection (2) does not apply unless A knows that B has been harassed in the
course of B’s employment on at least two other occasions by a third party; and
it does not matter whether the third party is the same or a different person on
each occasion.

(4) A third party is a person other than—
(a) A, or
(b) an employee of A’s.

41 Contract workers

(1) A principal must not discriminate against a contract worker—
(a) as to the terms on which the principal allows the worker to do the work;
(b) by not allowing the worker to do, or to continue to do, the work;
(c) in the way the principal affords the worker access, or by not affording

the worker access, to opportunities for receiving a benefit, facility or
service;

(d) by subjecting the worker to any other detriment.

Page 63



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work

Chapter 1 — Employment, etc.

24

(2) A principal must not, in relation to contract work, harass a contract worker.

(3) A principal must not victimise a contract worker—
(a) as to the terms on which the principal allows the worker to do the work;
(b) by not allowing the worker to do, or to continue to do, the work;
(c) in the way the principal affords the worker access, or by not affording

the worker access, to opportunities for receiving a benefit, facility or
service;

(d) by subjecting the worker to any other detriment.

(4) A duty to make reasonable adjustments applies to a principal (as well as to the
employer of a contract worker).

(5) A “principal” is a person who makes work available for an individual who is—
(a) employed by another person, and
(b) supplied by that other person in furtherance of a contract to which the

principal is a party (whether or not that other person is a party to it).

(6) “Contract work” is work such as is mentioned in subsection (5).

(7) A “contract worker” is an individual supplied to a principal in furtherance of a
contract such as is mentioned in subsection (5)(b).

Police officers

42 Identity of employer

(1) For the purposes of this Part, holding the office of constable is to be treated as
employment—

(a) by the chief officer, in respect of any act done by the chief officer in
relation to a constable or appointment to the office of constable;

(b) by the responsible authority, in respect of any act done by the authority
in relation to a constable or appointment to the office of constable.

(2) For the purposes of this Part, holding an appointment as a police cadet is to be
treated as employment—

(a) by the chief officer, in respect of any act done by the chief officer in
relation to a police cadet or appointment as one;

(b) by the responsible authority, in respect of any act done by the authority
in relation to a police cadet or appointment as one.

(3) Subsection (1) does not apply to service with the Civil Nuclear Constabulary
(as to which, see section 55(2) of the Energy Act 2004).

(4) Subsection (1) does not apply to a constable at SOCA, SPSA or SCDEA.

(5) A constable at SOCA or SPSA is to be treated as employed by it, in respect of
any act done by it in relation to the constable.

(6) A constable at SCDEA is to be treated as employed by the Director General of
SCDEA, in respect of any act done by the Director General in relation to the
constable.

43 Interpretation

(1) This section applies for the purposes of section 42.

Page 64



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work
Chapter 1 — Employment, etc.

25

(2) “Chief officer” means—
(a) in relation to an appointment under a relevant Act, the chief officer of

police for the police force to which the appointment relates;
(b) in relation to any other appointment, the person under whose direction

and control the body of constables or other persons to which the
appointment relates is;

(c) in relation to a constable or other person under the direction and
control of a chief officer of police, that chief officer of police;

(d) in relation to any other constable or any other person, the person under
whose direction and control the constable or other person is.

(3) “Responsible authority” means—
(a) in relation to an appointment under a relevant Act, the police authority

that maintains the police force to which the appointment relates;
(b) in relation to any other appointment, the person by whom a person

would (if appointed) be paid;
(c) in relation to a constable or other person under the direction and

control of a chief officer of police, the police authority that maintains
the police force for which that chief officer is the chief officer of police;

(d) in relation to any other constable or any other person, the person by
whom the constable or other person is paid.

(4) “Police cadet” means a person appointed to undergo training with a view to
becoming a constable.

(5) “SOCA” means the Serious Organised Crime Agency; and a reference to a
constable at SOCA is a reference to a constable seconded to it to serve as a
member of its staff.

(6) “SPSA” means the Scottish Police Services Authority; and a reference to a
constable at SPSA is a reference to a constable—

(a) seconded to it to serve as a member of its staff, and
(b) not at SCDEA.

(7) “SCDEA” means the Scottish Crime and Drugs Enforcement Agency; and a
reference to a constable at SCDEA is a reference to a constable who is a police
member of it by virtue of paragraph 7(2)(a) or (b) of Schedule 2 to the Police,
Public Order and Criminal Justice (Scotland) Act 2006 (asp 10) (secondment).

(8) For the purposes of this section, the relevant Acts are—
(a) the Metropolitan Police Act 1829;
(b) the City of London Police Act 1839;
(c) the Police (Scotland) Act 1967;
(d) the Police Act 1996.

(9) A reference in subsection (2) or (3) to a chief officer of police includes, in
relation to Scotland, a reference to a chief constable.

Partners

44 Partnerships

(1) A firm or proposed firm must not discriminate against a person—

Page 65



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work

Chapter 1 — Employment, etc.

26

(a) in the arrangements it makes for deciding to whom to offer a position
as a partner;

(b) as to the terms on which it offers the person a position as a partner;
(c) by not offering the person a position as a partner.

(2) A firm (A) must not discriminate against a partner (B)—
(a) as to the terms on which B is a partner;
(b) in the way A affords B access, or by not affording B access, to

opportunities for promotion, transfer or training or for receiving any
other benefit, facility or service;

(c) by expelling B;
(d) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(3) A firm must not, in relation to a position as a partner, harass—
(a) a partner;
(b) a person who has applied for the position.

(4) A proposed firm must not, in relation to a position as a partner, harass a person
who has applied for the position.

(5) A firm or proposed firm must not victimise a person—
(a) in the arrangements it makes for deciding to whom to offer a position

as a partner;
(b) as to the terms on which it offers the person a position as a partner;
(c) by not offering the person a position as a partner.

(6) A firm (A) must not victimise a partner (B)—
(a) as to the terms on which B is a partner;
(b) in the way A affords B access, or by not affording B access, to

opportunities for promotion, transfer or training or for receiving any
other benefit, facility or service;

(c) by expelling B;
(d) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(7) A duty to make reasonable adjustments applies to—
(a) a firm;
(b) a proposed firm.

(8) In the application of this section to a limited partnership within the meaning of
the Limited Partnerships Act 1907, “partner” means a general partner within
the meaning of that Act.

45 Limited liability partnerships

(1) An LLP or proposed LLP must not discriminate against a person—
(a) in the arrangements it makes for deciding to whom to offer a position

as a member;
(b) as to the terms on which it offers the person a position as a member;
(c) by not offering the person a position as a member.

(2) An LLP (A) must not discriminate against a member (B)—
(a) as to the terms on which B is a member;

Page 66



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work
Chapter 1 — Employment, etc.

27

(b) in the way A affords B access, or by not affording B access, to
opportunities for promotion, transfer or training or for receiving any
other benefit, facility or service;

(c) by expelling B;
(d) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(3) An LLP must not, in relation to a position as a member, harass—
(a) a member;
(b) a person who has applied for the position.

(4) A proposed LLP must not, in relation to a position as a member, harass a
person who has applied for the position.

(5) An LLP or proposed LLP must not victimise a person—
(a) in the arrangements it makes for deciding to whom to offer a position

as a member;
(b) as to the terms on which it offers the person a position as a member;
(c) by not offering the person a position as a member.

(6) An LLP (A) must not victimise a member (B)—
(a) as to the terms on which B is a member;
(b) in the way A affords B access, or by not affording B access, to

opportunities for promotion, transfer or training or for receiving any
other benefit, facility or service;

(c) by expelling B;
(d) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(7) A duty to make reasonable adjustments applies to—
(a) an LLP;
(b) a proposed LLP.

46 Interpretation

(1) This section applies for the purposes of sections 44 and 45.

(2) “Partnership” and “firm” have the same meaning as in the Partnership Act
1890.

(3) “Proposed firm” means persons proposing to form themselves into a
partnership.

(4) “LLP” means a limited liability partnership (within the meaning of the Limited
Liability Partnerships Act 2000).

(5) “Proposed LLP” means persons proposing to incorporate an LLP with
themselves as members.

(6) A reference to expelling a partner of a firm or a member of an LLP includes a
reference to the termination of the person’s position as such—

(a) by the expiry of a period (including a period expiring by reference to an
event or circumstance);

(b) by an act of the person (including giving notice) in circumstances such
that the person is entitled, because of the conduct of other partners or
members, to terminate the position without notice;

(c) (in the case of a partner of a firm) as a result of the dissolution of the
partnership.

Page 67



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work

Chapter 1 — Employment, etc.

28

(7) Subsection (6)(a) and (c) does not apply if, immediately after the termination,
the position is renewed on the same terms.

The Bar

47 Barristers

(1) A barrister (A) must not discriminate against a person (B)—
(a) in the arrangements A makes for deciding to whom to offer a pupillage

or tenancy;
(b) as to the terms on which A offers B a pupillage or tenancy;
(c) by not offering B a pupillage or tenancy.

(2) A barrister (A) must not discriminate against a person (B) who is a pupil or
tenant—

(a) as to the terms on which B is a pupil or tenant;
(b) in the way A affords B access, or by not affording B access, to

opportunities for training or gaining experience or for receiving any
other benefit, facility or service;

(c) by terminating the pupillage;
(d) by subjecting B to pressure to leave chambers;
(e) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(3) A barrister must not, in relation to a pupillage or tenancy, harass—
(a) the pupil or tenant;
(b) a person who has applied for the pupillage or tenancy.

(4) A barrister (A) must not victimise a person (B)—
(a) in the arrangements A makes for deciding to whom to offer a pupillage

or tenancy;
(b) as to the terms on which A offers B a pupillage or tenancy;
(c) by not offering B a pupillage or tenancy.

(5) A barrister (A) must not victimise a person (B) who is a pupil or tenant—
(a) as to the terms on which B is a pupil or tenant;
(b) in the way A affords B access, or by not affording B access, to

opportunities for training or gaining experience or for receiving any
other benefit, facility or service;

(c) by terminating the pupillage;
(d) by subjecting B to pressure to leave chambers;
(e) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(6) A person must not, in relation to instructing a barrister—
(a) discriminate against a barrister by subjecting the barrister to a

detriment;
(b) harass the barrister;
(c) victimise the barrister.

(7) A duty to make reasonable adjustments applies to a barrister.

(8) The preceding provisions of this section (apart from subsection (6)) apply in
relation to a barrister’s clerk as they apply in relation to a barrister; and for that

Page 68



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work
Chapter 1 — Employment, etc.

29

purpose the reference to a barrister’s clerk includes a reference to a person who
carries out the functions of a barrister’s clerk.

(9) A reference to a tenant includes a reference to a barrister who is permitted to
work in chambers (including as a squatter or door tenant); and a reference to a
tenancy is to be construed accordingly.

48 Advocates

(1) An advocate (A) must not discriminate against a person (B)—
(a) in the arrangements A makes for deciding who to take as A’s devil or

to whom to offer membership of a stable;
(b) as to the terms on which A offers to take B as A’s devil or offers B

membership of a stable;
(c) by not offering to take B as A’s devil or not offering B membership of a

stable.

(2) An advocate (A) must not discriminate against a person (B) who is a devil or a
member of a stable—

(a) as to the terms on which B is a devil or a member of the stable;
(b) in the way A affords B access, or by not affording B access, to

opportunities for training or gaining experience or for receiving any
other benefit, facility or service;

(c) by terminating A’s relationship with B (where B is a devil);
(d) by subjecting B to pressure to leave the stable;
(e) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(3) An advocate must not, in relation to a relationship with a devil or membership
of a stable, harass—

(a) a devil or member;
(b) a person who has applied to be taken as the advocate’s devil or to

become a member of the stable.

(4) An advocate (A) must not victimise a person (B)—
(a) in the arrangements A makes for deciding who to take as A’s devil or

to whom to offer membership of a stable;
(b) as to the terms on which A offers to take B as A’s devil or offers B

membership of a stable;
(c) by not offering to take B as A’s devil or not offering B membership of a

stable.

(5) An advocate (A) must not victimise a person (B) who is a devil or a member of
a stable—

(a) as to the terms on which B is a devil or a member of the stable;
(b) in the way A affords B access, or by not affording B access, to

opportunities for training or gaining experience or for receiving any
other benefit, facility or service;

(c) by terminating A’s relationship with B (where B is a devil);
(d) by subjecting B to pressure to leave the stable;
(e) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(6) A person must not, in relation to instructing an advocate—
(a) discriminate against the advocate by subjecting the advocate to a

detriment;

Page 69



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work

Chapter 1 — Employment, etc.

30

(b) harass the advocate;
(c) victimise the advocate.

(7) A duty to make reasonable adjustments applies to an advocate.

(8) This section (apart from subsection (6)) applies in relation to an advocate’s
clerk as it applies in relation to an advocate; and for that purpose the reference
to an advocate’s clerk includes a reference to a person who carries out the
functions of an advocate’s clerk.

(9) “Advocate” means a practising member of the Faculty of Advocates.

Office-holders

49 Personal offices: appointments, etc.

(1) This section applies in relation to personal offices.

(2) A personal office is an office or post—
(a) to which a person is appointed to discharge a function personally

under the direction of another person, and
(b) in respect of which an appointed person is entitled to remuneration.

(3) A person (A) who has the power to make an appointment to a personal office
must not discriminate against a person (B)—

(a) in the arrangements A makes for deciding to whom to offer the
appointment;

(b) as to the terms on which A offers B the appointment;
(c) by not offering B the appointment.

(4) A person who has the power to make an appointment to a personal office must
not, in relation to the office, harass a person seeking, or being considered for,
the appointment.

(5) A person (A) who has the power to make an appointment to a personal office
must not victimise a person (B)—

(a) in the arrangements A makes for deciding to whom to offer the
appointment;

(b) as to the terms on which A offers B the appointment;
(c) by not offering B the appointment.

(6) A person (A) who is a relevant person in relation to a personal office must not
discriminate against a person (B) appointed to the office—

(a) as to the terms of B’s appointment;
(b) in the way A affords B access, or by not affording B access, to

opportunities for promotion, transfer or training or for receiving any
other benefit, facility or service;

(c) by terminating B’s appointment;
(d) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(7) A relevant person in relation to a personal office must not, in relation to that
office, harass a person appointed to it.

(8) A person (A) who is a relevant person in relation to a personal office must not
victimise a person (B) appointed to the office—

Page 70



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work
Chapter 1 — Employment, etc.

31

(a) as to the terms of B’s appointment;
(b) in the way A affords B access, or by not affording B access, to

opportunities for promotion, transfer or training or for receiving any
other benefit, facility or service;

(c) by terminating B’s appointment;
(d) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(9) A duty to make reasonable adjustments applies to—
(a) a person who has the power to make an appointment to a personal

office;
(b) a relevant person in relation to a personal office.

(10) For the purposes of subsection (2)(a), a person is to be regarded as discharging
functions personally under the direction of another person if that other person
is entitled to direct the person as to when and where to discharge the functions.

(11) For the purposes of subsection (2)(b), a person is not to be regarded as entitled
to remuneration merely because the person is entitled to payments—

(a) in respect of expenses incurred by the person in discharging the
functions of the office or post, or

(b) by way of compensation for the loss of income or benefits the person
would or might have received had the person not been discharging the
functions of the office or post.

(12) Subsection (3)(b), so far as relating to sex or pregnancy and maternity, does not
apply to a term that relates to pay—

(a) unless, were B to accept the offer, an equality clause or rule would have
effect in relation to the term, or

(b) if paragraph (a) does not apply, except in so far as making an offer on
terms including that term amounts to a contravention of subsection
(3)(b) by virtue of section 13, 14 or 18.

50 Public offices: appointments, etc.

(1) This section and section 51 apply in relation to public offices.

(2) A public office is—
(a) an office or post, appointment to which is made by a member of the

executive;
(b) an office or post, appointment to which is made on the

recommendation of, or subject to the approval of, a member of the
executive;

(c) an office or post, appointment to which is made on the
recommendation of, or subject to the approval of, the House of
Commons, the House of Lords, the National Assembly for Wales or the
Scottish Parliament.

(3) A person (A) who has the power to make an appointment to a public office
within subsection (2)(a) or (b) must not discriminate against a person (B)—

(a) in the arrangements A makes for deciding to whom to offer the
appointment;

(b) as to the terms on which A offers B the appointment;
(c) by not offering B the appointment.

Page 71



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work

Chapter 1 — Employment, etc.

32

(4) A person who has the power to make an appointment to a public office within
subsection (2)(a) or (b) must not, in relation to the office, harass a person
seeking, or being considered for, the appointment.

(5) A person (A) who has the power to make an appointment to a public office
within subsection (2)(a) or (b) must not victimise a person (B)—

(a) in the arrangements A makes for deciding to whom to offer the
appointment;

(b) as to the terms on which A offers B the appointment;
(c) by not offering B the appointment.

(6) A person (A) who is a relevant person in relation to a public office within
subsection (2)(a) or (b) must not discriminate against a person (B) appointed to
the office—

(a) as to B’s terms of appointment;
(b) in the way A affords B access, or by not affording B access, to

opportunities for promotion, transfer or training or for receiving any
other benefit, facility or service;

(c) by terminating the appointment;
(d) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(7) A person (A) who is a relevant person in relation to a public office within
subsection (2)(c) must not discriminate against a person (B) appointed to the
office—

(a) as to B’s terms of appointment;
(b) in the way A affords B access, or by not affording B access, to

opportunities for promotion, transfer or training or for receiving any
other benefit, facility or service;

(c) by subjecting B to any other detriment (other than by terminating the
appointment).

(8) A relevant person in relation to a public office must not, in relation to that
office, harass a person appointed to it.

(9) A person (A) who is a relevant person in relation to a public office within
subsection (2)(a) or (b) must not victimise a person (B) appointed to the office—

(a) as to B’s terms of appointment;
(b) in the way A affords B access, or by not affording B access, to

opportunities for promotion, transfer or training or for receiving any
other benefit, facility or service;

(c) by terminating the appointment;
(d) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(10) A person (A) who is a relevant person in relation to a public office within
subsection (2)(c) must not victimise a person (B) appointed to the office—

(a) as to B’s terms of appointment;
(b) in the way A affords B access, or by not affording B access, to

opportunities for promotion, transfer or training or for receiving any
other benefit, facility or service;

(c) by subjecting B to any other detriment (other than by terminating the
appointment).

(11) A duty to make reasonable adjustments applies to—
(a) a relevant person in relation to a public office;

Page 72



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work
Chapter 1 — Employment, etc.

33

(b) a person who has the power to make an appointment to a public office
within subsection (2)(a) or (b).

(12) Subsection (3)(b), so far as relating to sex or pregnancy and maternity, does not
apply to a term that relates to pay— 

(a) unless, were B to accept the offer, an equality clause or rule would have
effect in relation to the term, or

(b) if paragraph (a) does not apply, except in so far as making an offer on
terms including that term amounts to a contravention of subsection
(3)(b) by virtue of section 13, 14 or 18.

51 Public offices: recommendations for appointments, etc.

(1) A person (A) who has the power to make a recommendation for or give
approval to an appointment to a public office within section 50(2)(a) or (b),
must not discriminate against a person (B)—

(a) in the arrangements A makes for deciding who to recommend for
appointment or to whose appointment to give approval;

(b) by not recommending B for appointment to the office;
(c) by making a negative recommendation of B for appointment to the

office;
(d) by not giving approval to the appointment of B to the office.

(2) A person who has the power to make a recommendation for or give approval
to an appointment to a public office within section 50(2)(a) or (b) must not, in
relation to the office, harass a person seeking or being considered for the
recommendation or approval.

(3) A person (A) who has the power to make a recommendation for or give
approval to an appointment to a public office within section 50(2)(a) or (b),
must not victimise a person (B)—

(a) in the arrangements A makes for deciding who to recommend for
appointment or to whose appointment to give approval;

(b) by not recommending B for appointment to the office;
(c) by making a negative recommendation of B for appointment to the

office;
(d) by not giving approval to the appointment of B to the office.

(4) A duty to make reasonable adjustments applies to a person who has the power
to make a recommendation for or give approval to an appointment to a public
office within section 50(2)(a) or (b).

(5) A reference in this section to a person who has the power to make a
recommendation for or give approval to an appointment to a public office
within section 50(2)(a) is a reference only to a relevant body which has that
power; and for that purpose “relevant body” means a body established—

(a) by or in pursuance of an enactment, or
(b) by a member of the executive.

52 Interpretation and exceptions

(1) This section applies for the purposes of sections 49 to 51.

(2) “Personal office” has the meaning given in section 49.

Page 73



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work

Chapter 1 — Employment, etc.

34

(3) “Public office” has the meaning given in section 50.

(4) An office or post which is both a personal office and a public office is to be
treated as being a public office only.

(5) Appointment to an office or post does not include election to it.

(6) “Relevant person”, in relation to an office, means the person who, in relation to
a matter specified in the first column of the table, is specified in the second
column (but a reference to a relevant person does not in any case include the
House of Commons, the House of Lords, the National Assembly for Wales or
the Scottish Parliament).

(7) A reference to terminating a person’s appointment includes a reference to
termination of the appointment—

(a) by the expiry of a period (including a period expiring by reference to an
event or circumstance);

(b) by an act of the person (including giving notice) in circumstances such
that the person is entitled, because of the relevant person’s conduct, to
terminate the appointment without notice.

(8) Subsection (7)(a) does not apply if, immediately after the termination, the
appointment is renewed on the same terms.

(9) Schedule 6 (excluded offices) has effect.

Qualifications

53 Qualifications bodies

(1) A qualifications body (A) must not discriminate against a person (B)—

Matter Relevant person

A term of appointment The person who has the power to set
the term.

Access to an opportunity The person who has the power to
afford access to the opportunity (or, if
there is no such person, the person who
has the power to make the
appointment).

Terminating an appointment The person who has the power to
terminate the appointment.

Subjecting an appointee to any
other detriment

The person who has the power in
relation to the matter to which the
conduct in question relates (or, if there
is no such person, the person who has
the power to make the appointment).

Harassing an appointee The person who has the power in
relation to the matter to which the
conduct in question relates.

Page 74



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work
Chapter 1 — Employment, etc.

35

(a) in the arrangements A makes for deciding upon whom to confer a
relevant qualification;

(b) as to the terms on which it is prepared to confer a relevant qualification
on B;

(c) by not conferring a relevant qualification on B.

(2) A qualifications body (A) must not discriminate against a person (B) upon
whom A has conferred a relevant qualification—

(a) by withdrawing the qualification from B;
(b) by varying the terms on which B holds the qualification;
(c) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(3) A qualifications body must not, in relation to conferment by it of a relevant
qualification, harass—

(a) a person who holds the qualification, or
(b) a person who applies for it.

(4) A qualifications body (A) must not victimise a person (B)—
(a) in the arrangements A makes for deciding upon whom to confer a

relevant qualification;
(b) as to the terms on which it is prepared to confer a relevant qualification

on B;
(c) by not conferring a relevant qualification on B.

(5) A qualifications body (A) must not victimise a person (B) upon whom A has
conferred a relevant qualification—

(a) by withdrawing the qualification from B;
(b) by varying the terms on which B holds the qualification;
(c) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(6) A duty to make reasonable adjustments applies to a qualifications body.

(7) The application by a qualifications body of a competence standard to a
disabled person is not disability discrimination unless it is discrimination by
virtue of section 19.

54 Interpretation

(1) This section applies for the purposes of section 53.

(2) A qualifications body is an authority or body which can confer a relevant
qualification.

(3) A relevant qualification is an authorisation, qualification, recognition,
registration, enrolment, approval or certification which is needed for, or
facilitates engagement in, a particular trade or profession.

(4) An authority or body is not a qualifications body in so far as—
(a) it can confer a qualification to which section 96 applies, 
(b) it is the responsible body of a school to which section 85 applies,
(c) it is the governing body of an institution to which section 91 applies,
(d) it exercises functions under the Education Acts, or
(e) it exercises functions under the Education (Scotland) Act 1980.

Page 75



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work

Chapter 1 — Employment, etc.

36

(5) A reference to conferring a relevant qualification includes a reference to
renewing or extending the conferment of a relevant qualification.

(6) A competence standard is an academic, medical or other standard applied for
the purpose of determining whether or not a person has a particular level of
competence or ability.

Employment services

55 Employment service-providers

(1) A person (an “employment service-provider”) concerned with the provision of
an employment service must not discriminate against a person—

(a) in the arrangements the service-provider makes for selecting persons to
whom to provide, or to whom to offer to provide, the service;

(b) as to the terms on which the service-provider offers to provide the
service to the person;

(c) by not offering to provide the service to the person.

(2) An employment service-provider (A) must not, in relation to the provision of
an employment service, discriminate against a person (B)—

(a) as to the terms on which A provides the service to B;
(b) by not providing the service to B;
(c) by terminating the provision of the service to B;
(d) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(3) An employment service-provider must not, in relation to the provision of an
employment service, harass—

(a) a person who asks the service-provider to provide the service;
(b) a person for whom the service-provider provides the service.

(4) An employment service-provider (A) must not victimise a person (B)—
(a) in the arrangements A makes for selecting persons to whom to provide,

or to whom to offer to provide, the service;
(b) as to the terms on which A offers to provide the service to B;
(c) by not offering to provide the service to B.

(5) An employment service-provider (A) must not, in relation to the provision of
an employment service, victimise a person (B)—

(a) as to the terms on which A provides the service to B;
(b) by not providing the service to B;
(c) by terminating the provision of the service to B;
(d) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(6) A duty to make reasonable adjustments applies to an employment service-
provider, except in relation to the provision of a vocational service.

(7) The duty imposed by section 29(7)(a) applies to a person concerned with the
provision of a vocational service; but a failure to comply with that duty in
relation to the provision of a vocational service is a contravention of this Part
for the purposes of Part 9 (enforcement).

Page 76



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work
Chapter 1 — Employment, etc.

37

56 Interpretation

(1) This section applies for the purposes of section 55.

(2) The provision of an employment service includes—
(a) the provision of vocational training;
(b) the provision of vocational guidance;
(c) making arrangements for the provision of vocational training or

vocational guidance;
(d) the provision of a service for finding employment for persons;
(e) the provision of a service for supplying employers with persons to do

work;
(f) the provision of a service in pursuance of arrangements made under

section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 (functions of the
Secretary of State relating to employment);

(g) the provision of a service in pursuance of arrangements made or a
direction given under section 10 of that Act (careers services);

(h) the exercise of a function in pursuance of arrangements made under
section 2(3) of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990
(functions of Scottish Enterprise, etc. relating to employment);

(i) an assessment related to the conferment of a relevant qualification
within the meaning of section 53 above (except in so far as the
assessment is by the qualifications body which confers the
qualification).

(3) This section does not apply in relation to training or guidance in so far as it is
training or guidance in relation to which another provision of this Part applies.

(4) This section does not apply in relation to training or guidance for pupils of a
school to which section 85 applies in so far as it is training or guidance to which
the responsible body of the school has power to afford access (whether as the
responsible body of that school or as the responsible body of any other school
at which the training or guidance is provided).

(5) This section does not apply in relation to training or guidance for students of
an institution to which section 91 applies in so far as it is training or guidance
to which the governing body of the institution has power to afford access.

(6) “Vocational training” means—
(a) training for employment, or
(b) work experience (including work experience the duration of which is

not agreed until after it begins).

(7) A reference to the provision of a vocational service is a reference to the
provision of an employment service within subsection (2)(a) to (d) (or an
employment service within subsection (2)(f) or (g) in so far as it is also an
employment service within subsection (2)(a) to (d)); and for that purpose—

(a) the references to an employment service within subsection (2)(a) do not
include a reference to vocational training within the meaning given by
subsection (6)(b), and

(b) the references to an employment service within subsection (2)(d) also
include a reference to a service for assisting persons to retain
employment.

(8) A reference to training includes a reference to facilities for training.

Page 77



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work

Chapter 1 — Employment, etc.

38

Trade organisations

57 Trade organisations

(1) A trade organisation (A) must not discriminate against a person (B)—
(a) in the arrangements A makes for deciding to whom to offer

membership of the organisation;
(b) as to the terms on which it is prepared to admit B as a member;
(c) by not accepting B’s application for membership.

(2) A trade organisation (A) must not discriminate against a member (B)—
(a) in the way it affords B access, or by not affording B access, to

opportunities for receiving a benefit, facility or service;
(b) by depriving B of membership;
(c) by varying the terms on which B is a member;
(d) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(3) A trade organisation must not, in relation to membership of it, harass—
(a) a member, or
(b) an applicant for membership.

(4) A trade organisation (A) must not victimise a person (B)—
(a) in the arrangements A makes for deciding to whom to offer

membership of the organisation;
(b) as to the terms on which it is prepared to admit B as a member;
(c) by not accepting B’s application for membership.

(5) A trade organisation (A) must not victimise a member (B)—
(a) in the way it affords B access, or by not affording B access, to

opportunities for receiving a benefit, facility or service;
(b) by depriving B of membership;
(c) by varying the terms on which B is a member;
(d) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(6) A duty to make reasonable adjustments applies to a trade organisation.

(7) A trade organisation is—
(a) an organisation of workers,
(b) an organisation of employers, or
(c) any other organisation whose members carry on a particular trade or

profession for the purposes of which the organisation exists.

Local authority members

58 Official business of members

(1) A local authority must not discriminate against a member of the authority in
relation to the member’s carrying out of official business—

(a) in the way the authority affords the member access, or by not affording
the member access, to opportunities for training or for receiving any
other facility;

(b) by subjecting the member to any other detriment.

Page 78



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work
Chapter 1 — Employment, etc.

39

(2) A local authority must not, in relation to a member’s carrying out of official
business, harass the member.

(3) A local authority must not victimise a member of the authority in relation to
the member’s carrying out of official business—

(a) in the way the authority affords the member access, or by not affording
the member access, to opportunities for training or for receiving any
other facility;

(b) by subjecting the member to any other detriment.

(4) A member of a local authority is not subjected to a detriment for the purposes
of subsection (1)(b) or (3)(b) only because the member is—

(a) not appointed or elected to an office of the authority,
(b) not appointed or elected to, or to an office of, a committee or sub-

committee of the authority, or
(c) not appointed or nominated in exercise of an appointment power of the

authority.

(5) In subsection (4)(c), an appointment power of a local authority is a power of the
authority, or of a group of bodies including the authority, to make—

(a) appointments to a body;
(b) nominations for appointment to a body.

(6) A duty to make reasonable adjustments applies to a local authority.

59 Interpretation

(1) This section applies for the purposes of section 58.

(2) “Local authority” means—
(a) a county council in England;
(b) a district council in England;
(c) the Greater London Authority;
(d) a London borough council;
(e) the Common Council of the City of London;
(f) the Council of the Isles of Scilly;
(g) a parish council in England;
(h) a county council in Wales;
(i) a community council in Wales;
(j) a county borough council in Wales;

(k) a council constituted under section 2 of the Local Government etc.
(Scotland) Act 1994;

(l) a community council in Scotland.

(3) A Minister of the Crown may by order amend subsection (2) so as to add, vary
or omit a reference to a body which exercises functions that have been
conferred on a local authority within paragraph (a) to (l).

(4) A reference to the carrying-out of official business by a person who is a
member of a local authority is a reference to the doing of anything by the
person—

(a) as a member of the authority,

Page 79



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work

Chapter 1 — Employment, etc.

40

(b) as a member of a body to which the person is appointed by, or
appointed following nomination by, the authority or a group of bodies
including the authority, or

(c) as a member of any other public body.

(5) “Member”, in relation to the Greater London Authority, means—
(a) the Mayor of London;
(b) a member of the London Assembly.

Recruitment

60 Enquiries about disability and health

(1) A person (A) to whom an application for work is made must not ask about the
health of the applicant (B)—

(a) before offering work to B, or
(b) where A is not in a position to offer work to B, before including B in a

pool of applicants from whom A intends (when in a position to do so)
to select a person to whom to offer work.

(2) A contravention of subsection (1) (or a contravention of section 111 or 112 that
relates to a contravention of subsection (1)) is enforceable as an unlawful act
under Part 1 of the Equality Act 2006 (and, by virtue of section 120(8), is
enforceable only by the Commission under that Part).

(3) A does not contravene a relevant disability provision merely by asking about
B’s health; but A’s conduct in reliance on information given in response may
be a contravention of a relevant disability provision.

(4) Subsection (5) applies if B brings proceedings before an employment tribunal
on a complaint that A’s conduct in reliance on information given in response
to a question about B’s health is a contravention of a relevant disability
provision.

(5) In the application of section 136 to the proceedings, the particulars of the
complaint are to be treated for the purposes of subsection (2) of that section as
facts from which the tribunal could decide that A contravened the provision.

(6) This section does not apply to a question that A asks in so far as asking the
question is necessary for the purpose of—

(a) establishing whether B will be able to comply with a requirement to
undergo an assessment or establishing whether a duty to make
reasonable adjustments is or will be imposed on A in relation to B in
connection with a requirement to undergo an assessment,

(b) establishing whether B will be able to carry out a function that is
intrinsic to the work concerned,

(c) monitoring diversity in the range of persons applying to A for work,
(d) taking action to which section 158 would apply if references in that

section to persons who share (or do not share) a protected characteristic
were references to disabled persons (or persons who are not disabled)
and the reference to the characteristic were a reference to disability, or

(e) if A applies in relation to the work a requirement to have a particular
disability, establishing whether B has that disability.

Page 80



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work
Chapter 1 — Employment, etc.

41

(7) In subsection (6)(b), where A reasonably believes that a duty to make
reasonable adjustments would be imposed on A in relation to B in connection
with the work, the reference to a function that is intrinsic to the work is to be
read as a reference to a function that would be intrinsic to the work once A
complied with the duty.

(8) Subsection (6)(e) applies only if A shows that, having regard to the nature or
context of the work—

(a) the requirement is an occupational requirement, and
(b) the application of the requirement is a proportionate means of

achieving a legitimate aim.

(9) “Work” means employment, contract work, a position as a partner, a position
as a member of an LLP, a pupillage or tenancy, being taken as a devil,
membership of a stable, an appointment to a personal or public office, or the
provision of an employment service; and the references in subsection (1) to
offering a person work are, in relation to contract work, to be read as references
to allowing a person to do the work.

(10) A reference to offering work is a reference to making a conditional or
unconditional offer of work (and, in relation to contract work, is a reference to
allowing a person to do the work subject to fulfilment of one or more
conditions).

(11) The following, so far as relating to discrimination within section 13 because of
disability, are relevant disability provisions—

(a) section 39(1)(a) or (c);
(b) section 41(1)(b);
(c) section 44(1)(a) or (c);
(d) section 45(1)(a) or (c);
(e) section 47(1)(a) or (c);
(f) section 48(1)(a) or (c);
(g) section 49(3)(a) or (c);
(h) section 50(3)(a) or (c);
(i) section 51(1);
(j) section 55(1)(a) or (c).

(12) An assessment is an interview or other process designed to give an indication
of a person’s suitability for the work concerned.

(13) For the purposes of this section, whether or not a person has a disability is to
be regarded as an aspect of that person’s health.

(14) This section does not apply to anything done for the purpose of vetting
applicants for work for reasons of national security.

CHAPTER 2

OCCUPATIONAL PENSION SCHEMES

61 Non-discrimination rule

(1) An occupational pension scheme must be taken to include a non-
discrimination rule.

Page 81



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work

Chapter 2 — Occupational pension schemes

42

(2) A non-discrimination rule is a provision by virtue of which a responsible
person (A)—

(a) must not discriminate against another person (B) in carrying out any of
A’s functions in relation to the scheme;

(b) must not, in relation to the scheme, harass B;
(c) must not, in relation to the scheme, victimise B.

(3) The provisions of an occupational pension scheme have effect subject to the
non-discrimination rule.

(4) The following are responsible persons—
(a) the trustees or managers of the scheme;
(b) an employer whose employees are, or may be, members of the scheme;
(c) a person exercising an appointing function in relation to an office the

holder of which is, or may be, a member of the scheme.

(5) A non-discrimination rule does not apply in relation to a person who is a
pension credit member of a scheme.

(6) An appointing function is any of the following—
(a) the function of appointing a person;
(b) the function of terminating a person’s appointment;
(c) the function of recommending a person for appointment;
(d) the function of approving an appointment.

(7) A breach of a non-discrimination rule is a contravention of this Part for the
purposes of Part 9 (enforcement).

(8) It is not a breach of a non-discrimination rule for the employer or the trustees
or managers of a scheme to maintain or use in relation to the scheme rules,
practices, actions or decisions relating to age which are of a description
specified by order by a Minister of the Crown. 

(9) An order authorising the use of rules, practices, actions or decisions which are
not in use before the order comes into force must not be made unless the
Minister consults such persons as the Minister thinks appropriate.

(10) A non-discrimination rule does not have effect in relation to an occupational
pension scheme in so far as an equality rule has effect in relation to it (or would
have effect in relation to it but for Part 2 of Schedule 7).

(11) A duty to make reasonable adjustments applies to a responsible person.

62 Non-discrimination alterations

(1) This section applies if the trustees or managers of an occupational pension
scheme do not have power to make non-discrimination alterations to the
scheme.

(2) This section also applies if the trustees or managers of an occupational pension
scheme have power to make non-discrimination alterations to the scheme but
the procedure for doing so—

(a) is liable to be unduly complex or protracted, or
(b) involves obtaining consents which cannot be obtained or which can be

obtained only with undue delay or difficulty.

Page 82



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work
Chapter 2 — Occupational pension schemes

43

(3) The trustees or managers may by resolution make non-discrimination
alterations to the scheme.

(4) Non-discrimination alterations may have effect in relation to a period before
the date on which they are made.

(5) Non-discrimination alterations to an occupational pension scheme are such
alterations to the scheme as may be required for the provisions of the scheme
to have the effect that they have in consequence of section 61(3).

63 Communications

(1) In their application to communications the following provisions apply in
relation to a disabled person who is a pension credit member of an
occupational pension scheme as they apply in relation to a disabled person
who is a deferred member or pensioner member of the scheme—

(a) section 61;
(b) section 120;
(c) section 126;
(d) paragraph 19 of Schedule 8 (and such other provisions of that Schedule

as apply for the purposes of that paragraph).

(2) Communications include—
(a) the provision of information;
(b) the operation of a dispute resolution procedure.

CHAPTER 3

EQUALITY OF TERMS

Sex equality

64 Relevant types of work

(1) Sections 66 to 70 apply where—
(a) a person (A) is employed on work that is equal to the work that a

comparator of the opposite sex (B) does;
(b) a person (A) holding a personal or public office does work that is equal

to the work that a comparator of the opposite sex (B) does.

(2) The references in subsection (1) to the work that B does are not restricted to
work done contemporaneously with the work done by A.

65 Equal work

(1) For the purposes of this Chapter, A’s work is equal to that of B if it is—
(a) like B’s work,
(b) rated as equivalent to B’s work, or
(c) of equal value to B’s work.

(2) A’s work is like B’s work if—
(a) A’s work and B’s work are the same or broadly similar, and

Page 83



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work

Chapter 3 — Equality of terms

44

(b) such differences as there are between their work are not of practical
importance in relation to the terms of their work.

(3) So on a comparison of one person’s work with another’s for the purposes of
subsection (2), it is necessary to have regard to—

(a) the frequency with which differences between their work occur in
practice, and

(b) the nature and extent of the differences.

(4) A’s work is rated as equivalent to B’s work if a job evaluation study—
(a) gives an equal value to A’s job and B’s job in terms of the demands

made on a worker, or
(b) would give an equal value to A’s job and B’s job in those terms were the

evaluation not made on a sex-specific system.

(5) A system is sex-specific if, for the purposes of one or more of the demands
made on a worker, it sets values for men different from those it sets for women.

(6) A’s work is of equal value to B’s work if it is—
(a) neither like B’s work nor rated as equivalent to B’s work, but
(b) nevertheless equal to B’s work in terms of the demands made on A by

reference to factors such as effort, skill and decision-making.

66 Sex equality clause

(1) If the terms of A’s work do not (by whatever means) include a sex equality
clause, they are to be treated as including one.

(2) A sex equality clause is a provision that has the following effect—
(a) if a term of A’s is less favourable to A than a corresponding term of B’s

is to B, A’s term is modified so as not to be less favourable;
(b) if A does not have a term which corresponds to a term of B’s that

benefits B, A’s terms are modified so as to include such a term.

(3) Subsection (2)(a) applies to a term of A’s relating to membership of or rights
under an occupational pension scheme only in so far as a sex equality rule
would have effect in relation to the term.

(4) In the case of work within section 65(1)(b), a reference in subsection (2) above
to a term includes a reference to such terms (if any) as have not been
determined by the rating of the work (as well as those that have).

67 Sex equality rule

(1) If an occupational pension scheme does not include a sex equality rule, it is to
be treated as including one.

(2) A sex equality rule is a provision that has the following effect—
(a) if a relevant term is less favourable to A than it is to B, the term is

modified so as not to be less favourable;
(b) if a term confers a relevant discretion capable of being exercised in a

way that would be less favourable to A than to B, the term is modified
so as to prevent the exercise of the discretion in that way. 

(3) A term is relevant if it is—
(a) a term on which persons become members of the scheme, or

Page 84



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work
Chapter 3 — Equality of terms

45

(b) a term on which members of the scheme are treated.

(4) A discretion is relevant if its exercise in relation to the scheme is capable of
affecting—

(a) the way in which persons become members of the scheme, or
(b) the way in which members of the scheme are treated.

(5) The reference in subsection (3)(b) to a term on which members of a scheme are
treated includes a reference to the term as it has effect for the benefit of
dependants of members.

(6) The reference in subsection (4)(b) to the way in which members of a scheme are
treated includes a reference to the way in which they are treated as the scheme
has effect for the benefit of dependants of members.

(7) If the effect of a relevant matter on persons of the same sex differs according to
their family, marital or civil partnership status, a comparison for the purposes
of this section of the effect of that matter on persons of the opposite sex must
be with persons who have the same status.

(8) A relevant matter is—
(a) a relevant term;
(b) a term conferring a relevant discretion;
(c) the exercise of a relevant discretion in relation to an occupational

pension scheme.

(9) This section, so far as relating to the terms on which persons become members
of an occupational pension scheme, does not have effect in relation to
pensionable service before 8 April 1976.

(10) This section, so far as relating to the terms on which members of an
occupational pension scheme are treated, does not have effect in relation to
pensionable service before 17 May 1990.

68 Sex equality rule: consequential alteration of schemes

(1) This section applies if the trustees or managers of an occupational pension
scheme do not have power to make sex equality alterations to the scheme.

(2) This section also applies if the trustees or managers of an occupational pension
scheme have power to make sex equality alterations to the scheme but the
procedure for doing so—

(a) is liable to be unduly complex or protracted, or
(b) involves obtaining consents which cannot be obtained or which can be

obtained only with undue delay or difficulty.

(3) The trustees or managers may by resolution make sex equality alterations to
the scheme.

(4) Sex equality alterations may have effect in relation to a period before the date
on which they are made.

(5) Sex equality alterations to an occupational pension scheme are such alterations
to the scheme as may be required to secure conformity with a sex equality rule.

Page 85



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work

Chapter 3 — Equality of terms

46

69 Defence of material factor

(1) The sex equality clause in A’s terms has no effect in relation to a difference
between A’s terms and B’s terms if the responsible person shows that the
difference is because of a material factor reliance on which—

(a) does not involve treating A less favourably because of A’s sex than the
responsible person treats B, and

(b) if the factor is within subsection (2), is a proportionate means of
achieving a legitimate aim.

(2) A factor is within this subsection if A shows that, as a result of the factor, A and
persons of the same sex doing work equal to A’s are put at a particular
disadvantage when compared with persons of the opposite sex doing work
equal to A’s.

(3) For the purposes of subsection (1), the long-term objective of reducing
inequality between men’s and women’s terms of work is always to be regarded
as a legitimate aim.

(4) A sex equality rule has no effect in relation to a difference between A and B in
the effect of a relevant matter if the trustees or managers of the scheme in
question show that the difference is because of a material factor which is not
the difference of sex.

(5) “Relevant matter” has the meaning given in section 67.

(6) For the purposes of this section, a factor is not material unless it is a material
difference between A’s case and B’s.

70 Exclusion of sex discrimination provisions

(1) The relevant sex discrimination provision has no effect in relation to a term of
A’s that—

(a) is modified by, or included by virtue of, a sex equality clause or rule, or
(b) would be so modified or included but for section 69 or Part 2 of

Schedule 7.

(2) Neither of the following is sex discrimination for the purposes of the relevant
sex discrimination provision—

(a) the inclusion in A’s terms of a term that is less favourable as referred to
in section 66(2)(a);

(b) the failure to include in A’s terms a corresponding term as referred to
in section 66(2)(b).

(3) The relevant sex discrimination provision is, in relation to work of a
description given in the first column of the table, the provision referred to in
the second column so far as relating to sex.

Description of work Provision

Employment Section 39(2)

Appointment to a personal office Section 49(6)

Appointment to a public office Section 50(6)

Page 86



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work
Chapter 3 — Equality of terms

47

71 Sex discrimination in relation to contractual pay

(1) This section applies in relation to a term of a person’s work—
(a) that relates to pay, but
(b) in relation to which a sex equality clause or rule has no effect.

(2) The relevant sex discrimination provision (as defined by section 70) has no
effect in relation to the term except in so far as treatment of the person amounts
to a contravention of the provision by virtue of section 13 or 14.

Pregnancy and maternity equality

72 Relevant types of work

Sections 73 to 76 apply where a woman—
(a) is employed, or
(b) holds a personal or public office.

73 Maternity equality clause

(1) If the terms of the woman’s work do not (by whatever means) include a
maternity equality clause, they are to be treated as including one.

(2) A maternity equality clause is a provision that, in relation to the terms of the
woman’s work, has the effect referred to in section 74(1), (6) and (8).

(3) In the case of a term relating to membership of or rights under an occupational
pension scheme, a maternity equality clause has only such effect as a maternity
equality rule would have.

74 Maternity equality clause: pay

(1) A term of the woman’s work that provides for maternity-related pay to be
calculated by reference to her pay at a particular time is, if each of the following
three conditions is satisfied, modified as mentioned in subsection (5).

(2) The first condition is that, after the time referred to in subsection (1) but before
the end of the protected period—

(a) her pay increases, or
(b) it would have increased had she not been on maternity leave.

(3) The second condition is that the maternity-related pay is not—
(a) what her pay would have been had she not been on maternity leave, or
(b) the difference between the amount of statutory maternity pay to which

she is entitled and what her pay would have been had she not been on
maternity leave.

(4) The third condition is that the terms of her work do not provide for the
maternity-related pay to be subject to—

(a) an increase as mentioned in subsection (2)(a), or
(b) an increase that would have occurred as mentioned in subsection (2)(b).

(5) The modification referred to in subsection (1) is a modification to provide for
the maternity-related pay to be subject to—

(a) any increase as mentioned in subsection (2)(a), or 

Page 87



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work

Chapter 3 — Equality of terms

48

(b) any increase that would have occurred as mentioned in subsection
(2)(b).

(6) A term of her work that—
(a) provides for pay within subsection (7), but 
(b) does not provide for her to be given the pay in circumstances in which

she would have been given it had she not been on maternity leave, 
is modified so as to provide for her to be given it in circumstances in which it
would normally be given.

(7) Pay is within this subsection if it is—
(a) pay (including pay by way of bonus) in respect of times before the

woman is on maternity leave, 
(b) pay by way of bonus in respect of times when she is on compulsory

maternity leave, or
(c) pay by way of bonus in respect of times after the end of the protected

period.

(8) A term of the woman’s work that—
(a) provides for pay after the end of the protected period, but 
(b) does not provide for it to be subject to an increase to which it would

have been subject had she not been on maternity leave,
is modified so as to provide for it to be subject to the increase.

(9) Maternity-related pay is pay (other than statutory maternity pay) to which a
woman is entitled—

(a) as a result of being pregnant, or
(b) in respect of times when she is on maternity leave.

(10) A reference to the protected period is to be construed in accordance with
section 18.

75 Maternity equality rule

(1) If an occupational pension scheme does not include a maternity equality rule,
it is to be treated as including one.

(2) A maternity equality rule is a provision that has the effect set out in subsections
(3) and (4).

(3) If a relevant term does not treat time when the woman is on maternity leave as
it treats time when she is not, the term is modified so as to treat time when she
is on maternity leave as time when she is not.

(4) If a term confers a relevant discretion capable of being exercised so that time
when she is on maternity leave is treated differently from time when she is not,
the term is modified so as not to allow the discretion to be exercised in that
way.

(5) A term is relevant if it is—
(a) a term relating to membership of the scheme,
(b) a term relating to the accrual of rights under the scheme, or
(c) a term providing for the determination of the amount of a benefit

payable under the scheme.

(6) A discretion is relevant if its exercise is capable of affecting—

Page 88



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work
Chapter 3 — Equality of terms

49

(a) membership of the scheme,
(b) the accrual of rights under the scheme, or
(c) the determination of the amount of a benefit payable under the scheme.

(7) This section does not require the woman’s contributions to the scheme in
respect of time when she is on maternity leave to be determined otherwise than
by reference to the amount she is paid in respect of that time.

(8) This section, so far as relating to time when she is on ordinary maternity leave
but is not being paid by her employer, applies only in a case where the
expected week of childbirth began on or after 6 April 2003.

(9) This section, so far as relating to time when she is on additional maternity leave
but is not being paid by her employer—

(a) does not apply to the accrual of rights under the scheme in any case;
(b) applies for other purposes only in a case where the expected week of

childbirth began on or after 5 October 2008.

(10) In this section—
(a) a reference to being on maternity leave includes a reference to having

been on maternity leave, and
(b) a reference to being paid by the employer includes a reference to

receiving statutory maternity pay from the employer.

76 Exclusion of pregnancy and maternity discrimination provisions

(1) The relevant pregnancy and maternity discrimination provision has no effect
in relation to a term of the woman’s work that is modified by a maternity
equality clause or rule.

(2) The inclusion in the woman’s terms of a term that requires modification by
virtue of section 73(2) or (3) is not pregnancy and maternity discrimination for
the purposes of the relevant pregnancy and maternity discrimination
provision.

(3) The relevant pregnancy and maternity discrimination provision is, in relation
to a description of work given in the first column of the table, the provision
referred to in the second column so far as relating to pregnancy and maternity.

Disclosure of information

77 Discussions about pay

(1) A term of a person’s work that purports to prevent or restrict the person (P)
from disclosing or seeking to disclose information about the terms of P’s work

Description of work Provision

Employment Section 39(2)

Appointment to a personal office Section 49(6)

Appointment to a public office Section 50(6)

Page 89



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work

Chapter 3 — Equality of terms

50

is unenforceable against P in so far as P makes or seeks to make a relevant pay
disclosure.

(2) A term of a person’s work that purports to prevent or restrict the person (P)
from seeking disclosure of information from a colleague about the terms of the
colleague’s work is unenforceable against P in so far as P seeks a relevant pay
disclosure from the colleague; and “colleague” includes a former colleague in
relation to the work in question.

(3) A disclosure is a relevant pay disclosure if made for the purpose of enabling
the person who makes it, or the person to whom it is made, to find out whether
or to what extent there is, in relation to the work in question, a connection
between pay and having (or not having) a particular protected characteristic.

(4) The following are to be treated as protected acts for the purposes of the relevant
victimisation provision—

(a) seeking a disclosure that would be a relevant pay disclosure;
(b) making or seeking to make a relevant pay disclosure;
(c) receiving information disclosed in a relevant pay disclosure.

(5) The relevant victimisation provision is, in relation to a description of work
specified in the first column of the table, section 27 so far as it applies for the
purposes of a provision mentioned in the second column.

78 Gender pay gap information

(1) Regulations may require employers to publish information relating to the pay
of employees for the purpose of showing whether, by reference to factors of
such description as is prescribed, there are differences in the pay of male and
female employees.

(2) This section does not apply to—
(a) an employer who has fewer than 250 employees;
(b) a person specified in Schedule 19;
(c) a government department or part of the armed forces not specified in

that Schedule.

(3) The regulations may prescribe—
(a) descriptions of employer;
(b) descriptions of employee;
(c) how to calculate the number of employees that an employer has;
(d) descriptions of information;
(e) the time at which information is to be published;
(f) the form and manner in which it is to be published.

Description of work Provision by virtue of which 
section 27 has effect

Employment Section 39(3) or (4)

Appointment to a personal office Section 49(5) or (8)

Appointment to a public office Section 50(5) or (9)

Page 90



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work
Chapter 3 — Equality of terms

51

(4) Regulations under subsection (3)(e) may not require an employer, after the first
publication of information, to publish information more frequently than at
intervals of 12 months.

(5) The regulations may make provision for a failure to comply with the
regulations—

(a) to be an offence punishable on summary conviction by a fine not
exceeding level 5 on the standard scale;

(b) to be enforced, otherwise than as an offence, by such means as are
prescribed.

(6) The reference to a failure to comply with the regulations includes a reference
to a failure by a person acting on behalf of an employer.

Supplementary

79 Comparators

(1) This section applies for the purposes of this Chapter.

(2) If A is employed, B is a comparator if subsection (3) or (4) applies.

(3) This subsection applies if—
(a) B is employed by A’s employer or by an associate of A’s employer, and
(b) A and B work at the same establishment.

(4) This subsection applies if—
(a) B is employed by A’s employer or an associate of A’s employer,
(b) B works at an establishment other than the one at which A works, and
(c) common terms apply at the establishments (either generally or as

between A and B).

(5) If A holds a personal or public office, B is a comparator if—
(a) B holds a personal or public office, and
(b) the person responsible for paying A is also responsible for paying B.

(6) If A is a relevant member of the House of Commons staff, B is a comparator if—
(a) B is employed by the person who is A’s employer under subsection (6)

of section 195 of the Employment Rights Act 1996, or
(b) if subsection (7) of that section applies in A’s case, B is employed by the

person who is A’s employer under that subsection.

(7) If A is a relevant member of the House of Lords staff, B is a comparator if B is
also a relevant member of the House of Lords staff.

(8) Section 42 does not apply to this Chapter; accordingly, for the purposes of this
Chapter only, holding the office of constable is to be treated as holding a
personal office.

(9) For the purposes of this section, employers are associated if—
(a) one is a company of which the other (directly or indirectly) has control,

or
(b) both are companies of which a third person (directly or indirectly) has

control.

Page 91



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work

Chapter 3 — Equality of terms

52

80 Interpretation and exceptions

(1) This section applies for the purposes of this Chapter.

(2) The terms of a person’s work are—
(a) if the person is employed, the terms of the person’s employment that

are in the person’s contract of employment, contract of apprenticeship
or contract to do work personally;

(b) if the person holds a personal or public office, the terms of the person’s
appointment to the office.

(3) If work is not done at an establishment, it is to be treated as done at the
establishment with which it has the closest connection.

(4) A person (P) is the responsible person in relation to another person if—
(a) P is the other’s employer;
(b) P is responsible for paying remuneration in respect of a personal or

public office that the other holds.

(5) A job evaluation study is a study undertaken with a view to evaluating, in
terms of the demands made on a person by reference to factors such as effort,
skill and decision-making, the jobs to be done—

(a) by some or all of the workers in an undertaking or group of
undertakings, or

(b) in the case of the armed forces, by some or all of the members of the
armed forces.

(6) In the case of Crown employment, the reference in subsection (5)(a) to an
undertaking is to be construed in accordance with section 191(4) of the
Employment Rights Act 1996.

(7) “Civil partnership status” has the meaning given in section 124(1) of the
Pensions Act 1995.

(8) Schedule 7 (exceptions) has effect.

CHAPTER 4

SUPPLEMENTARY

81 Ships and hovercraft

(1) This Part applies in relation to—
(a) work on ships,
(b) work on hovercraft, and
(c) seafarers,

only in such circumstances as are prescribed.

(2) For the purposes of this section, it does not matter whether employment arises
or work is carried out within or outside the United Kingdom.

(3) “Ship” has the same meaning as in the Merchant Shipping Act 1995.

(4) “Hovercraft” has the same meaning as in the Hovercraft Act 1968.

(5) “Seafarer” means a person employed or engaged in any capacity on board a
ship or hovercraft.

Page 92



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work
Chapter 4 — Supplementary

53

(6) Nothing in this section affects the application of any other provision of this Act
to conduct outside England and Wales or Scotland.

82 Offshore work

(1) Her Majesty may by Order in Council provide that in the case of persons in
offshore work—

(a) specified provisions of this Part apply (with or without modification);
(b) Northern Ireland legislation making provision for purposes

corresponding to any of the purposes of this Part applies (with or
without modification).

(2) The Order may—
(a) provide for these provisions, as applied by the Order, to apply to

individuals (whether or not British citizens) and bodies corporate
(whether or not incorporated under the law of a part of the United
Kingdom), whether or not such application affects activities outside the
United Kingdom;

(b) make provision for conferring jurisdiction on a specified court or class
of court or on employment tribunals in respect of offences, causes of
action or other matters arising in connection with offshore work;

(c) exclude from the operation of section 3 of the Territorial Waters
Jurisdiction Act 1878 (consents required for prosecutions) proceedings
for offences under the provisions mentioned in subsection (1) in
connection with offshore work;

(d) provide that such proceedings must not be brought without such
consent as may be required by the Order.

(3) “Offshore work” is work for the purposes of—
(a) activities in the territorial sea adjacent to the United Kingdom,
(b) activities such as are mentioned in subsection (2) of section 11 of the

Petroleum Act 1998 in waters within subsection (8)(b) or (c) of that
section, or

(c) activities mentioned in paragraphs (a) and (b) of section 87(1) of the
Energy Act 2004 in waters to which that section applies.

(4) Work includes employment, contract work, a position as a partner or as a
member of an LLP, or an appointment to a personal or public office.

(5) Northern Ireland legislation includes an enactment contained in, or in an
instrument under, an Act that forms part of the law of Northern Ireland.

(6) In the application to Northern Ireland of subsection (2)(b), the reference to
employment tribunals is to be read as a reference to industrial tribunals.

(7) Nothing in this section affects the application of any other provision of this Act
to conduct outside England and Wales or Scotland.

83 Interpretation and exceptions

(1) This section applies for the purposes of this Part.

(2) “Employment” means—
(a) employment under a contract of employment, a contract of

apprenticeship or a contract personally to do work;

Page 93



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 5 — Work

Chapter 4 — Supplementary

54

(b) Crown employment;
(c) employment as a relevant member of the House of Commons staff;
(d) employment as a relevant member of the House of Lords staff.

(3) This Part applies to service in the armed forces as it applies to employment by
a private person; and for that purpose—

(a) references to terms of employment, or to a contract of employment, are
to be read as including references to terms of service;

(b) references to associated employers are to be ignored.

(4) A reference to an employer or an employee, or to employing or being
employed, is (subject to section 212(11)) to be read with subsections (2) and (3);
and a reference to an employer also includes a reference to a person who has
no employees but is seeking to employ one or more other persons.

(5) “Relevant member of the House of Commons staff” has the meaning given in
section 195 of the Employment Rights Act 1996; and such a member of staff is
an employee of—

(a) the person who is the employer of that member under subsection (6) of
that section, or

(b) if subsection (7) of that section applies in the case of that member, the
person who is the employer of that member under that subsection.

(6) “Relevant member of the House of Lords staff” has the meaning given in
section 194 of that Act (which provides that such a member of staff is an
employee of the Corporate Officer of the House of Lords).

(7) In the case of a person in Crown employment, or in employment as a relevant
member of the House of Commons staff, a reference to the person’s dismissal
is a reference to the termination of the person’s employment.

(8) A reference to a personal or public office, or to an appointment to a personal or
public office, is to be construed in accordance with section 52.

(9) “Crown employment” has the meaning given in section 191 of the Employment
Rights Act 1996.

(10) Schedule 8 (reasonable adjustments) has effect.

(11) Schedule 9 (exceptions) has effect.

PART 6

EDUCATION

CHAPTER 1

SCHOOLS

84 Application of this Chapter

This Chapter does not apply to the following protected characteristics—
(a) age;
(b) marriage and civil partnership.

Page 94



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 6 — Education
Chapter 1 — Schools

55

85 Pupils: admission and treatment, etc.

(1) The responsible body of a school to which this section applies must not
discriminate against a person—

(a) in the arrangements it makes for deciding who is offered admission as
a pupil;

(b) as to the terms on which it offers to admit the person as a pupil;
(c) by not admitting the person as a pupil.

(2) The responsible body of such a school must not discriminate against a pupil—
(a) in the way it provides education for the pupil;
(b) in the way it affords the pupil access to a benefit, facility or service;
(c) by not providing education for the pupil;
(d) by not affording the pupil access to a benefit, facility or service;
(e) by excluding the pupil from the school;
(f) by subjecting the pupil to any other detriment.

(3) The responsible body of such a school must not harass—
(a) a pupil;
(b) a person who has applied for admission as a pupil.

(4) The responsible body of such a school must not victimise a person—
(a) in the arrangements it makes for deciding who is offered admission as

a pupil;
(b) as to the terms on which it offers to admit the person as a pupil;
(c) by not admitting the person as a pupil.

(5) The responsible body of such a school must not victimise a pupil—
(a) in the way it provides education for the pupil;
(b) in the way it affords the pupil access to a benefit, facility or service;
(c) by not providing education for the pupil;
(d) by not affording the pupil access to a benefit, facility or service;
(e) by excluding the pupil from the school;
(f) by subjecting the pupil to any other detriment.

(6) A duty to make reasonable adjustments applies to the responsible body of such
a school.

(7) In relation to England and Wales, this section applies to—
(a) a school maintained by a local authority;
(b) an independent educational institution (other than a special school);
(c) a special school (not maintained by a local authority).

(8) In relation to Scotland, this section applies to—
(a) a school managed by an education authority;
(b) an independent school;
(c) a school in respect of which the managers are for the time being

receiving grants under section 73(c) or (d) of the Education (Scotland)
Act 1980.

(9) The responsible body of a school to which this section applies is—
(a) if the school is within subsection (7)(a), the local authority or governing

body;

Page 95



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 6 — Education

Chapter 1 — Schools

56

(b) if it is within subsection (7)(b) or (c), the proprietor;
(c) if it is within subsection (8)(a), the education authority;
(d) if it is within subsection (8)(b), the proprietor;
(e) if it is within subsection (8)(c), the managers.

(10) In the application of section 26 for the purposes of subsection (3), none of the
following is a relevant protected characteristic—

(a) gender reassignment;
(b) religion or belief;
(c) sexual orientation.

86 Victimisation of pupils, etc. for conduct of parents, etc.

(1) This section applies for the purposes of section 27 in its application to section
85(4) or (5).

(2) The references to B in paragraphs (a) and (b) of subsection (1) of section 27
include a reference to a parent or sibling of the child in question. 

(3) Giving false evidence or information, or making a false allegation, in good faith
is not a protected act in a case where—

(a) the evidence or information is given, or the allegation is made, by a
parent or sibling of the child, and

(b) the child has acted in bad faith.

(4) Giving false evidence or information, or making a false allegation, in bad faith,
is a protected act in a case where—

(a) the evidence or information is given, or the allegation is made, by a
parent or sibling of the child, and

(b) the child has acted in good faith.

(5) In this section—
“child” means a person who has not attained the age of 18;
“sibling” means a brother or sister, a half-brother or half-sister, or a

stepbrother or stepsister.

87 Application of certain powers under Education Act 1996

(1) Sections 496 and 497 of the Education Act 1996 (powers to give directions
where responsible body of school in default of obligations, etc.) apply to the
performance of a duty under section 85.

(2) But neither of sections 496 and 497 of that Act applies to the performance of a
duty under that section by the proprietor of an independent educational
institution (other than a special school).

88 Disabled pupils: accessibility

Schedule 10 (accessibility) has effect.

89 Interpretation and exceptions

(1) This section applies for the purposes of this Chapter.

Page 96



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 6 — Education
Chapter 1 — Schools

57

(2) Nothing in this Chapter applies to anything done in connection with the
content of the curriculum.

(3) “Pupil”—
(a) in relation to England and Wales, has the meaning given in section 3(1)

of the Education Act 1996;
(b) in relation to Scotland, has the meaning given in section 135(1) of the

Education (Scotland) Act 1980.

(4) “Proprietor”—
(a) in relation to a school in England and Wales, has the meaning given in

section 579(1) of the Education Act 1996;
(b) in relation to a school in Scotland, has the meaning given in section

135(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980.

(5) “School”—
(a) in relation to England and Wales, has the meaning given in section 4 of

the Education Act 1996;
(b) in relation to Scotland, has the meaning given in section 135(1) of the

Education (Scotland) Act 1980.

(6) A reference to a school includes a reference to an independent educational
institution in England; and a reference to an independent educational
institution in England is to be construed in accordance with Chapter 1 of Part
4 of the Education and Skills Act 2008.

(7) A reference to an independent educational institution is a reference to—
(a) an independent educational institution in England, or
(b) an independent school in Wales.

(8) “Independent school”—
(a) in relation to Wales, has the meaning given in section 463 of the

Education Act 1996;
(b) in relation to Scotland, has the meaning given in section 135(1) of the

Education (Scotland) Act 1980.

(9) “Special school” has the meaning given in section 337 of the Education Act
1996.

(10) “Local authority” means—
(a) in relation to England, an English local authority within the meaning of

section 162 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006;
(b) in relation to Wales, a Welsh local authority within the meaning of that

section.

(11) “Education authority”, in relation to Scotland, has the meaning given in section
135(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980.

(12) Schedule 11 (exceptions) has effect.

Page 97



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 6 — Education

Chapter 2 — Further and higher education

58

CHAPTER 2

FURTHER AND HIGHER EDUCATION

90 Application of this Chapter

This Chapter does not apply to the protected characteristic of marriage and
civil partnership.

91 Students: admission and treatment, etc.

(1) The responsible body of an institution to which this section applies must not
discriminate against a person—

(a) in the arrangements it makes for deciding who is offered admission as
a student;

(b) as to the terms on which it offers to admit the person as a student;
(c) by not admitting the person as a student.

(2) The responsible body of such an institution must not discriminate against a
student—

(a) in the way it provides education for the student;
(b) in the way it affords the student access to a benefit, facility or service;
(c) by not providing education for the student;
(d) by not affording the student access to a benefit, facility or service;
(e) by excluding the student;
(f) by subjecting the student to any other detriment.

(3) The responsible body of such an institution must not discriminate against a
disabled person—

(a) in the arrangements it makes for deciding upon whom to confer a
qualification;

(b) as to the terms on which it is prepared to confer a qualification on the
person;

(c) by not conferring a qualification on the person;
(d) by withdrawing a qualification from the person or varying the terms on

which the person holds it.

(4) Subsection (3) applies only to disability discrimination.

(5) The responsible body of such an institution must not harass—
(a) a student;
(b) a person who has applied for admission as a student;
(c) a disabled person who holds or has applied for a qualification

conferred by the institution.

(6) The responsible body of such an institution must not victimise a person—
(a) in the arrangements it makes for deciding who is offered admission as

a student;
(b) as to the terms on which it offers to admit the person as a student;
(c) by not admitting the person as a student.

(7) The responsible body of such an institution must not victimise a student—
(a) in the way it provides education for the student;

Page 98



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 6 — Education
Chapter 2 — Further and higher education

59

(b) in the way it affords the student access to a benefit, facility or service;
(c) by not providing education for the student;
(d) by not affording the student access to a benefit, facility or service;
(e) by excluding the student;
(f) by subjecting the student to any other detriment.

(8) The responsible body of such an institution must not victimise a disabled
person—

(a) in the arrangements it makes for deciding upon whom to confer a
qualification;

(b) as to the terms on which it is prepared to confer a qualification on the
person;

(c) by not conferring a qualification on the person;
(d) by withdrawing a qualification from the person or varying the terms on

which the person holds it.

(9) A duty to make reasonable adjustments applies to the responsible body of such
an institution.

(10) In relation to England and Wales, this section applies to—
(a) a university;
(b) any other institution within the higher education sector;
(c) an institution within the further education sector.

(11) In relation to Scotland, this section applies to—
(a) a university;
(b) a designated institution;
(c) a college of further education.

(12) A responsible body is—
(a) in the case of an institution within subsection (10)(a), (b) or (c), the

governing body;
(b) in the case of an institution within subsection (11)(a) or (b), the

governing body;
(c) in the case of a college of further education under the management of a

board of management, the board of management;
(d) in the case of any other college of further education, any board of

governors of the college or any person responsible for the management
of the college, whether or not formally constituted as a governing body
or board of governors.

92 Further and higher education courses

(1) The responsible body in relation to a course to which this section applies must
not discriminate against a person—

(a) in the arrangements it makes for deciding who is enrolled on the
course;

(b) as to the terms on which it offers to enrol the person on the course;
(c) by not accepting the person’s application for enrolment.

(2) The responsible body in relation to such a course must not discriminate against
a person who is enrolled on the course in the services it provides or offers to
provide.

Page 99



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 6 — Education

Chapter 2 — Further and higher education

60

(3) The responsible body in relation to such a course must not harass a person
who—

(a) seeks enrolment on the course;
(b) is enrolled on the course;
(c) is a user of services provided by the body in relation to the course.

(4) The responsible body in relation to such a course must not victimise a person—
(a) in the arrangements it makes for deciding who is enrolled on the

course;
(b) as to the terms on which it offers to enrol the person on the course;
(c) by not accepting the person’s application for enrolment.

(5) The responsible body in relation to such a course must not victimise a person
who is enrolled on the course in the services it provides or offers to provide.

(6) A duty to make reasonable adjustments applies to the responsible body.

(7) This section applies to—
(a) a course of further or higher education secured by a responsible body

in England or Wales;
(b) a course of education provided by the governing body of a maintained

school under section 80 of the School Standards and Framework Act
1998;

(c) a course of further education secured by an education authority in
Scotland.

(8) A responsible body is—
(a) a local authority in England or Wales, for the purposes of subsection

(7)(a);
(b) the governing body of a maintained school, for the purposes of

subsection (7)(b);
(c) an education authority in Scotland, for the purposes of subsection

(7)(c).

(9) In this section—
“course”, in relation to further education, includes each component part

of a course if there is no requirement imposed on persons registered for
a component part of the course to register for another component part
of the course;

“enrolment” includes registration for a component part of a course;
“maintained school” has the meaning given in section 20(7) of the School

Standards and Framework Act 1998;
“services” means services of any description which are provided wholly

or mainly for persons enrolled on a course to which this section applies.

93 Recreational or training facilities

(1) The responsible body in relation to facilities to which this section applies must
not discriminate against a person—

(a) in the arrangements it makes for deciding who is provided with the
facilities;

(b) as to the terms on which it offers to provide the facilities to the person;
(c) by not accepting the person’s application for provision of the facilities.

Page 100



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 6 — Education
Chapter 2 — Further and higher education

61

(2) The responsible body in relation to such facilities must not discriminate against
a person who is provided with the facilities in the services it provides or offers
to provide.

(3) The responsible body in relation to such facilities must not harass a person
who—

(a) seeks to have the facilities provided;
(b) is provided with the facilities;
(c) is a user of services provided by the body in relation to the facilities.

(4) The responsible body in relation to such facilities must not victimise a person—
(a) in the arrangements it makes for deciding who is provided with the

facilities;
(b) as to the terms on which it offers to provide the facilities to the person;
(c) by not accepting the person’s application for provision of the facilities.

(5) The responsible body in relation to such facilities must not victimise a person
who is provided with the facilities in the services it provides or offers to
provide.

(6) A duty to make reasonable adjustments applies to the responsible body.

(7) This section applies to—
(a) facilities secured by a local authority in England under section 507A or

507B of the Education Act 1996;
(b) facilities secured by a local authority in Wales under section 508 of that

Act;
(c) recreational or training facilities provided by an education authority in

Scotland.

(8) A responsible body is—
(a) a local authority in England, for the purposes of subsection (7)(a);
(b) a local authority in Wales, for the purposes of subsection (7)(b);
(c) an education authority in Scotland, for the purposes of subsection

(7)(c).

(9) This section does not apply to the protected characteristic of age, so far as
relating to persons who have not attained the age of 18.

94 Interpretation and exceptions

(1) This section applies for the purposes of this Chapter.

(2) Nothing in this Chapter applies to anything done in connection with the
content of the curriculum.

(3) A reference to a student, in relation to an institution, is a reference to a person
for whom education is provided by the institution.

(4) A reference to a university includes a reference to a university college and a
college, school or hall of a university.

(5) A reference to an institution within the further or higher education sector is to
be construed in accordance with section 91 of the Further and Higher
Education Act 1992.

(6) “Further education”—

Page 101



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 6 — Education

Chapter 2 — Further and higher education

62

(a) in relation to England and Wales, has the meaning given in section 2 of
the Education Act 1996;

(b) in relation to Scotland, has the meaning given in section 1(3) of the
Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992.

(7) “Higher education”—
(a) in relation to England and Wales, means education provided by means

of a course of a description mentioned in Schedule 6 to the Education
Reform Act 1988;

(b) in relation to Scotland, has the meaning given in section 38 of the
Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992.

(8) “College of further education” has the meaning given in section 36 of the
Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992.

(9) “Designated institution” has the meaning given in section 44 of that Act.

(10) “Local authority” means—
(a) in relation to England, an English local authority within the meaning of

section 162 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006;
(b) in relation to Wales, a Welsh local authority within the meaning of that

section.

(11) “Education authority” has the meaning given by section 135(1) of the
Education (Scotland) Act 1980.

(12) Schedule 12 (exceptions) has effect.

CHAPTER 3

GENERAL QUALIFICATIONS BODIES

95 Application of this Chapter

This Chapter does not apply to the protected characteristic of marriage and
civil partnership.

96 Qualifications bodies

(1) A qualifications body (A) must not discriminate against a person (B)—
(a) in the arrangements A makes for deciding upon whom to confer a

relevant qualification;
(b) as to the terms on which it is prepared to confer a relevant qualification

on B;
(c) by not conferring a relevant qualification on B.

(2) A qualifications body (A) must not discriminate against a person (B) upon
whom A has conferred a relevant qualification—

(a) by withdrawing the qualification from B;
(b) by varying the terms on which B holds the qualification;
(c) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(3) A qualifications body must not, in relation to conferment by it of a relevant
qualification, harass—

(a) a person who holds the qualification, or

Page 102



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 6 — Education
Chapter 3 — General qualifications bodies

63

(b) a person who applies for it.

(4) A qualifications body (A) must not victimise a person (B)—
(a) in the arrangements A makes for deciding upon whom to confer a

relevant qualification;
(b) as to the terms on which it is prepared to confer a relevant qualification

on B;
(c) by not conferring a relevant qualification on B.

(5) A qualifications body (A) must not victimise a person (B) upon whom A has
conferred a relevant qualification—

(a) by withdrawing the qualification from B;
(b) by varying the terms on which B holds the qualification;
(c) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(6) A duty to make reasonable adjustments applies to a qualifications body.

(7) Subsection (6) does not apply to the body in so far as the appropriate regulator
specifies provisions, criteria or practices in relation to which the body—

(a) is not subject to a duty to make reasonable adjustments;
(b) is subject to a duty to make reasonable adjustments, but in relation to

which such adjustments as the regulator specifies should not be made.

(8) For the purposes of subsection (7) the appropriate regulator must have regard
to—

(a) the need to minimise the extent to which disabled persons are
disadvantaged in attaining the qualification because of their
disabilities;

(b) the need to secure that the qualification gives a reliable indication of the
knowledge, skills and understanding of a person upon whom it is
conferred;

(c) the need to maintain public confidence in the qualification.

(9) The appropriate regulator—
(a) must not specify any matter for the purposes of subsection (7) unless it

has consulted such persons as it thinks appropriate;
(b) must publish matters so specified (including the date from which they

are to have effect) in such manner as is prescribed.

(10) The appropriate regulator is—
(a) in relation to a qualifications body that confers qualifications in

England, a person prescribed by a Minister of the Crown;
(b) in relation to a qualifications body that confers qualifications in Wales,

a person prescribed by the Welsh Ministers;
(c) in relation to a qualifications body that confers qualifications in

Scotland, a person prescribed by the Scottish Ministers.

(11) For the purposes of subsection (10), a qualification is conferred in a part of
Great Britain if there are, or may reasonably be expected to be, persons seeking
to obtain the qualification who are or will be assessed for those purposes
wholly or mainly in that part.

97 Interpretation

(1) This section applies for the purposes of section 96.

Page 103



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 6 — Education

Chapter 3 — General qualifications bodies

64

(2) A qualifications body is an authority or body which can confer a relevant
qualification.

(3) A relevant qualification is an authorisation, qualification, approval or
certification of such description as may be prescribed—

(a) in relation to conferments in England, by a Minister of the Crown;
(b) in relation to conferments in Wales, by the Welsh Ministers;
(c) in relation to conferments in Scotland, by the Scottish Ministers.

(4) An authority or body is not a qualifications body in so far as—
(a) it is the responsible body of a school to which section 85 applies,
(b) it is the governing body of an institution to which section 91 applies,
(c) it exercises functions under the Education Acts, or
(d) it exercises functions under the Education (Scotland) Act 1980.

(5) A qualifications body does not include an authority or body of such
description, or in such circumstances, as may be prescribed.

(6) A reference to conferring a relevant qualification includes a reference— 
(a) to renewing or extending the conferment of a relevant qualification;
(b) to authenticating a relevant qualification conferred by another person.

(7) A reference in section 96(8), (10) or (11) to a qualification is a reference to a
relevant qualification.

(8) Subsection (11) of section 96 applies for the purposes of subsection (3) of this
section as it applies for the purposes of subsection (10) of that section.

CHAPTER 4

MISCELLANEOUS

98 Reasonable adjustments

Schedule 13 (reasonable adjustments) has effect.

99 Educational charities and endowments

Schedule 14 (educational charities and endowments) has effect.

PART 7

ASSOCIATIONS

Preliminary

100 Application of this Part

(1) This Part does not apply to the protected characteristic of marriage and civil
partnership.

(2) This Part does not apply to discrimination, harassment or victimisation—
(a) that is prohibited by Part 3 (services and public functions), Part 4

(premises), Part 5 (work) or Part 6 (education), or

Page 104



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 7 — Associations

65

(b) that would be so prohibited but for an express exception.

Membership, etc.

101 Members and associates

(1) An association (A) must not discriminate against a person (B)—
(a) in the arrangements A makes for deciding who to admit to

membership;
(b) as to the terms on which A is prepared to admit B to membership;
(c) by not accepting B’s application for membership.

(2) An association (A) must not discriminate against a member (B)—
(a) in the way A affords B access, or by not affording B access, to a benefit,

facility or service;
(b) by depriving B of membership;
(c) by varying B’s terms of membership;
(d) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(3) An association (A) must not discriminate against an associate (B)—
(a) in the way A affords B access, or by not affording B access, to a benefit,

facility or service;
(b) by depriving B of B’s rights as an associate;
(c) by varying B’s rights as an associate;
(d) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(4) An association must not harass—
(a) a member;
(b) a person seeking to become a member;
(c) an associate.

(5) An association (A) must not victimise a person (B)—
(a) in the arrangements A makes for deciding who to admit to

membership;
(b) as to the terms on which A is prepared to admit B to membership;
(c) by not accepting B’s application for membership.

(6) An association (A) must not victimise a member (B)—
(a) in the way A affords B access, or by not affording B access, to a benefit,

facility or service;
(b) by depriving B of membership;
(c) by varying B’s terms of membership;
(d) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(7) An association (A) must not victimise an associate (B)—
(a) in the way A affords B access, or by not affording B access, to a benefit,

facility or service;
(b) by depriving B of B’s rights as an associate;
(c) by varying B’s rights as an associate;
(d) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

Page 105



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 7 — Associations

66

102 Guests

(1) An association (A) must not discriminate against a person (B)—
(a) in the arrangements A makes for deciding who to invite, or who to

permit to be invited, as a guest;
(b) as to the terms on which A is prepared to invite B, or to permit B to be

invited, as a guest;
(c) by not inviting B, or not permitting B to be invited, as a guest.

(2) An association (A) must not discriminate against a guest (B) invited by A or
with A’s permission (whether express or implied)—

(a) in the way A affords B access, or by not affording B access, to a benefit,
facility or service;

(b) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

(3) An association must not harass—
(a) a guest;
(b) a person seeking to be a guest.

(4) An association (A) must not victimise a person (B)—
(a) in the arrangements A makes for deciding who to invite, or who to

permit to be invited, as a guest;
(b) as to the terms on which A is prepared to invite B, or to permit B to be

invited, as a guest;
(c) by not inviting B, or not permitting B to be invited, as a guest.

(5) An association (A) must not victimise a guest (B) invited by A or with A’s
permission (whether express or implied)—

(a) in the way A affords B access, or by not affording B access, to a benefit,
facility or service;

(b) by subjecting B to any other detriment.

103 Sections 101 and 102: further provision

(1) A duty to make reasonable adjustments applies to an association.

(2) In the application of section 26 for the purposes of section 101(4) or 102(3),
neither of the following is a relevant protected characteristic—

(a) religion or belief;
(b) sexual orientation.

Special provision for political parties

104 Selection of candidates

(1) This section applies to an association which is a registered political party.

(2) A person does not contravene this Part only by acting in accordance with
selection arrangements.

(3) Selection arrangements are arrangements—
(a) which the party makes for regulating the selection of its candidates in a

relevant election,

Page 106



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 7 — Associations

67

(b) the purpose of which is to reduce inequality in the party’s
representation in the body concerned, and

(c) which, subject to subsection (7), are a proportionate means of achieving
that purpose.

(4) The reference in subsection (3)(b) to inequality in a party’s representation in a
body is a reference to inequality between—

(a) the number of the party’s candidates elected to be members of the body
who share a protected characteristic, and

(b) the number of the party’s candidates so elected who do not share that
characteristic.

(5) For the purposes of subsection (4), persons share the protected characteristic of
disability if they are disabled persons (and section 6(3)(b) is accordingly to be
ignored).

(6) Selection arrangements do not include short-listing only such persons as have
a particular protected characteristic.

(7) But subsection (6) does not apply to the protected characteristic of sex; and
subsection (3)(c) does not apply to short-listing in reliance on this subsection.

(8) The following elections are relevant elections—
(a) Parliamentary Elections;
(b) elections to the European Parliament;
(c) elections to the Scottish Parliament;
(d) elections to the National Assembly for Wales;
(e) local government elections within the meaning of section 191, 203 or

204 of the Representation of the People Act 1983 (excluding elections
for the Mayor of London).

105 Time-limited provision

(1) Section 104(7) and the words “, subject to subsection (7),” in section 104(3)(c)
are repealed at the end of 2030 unless an order is made under subsection (2).

(2) At any time before the end of 2030, a Minister of the Crown may by order
provide that subsection (1) is to have effect with the substitution of a later time
for that for the time being specified there.

(3) In section 3 of the Sex Discrimination (Election Candidates) Act 2002 (expiry of
that Act), in subsection (1) for “2015” substitute “2030”.

(4) The substitution made by subsection (3) does not affect the power to substitute
a later time by order under section 3 of that Act.

106 Information about diversity in range of candidates, etc.

(1) This section applies to an association which is a registered political party.

(2) If the party had candidates at a relevant election, the party must, in accordance
with regulations, publish information relating to protected characteristics of
persons who come within a description prescribed in the regulations in
accordance with subsection (3).

(3) One or more of the following descriptions may be prescribed for the purposes
of subsection (2)—

Page 107



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 7 — Associations

68

(a) successful applicants for nomination as a candidate at the relevant
election;

(b) unsuccessful applicants for nomination as a candidate at that election;
(c) candidates elected at that election;
(d) candidates who are not elected at that election.

(4) The duty imposed by subsection (2) applies only in so far as it is possible to
publish information in a manner that ensures that no person to whom the
information relates can be identified from that information.

(5) The following elections are relevant elections—
(a) Parliamentary Elections;
(b) elections to the European Parliament;
(c) elections to the Scottish Parliament;
(d) elections to the National Assembly for Wales.

(6) This section does not apply to the following protected characteristics—
(a) marriage and civil partnership;
(b) pregnancy and maternity.

(7) The regulations may provide that the information to be published—
(a) must (subject to subsection (6)) relate to all protected characteristics or

only to such as are prescribed;
(b) must include a statement, in respect of each protected characteristic to

which the information relates, of the proportion that the number of
persons who provided the information to the party bears to the number
of persons who were asked to provide it.

(8) Regulations under this section may prescribe—
(a) descriptions of information;
(b) descriptions of political party to which the duty is to apply;
(c) the time at which information is to be published;
(d) the form and manner in which information is to be published;
(e) the period for which information is to be published.

(9) Provision by virtue of subsection (8)(b) may, in particular, provide that the
duty imposed by subsection (2) does not apply to a party which had candidates
in fewer constituencies in the election concerned than a prescribed number.

(10) Regulations under this section—
(a) may provide that the duty imposed by subsection (2) applies only to

such relevant elections as are prescribed;
(b) may provide that a by-election or other election to fill a vacancy is not

to be treated as a relevant election or is to be so treated only to a
prescribed extent;

(c) may amend this section so as to provide for the duty imposed by
subsection (2) to apply in the case of additional descriptions of election.

(11) Nothing in this section authorises a political party to require a person to
provide information to it.

Page 108



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 7 — Associations

69

Supplementary

107 Interpretation and exceptions

(1) This section applies for the purposes of this Part.

(2) An “association” is an association of persons—
(a) which has at least 25 members, and
(b) admission to membership of which is regulated by the association’s

rules and involves a process of selection.

(3) A Minister of the Crown may by order amend subsection (2)(a) so as to
substitute a different number for that for the time being specified there.

(4) It does not matter—
(a) whether an association is incorporated;
(b) whether its activities are carried on for profit.

(5) Membership is membership of any description; and a reference to a member is
to be construed accordingly.

(6) A person is an “associate”, in relation to an association, if the person—
(a) is not a member of the association, but
(b) in accordance with the association’s rules, has some or all of the rights

as a member as a result of being a member of another association.

(7) A reference to a registered political party is a reference to a party registered in
the Great Britain register under Part 2 of the Political Parties, Elections and
Referendums Act 2000.

(8) Schedule 15 (reasonable adjustments) has effect.

(9) Schedule 16 (exceptions) has effect.

PART 8

PROHIBITED CONDUCT: ANCILLARY

108 Relationships that have ended 

(1) A person (A) must not discriminate against another (B) if—
(a) the discrimination arises out of and is closely connected to a

relationship which used to exist between them, and
(b) conduct of a description constituting the discrimination would, if it

occurred during the relationship, contravene this Act.

(2) A person (A) must not harass another (B) if—
(a) the harassment arises out of and is closely connected to a relationship

which used to exist between them, and
(b) conduct of a description constituting the harassment would, if it

occurred during the relationship, contravene this Act.

(3) It does not matter whether the relationship ends before or after the
commencement of this section.

(4) A duty to make reasonable adjustments applies to A in so far as B continues to
be placed at a substantial disadvantage as mentioned in section 20.

Page 109



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 8 — Prohibited conduct: ancillary

70

(5) For the purposes of subsection (4), sections 20, 21 and 22 and the applicable
Schedules are to be construed as if the relationship had not ended.

(6) For the purposes of Part 9 (enforcement), a contravention of this section relates
to the Part of this Act that would have been contravened if the relationship had
not ended.

(7) But conduct is not a contravention of this section in so far as it also amounts to
victimisation of B by A.

109 Liability of employers and principals

(1) Anything done by a person (A) in the course of A’s employment must be
treated as also done by the employer.

(2) Anything done by an agent for a principal, with the authority of the principal,
must be treated as also done by the principal.

(3) It does not matter whether that thing is done with the employer’s or principal’s
knowledge or approval.

(4) In proceedings against A’s employer (B) in respect of anything alleged to have
been done by A in the course of A’s employment it is a defence for B to show
that B took all reasonable steps to prevent A—

(a) from doing that thing, or
(b) from doing anything of that description.

(5) This section does not apply to offences under this Act (other than offences
under Part 12 (disabled persons: transport)).

110 Liability of employees and agents

(1) A person (A) contravenes this section if—
(a) A is an employee or agent,
(b) A does something which, by virtue of section 109(1) or (2), is treated as

having been done by A’s employer or principal (as the case may be),
and

(c) the doing of that thing by A amounts to a contravention of this Act by
the employer or principal (as the case may be).

(2) It does not matter whether, in any proceedings, the employer is found not to
have contravened this Act by virtue of section 109(4).

(3) A does not contravene this section if—
(a) A relies on a statement by the employer or principal that doing that

thing is not a contravention of this Act, and
(b) it is reasonable for A to do so.

(4) A person (B) commits an offence if B knowingly or recklessly makes a
statement mentioned in subsection (3)(a) which is false or misleading in a
material respect.

(5) A person guilty of an offence under subsection (4) is liable on summary
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 5 on the standard scale.

(6) Part 9 (enforcement) applies to a contravention of this section by A as if it were
the contravention mentioned in subsection (1)(c).

Page 110



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 8 — Prohibited conduct: ancillary

71

(7) The reference in subsection (1)(c) to a contravention of this Act does not include
a reference to disability discrimination in contravention of Chapter 1 of Part 6
(schools).

111 Instructing, causing or inducing contraventions

(1) A person (A) must not instruct another (B) to do in relation to a third person
(C) anything which contravenes Part 3, 4, 5, 6 or 7 or section 108(1) or (2) or
112(1) (a basic contravention).

(2) A person (A) must not cause another (B) to do in relation to a third person (C)
anything which is a basic contravention.

(3) A person (A) must not induce another (B) to do in relation to a third person (C)
anything which is a basic contravention.

(4) For the purposes of subsection (3), inducement may be direct or indirect.

(5) Proceedings for a contravention of this section may be brought—
(a) by B, if B is subjected to a detriment as a result of A’s conduct;
(b) by C, if C is subjected to a detriment as a result of A’s conduct;
(c) by the Commission.

(6) For the purposes of subsection (5), it does not matter whether—
(a) the basic contravention occurs;
(b) any other proceedings are, or may be, brought in relation to A’s

conduct.

(7) This section does not apply unless the relationship between A and B is such
that A is in a position to commit a basic contravention in relation to B.

(8) A reference in this section to causing or inducing a person to do something
includes a reference to attempting to cause or induce the person to do it.

(9) For the purposes of Part 9 (enforcement), a contravention of this section is to be
treated as relating—

(a) in a case within subsection (5)(a), to the Part of this Act which, because
of the relationship between A and B, A is in a position to contravene in
relation to B;

(b) in a case within subsection (5)(b), to the Part of this Act which, because
of the relationship between B and C, B is in a position to contravene in
relation to C.

112 Aiding contraventions

(1) A person (A) must not knowingly help another (B) to do anything which
contravenes Part 3, 4, 5, 6 or 7 or section 108(1) or (2) or 111 (a basic
contravention).

(2) It is not a contravention of subsection (1) if—
(a) A relies on a statement by B that the act for which the help is given does

not contravene this Act, and
(b) it is reasonable for A to do so.

(3) B commits an offence if B knowingly or recklessly makes a statement
mentioned in subsection (2)(a) which is false or misleading in a material
respect.

Page 111



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 8 — Prohibited conduct: ancillary

72

(4) A person guilty of an offence under subsection (3) is liable on summary
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 5 on the standard scale.

(5) For the purposes of Part 9 (enforcement), a contravention of this section is to be
treated as relating to the provision of this Act to which the basic contravention
relates.

(6) The reference in subsection (1) to a basic contravention does not include a
reference to disability discrimination in contravention of Chapter 1 of Part 6
(schools).

PART 9

ENFORCEMENT

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTORY

113 Proceedings

(1) Proceedings relating to a contravention of this Act must be brought in
accordance with this Part.

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply to proceedings under Part 1 of the Equality Act
2006.

(3) Subsection (1) does not prevent—
(a) a claim for judicial review;
(b) proceedings under the Immigration Acts;
(c) proceedings under the Special Immigration Appeals Commission Act

1997;
(d) in Scotland, an application to the supervisory jurisdiction of the Court

of Session.

(4) This section is subject to any express provision of this Act conferring
jurisdiction on a court or tribunal.

(5) The reference to a contravention of this Act includes a reference to a breach of
an equality clause or rule.

(6) Chapters 2 and 3 do not apply to proceedings relating to an equality clause or
rule except in so far as Chapter 4 provides for that.

(7) This section does not apply to—
(a) proceedings for an offence under this Act;
(b) proceedings relating to a penalty under Part 12 (disabled persons:

transport).

Page 112



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 9 — Enforcement
Chapter 2 — Civil courts

73

CHAPTER 2

CIVIL COURTS

114 Jurisdiction

(1) A county court or, in Scotland, the sheriff has jurisdiction to determine a claim
relating to—

(a) a contravention of Part 3 (services and public functions);
(b) a contravention of Part 4 (premises);
(c) a contravention of Part 6 (education);
(d) a contravention of Part 7 (associations);
(e) a contravention of section 108, 111 or 112 that relates to Part 3, 4, 6 or 7.

(2) Subsection (1)(a) does not apply to a claim within section 115.

(3) Subsection (1)(c) does not apply to a claim within section 116.

(4) Subsection (1)(d) does not apply to a contravention of section 106.

(5) For the purposes of proceedings on a claim within subsection (1)(a)—
(a) a decision in proceedings on a claim mentioned in section 115(1) that an

act is a contravention of Part 3 is binding;
(b) it does not matter whether the act occurs outside the United Kingdom.

(6) The county court or sheriff—
(a) must not grant an interim injunction or interdict unless satisfied that no

criminal matter would be prejudiced by doing so;
(b) must grant an application to stay or sist proceedings under subsection

(1) on grounds of prejudice to a criminal matter unless satisfied the
matter will not be prejudiced.

(7) In proceedings in England and Wales on a claim within subsection (1), the
power under section 63(1) of the County Courts Act 1984 (appointment of
assessors) must be exercised unless the judge is satisfied that there are good
reasons for not doing so.

(8) In proceedings in Scotland on a claim within subsection (1), the power under
rule 44.3 of Schedule 1 to the Sheriff Court (Scotland) Act 1907 (appointment of
assessors) must be exercised unless the sheriff is satisfied that there are good
reasons for not doing so.

(9) The remuneration of an assessor appointed by virtue of subsection (8) is to be
at a rate determined by the Lord President of the Court of Session.

115 Immigration cases

(1) A claim is within this section if it relates to the act of an immigration authority
in taking a relevant decision and—

(a) the question whether the act is a contravention of Part 3 has been or
could be raised on an appeal which is pending, or could be brought,
under the immigration provisions, or

(b) it has been decided on an appeal under those provisions that the act is
not a contravention of Part 3.

(2) The relevant decision is not—

Page 113



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 9 — Enforcement

Chapter 2 — Civil courts

74

(a) subject to challenge in proceedings on a claim within section 114(1)(a),
or

(b) affected by the decision of a court in such proceedings.

(3) For the purposes of subsection (1)(a) a power to grant permission to appeal out
of time must be ignored.

(4) Each of the following is an immigration authority—
(a) the Secretary of State;
(b) an immigration officer;
(c) a person responsible for the grant or refusal of entry clearance (within

the meaning of section 33(1) of the Immigration Act 1971).

(5) The immigration provisions are—
(a) the Special Immigration Appeals Commission Act 1997, or
(b) Part 5 of the Nationality, Immigration and Asylum Act 2002.

(6) A relevant decision is—
(a) a decision under the Immigration Acts relating to the entitlement of a

person to enter or remain in the United Kingdom;
(b) a decision on an appeal under the immigration provisions relating to a

decision within paragraph (a).

(7) An appeal is pending if it is pending for the purposes of section 104 of the
Nationality, Immigration and Asylum Act 2002 or (as the case may be) for the
purposes of that section as it is applied by section 2(2)(j) of the Special
Immigration Appeals Commission Act 1997.

116 Education cases

(1) A claim is within this section if it may be made to—
(a) the First-tier Tribunal in accordance with Part 2 of Schedule 17,
(b) the Special Educational Needs Tribunal for Wales in accordance with

Part 2 of that Schedule, or
(c) an Additional Support Needs Tribunal for Scotland in accordance with

Part 3 of that Schedule.

(2) A claim is also within this section if it must be made in accordance with appeal
arrangements within the meaning of Part 4 of that Schedule.

(3) Schedule 17 (disabled pupils: enforcement) has effect.

117 National security

(1) Rules of court may, in relation to proceedings on a claim within section 114,
confer power as mentioned in subsections (2) to (4); but a power so conferred
is exercisable only if the court thinks it expedient to do so in the interests of
national security.

(2) The rules may confer power to exclude from all or part of the proceedings—
(a) the claimant or pursuer;
(b) a representative of the claimant or pursuer;
(c) an assessor.

Page 114



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 9 — Enforcement
Chapter 2 — Civil courts

75

(3) The rules may confer power to permit a claimant, pursuer or representative
who has been excluded to make a statement to the court before the
commencement of the proceedings, or part of the proceedings, to which the
exclusion relates.

(4) The rules may confer power to take steps to keep secret all or part of the
reasons for the court’s decision.

(5) The Attorney General or, in Scotland, the Advocate General for Scotland may
appoint a person to represent the interests of a claimant or pursuer in, or in any
part of, proceedings to which an exclusion by virtue of subsection (2)(a) or (b)
relates.

(6) A person (P) may be appointed under subsection (5) only if—
(a) in relation to proceedings in England and Wales, P is a person who, for

the purposes of the Legal Services Act 2007, is an authorised person in
relation to an activity which constitutes the exercise of a right of
audience or the conduct of litigation;

(b) in relation to proceedings in Scotland, P is an advocate or qualified to
practice as a solicitor in Scotland.

(7) P is not responsible to the person whose interests P is appointed to represent.

118 Time limits

(1) Proceedings on a claim within section 114 may not be brought after the end
of—

(a) the period of 6 months starting with the date of the act to which the
claim relates, or

(b) such other period as the county court or sheriff thinks just and
equitable.

(2) If subsection (3) or (4) applies, subsection (1)(a) has effect as if for “6 months”
there were substituted “9 months”.

(3) This subsection applies if—
(a) the claim relates to the act of a qualifying institution, and
(b) a complaint relating to the act is referred under the student complaints

scheme before the end of the period of 6 months starting with the date
of the act.

(4) This subsection applies if—
(a) the claim relates to a dispute referred for conciliation in pursuance of

arrangements under section 27 of the Equality Act 2006, and
(b) subsection (3) does not apply.

(5) If it has been decided under the immigration provisions that the act of an
immigration authority in taking a relevant decision is a contravention of Part 3
(services and public functions), subsection (1) has effect as if for paragraph (a)
there were substituted—

“(a) the period of 6 months starting with the day after the expiry of
the period during which, as a result of section 114(2),
proceedings could not be brought in reliance on section
114(1)(a);”.

(6) For the purposes of this section—

Page 115



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 9 — Enforcement

Chapter 2 — Civil courts

76

(a) conduct extending over a period is to be treated as done at the end of
the period;

(b) failure to do something is to be treated as occurring when the person in
question decided on it.

(7) In the absence of evidence to the contrary, a person (P) is to be taken to decide
on failure to do something—

(a) when P does an act inconsistent with doing it, or
(b) if P does no inconsistent act, on the expiry of the period in which P

might reasonably have been expected to do it.

(8) In this section—
“immigration authority”, “immigration provisions” and “relevant

decision” each have the meaning given in section 115;
“qualifying institution” has the meaning given in section 11 of the Higher

Education Act 2004;
“the student complaints scheme” means a scheme for the review of

qualifying complaints (within the meaning of section 12 of that Act)
that is provided by the designated operator (within the meaning of
section 13(5)(b) of that Act).

119 Remedies

(1) This section applies if a county court or the sheriff finds that there has been a
contravention of a provision referred to in section 114(1).

(2) The county court has power to grant any remedy which could be granted by
the High Court—

(a) in proceedings in tort;
(b) on a claim for judicial review.

(3) The sheriff has power to make any order which could be made by the Court of
Session—

(a) in proceedings for reparation;
(b) on a petition for judicial review.

(4) An award of damages may include compensation for injured feelings (whether
or not it includes compensation on any other basis).

(5) Subsection (6) applies if the county court or sheriff—
(a) finds that a contravention of a provision referred to in section 114(1) is

established by virtue of section 19, but
(b) is satisfied that the provision, criterion or practice was not applied with

the intention of discriminating against the claimant or pursuer.

(6) The county court or sheriff must not make an award of damages unless it first
considers whether to make any other disposal.

(7) The county court or sheriff must not grant a remedy other than an award of
damages or the making of a declaration unless satisfied that no criminal matter
would be prejudiced by doing so.

Page 116



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 9 — Enforcement
Chapter 3 — Employment tribunals

77

CHAPTER 3

EMPLOYMENT TRIBUNALS

120 Jurisdiction

(1) An employment tribunal has, subject to section 121, jurisdiction to determine a
complaint relating to—

(a) a contravention of Part 5 (work);
(b) a contravention of section 108, 111 or 112 that relates to Part 5.

(2) An employment tribunal has jurisdiction to determine an application by a
responsible person (as defined by section 61) for a declaration as to the rights
of that person and a worker in relation to a dispute about the effect of a non-
discrimination rule.

(3) An employment tribunal also has jurisdiction to determine an application by
the trustees or managers of an occupational pension scheme for a declaration
as to their rights and those of a member in relation to a dispute about the effect
of a non-discrimination rule.

(4) An employment tribunal also has jurisdiction to determine a question that—
(a) relates to a non-discrimination rule, and
(b) is referred to the tribunal by virtue of section 122.

(5) In proceedings before an employment tribunal on a complaint relating to a
breach of a non-discrimination rule, the employer—

(a) is to be treated as a party, and
(b) is accordingly entitled to appear and be heard.

(6) Nothing in this section affects such jurisdiction as the High Court, a county
court, the Court of Session or the sheriff has in relation to a non-discrimination
rule.

(7) Subsection (1)(a) does not apply to a contravention of section 53 in so far as the
act complained of may, by virtue of an enactment, be subject to an appeal or
proceedings in the nature of an appeal.

(8) In subsection (1), the references to Part 5 do not include a reference to section
60(1).

121 Armed forces cases

(1) Section 120(1) does not apply to a complaint relating to an act done when the
complainant was serving as a member of the armed forces unless—

(a) the complainant has made a service complaint about the matter, and
(b) the complaint has not been withdrawn.

(2) If the complaint is made under the service complaint procedures, it is to be
treated for the purposes of subsection (1)(b) as withdrawn if—

(a) neither the officer to whom it is made nor a superior officer refers it to
the Defence Council, and

(b) the complainant does not apply for it to be referred to the Defence
Council.

Page 117



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 9 — Enforcement

Chapter 3 — Employment tribunals

78

(3) If the complaint is made under the old service redress procedures, it is to be
treated for the purposes of subsection (1)(b) as withdrawn if the complainant
does not submit it to the Defence Council under those procedures. 

(4) The reference in subsection (3) to the old service redress procedures is a
reference to the procedures (other than those relating to the making of a report
on a complaint to Her Majesty) referred to in—

(a) section 180 of the Army Act 1955,
(b) section 180 of the Air Force Act 1955, or 
(c) section 130 of the Naval Discipline Act 1957.

(5) The making of a complaint to an employment tribunal in reliance on subsection
(1) does not affect the continuation of the service complaint procedures or (as
the case may be) the old service redress procedures.

122 References by court to tribunal, etc.

(1) If it appears to a court in which proceedings are pending that a claim or
counter-claim relating to a non-discrimination rule could more conveniently
be determined by an employment tribunal, the court may strike out the claim
or counter-claim.

(2) If in proceedings before a court a question arises about a non-discrimination
rule, the court may (whether or not on an application by a party to the
proceedings)—

(a) refer the question, or direct that it be referred by a party to the
proceedings, to an employment tribunal for determination, and

(b) stay or sist the proceedings in the meantime.

123 Time limits

(1) Proceedings on a complaint within section 120 may not be brought after the
end of—

(a) the period of 3 months starting with the date of the act to which the
complaint relates, or

(b) such other period as the employment tribunal thinks just and equitable.

(2) Proceedings may not be brought in reliance on section 121(1) after the end of—
(a) the period of 6 months starting with the date of the act to which the

proceedings relate, or
(b) such other period as the employment tribunal thinks just and equitable.

(3) For the purposes of this section—
(a) conduct extending over a period is to be treated as done at the end of

the period;
(b) failure to do something is to be treated as occurring when the person in

question decided on it.

(4) In the absence of evidence to the contrary, a person (P) is to be taken to decide
on failure to do something—

(a) when P does an act inconsistent with doing it, or
(b) if P does no inconsistent act, on the expiry of the period in which P

might reasonably have been expected to do it.

Page 118



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 9 — Enforcement
Chapter 3 — Employment tribunals

79

124 Remedies: general

(1) This section applies if an employment tribunal finds that there has been a
contravention of a provision referred to in section 120(1).

(2) The tribunal may—
(a) make a declaration as to the rights of the complainant and the

respondent in relation to the matters to which the proceedings relate;
(b) order the respondent to pay compensation to the complainant;
(c) make an appropriate recommendation.

(3) An appropriate recommendation is a recommendation that within a specified
period the respondent takes specified steps for the purpose of obviating or
reducing the adverse effect of any matter to which the proceedings relate—

(a) on the complainant;
(b) on any other person.

(4) Subsection (5) applies if the tribunal—
(a) finds that a contravention is established by virtue of section 19, but
(b) is satisfied that the provision, criterion or practice was not applied with

the intention of discriminating against the complainant.

(5) It must not make an order under subsection (2)(b) unless it first considers
whether to act under subsection (2)(a) or (c).

(6) The amount of compensation which may be awarded under subsection (2)(b)
corresponds to the amount which could be awarded by a county court or the
sheriff under section 119. 

(7) If a respondent fails, without reasonable excuse, to comply with an appropriate
recommendation in so far as it relates to the complainant, the tribunal may—

(a) if an order was made under subsection (2)(b), increase the amount of
compensation to be paid;

(b) if no such order was made, make one.

125 Remedies: national security

(1) In national security proceedings, an appropriate recommendation (as defined
by section 124) must not be made in relation to a person other than the
complainant if the recommendation would affect anything done by—

(a) the Security Service,
(b) the Secret Intelligence Service,
(c) the Government Communications Headquarters, or
(d) a part of the armed forces which is, in accordance with a requirement

of the Secretary of State, assisting the Government Communications
Headquarters.

(2) National security proceedings are—
(a) proceedings to which a direction under section 10(3) of the

Employment Tribunals Act 1996 (national security) relates;
(b) proceedings to which an order under section 10(4) of that Act relates;
(c) proceedings (or the part of proceedings) to which a direction pursuant

to regulations made under section 10(5) of that Act relates;

Page 119



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 9 — Enforcement

Chapter 3 — Employment tribunals

80

(d) proceedings (or the part of proceedings) in relation to which an
employment tribunal acts pursuant to regulations made under section
10(6) of that Act.

126 Remedies: occupational pension schemes

(1) This section applies if an employment tribunal finds that there has been a
contravention of a provision referred to in section 120(1) in relation to—

(a) the terms on which persons become members of an occupational
pension scheme, or 

(b) the terms on which members of an occupational pension scheme are
treated.

(2) In addition to anything which may be done by the tribunal under section 124
the tribunal may also by order declare—

(a) if the complaint relates to the terms on which persons become members
of a scheme, that the complainant has a right to be admitted to the
scheme;

(b) if the complaint relates to the terms on which members of the scheme
are treated, that the complainant has a right to membership of the
scheme without discrimination.

(3) The tribunal may not make an order under subsection (2)(b) of section 124
unless—

(a) the compensation is for injured feelings, or
(b) the order is made by virtue of subsection (7) of that section.

(4) An order under subsection (2)—
(a) may make provision as to the terms on which or the capacity in which

the claimant is to enjoy the admission or membership;
(b) may have effect in relation to a period before the order is made.

CHAPTER 4

EQUALITY OF TERMS

127 Jurisdiction

(1) An employment tribunal has, subject to subsection (6), jurisdiction to
determine a complaint relating to a breach of an equality clause or rule.

(2) The jurisdiction conferred by subsection (1) includes jurisdiction to determine
a complaint arising out of a breach of an equality clause or rule; and a reference
in this Chapter to a complaint relating to such a breach is to be read
accordingly.

(3) An employment tribunal also has jurisdiction to determine an application by a
responsible person for a declaration as to the rights of that person and a worker
in relation to a dispute about the effect of an equality clause or rule.

(4) An employment tribunal also has jurisdiction to determine an application by
the trustees or managers of an occupational pension scheme for a declaration
as to their rights and those of a member in relation to a dispute about the effect
of an equality rule.

Page 120



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 9 — Enforcement
Chapter 4 — Equality of terms

81

(5) An employment tribunal also has jurisdiction to determine a question that— 
(a) relates to an equality clause or rule, and
(b) is referred to the tribunal by virtue of section 128(2).

(6) This section does not apply to a complaint relating to an act done when the
complainant was serving as a member of the armed forces unless—

(a) the complainant has made a service complaint about the matter, and
(b) the complaint has not been withdrawn.

(7) Subsections (2) to (5) of section 121 apply for the purposes of subsection (6) of
this section as they apply for the purposes of subsection (1) of that section.

(8) In proceedings before an employment tribunal on a complaint relating to a
breach of an equality rule, the employer—

(a) is to be treated as a party, and
(b) is accordingly entitled to appear and be heard.

(9) Nothing in this section affects such jurisdiction as the High Court, a county
court, the Court of Session or the sheriff has in relation to an equality clause or
rule.

128 References by court to tribunal, etc.

(1) If it appears to a court in which proceedings are pending that a claim or
counter-claim relating to an equality clause or rule could more conveniently be
determined by an employment tribunal, the court may strike out the claim or
counter-claim.

(2) If in proceedings before a court a question arises about an equality clause or
rule, the court may (whether or not on an application by a party to the
proceedings)—

(a) refer the question, or direct that it be referred by a party to the
proceedings, to an employment tribunal for determination, and

(b) stay or sist the proceedings in the meantime.

129 Time limits

(1) This section applies to—
(a) a complaint relating to a breach of an equality clause or rule;
(b) an application for a declaration referred to in section 127(3) or (4).

(2) Proceedings on the complaint or application may not be brought in an
employment tribunal after the end of the qualifying period.

(3) If the complaint or application relates to terms of work other than terms of
service in the armed forces, the qualifying period is, in a case mentioned in the
first column of the table, the period mentioned in the second column.

Case Qualifying period

A standard case The period of 6 months beginning with the last
day of the employment or appointment.

Page 121



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 9 — Enforcement

Chapter 4 — Equality of terms

82

(4) If the complaint or application relates to terms of service in the armed forces,
the qualifying period is, in a case mentioned in the first column of the table, the
period mentioned in the second column.

130 Section 129: supplementary

(1) This section applies for the purposes of section 129.

(2) A standard case is a case which is not—
(a) a stable work case,
(b) a concealment case,
(c) an incapacity case, or
(d) a concealment case and an incapacity case.

A stable work case (but not if
it is also a concealment or
incapacity case (or both))

The period of 6 months beginning with the day
on which the stable working relationship
ended.

A concealment case (but not if
it is also an incapacity case) 

The period of 6 months beginning with the day
on which the worker discovered (or could with
reasonable diligence have discovered) the
qualifying fact.

An incapacity case (but not if
it is also a concealment case)

The period of 6 months beginning with the day
on which the worker ceased to have the
incapacity.

A case which is a concealment
case and an incapacity case.

The period of 6 months beginning with the
later of the days on which the period would
begin if the case were merely a concealment or
incapacity case.

Case Qualifying period

A standard case The period of 9 months beginning with the last
day of the period of service during which the
complaint arose.

A concealment case (but not if
it is also an incapacity case) 

The period of 9 months beginning with the day
on which the worker discovered (or could with
reasonable diligence have discovered) the
qualifying fact.

An incapacity case (but not if
it is also a concealment case)

The period of 9 months beginning with the day
on which the worker ceased to have the
incapacity.

A case which is a concealment
case and an incapacity case.

The period of 9 months beginning with the
later of the days on which the period would
begin if the case were merely a concealment or
incapacity case.

Case Qualifying period

Page 122



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 9 — Enforcement
Chapter 4 — Equality of terms

83

(3) A stable work case is a case where the proceedings relate to a period during
which there was a stable working relationship between the worker and the
responsible person (including any time after the terms of work had expired).

(4) A concealment case in proceedings relating to an equality clause is a case
where—

(a) the responsible person deliberately concealed a qualifying fact from the
worker, and

(b) the worker did not discover (or could not with reasonable diligence
have discovered) the qualifying fact until after the relevant day.

(5) A concealment case in proceedings relating to an equality rule is a case
where—

(a) the employer or the trustees or managers of the occupational pension
scheme in question deliberately concealed a qualifying fact from the
member, and

(b) the member did not discover (or could not with reasonable diligence
have discovered) the qualifying fact until after the relevant day.

(6) A qualifying fact for the purposes of subsection (4) or (5) is a fact—
(a) which is relevant to the complaint, and
(b) without knowledge of which the worker or member could not

reasonably have been expected to bring the proceedings.

(7) An incapacity case in proceedings relating to an equality clause with respect to
terms of work other than terms of service in the armed forces is a case where
the worker had an incapacity during the period of 6 months beginning with the
later of—

(a) the relevant day, or
(b) the day on which the worker discovered (or could with reasonable

diligence have discovered) the qualifying fact deliberately concealed
from the worker by the responsible person.

(8) An incapacity case in proceedings relating to an equality clause with respect to
terms of service in the armed forces is a case where the worker had an
incapacity during the period of 9 months beginning with the later of—

(a) the last day of the period of service during which the complaint arose,
or

(b) the day on which the worker discovered (or could with reasonable
diligence have discovered) the qualifying fact deliberately concealed
from the worker by the responsible person.

(9) An incapacity case in proceedings relating to an equality rule is a case where
the member of the occupational pension scheme in question had an incapacity
during the period of 6 months beginning with the later of—

(a) the relevant day, or
(b) the day on which the member discovered (or could with reasonable

diligence have discovered) the qualifying fact deliberately concealed
from the member by the employer or the trustees or managers of the
scheme.

(10) The relevant day for the purposes of this section is—
(a) the last day of the employment or appointment, or
(b) the day on which the stable working relationship between the worker

and the responsible person ended.

Page 123



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 9 — Enforcement

Chapter 4 — Equality of terms

84

131 Assessment of whether work is of equal value

(1) This section applies to proceedings before an employment tribunal on—
(a) a complaint relating to a breach of an equality clause or rule, or
(b) a question referred to the tribunal by virtue of section 128(2).

(2) Where a question arises in the proceedings as to whether one person’s work is
of equal value to another’s, the tribunal may, before determining the question,
require a member of the panel of independent experts to prepare a report on
the question.

(3) The tribunal may withdraw a requirement that it makes under subsection (2);
and, if it does so, it may—

(a) request the panel member to provide it with specified documentation;
(b) make such other requests to that member as are connected with the

withdrawal of the requirement.

(4) If the tribunal requires the preparation of a report under subsection (2) (and
does not withdraw the requirement), it must not determine the question unless
it has received the report.

(5) Subsection (6) applies where—
(a) a question arises in the proceedings as to whether the work of one

person (A) is of equal value to the work of another (B), and
(b) A’s work and B’s work have been given different values by a job

evaluation study.

(6) The tribunal must determine that A’s work is not of equal value to B’s work
unless it has reasonable grounds for suspecting that the evaluation contained
in the study—

(a) was based on a system that discriminates because of sex, or
(b) is otherwise unreliable.

(7) For the purposes of subsection (6)(a), a system discriminates because of sex if a
difference (or coincidence) between values that the system sets on different
demands is not justifiable regardless of the sex of the person on whom the
demands are made.

(8) A reference to a member of the panel of independent experts is a reference to a
person—

(a) who is for the time being designated as such by the Advisory,
Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) for the purposes of this
section, and

(b) who is neither a member of the Council of ACAS nor one of its officers
or members of staff.

(9) “Job evaluation study” has the meaning given in section 80(5).

132 Remedies in non-pensions cases

(1) This section applies to proceedings before a court or employment tribunal on
a complaint relating to a breach of an equality clause, other than a breach with
respect to membership of or rights under an occupational pension scheme.

(2) If the court or tribunal finds that there has been a breach of the equality clause,
it may—

Page 124



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 9 — Enforcement
Chapter 4 — Equality of terms

85

(a) make a declaration as to the rights of the parties in relation to the
matters to which the proceedings relate;

(b) order an award by way of arrears of pay or damages in relation to the
complainant.

(3) The court or tribunal may not order a payment under subsection (2)(b) in
respect of a time before the arrears day.

(4) In relation to proceedings in England and Wales, the arrears day is, in a case
mentioned in the first column of the table, the day mentioned in the second
column.

(5) In relation to proceedings in Scotland, the arrears day is the first day of—
(a) the period of 5 years ending with the day on which the proceedings

were commenced, or
(b) if the case involves a relevant incapacity, or a relevant fraud or error,

the period of 20 years ending with that day.

133 Remedies in pensions cases

(1) This section applies to proceedings before a court or employment tribunal on
a complaint relating to—

(a) a breach of an equality rule, or
(b) a breach of an equality clause with respect to membership of, or rights

under, an occupational pension scheme.

(2) If the court or tribunal finds that there has been a breach as referred to in
subsection (1)—

(a) it may make a declaration as to the rights of the parties in relation to the
matters to which the proceedings relate;

(b) it must not order arrears of benefits or damages or any other amount to
be paid to the complainant.

(3) Subsection (2)(b) does not apply if the proceedings are proceedings to which
section 134 applies.

(4) If the breach relates to a term on which persons become members of the
scheme, the court or tribunal may declare that the complainant is entitled to be
admitted to the scheme with effect from a specified date.

(5) A date specified for the purposes of subsection (4) must not be before 8 April
1976.

(6) If the breach relates to a term on which members of the scheme are treated, the
court or tribunal may declare that the complainant is, in respect of a specified

Case Arrears day

A standard case The day falling 6 years before the day on
which the proceedings were instituted.

A concealment case or an
incapacity case (or a case
which is both).

The day on which the breach first
occurred.

Page 125



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 9 — Enforcement

Chapter 4 — Equality of terms

86

period, entitled to secure the rights that would have accrued if the breach had
not occurred.

(7) A period specified for the purposes of subsection (6) must not begin before 17
May 1990.

(8) If the court or tribunal makes a declaration under subsection (6), the employer
must provide such resources to the scheme as are necessary to secure for the
complainant (without contribution or further contribution by the complainant
or other members) the rights referred to in that subsection.

134 Remedies in claims for arrears brought by pensioner members

(1) This section applies to proceedings before a court or employment tribunal on
a complaint by a pensioner member of an occupational pension scheme
relating to a breach of an equality clause or rule with respect to a term on which
the member is treated.

(2) If the court or tribunal finds that there has been a breach referred to in
subsection (1), it may—

(a) make a declaration as to the rights of the complainant and the
respondent in relation to the matters to which the proceedings relate;

(b) order an award by way of arrears of benefits or damages or of any other
amount in relation to the complainant.

(3) The court or tribunal must not order an award under subsection (2)(b) in
respect of a time before the arrears day.

(4) If the court or tribunal orders an award under subsection (2)(b), the employer
must provide such resources to the scheme as are necessary to secure for the
complainant (without contribution or further contribution by the complainant
or other members) the amount of the award.

(5) In relation to proceedings in England and Wales, the arrears day is, in a case
mentioned in the first column of the table, the day mentioned in the second
column.

(6) In relation to proceedings in Scotland, the arrears day is the first day of—
(a) the period of 5 years ending with the day on which the proceedings

were commenced, or
(b) if the case involves a relevant incapacity, or a relevant fraud or error,

the period of 20 years ending with that day.

135 Supplementary

(1) This section applies for the purposes of sections 132 to 134.

Case Arrears day

A standard case The day falling 6 years before the day on
which the proceedings were commenced.

A concealment case or an
incapacity case (or a case
which is both).

The day on which the breach first
occurred.

Page 126



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 9 — Enforcement
Chapter 4 — Equality of terms

87

(2) A standard case is a case which is not—
(a) a concealment case,
(b) an incapacity case, or
(c) a concealment case and an incapacity case.

(3) A concealment case in relation to an equality clause is a case where—
(a) the responsible person deliberately concealed a qualifying fact (as

defined by section 130) from the worker, and
(b) the worker commenced the proceedings before the end of the period of

6 years beginning with the day on which the worker discovered (or
could with reasonable diligence have discovered) the qualifying fact.

(4) A concealment case in relation to an equality rule is a case where—
(a) the employer or the trustees or managers of the occupational pension

scheme in question deliberately concealed a qualifying fact (as defined
by section 130) from the member, and

(b) the member commenced the proceedings before the end of the period
of 6 years beginning with the day on which the member discovered (or
could with reasonable diligence have discovered) the qualifying fact.

(5) An incapacity case is a case where the worker or member—
(a) had an incapacity when the breach first occurred, and
(b) commenced the proceedings before the end of the period of 6 years

beginning with the day on which the worker or member ceased to have
the incapacity.

(6) A case involves a relevant incapacity or a relevant fraud or error if the period
of 5 years referred to in section 132(5)(a) is, as a result of subsection (7) below,
reckoned as a period of more than 20 years.

(7) For the purposes of the reckoning referred to in subsection (6), no account is to
be taken of time when the worker or member—

(a) had an incapacity, or
(b) was induced by a relevant fraud or error to refrain from commencing

proceedings (not being a time after the worker or member could with
reasonable diligence have discovered the fraud or error).

(8) For the purposes of subsection (7)—
(a) a fraud is relevant in relation to an equality clause if it is a fraud on the

part of the responsible person;
(b) an error is relevant in relation to an equality clause if it is induced by

the words or conduct of the responsible person;
(c) a fraud is relevant in relation to an equality rule if it is a fraud on the

part of the employer or the trustees or managers of the scheme;
(d) an error is relevant in relation to an equality rule if it is induced by the

words or conduct of the employer or the trustees or managers of the
scheme.

(9) A reference in subsection (8) to the responsible person, the employer or the
trustees or managers includes a reference to a person acting on behalf of the
person or persons concerned.

(10) In relation to terms of service, a reference in section 132(5) or subsection (3) or
(5)(b) of this section to commencing proceedings is to be read as a reference to
making a service complaint.

Page 127



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 9 — Enforcement

Chapter 4 — Equality of terms

88

(11) A reference to a pensioner member of a scheme includes a reference to a person
who is entitled to the present payment of pension or other benefits derived
through a member.

(12) In relation to proceedings before a court—
(a) a reference to a complaint is to be read as a reference to a claim, and
(b) a reference to a complainant is to be read as a reference to a claimant.

CHAPTER 5

MISCELLANEOUS

136 Burden of proof

(1) This section applies to any proceedings relating to a contravention of this Act.

(2) If there are facts from which the court could decide, in the absence of any other
explanation, that a person (A) contravened the provision concerned, the court
must hold that the contravention occurred.

(3) But subsection (2) does not apply if A shows that A did not contravene the
provision.

(4) The reference to a contravention of this Act includes a reference to a breach of
an equality clause or rule.

(5) This section does not apply to proceedings for an offence under this Act.

(6) A reference to the court includes a reference to—
(a) an employment tribunal;
(b) the Asylum and Immigration Tribunal;
(c) the Special Immigration Appeals Commission;
(d) the First-tier Tribunal;
(e) the Special Educational Needs Tribunal for Wales;
(f) an Additional Support Needs Tribunal for Scotland.

137 Previous findings

(1) A finding in relevant proceedings in respect of an act which has become final
is to be treated as conclusive in proceedings under this Act.

(2) Relevant proceedings are proceedings before a court or employment tribunal
under any of the following—

(a) section 19 or 20 of the Race Relations Act 1968;
(b) the Equal Pay Act 1970;
(c) the Sex Discrimination Act 1975;
(d) the Race Relations Act 1976;
(e) section 6(4A) of the Sex Discrimination Act 1986;
(f) the Disability Discrimination Act 1995;
(g) Part 2 of the Equality Act 2006;
(h) the Employment Equality (Religion and Belief) Regulations 2003 (S.I.

2003/1660);
(i) the Employment Equality (Sexual Orientation) Regulations 2003 (S.I.

2003/1661);

Page 128



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 9 — Enforcement
Chapter 5 — Miscellaneous

89

(j) the Employment Equality (Age) Regulations 2006 (S.I. 2006/1031);
(k) the Equality Act (Sexual Orientation) Regulations 2007 (S.I. 2007/1263).

(3) A finding becomes final—
(a) when an appeal against the finding is dismissed, withdrawn or

abandoned, or
(b) when the time for appealing expires without an appeal having been

brought.

138 Obtaining information, etc.

(1) In this section—
(a) P is a person who thinks that a contravention of this Act has occurred

in relation to P;
(b) R is a person who P thinks has contravened this Act.

(2) A Minister of the Crown must by order prescribe—
(a) forms by which P may question R on any matter which is or may be

relevant;
(b) forms by which R may answer questions by P.

(3) A question by P or an answer by R is admissible as evidence in proceedings
under this Act (whether or not the question or answer is contained in a
prescribed form).

(4) A court or tribunal may draw an inference from—
(a) a failure by R to answer a question by P before the end of the period of

8 weeks beginning with the day on which the question is served;
(b) an evasive or equivocal answer.

(5) Subsection (4) does not apply if—
(a) R reasonably asserts that to have answered differently or at all might

have prejudiced a criminal matter;
(b) R reasonably asserts that to have answered differently or at all would

have revealed the reason for not commencing or not continuing
criminal proceedings;

(c) R’s answer is of a kind specified for the purposes of this paragraph by
order of a Minister of the Crown;

(d) R’s answer is given in circumstances specified for the purposes of this
paragraph by order of a Minister of the Crown;

(e) R’s failure to answer occurs in circumstances specified for the purposes
of this paragraph by order of a Minister of the Crown.

(6) The reference to a contravention of this Act includes a reference to a breach of
an equality clause or rule.

(7) A Minister of the Crown may by order—
(a) prescribe the period within which a question must be served to be

admissible under subsection (3);
(b) prescribe the manner in which a question by P, or an answer by R, may

be served.

(8) This section—

Page 129



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 9 — Enforcement

Chapter 5 — Miscellaneous

90

(a) does not affect any other enactment or rule of law relating to interim or
preliminary matters in proceedings before a county court, the sheriff or
an employment tribunal, and

(b) has effect subject to any enactment or rule of law regulating the
admissibility of evidence in such proceedings.

139 Interest

(1) Regulations may make provision—
(a) for enabling an employment tribunal to include interest on an amount

awarded by it in proceedings under this Act;
(b) specifying the manner in which, and the periods and rate by reference

to which, the interest is to be determined.

(2) Regulations may modify the operation of an order made under section 14 of the
Employment Tribunals Act 1996 (power to make provision as to interest on
awards) in so far as it relates to an award in proceedings under this Act.

140 Conduct giving rise to separate proceedings

(1) This section applies in relation to conduct which has given rise to two or more
separate proceedings under this Act, with at least one being for a contravention
of section 111 (instructing, causing or inducing contraventions).

(2) A court may transfer proceedings to an employment tribunal.

(3) An employment tribunal may transfer proceedings to a court.

(4) A court or employment tribunal is to be taken for the purposes of this Part to
have jurisdiction to determine a claim or complaint transferred to it under this
section; accordingly—

(a) a reference to a claim within section 114(1) includes a reference to a
claim transferred to a court under this section, and

(b) a reference to a complaint within section 120(1) includes a reference to
a complaint transferred to an employment tribunal under this section.

(5) A court or employment tribunal may not make a decision that is inconsistent
with an earlier decision in proceedings arising out of the conduct.

(6) “Court” means—
(a) in relation to proceedings in England and Wales, a county court;
(b) in relation to proceedings in Scotland, the sheriff.

141 Interpretation, etc.

(1) This section applies for the purposes of this Part.

(2) A reference to the responsible person, in relation to an equality clause or rule,
is to be construed in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 5.

(3) A reference to a worker is a reference to the person to the terms of whose work
the proceedings in question relate; and, for the purposes of proceedings
relating to an equality rule or a non-discrimination rule, a reference to a worker
includes a reference to a member of the occupational pension scheme in
question.

Page 130



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 9 — Enforcement
Chapter 5 — Miscellaneous

91

(4) A reference to the terms of a person’s work is to be construed in accordance
with Chapter 3 of Part 5.

(5) A reference to a member of an occupational pension scheme includes a
reference to a prospective member.

(6) In relation to proceedings in England and Wales, a person has an incapacity if
the person—

(a) has not attained the age of 18, or
(b) lacks capacity (within the meaning of the Mental Capacity Act 2005). 

(7) In relation to proceedings in Scotland, a person has an incapacity if the
person—

(a) has not attained the age of 16, or
(b) is incapable (within the meaning of the Adults with Incapacity

(Scotland) Act 2000 (asp 4)).

(8) “Service complaint” means a complaint under section 334 of the Armed Forces
Act 2006; and “service complaint procedures” means the procedures
prescribed by regulations under that section (except in so far as relating to
references under section 337 of that Act).

(9) “Criminal matter” means—
(a) an investigation into the commission of an alleged offence;
(b) a decision whether to commence criminal proceedings;
(c) criminal proceedings.

PART 10

CONTRACTS, ETC.

Contracts and other agreements

142 Unenforceable terms

(1) A term of a contract is unenforceable against a person in so far as it constitutes,
promotes or provides for treatment of that or another person that is of a
description prohibited by this Act.

(2) A relevant non-contractual term is unenforceable against a person in so far as
it constitutes, promotes or provides for treatment of that or another person that
is of a description prohibited by this Act, in so far as this Act relates to
disability.

(3) A relevant non-contractual term is a term which—
(a) is a term of an agreement that is not a contract, and
(b) relates to the provision of an employment service within section

56(2)(a) to (e) or to the provision under a group insurance arrangement
of facilities by way of insurance.

(4) A reference in subsection (1) or (2) to treatment of a description prohibited by
this Act does not include—

(a) a reference to the inclusion of a term in a contract referred to in section
70(2)(a) or 76(2), or

Page 131



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 10 — Contracts, etc.

92

(b) a reference to the failure to include a term in a contract as referred to in
section 70(2)(b).

(5) Subsection (4) does not affect the application of section 148(2) to this section.

143 Removal or modification of unenforceable terms

(1) A county court or the sheriff may, on an application by a person who has an
interest in a contract or other agreement which includes a term that is
unenforceable as a result of section 142, make an order for the term to be
removed or modified. 

(2) An order under this section must not be made unless every person who would
be affected by it—

(a) has been given notice of the application (except where notice is
dispensed with in accordance with rules of court), and

(b) has been afforded an opportunity to make representations to the
county court or sheriff.

(3) An order under this section may include provision in respect of a period before
the making of the order.

144 Contracting out

(1) A term of a contract is unenforceable by a person in whose favour it would
operate in so far as it purports to exclude or limit a provision of or made under
this Act.

(2) A relevant non-contractual term (as defined by section 142) is unenforceable by
a person in whose favour it would operate in so far as it purports to exclude or
limit a provision of or made under this Act, in so far as the provision relates to
disability.

(3) This section does not apply to a contract which settles a claim within section
114.

(4) This section does not apply to a contract which settles a complaint within
section 120 if the contract—

(a) is made with the assistance of a conciliation officer, or
(b) is a qualifying compromise contract.

(5) A contract within subsection (4) includes a contract which settles a complaint
relating to a breach of an equality clause or rule or of a non-discrimination rule.

(6) A contract within subsection (4) includes an agreement by the parties to a
dispute to submit the dispute to arbitration if—

(a) the dispute is covered by a scheme having effect by virtue of an order
under section 212A of the Trade Union and Labour Relations
(Consolidation) Act 1992, and

(b) the agreement is to submit the dispute to arbitration in accordance with
the scheme.

Page 132



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 10 — Contracts, etc.

93

Collective agreements and rules of undertakings

145 Void and unenforceable terms

(1) A term of a collective agreement is void in so far as it constitutes, promotes or
provides for treatment of a description prohibited by this Act. 

(2) A rule of an undertaking is unenforceable against a person in so far as it
constitutes, promotes or provides for treatment of the person that is of a
description prohibited by this Act.

146 Declaration in respect of void term, etc.

(1) A qualifying person (P) may make a complaint to an employment tribunal that
a term is void, or that a rule is unenforceable, as a result of section 145. 

(2) But subsection (1) applies only if—
(a) the term or rule may in the future have effect in relation to P, and
(b) where the complaint alleges that the term or rule provides for treatment

of a description prohibited by this Act, P may in the future be subjected
to treatment that would (if P were subjected to it in present
circumstances) be of that description.

(3) If the tribunal finds that the complaint is well-founded, it must make an order
declaring that the term is void or the rule is unenforceable.

(4) An order under this section may include provision in respect of a period before
the making of the order.

(5) In the case of a complaint about a term of a collective agreement, where the
term is one made by or on behalf of a person of a description specified in the
first column of the table, a qualifying person is a person of a description
specified in the second column.

(6) In the case of a complaint about a rule of an undertaking, where the rule is one
made by or on behalf of a person of a description specified in the first column
of the table, a qualifying person is a person of a description specified in the
second column.

Description of person who 
made collective agreement

Qualifying person

Employer A person who is, or is seeking to be,
an employee of that employer

Organisation of employers A person who is, or is seeking to be,
an employee of an employer who is a
member of that organisation

Association of organisations
of employers

A person who is, or is seeking to be,
an employee of an employer who is a
member of an organisation in that
association

Page 133



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 10 — Contracts, etc.

94

Supplementary

147 Meaning of “qualifying compromise contract”

(1) This section applies for the purposes of this Part.

(2) A qualifying compromise contract is a contract in relation to which each of the
conditions in subsection (3) is met.

(3) Those conditions are that—
(a) the contract is in writing,
(b) the contract relates to the particular complaint,
(c) the complainant has, before entering into the contract, received advice

from an independent adviser about its terms and effect (including, in
particular, its effect on the complainant’s ability to pursue the
complaint before an employment tribunal),

(d) on the date of the giving of the advice, there is in force a contract of
insurance, or an indemnity provided for members of a profession or
professional body, covering the risk of a claim by the complainant in
respect of loss arising from the advice,

(e) the contract identifies the adviser, and
(f) the contract states that the conditions in paragraphs (c) and (d) are met.

(4) Each of the following is an independent adviser—
(a) a qualified lawyer;
(b) an officer, official, employee or member of an independent trade union

certified in writing by the trade union as competent to give advice and
as authorised to do so on its behalf;

(c) a worker at an advice centre (whether as an employee or a volunteer)
certified in writing by the centre as competent to give advice and as
authorised to do so on its behalf;

(d) a person of such description as may be specified by order.

(5) Despite subsection (4), none of the following is an independent adviser in
relation to a qualifying compromise contract—

(a) a person who is a party to the contract or the complaint;
(b) a person who is connected to a person within paragraph (a);

Description of person who 
made rule of undertaking

Qualifying person

Employer A person who is, or is seeking to be,
an employee of that employer

Trade organisation or
qualifications body

A person who is, or is seeking to be, a
member of the organisation or body

A person upon whom the body has
conferred a relevant qualification

A person seeking conferment by the
body of a relevant qualification

Page 134



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 10 — Contracts, etc.

95

(c) a person who is employed by a person within paragraph (a) or (b);
(d) a person who is acting for a person within paragraph (a) or (b) in

relation to the contract or the complaint;
(e) a person within subsection (4)(b) or (c), if the trade union or advice

centre is a person within paragraph (a) or (b);
(f) a person within subsection (4)(c) to whom the complainant makes a

payment for the advice.

(6) A “qualified lawyer”, for the purposes of subsection (4)(a), is—
(a) in relation to England and Wales, a person who, for the purposes of the

Legal Services Act 2007, is an authorised person in relation to an
activity which constitutes the exercise of a right of audience or the
conduct of litigation;

(b) in relation to Scotland, an advocate (whether in practice as such or
employed to give legal advice) or a solicitor who holds a practising
certificate.

(7) “Independent trade union” has the meaning given in section 5 of the Trade
Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.

(8) Two persons are connected for the purposes of subsection (5) if—
(a) one is a company of which the other (directly or indirectly) has control,

or
(b) both are companies of which a third person (directly or indirectly) has

control.

(9) Two persons are also connected for the purposes of subsection (5) in so far as a
connection between them gives rise to a conflict of interest in relation to the
contract or the complaint.

148 Interpretation

(1) This section applies for the purposes of this Part.

(2) A reference to treatment of a description prohibited by this Act does not
include treatment in so far as it is treatment that would contravene—

(a) Part 1 (public sector duty regarding socio-economic inequalities), or
(b) Chapter 1 of Part 11 (public sector equality duty).

(3) “Group insurance arrangement” means an arrangement between an employer
and another person for the provision by that other person of facilities by way
of insurance to the employer’s employees (or a class of those employees).

(4) “Collective agreement” has the meaning given in section 178 of the Trade
Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.

(5) A rule of an undertaking is a rule within subsection (6) or (7).

(6) A rule within this subsection is a rule made by a trade organisation or a
qualifications body for application to—

(a) its members or prospective members,
(b) persons on whom it has conferred a relevant qualification, or
(c) persons seeking conferment by it of a relevant qualification.

(7) A rule within this subsection is a rule made by an employer for application to—
(a) employees,

Page 135



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 10 — Contracts, etc.

96

(b) persons who apply for employment, or
(c) persons the employer considers for employment.

(8) “Trade organisation”, “qualifications body” and “relevant qualification” each
have the meaning given in Part 5 (work).

PART 11

ADVANCEMENT OF EQUALITY

CHAPTER 1

PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY

149 Public sector equality duty

(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the
need to—

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other
conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act;

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it.

(2) A person who is not a public authority but who exercises public functions
must, in the exercise of those functions, have due regard to the matters
mentioned in subsection (1).

(3) Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity between
persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not
share it involves having due regard, in particular, to the need to—

(a) remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that
characteristic;

(b) take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not
share it;

(c) encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation
by such persons is disproportionately low.

(4) The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are different
from the needs of persons who are not disabled include, in particular, steps to
take account of disabled persons’ disabilities.

(5) Having due regard to the need to foster good relations between persons who
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it
involves having due regard, in particular, to the need to—

(a) tackle prejudice, and
(b) promote understanding.

(6) Compliance with the duties in this section may involve treating some persons
more favourably than others; but that is not to be taken as permitting conduct
that would otherwise be prohibited by or under this Act.

Page 136



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 11 — Advancement of equality
Chapter 1 — Public sector equality duty

97

(7) The relevant protected characteristics are—
age;
disability;
gender reassignment;
pregnancy and maternity;
race;
religion or belief;
sex;
sexual orientation.

(8) A reference to conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act includes a
reference to—

(a) a breach of an equality clause or rule;
(b) a breach of a non-discrimination rule.

(9) Schedule 18 (exceptions) has effect.

150 Public authorities and public functions

(1) A public authority is a person who is specified in Schedule 19.

(2) In that Schedule—
Part 1 specifies public authorities generally;
Part 2 specifies relevant Welsh authorities;
Part 3 specifies relevant Scottish authorities.

(3) A public authority specified in Schedule 19 is subject to the duty imposed by
section 149(1) in relation to the exercise of all of its functions unless subsection
(4) applies.

(4) A public authority specified in that Schedule in respect of certain specified
functions is subject to that duty only in respect of the exercise of those
functions.

(5) A public function is a function that is a function of a public nature for the
purposes of the Human Rights Act 1998.

151 Power to specify public authorities

(1) A Minister of the Crown may by order amend Part 1, 2 or 3 of Schedule 19.

(2) The Welsh Ministers may by order amend Part 2 of Schedule 19.

(3) The Scottish Ministers may by order amend Part 3 of Schedule 19.

(4) The power under subsection (1), (2) or (3) may not be exercised so as to—
(a) add an entry to Part 1 relating to a relevant Welsh or Scottish authority

or a cross-border Welsh or Scottish authority;
(b) add an entry to Part 2 relating to a person who is not a relevant Welsh

authority;
(c) add an entry to Part 3 relating to a person who is not a relevant Scottish

authority.

(5) A Minister of the Crown may by order amend Schedule 19 so as to make
provision relating to a cross-border Welsh or Scottish authority.

Page 137



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 11 — Advancement of equality

Chapter 1 — Public sector equality duty

98

(6) On the first exercise of the power under subsection (5) to add an entry relating
to a cross-border Welsh or Scottish authority to Schedule 19, a Minister of the
Crown must—

(a) add a Part 4 to the Schedule for cross-border authorities, and
(b) add the cross-border Welsh or Scottish authority to that Part.

(7) Any subsequent exercise of the power under subsection (5) to add an entry
relating to a cross-border Welsh or Scottish authority to Schedule 19 must add
that entry to Part 4 of the Schedule.

(8) An order may not be made under this section so as to extend the application of
section 149 unless the person making it considers that the extension relates to
a person by whom a public function is exercisable.

(9) An order may not be made under this section so as to extend the application of
section 149 to—

(a) the exercise of a function referred to in paragraph 3 of Schedule 18
(judicial functions, etc);

(b) a person listed in paragraph 4(2)(a) to (e) of that Schedule (Parliament,
devolved legislatures and General Synod);

(c) the exercise of a function listed in paragraph 4(3) of that Schedule
(proceedings in Parliament or devolved legislatures).

152 Power to specify public authorities: consultation and consent

(1) Before making an order under a provision specified in the first column of the
Table, a Minister of the Crown must consult the person or persons specified in
the second column.

(2) Before making an order under section 151(2), the Welsh Ministers must—
(a) obtain the consent of a Minister of the Crown, and
(b) consult the Commission.

(3) Before making an order under section 151(3), the Scottish Ministers must—
(a) obtain the consent of a Minister of the Crown, and
(b) consult the Commission.

Provision Consultees

Section 151(1) The Commission

Section 151(1), so far as relating to a
relevant Welsh authority

The Welsh Ministers

Section 151(1), so far as relating to a
relevant Scottish authority

The Scottish Ministers

Section 151(5) The Commission

Section 151(5), so far as relating to a
cross-border Welsh authority

The Welsh Ministers

Section 151(5), so far as relating to a
cross-border Scottish authority

The Scottish Ministers

Page 138



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 11 — Advancement of equality
Chapter 1 — Public sector equality duty

99

153 Power to impose specific duties

(1) A Minister of the Crown may by regulations impose duties on a public
authority specified in Part 1 of Schedule 19 for the purpose of enabling the
better performance by the authority of the duty imposed by section 149(1).

(2) The Welsh Ministers may by regulations impose duties on a public authority
specified in Part 2 of Schedule 19 for that purpose.

(3) The Scottish Ministers may by regulations impose duties on a public authority
specified in Part 3 of Schedule 19 for that purpose.

(4) Before making regulations under this section, the person making them must
consult the Commission.

154 Power to impose specific duties: cross-border authorities

(1) If a Minister of the Crown exercises the power in section 151(5) to add an entry
for a public authority to Part 4 of Schedule 19, the Minister must include after
the entry a letter specified in the first column of the Table in subsection (3).

(2) Where a letter specified in the first column of the Table in subsection (3) is
included after an entry for a public authority in Part 4 of Schedule 19, the
person specified in the second column of the Table—

(a) may by regulations impose duties on the authority for the purpose of
enabling the better performance by the authority of the duty imposed
by section 149(1), subject to such limitations as are specified in that
column;

(b) must in making the regulations comply with the procedural
requirement specified in that column.

(3) This is the Table—

Letter Person by whom regulations may be made and procedural 
requirements

A Regulations may be made by a Minister of the Crown in
relation to the authority’s functions that are not
devolved Welsh functions.

The Minister of the Crown must consult the Welsh
Ministers before making the regulations.

Regulations may be made by the Welsh Ministers in
relation to the authority’s devolved Welsh functions.

The Welsh Ministers must consult a Minister of the
Crown before making the regulations.

B Regulations may be made by a Minister of the Crown in
relation to the authority’s functions that are not
devolved Scottish functions.

The Minister of the Crown must consult the Scottish
Ministers before making the regulations.

Page 139



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 11 — Advancement of equality

Chapter 1 — Public sector equality duty

100

(4) Before making regulations under subsection (2), the person making them must
consult the Commission.

155 Power to impose specific duties: supplementary

(1) Regulations under section 153 or 154 may require a public authority to
consider such matters as may be specified from time to time by—

(a) a Minister of the Crown, where the regulations are made by a Minister
of the Crown;

(b) the Welsh Ministers, where the regulations are made by the Welsh
Ministers;

(c) the Scottish Ministers, where the regulations are made by the Scottish
Ministers.

(2) Regulations under section 153 or 154 may impose duties on a public authority
that is a contracting authority within the meaning of the Public Sector Directive
in connection with its public procurement functions.

(3) In subsection (2)—

Regulations may be made by the Scottish Ministers in
relation to the authority’s devolved Scottish functions.

The Scottish Ministers must consult a Minister of the
Crown before making the regulations.

C Regulations may be made by a Minister of the Crown in
relation to the authority’s functions that are neither
devolved Welsh functions nor devolved Scottish
functions.

The Minister of the Crown must consult the Welsh
Ministers and the Scottish Ministers before making the
regulations.

Regulations may be made by the Welsh Ministers in
relation to the authority’s devolved Welsh functions.

The Welsh Ministers must consult a Minister of the
Crown before making the regulations.

Regulations may be made by the Scottish Ministers in
relation to the authority’s devolved Scottish functions.

The Scottish Ministers must consult a Minister of the
Crown before making the regulations.

D The regulations may be made by a Minister of the
Crown.

The Minister of the Crown must consult the Welsh
Ministers before making the regulations.

Letter Person by whom regulations may be made and procedural 
requirements

Page 140



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 11 — Advancement of equality
Chapter 1 — Public sector equality duty

101

“public procurement functions” means functions the exercise of which is
regulated by the Public Sector Directive;

“the Public Sector Directive” means Directive 2004/18/EC of the
European Parliament and of the Council of 31 March 2004 on the
coordination of procedures for the award of public works contracts,
public supply contracts and public service contracts, as amended from
time to time.

(4) Subsections (1) and (2) do not affect the generality of section 153 or 154(2)(a).

(5) A duty imposed on a public authority under section 153 or 154 may be
modified or removed by regulations made by—

(a) a Minister of the Crown, where the original duty was imposed by
regulations made by a Minister of the Crown;

(b) the Welsh Ministers, where the original duty was imposed by
regulations made by the Welsh Ministers;

(c) the Scottish Ministers, where the original duty was imposed by
regulations made by the Scottish Ministers.

156 Enforcement

A failure in respect of a performance of a duty imposed by or under this
Chapter does not confer a cause of action at private law.

157 Interpretation

(1) This section applies for the purposes of this Chapter.

(2) A relevant Welsh authority is a person (other than the Assembly Commission)
whose functions—

(a) are exercisable only in or as regards Wales, and
(b) are wholly or mainly devolved Welsh functions.

(3) A cross-border Welsh authority is a person other than a relevant Welsh
authority (or the Assembly Commission) who has any function that—

(a) is exercisable in or as regards Wales, and
(b) is a devolved Welsh function.

(4) The Assembly Commission has the same meaning as in the Government of
Wales Act 2006.

(5) A function is a devolved Welsh function if it relates to—
(a) a matter in respect of which functions are exercisable by the Welsh

Ministers, the First Minister for Wales or the Counsel General to the
Welsh Assembly Government, or

(b) a matter within the legislative competence of the National Assembly for
Wales.

(6) A relevant Scottish authority is a public body, public office or holder of a public
office—

(a) which is not a cross-border Scottish authority or the Scottish
Parliamentary Corporate Body,

(b) whose functions are exercisable only in or as regards Scotland, and
(c) at least some of whose functions do not relate to reserved matters.

Page 141



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 11 — Advancement of equality

Chapter 1 — Public sector equality duty

102

(7) A cross-border Scottish authority is a cross-border public authority within the
meaning given by section 88(5) of the Scotland Act 1998.

(8) A function is a devolved Scottish function if it—
(a) is exercisable in or as regards Scotland, and
(b) does not relate to reserved matters.

(9) Reserved matters has the same meaning as in the Scotland Act 1998.

CHAPTER 2

POSITIVE ACTION

158 Positive action: general

(1) This section applies if a person (P) reasonably thinks that—
(a) persons who share a protected characteristic suffer a disadvantage

connected to the characteristic,
(b) persons who share a protected characteristic have needs that are

different from the needs of persons who do not share it, or
(c) participation in an activity by persons who share a protected

characteristic is disproportionately low.

(2) This Act does not prohibit P from taking any action which is a proportionate
means of achieving the aim of— 

(a) enabling or encouraging persons who share the protected characteristic
to overcome or minimise that disadvantage,

(b) meeting those needs, or
(c) enabling or encouraging persons who share the protected characteristic

to participate in that activity.

(3) Regulations may specify action, or descriptions of action, to which subsection
(2) does not apply.

(4) This section does not apply to—
(a) action within section 159(3), or
(b) anything that is permitted by virtue of section 104.

(5) If section 104(7) is repealed by virtue of section 105, this section will not apply
to anything that would have been so permitted but for the repeal.

(6) This section does not enable P to do anything that is prohibited by or under an
enactment other than this Act.

159 Positive action: recruitment and promotion

(1) This section applies if a person (P) reasonably thinks that—
(a) persons who share a protected characteristic suffer a disadvantage

connected to the characteristic, or
(b) participation in an activity by persons who share a protected

characteristic is disproportionately low.

(2) Part 5 (work) does not prohibit P from taking action within subsection (3) with
the aim of enabling or encouraging persons who share the protected
characteristic to—

Page 142



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 11 — Advancement of equality
Chapter 2 — Positive action

103

(a) overcome or minimise that disadvantage, or
(b) participate in that activity.

(3) That action is treating a person (A) more favourably  in connection with
recruitment or promotion than another person (B) because A has the protected
characteristic but B does not.

(4) But subsection (2) applies only if—
(a) A is as qualified as B to be recruited or promoted, 
(b) P does not have a policy of treating persons who share the protected

characteristic more favourably in connection with recruitment or
promotion than persons who do not share it, and

(c) taking the action in question is a proportionate means of achieving the
aim referred to in subsection (2).

(5) “Recruitment” means a process for deciding whether to—
(a) offer employment to a person,
(b) make contract work available to a contract worker,
(c) offer a person a position as a partner in a firm or proposed firm,
(d) offer a person a position as a member of an LLP or proposed LLP,
(e) offer a person a pupillage or tenancy in barristers’ chambers,
(f) take a person as an advocate’s devil or offer a person membership of an

advocate’s stable,
(g) offer a person an appointment to a personal office,
(h) offer a person an appointment to a public office, recommend a person

for such an appointment or approve a person’s appointment to a public
office, or

(i) offer a person a service for finding employment.

(6) This section does not enable P to do anything that is prohibited by or under an
enactment other than this Act.

PART 12

DISABLED PERSONS: TRANSPORT

CHAPTER 1

TAXIS, ETC.

160 Taxi accessibility regulations

(1) The Secretary of State may make regulations (in this Chapter referred to as
“taxi accessibility regulations”) for securing that it is possible for disabled
persons—

(a) to get into and out of taxis in safety;
(b) to do so while in wheelchairs;
(c) to travel in taxis in safety and reasonable comfort;
(d) to do so while in wheelchairs.

(2) The regulations may, in particular, require a regulated taxi to conform with
provision as to—

(a) the size of a door opening for the use of passengers;

Page 143



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 12 — Disabled persons: transport

Chapter 1 — Taxis, etc.

104

(b) the floor area of the passenger compartment;
(c) the amount of headroom in the passenger compartment;
(d) the fitting of restraining devices designed to ensure the stability of a

wheelchair while the taxi is moving.

(3) The regulations may also—
(a) require the driver of a regulated taxi which is plying for hire, or which

has been hired, to comply with provisions as to the carrying of ramps
or other devices designed to facilitate the loading and unloading of
wheelchairs;

(b) require the driver of a regulated taxi in which a disabled person is being
carried while in a wheelchair to comply with provisions as to the
position in which the wheelchair is to be secured.

(4) The driver of a regulated taxi which is plying for hire or has been hired
commits an offence—

(a) by failing to comply with a requirement of the regulations, or
(b) if the taxi fails to conform with any provision of the regulations with

which it is required to conform.

(5) A person guilty of an offence under subsection (4) is liable on summary
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale.

(6) In this section—
“passenger compartment” has such meaning as is specified in taxi

accessibility regulations;
“regulated taxi” means a taxi to which taxi accessibility regulations are

expressed to apply.

161 Control of numbers of licensed taxis: exception

(1) This section applies if—
(a) an application for a licence in respect of a vehicle is made under section

37 of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847,
(b) it is possible for a disabled person—

(i) to get into and out of the vehicle in safety,
(ii) to travel in the vehicle in safety and reasonable comfort, and

(iii) to do the things mentioned in sub-paragraphs (i) and (ii) while
in a wheelchair of a size prescribed by the Secretary of State, and 

(c) the proportion of taxis licensed in respect of the area to which the
licence would (if granted) apply that conform to the requirement in
paragraph (b) is less than the proportion that is prescribed by the
Secretary of State.

(2) Section 16 of the Transport Act 1985 (which modifies the provisions of the
Town Police Clauses Act 1847 about hackney carriages to allow a licence to ply
for hire to be refused in order to limit the number of licensed carriages) does
not apply in relation to the vehicle; and those provisions of the Town Police
Clauses Act 1847 are to have effect subject to this section.

(3) In section 16 of the Transport Act 1985, after “shall” insert “(subject to section
161 of the Equality Act 2010)”.

Page 144



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 12 — Disabled persons: transport
Chapter 1 — Taxis, etc.

105

162 Designated transport facilities

(1) The appropriate authority may by regulations provide for the application of
any taxi provision (with or without modification) to—

(a) vehicles used for the provision of services under a franchise agreement,
or

(b) drivers of such vehicles.

(2) A franchise agreement is a contract entered into by the operator of a designated
transport facility for the provision, by the other party to the contract, of hire car
services—

(a) for members of the public using any part of the facility, and
(b) which involve vehicles entering any part of the facility.

(3) In this section—
“appropriate authority” means—

(a) in relation to transport facilities in England and Wales, the
Secretary of State;

(b) in relation to transport facilities in Scotland, the Scottish
Ministers;

“designated” means designated by order made by the appropriate
authority;

“hire car” has such meaning as is prescribed by the appropriate authority;
“operator”, in relation to a transport facility, means a person who is

concerned with the management or operation of the facility;
“taxi provision” means a provision of—

(a) this Chapter, or
(b) regulations made in pursuance of section 20(2A) of the Civic

Government (Scotland) Act 1982,
which applies in relation to taxis or drivers of taxis;

“transport facility” means premises which form part of a port, airport,
railway station or bus station.

(4) For the purposes of section 2(2) of the European Communities Act 1972
(implementation of EU obligations), the Secretary of State may exercise a
power conferred by this section on the Scottish Ministers.

163 Taxi licence conditional on compliance with taxi accessibility regulations

(1) A licence for a taxi to ply for hire must not be granted unless the vehicle
conforms with the provisions of taxi accessibility regulations with which a
vehicle is required to conform if it is licensed.

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply if a licence is in force in relation to the vehicle at
any time during the period of 28 days immediately before the day on which the
licence is granted.

(3) The Secretary of State may by order provide for subsection (2) to cease to have
effect on a specified date.

(4) The power under subsection (3) may be exercised differently for different areas
or localities.

Page 145



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 12 — Disabled persons: transport

Chapter 1 — Taxis, etc.

106

164 Exemption from taxi accessibility regulations

(1) The Secretary of State may by regulations provide for a relevant licensing
authority to apply for an order (an “exemption order”) exempting the authority
from the requirements of section 163.

(2) Regulations under subsection (1) may, in particular, make provision requiring
an authority proposing to apply for an exemption order—

(a) to carry out such consultation as is specified;
(b) to publish its proposals in the specified manner;
(c) before applying for the order, to consider representations made about

the proposal;
(d) to make the application in the specified form.

In this subsection “specified” means specified in the regulations.

(3) An authority may apply for an exemption order only if it is satisfied—
(a) that, having regard to the circumstances in its area, it is inappropriate

for section 163 to apply, and
(b) that the application of that section would result in an unacceptable

reduction in the number of taxis in its area.

(4) After consulting the Disabled Persons Transport Advisory Committee and
such other persons as the Secretary of State thinks appropriate, the Secretary of
State may—

(a) make an exemption order in the terms of the application for the order;
(b) make an exemption order in such other terms as the Secretary of State

thinks appropriate;
(c) refuse to make an exemption order.

(5) The Secretary of State may by regulations make provision requiring a taxi
plying for hire in an area in respect of which an exemption order is in force to
conform with provisions of the regulations as to the fitting and use of swivel
seats.

(6) Regulations under subsection (5) may make provision corresponding to
section 163.

(7) In this section—
“relevant licensing authority” means an authority responsible for

licensing taxis in any area of England and Wales other than the area to
which the Metropolitan Public Carriage Act 1869 applies;

“swivel seats” has such meaning as is specified in regulations under
subsection (5).

165 Passengers in wheelchairs

(1) This section imposes duties on the driver of a designated taxi which has been
hired—

(a) by or for a disabled person who is in a wheelchair, or
(b) by another person who wishes to be accompanied by a disabled person

who is in a wheelchair.

(2) This section also imposes duties on the driver of a designated private hire
vehicle, if a person within paragraph (a) or (b) of subsection (1) has indicated
to the driver that the person wishes to travel in the vehicle.

Page 146



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 12 — Disabled persons: transport
Chapter 1 — Taxis, etc.

107

(3) For the purposes of this section—
(a) a taxi or private hire vehicle is “designated” if it appears on a list

maintained under section 167;
(b) “the passenger” means the disabled person concerned.

(4) The duties are—
(a) to carry the passenger while in the wheelchair;
(b) not to make any additional charge for doing so;
(c) if the passenger chooses to sit in a passenger seat, to carry the

wheelchair;
(d) to take such steps as are necessary to ensure that the passenger is

carried in safety and reasonable comfort;
(e) to give the passenger such mobility assistance as is reasonably

required.

(5) Mobility assistance is assistance—
(a) to enable the passenger to get into or out of the vehicle;
(b) if the passenger wishes to remain in the wheelchair, to enable the

passenger to get into and out of the vehicle while in the wheelchair;
(c) to load the passenger’s luggage into or out of the vehicle;
(d) if the passenger does not wish to remain in the wheelchair, to load the

wheelchair into or out of the vehicle.

(6) This section does not require the driver—
(a) unless the vehicle is of a description prescribed by the Secretary of

State, to carry more than one person in a wheelchair, or more than one
wheelchair, on any one journey;

(b) to carry a person in circumstances in which it would otherwise be
lawful for the driver to refuse to carry the person.

(7) A driver of a designated taxi or designated private hire vehicle commits an
offence by failing to comply with a duty imposed on the driver by this section.

(8) A person guilty of an offence under subsection (7) is liable on summary
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale.

(9) It is a defence for a person charged with the offence to show that at the time of
the alleged offence—

(a) the vehicle conformed to the accessibility requirements which applied
to it, but

(b) it would not have been possible for the wheelchair to be carried safely
in the vehicle.

(10) In this section and sections 166 and 167 “private hire vehicle” means—
(a) a vehicle licensed under section 48 of the Local Government

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976;
(b) a vehicle licensed under section 7 of the Private Hire Vehicles (London)

Act 1998;
(c) a vehicle licensed under an equivalent provision of a local enactment;
(d) a private hire car licensed under section 10 of the Civic Government

(Scotland) Act 1982.

Page 147



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 12 — Disabled persons: transport

Chapter 1 — Taxis, etc.

108

166 Passengers in wheelchairs: exemption certificates

(1) A licensing authority must issue a person with a certificate exempting the
person from the duties imposed by section 165 (an “exemption certificate”) if
satisfied that it is appropriate to do so—

(a) on medical grounds, or
(b) on the ground that the person’s physical condition makes it impossible

or unreasonably difficult for the person to comply with those duties.

(2) An exemption certificate is valid for such period as is specified in the
certificate.

(3) The driver of a designated taxi is exempt from the duties imposed by section
165 if—

(a) an exemption certificate issued to the driver is in force, and
(b) the prescribed notice of the exemption is exhibited on the taxi in the

prescribed manner.

(4) The driver of a designated private hire vehicle is exempt from the duties
imposed by section 165 if—

(a) an exemption certificate issued to the driver is in force, and
(b) the prescribed notice of the exemption is exhibited on the vehicle in the

prescribed manner.

(5) For the purposes of this section, a taxi or private hire vehicle is “designated” if
it appears on a list maintained under section 167.

(6) In this section and section 167 “licensing authority”, in relation to any area,
means the authority responsible for licensing taxis or, as the case may be,
private hire vehicles in that area.

167 Lists of wheelchair-accessible vehicles

(1) For the purposes of section 165, a licensing authority may maintain a list of
vehicles falling within subsection (2).

(2) A vehicle falls within this subsection if—
(a) it is either a taxi or a private hire vehicle, and
(b) it conforms to such accessibility requirements as the licensing authority

thinks fit.

(3) A licensing authority may, if it thinks fit, decide that a vehicle may be included
on a list maintained under this section only if it is being used, or is to be used,
by the holder of a special licence under that licence.

(4) In subsection (3) “special licence” has the meaning given by section 12 of the
Transport Act 1985 (use of taxis or hire cars in providing local services).

(5) “Accessibility requirements” are requirements for securing that it is possible
for disabled persons in wheelchairs—

(a) to get into and out of vehicles in safety, and
(b) to travel in vehicles in safety and reasonable comfort,

either staying in their wheelchairs or not (depending on which they prefer).

(6) The Secretary of State may issue guidance to licensing authorities as to—
(a) the accessibility requirements which they should apply for the

purposes of this section;

Page 148



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 12 — Disabled persons: transport
Chapter 1 — Taxis, etc.

109

(b) any other aspect of their functions under or by virtue of this section.

(7) A licensing authority which maintains a list under subsection (1) must have
regard to any guidance issued under subsection (6).

168 Assistance dogs in taxis

(1) This section imposes duties on the driver of a taxi which has been hired—
(a) by or for a disabled person who is accompanied by an assistance dog, or
(b) by another person who wishes to be accompanied by a disabled person

with an assistance dog.

(2) The driver must—
(a) carry the disabled person’s dog and allow it to remain with that person;
(b) not make any additional charge for doing so.

(3) The driver of a taxi commits an offence by failing to comply with a duty
imposed by this section.

(4) A person guilty of an offence under this section is liable on summary
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale.

169 Assistance dogs in taxis: exemption certificates

(1) A licensing authority must issue a person with a certificate exempting the
person from the duties imposed by section 168 (an “exemption certificate”) if
satisfied that it is appropriate to do so on medical grounds.

(2) In deciding whether to issue an exemption certificate the authority must have
regard, in particular, to the physical characteristics of the taxi which the person
drives or those of any kind of taxi in relation to which the person requires the
certificate.

(3) An exemption certificate is valid—
(a) in respect of a specified taxi or a specified kind of taxi;
(b) for such period as is specified in the certificate.

(4) The driver of a taxi is exempt from the duties imposed by section 168 if—
(a) an exemption certificate issued to the driver is in force with respect to

the taxi, and
(b) the prescribed notice of the exemption is exhibited on the taxi in the

prescribed manner.
The power to make regulations under paragraph (b) is exercisable by the
Secretary of State.

(5) In this section “licensing authority” means—
(a) in relation to the area to which the Metropolitan Public Carriage Act

1869 applies, Transport for London;
(b) in relation to any other area in England and Wales, the authority

responsible for licensing taxis in that area.

170 Assistance dogs in private hire vehicles

(1) The operator of a private hire vehicle commits an offence by failing or refusing
to accept a booking for the vehicle—

Page 149



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 12 — Disabled persons: transport

Chapter 1 — Taxis, etc.

110

(a) if the booking is requested by or on behalf of a disabled person or a
person who wishes to be accompanied by a disabled person, and

(b) the reason for the failure or refusal is that the disabled person will be
accompanied by an assistance dog.

(2) The operator commits an offence by making an additional charge for carrying
an assistance dog which is accompanying a disabled person.

(3) The driver of a private hire vehicle commits an offence by failing or refusing to
carry out a booking accepted by the operator—

(a) if the booking is made by or on behalf of a disabled person or a person
who wishes to be accompanied by a disabled person, and

(b) the reason for the failure or refusal is that the disabled person is
accompanied by an assistance dog.

(4) A person guilty of an offence under this section is liable on summary
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale.

(5) In this section—
“driver” means a person who holds a licence under—

(a) section 13 of the Private Hire Vehicles (London) Act 1998 (“the
1998 Act”),

(b) section 51 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions)
Act 1976 (“the 1976 Act”), or

(c) an equivalent provision of a local enactment;
“licensing authority”, in relation to any area in England and Wales, means

the authority responsible for licensing private hire vehicles in that area;
“operator” means a person who holds a licence under—

(a) section 3 of the 1998 Act,
(b) section 55 of the 1976 Act, or
(c) an equivalent provision of a local enactment;

“private hire vehicle” means a vehicle licensed under—
(a) section 6 of the 1998 Act,
(b) section 48 of the 1976 Act, or
(c) an equivalent provision of a local enactment.

171 Assistance dogs in private hire vehicles: exemption certificates

(1) A licensing authority must issue a driver with a certificate exempting the
driver from the offence under section 170(3) (an “exemption certificate”) if
satisfied that it is appropriate to do so on medical grounds.

(2) In deciding whether to issue an exemption certificate the authority must have
regard, in particular, to the physical characteristics of the private hire vehicle
which the person drives or those of any kind of private hire vehicle in relation
to which the person requires the certificate.

(3) An exemption certificate is valid—
(a) in respect of a specified private hire vehicle or a specified kind of

private hire vehicle;
(b) for such period as is specified in the certificate.

(4) A driver does not commit an offence under section 170(3) if—

Page 150



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 12 — Disabled persons: transport
Chapter 1 — Taxis, etc.

111

(a) an exemption certificate issued to the driver is in force with respect to
the private hire vehicle, and

(b) the prescribed notice of the exemption is exhibited on the vehicle in the
prescribed manner.

The power to make regulations under paragraph (b) is exercisable by the
Secretary of State.

(5) In this section “driver”, “licensing authority” and “private hire vehicle” have
the same meaning as in section 170.

172 Appeals

(1) A person who is aggrieved by the refusal of a licensing authority in England
and Wales to issue an exemption certificate under section 166, 169 or 171 may
appeal to a magistrates’ court before the end of the period of 28 days beginning
with the date of the refusal.

(2) A person who is aggrieved by the refusal of a licensing authority in Scotland to
issue an exemption certificate under section 166 may appeal to the sheriff
before the end of the period of 28 days beginning with the date of the refusal.

(3) On an appeal under subsection (1) or (2), the magistrates’ court or sheriff may
direct the licensing authority to issue the exemption certificate to have effect for
such period as is specified in the direction.

(4) A person who is aggrieved by the decision of a licensing authority to include a
vehicle on a list maintained under section 167 may appeal to a magistrates’
court or, in Scotland, the sheriff before the end of the period of 28 days
beginning with the date of the inclusion.

173 Interpretation

(1) In this Chapter—
“accessibility requirements” has the meaning given in section 167(5);
“assistance dog” means—

(a) a dog which has been trained to guide a blind person;
(b) a dog which has been trained to assist a deaf person;
(c) a dog which has been trained by a prescribed charity to assist a

disabled person who has a disability that consists of epilepsy or
otherwise affects the person’s mobility, manual dexterity,
physical co-ordination or ability to lift, carry or otherwise move
everyday objects;

(d) a dog of a prescribed category which has been trained to assist
a disabled person who has a disability (other than one falling
within paragraph (c)) of a prescribed kind;

“taxi”—
(a) means a vehicle which is licensed under section 37 of the Town

Police Clauses Act 1847 or section 6 of the Metropolitan Public
Carriage Act 1869, and

(b) in sections 162 and 165 to 167, also includes a taxi licensed under
section 10 of the Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982,

but does not include a vehicle drawn by a horse or other animal;
“taxi accessibility regulations” has the meaning given by section 160(1).

Page 151



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 12 — Disabled persons: transport

Chapter 1 — Taxis, etc.

112

(2) A power to make regulations under paragraph (c) or (d) of the definition of
“assistance dog” in subsection (1) is exercisable by the Secretary of State.

CHAPTER 2

PUBLIC SERVICE VEHICLES

174 PSV accessibility regulations

(1) The Secretary of State may make regulations (in this Chapter referred to as
“PSV accessibility regulations”) for securing that it is possible for disabled
persons—

(a) to get on to and off regulated public service vehicles in safety and
without unreasonable difficulty (and, in the case of disabled persons in
wheelchairs, to do so while remaining in their wheelchairs), and

(b) to travel in such vehicles in safety and reasonable comfort.

(2) The regulations may, in particular, make provision as to the construction, use
and maintenance of regulated public service vehicles, including provision as
to—

(a) the fitting of equipment to vehicles;
(b) equipment to be carried by vehicles;
(c) the design of equipment to be fitted to, or carried by, vehicles;
(d) the fitting and use of restraining devices designed to ensure the

stability of wheelchairs while vehicles are moving;
(e) the position in which wheelchairs are to be secured while vehicles are

moving.

(3) In this section “public service vehicle” means a vehicle which is—
(a) adapted to carry more than 8 passengers, and
(b) a public service vehicle for the purposes of the Public Passenger

Vehicles Act 1981;
and in this Chapter “regulated public service vehicle” means a public service
vehicle to which PSV accessibility regulations are expressed to apply.

(4) The regulations may make different provision—
(a) as respects different classes or descriptions of vehicle;
(b) as respects the same class or description of vehicle in different

circumstances.

(5) The Secretary of State must not make regulations under this section or section
176 or 177 without consulting—

(a) the Disabled Persons Transport Advisory Committee, and
(b) such other representative organisations as the Secretary of State thinks

fit.

175 Offence of contravening PSV accessibility regulations

(1) A person commits an offence by—
(a) contravening a provision of PSV accessibility regulations;
(b) using on a road a regulated public service vehicle which does not

conform with a provision of the regulations with which it is required to
conform;

Page 152



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 12 — Disabled persons: transport
Chapter 2 — Public service vehicles

113

(c) causing or permitting such a regulated public service vehicle to be used
on a road.

(2) A person guilty of an offence under this section is liable on summary
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 4 on the standard scale.

(3) If an offence under this section committed by a body corporate is committed
with the consent or connivance of, or is attributable to neglect on the part of, a
responsible person, the responsible person as well as the body corporate is
guilty of the offence.

(4) In subsection (3) a responsible person, in relation to a body corporate, is—
(a) a director, manager, secretary or similar officer;
(b) a person purporting to act in the capacity of a person mentioned in

paragraph (a);
(c) in the case of a body corporate whose affairs are managed by its

members, a member.

(5) If, in Scotland, an offence committed by a partnership or an unincorporated
association is committed with the consent or connivance of, or is attributable to
neglect on the part of, a partner or person concerned in the management of the
association, the partner or person as well as the partnership or association is
guilty of the offence.

176 Accessibility certificates

(1) A regulated public service vehicle must not be used on a road unless—
(a) a vehicle examiner has issued a certificate (an “accessibility certificate”)

that such provisions of PSV accessibility regulations as are prescribed
are satisfied in respect of the vehicle, or

(b) an approval certificate has been issued under section 177 in respect of
the vehicle.

(2) Regulations may make provision—
(a) with respect to applications for, and the issue of, accessibility

certificates;
(b) providing for the examination of vehicles in respect of which

applications have been made;
(c) with respect to the issue of copies of accessibility certificates which

have been lost or destroyed.

(3) The operator of a regulated public service vehicle commits an offence if the
vehicle is used in contravention of this section.

(4) A person guilty of an offence under this section is liable on summary
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 4 on the standard scale.

(5) A power to make regulations under this section is exercisable by the Secretary
of State.

(6) In this section “operator” has the same meaning as in the Public Passenger
Vehicles Act 1981.

Page 153



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 12 — Disabled persons: transport

Chapter 2 — Public service vehicles

114

177 Approval certificates

(1) The Secretary of State may approve a vehicle for the purposes of this section if
satisfied that such provisions of PSV accessibility regulations as are prescribed
for the purposes of section 176 are satisfied in respect of the vehicle.

(2) A vehicle which is so approved is referred to in this section as a “type vehicle”.

(3) Subsection (4) applies if a declaration in the prescribed form is made by an
authorised person that a particular vehicle conforms in design, construction
and equipment with a type vehicle.

(4) A vehicle examiner may issue a certificate in the prescribed form (an “approval
certificate”) that it conforms to the type vehicle.

(5) Regulations may make provision—
(a) with respect to applications for, and grants of, approval under

subsection (1);
(b) with respect to applications for, and the issue of, approval certificates;
(c) providing for the examination of vehicles in respect of which

applications have been made;
(d) with respect to the issue of copies of approval certificates in place of

certificates which have been lost or destroyed.

(6) The Secretary of State may at any time withdraw approval of a type vehicle.

(7) If an approval is withdrawn—
(a) no further approval certificates are to be issued by reference to the type

vehicle; but
(b) an approval certificate issued by reference to the type vehicle before the

withdrawal continues to have effect for the purposes of section 176.

(8) A power to make regulations under this section is exercisable by the Secretary
of State.

(9) In subsection (3) “authorised person” means a person authorised by the
Secretary of State for the purposes of that subsection.

178 Special authorisations

(1) The Secretary of State may by order authorise the use on roads of—
(a) a regulated public service vehicle of a class or description specified by

the order, or
(b) a regulated public service vehicle which is so specified.

(2) Nothing in sections 174 to 177 prevents the use of a vehicle in accordance with
the order.

(3) The Secretary of State may by order make provision for securing that
provisions of PSV accessibility regulations apply to regulated public service
vehicles of a description specified by the order, subject to any modifications or
exceptions specified by the order.

(4) An order under subsection (1) or (3) may make the authorisation or provision
(as the case may be) subject to such restrictions and conditions as are specified
by or under the order.

Page 154



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 12 — Disabled persons: transport
Chapter 2 — Public service vehicles

115

(5) Section 207(2) does not require an order under this section that applies only to
a specified vehicle, or to vehicles of a specified person, to be made by statutory
instrument; but such an order is as capable of being amended or revoked as an
order made by statutory instrument.

179 Reviews and appeals

(1) Subsection (2) applies if the Secretary of State refuses an application for the
approval of a vehicle under section 177(1) and, before the end of the prescribed
period, the applicant—

(a) asks the Secretary of State to review the decision, and
(b) pays any fee fixed under section 180.

(2) The Secretary of State must—
(a) review the decision, and
(b) in doing so, consider any representations made in writing by the

applicant before the end of the prescribed period.

(3) A person applying for an accessibility certificate or an approval certificate may
appeal to the Secretary of State against the refusal of a vehicle examiner to issue
the certificate.

(4) An appeal must be made within the prescribed time and in the prescribed
manner.

(5) Regulations may make provision as to the procedure to be followed in
connection with appeals.

(6) On the determination of an appeal, the Secretary of State may—
(a) confirm, vary or reverse the decision appealed against;
(b) give directions to the vehicle examiner for giving effect to the Secretary

of State’s decision.

(7) A power to make regulations under this section is exercisable by the Secretary
of State.

180 Fees

(1) The Secretary of State may charge such fees, payable at such times, as are
prescribed in respect of—

(a) applications for, and grants of, approval under section 177(1);
(b) applications for, and the issue of, accessibility certificates and approval

certificates;
(c) copies of such certificates;
(d) reviews and appeals under section 179.

(2) Fees received by the Secretary of State must be paid into the Consolidated
Fund.

(3) The power to make regulations under subsection (1) is exercisable by the
Secretary of State.

(4) The regulations may make provision for the repayment of fees, in whole or in
part, in such circumstances as are prescribed.

Page 155



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 12 — Disabled persons: transport

Chapter 2 — Public service vehicles

116

(5) Before making the regulations the Secretary of State must consult such
representative organisations as the Secretary of State thinks fit.

181 Interpretation

In this Chapter—
“accessibility certificate” has the meaning given in section 176(1);
“approval certificate” has the meaning given in section 177(4);
“PSV accessibility regulations” has the meaning given in section 174(1);
“regulated public service vehicle” has the meaning given in section 174(3).

CHAPTER 3

RAIL VEHICLES

182 Rail vehicle accessibility regulations

(1) The Secretary of State may make regulations (in this Chapter referred to as “rail
vehicle accessibility regulations”) for securing that it is possible for disabled
persons—

(a) to get on to and off regulated rail vehicles in safety and without
unreasonable difficulty;

(b) to do so while in wheelchairs;
(c) to travel in such vehicles in safety and reasonable comfort;
(d) to do so while in wheelchairs.

(2) The regulations may, in particular, make provision as to the construction, use
and maintenance of regulated rail vehicles including provision as to—

(a) the fitting of equipment to vehicles;
(b) equipment to be carried by vehicles;
(c) the design of equipment to be fitted to, or carried by, vehicles;
(d) the use of equipment fitted to, or carried by, vehicles;
(e) the toilet facilities to be provided in vehicles;
(f) the location and floor area of the wheelchair accommodation to be

provided in vehicles;
(g) assistance to be given to disabled persons.

(3) The regulations may contain different provision—
(a) as respects different classes or descriptions of rail vehicle;
(b) as respects the same class or description of rail vehicle in different

circumstances;
(c) as respects different networks.

(4) In this section—
“network” means any permanent way or other means of guiding or

supporting rail vehicles, or any section of it;
“rail vehicle” means a vehicle constructed or adapted to carry passengers

on a railway, tramway or prescribed system other than a vehicle used
in the provision of a service for the carriage of passengers on the high-
speed rail system or the conventional TEN rail system;

“regulated rail vehicle” means a rail vehicle to which provisions of rail
vehicle accessibility regulations are expressed to apply.

Page 156



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 12 — Disabled persons: transport
Chapter 3 — Rail vehicles

117

(5) In subsection (4)—
“conventional TEN rail system” and “high-speed rail system” have the

meaning given in regulation 2(3) of the Railways (Interoperability)
Regulations 2006 (S.I. 2006/397);

“prescribed system” means a system using a mode of guided transport
(“guided transport” having the same meaning as in the Transport and
Works Act 1992) that is specified in rail vehicle accessibility regulations;

“railway” and “tramway” have the same meaning as in the Transport and
Works Act 1992.

(6) The Secretary of State must exercise the power to make rail vehicle accessibility
regulations so as to secure that on and after 1 January 2020 every rail vehicle is
a regulated rail vehicle.

(7) Subsection (6) does not affect subsection (3), section 183(1) or section 207(4)(a).

(8) Before making regulations under subsection (1) or section 183, the Secretary of
State must consult—

(a) the Disabled Persons Transport Advisory Committee, and
(b) such other representative organisations as the Secretary of State thinks

fit.

183 Exemptions from rail vehicle accessibility regulations

(1) The Secretary of State may by order (an “exemption order”)—
(a) authorise the use for carriage of a regulated rail vehicle even though the

vehicle does not conform with the provisions of rail vehicle
accessibility regulations with which it is required to conform;

(b) authorise a regulated rail vehicle to be used for carriage otherwise than
in conformity with the provisions of rail vehicle accessibility
regulations with which use of the vehicle is required to conform.

(2) Authority under subsection (1)(a) or (b) may be for—
(a) a regulated rail vehicle that is specified or of a specified description,
(b) use in specified circumstances of a regulated rail vehicle, or
(c) use in specified circumstances of a regulated rail vehicle that is

specified or of a specified description.

(3) The Secretary of State may by regulations make provision as to exemption
orders including, in particular, provision as to—

(a) the persons by whom applications for exemption orders may be made;
(b) the form in which applications are to be made;
(c) information to be supplied in connection with applications;
(d) the period for which exemption orders are to continue in force;
(e) the revocation of exemption orders.

(4) After consulting the Disabled Persons Transport Advisory Committee and
such other persons as the Secretary of State thinks appropriate, the Secretary of
State may—

(a) make an exemption order in the terms of the application for the order;
(b) make an exemption order in such other terms as the Secretary of State

thinks appropriate;
(c) refuse to make an exemption order.

Page 157



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 12 — Disabled persons: transport

Chapter 3 — Rail vehicles

118

(5) The Secretary of State may make an exemption order subject to such conditions
and restrictions as are specified.

(6) “Specified” means specified in an exemption order.

184 Procedure for making exemption orders

(1) A statutory instrument that contains an order under section 183(1), if made
without a draft having been laid before and approved by a resolution of each
House of Parliament, is subject to annulment in pursuance of a resolution of
either House.

(2) The Secretary of State must consult the Disabled Persons Transport Advisory
Committee before deciding which of the parliamentary procedures available
under subsection (1) is to be adopted in connection with the making of any
particular order under section 183(1).

(3) An order under section 183(1) may be made without a draft of the instrument
that contains it having been laid before and approved by a resolution of each
House of Parliament only if—

(a) regulations under subsection (4) are in force; and
(b) the making of the order without such laying and approval is in

accordance with the regulations.

(4) The Secretary of State may by regulations set out the basis on which the
Secretary of State, when making an order under section 183(1), will decide
which of the parliamentary procedures available under subsection (1) is to be
adopted in connection with the making of the order.

(5) Before making regulations under subsection (4), the Secretary of State must
consult—

(a) the Disabled Persons Transport Advisory Committee; and
(b) such other persons as the Secretary of State considers appropriate.

185 Annual report on exemption orders

(1) After the end of each calendar year the Secretary of State must prepare a report
on—

(a) the exercise in that year of the power to make orders under section
183(1);

(b) the exercise in that year of the discretion under section 184(1).

(2) A report under subsection (1) must (in particular) contain—
(a) details of each order made under section 183(1) in the year in question;
(b) details of consultation carried out under sections 183(4) and 184(2) in

connection with orders made in that year under section 183(1).

(3) The Secretary of State must lay before Parliament each report prepared under
this section.

186 Rail vehicle accessibility: compliance

(1) Schedule 20 (rail vehicle accessibility: compliance) has effect.

Page 158



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 12 — Disabled persons: transport
Chapter 3 — Rail vehicles

119

(2) This section and that Schedule are repealed at the end of 2010 if the Schedule
is not brought into force (either fully or to any extent) before the end of that
year.

187 Interpretation

(1) In this Chapter—
“rail vehicle” and “regulated rail vehicle” have the meaning given in

section 182(4);
“rail vehicle accessibility regulations” has the meaning given in section

182(1).

(2) For the purposes of this Chapter a vehicle is used “for carriage” if it is used for
the carriage of passengers.

CHAPTER 4

SUPPLEMENTARY

188 Forgery, etc.

(1) In this section “relevant document” means—
(a) an exemption certificate issued under section 166, 169 or 171;
(b) a notice of a kind mentioned in section 166(3)(b), 169(4)(b) or 171(4)(b);
(c) an accessibility certificate (see section 176);
(d) an approval certificate (see section 177).

(2) A person commits an offence if, with intent to deceive, the person—
(a) forges, alters or uses a relevant document;
(b) lends a relevant document to another person;
(c) allows a relevant document to be used by another person;
(d) makes or has possession of a document which closely resembles a

relevant document.

(3) A person guilty of an offence under subsection (2) is liable—
(a) on summary conviction, to a fine not exceeding the statutory

maximum;
(b) on conviction on indictment, to imprisonment for a term not exceeding

2 years or to a fine or to both.

(4) A person commits an offence by knowingly making a false statement for the
purpose of obtaining an accessibility certificate or an approval certificate.

(5) A person guilty of an offence under subsection (4) is liable on summary
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 4 on the standard scale.

PART 13

DISABILITY: MISCELLANEOUS

189 Reasonable adjustments

Schedule 21 (reasonable adjustments: supplementary) has effect.

Page 159



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 13 — Disability: miscellaneous

120

190 Improvements to let dwelling houses

(1) This section applies in relation to a lease of a dwelling house if each of the
following applies—

(a) the tenancy is not a protected tenancy, a statutory tenancy or a secure
tenancy;

(b) the tenant or another person occupying or intending to occupy the
premises is a disabled person;

(c) the disabled person occupies or intends to occupy the premises as that
person’s only or main home;

(d) the tenant is entitled, with the consent of the landlord, to make
improvements to the premises;

(e) the tenant applies to the landlord for consent to make a relevant
improvement.

(2) Where the tenant applies in writing for the consent—
(a) if the landlord refuses to give consent, the landlord must give the

tenant a written statement of the reason why the consent was withheld;
(b) if the landlord neither gives nor refuses to give consent within a

reasonable time, consent must be taken to have been unreasonably
withheld.

(3) If the landlord gives consent subject to a condition which is unreasonable, the
consent must be taken to have been unreasonably withheld.

(4) If the landlord’s consent is unreasonably withheld, it must be taken to have
been given.

(5) On any question as to whether—
(a) consent was unreasonably withheld, or
(b) a condition imposed was unreasonable,

it is for the landlord to show that it was not.

(6) If the tenant fails to comply with a reasonable condition imposed by the
landlord on the making of a relevant improvement, the failure is to be treated
as a breach by the tenant of an obligation of the tenancy.

(7) An improvement to premises is a relevant improvement if, having regard to
the disabled peron’s disability, it is likely to facilitate that person’s enjoyment
of the premises.

(8) Subsections (2) to (7) apply only in so far as provision of a like nature is not
made by the lease.

(9) In this section—
“improvement” means an alteration in or addition to the premises and

includes—
(a) an addition to or alteration in the landlord’s fittings and

fixtures;
(b) an addition or alteration connected with the provision of

services to the premises;
(c) the erection of a wireless or television aerial;
(d) carrying out external decoration;

“lease” includes a sub-lease or other tenancy, and “landlord” and “tenant”
are to be construed accordingly;

Page 160



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 13 — Disability: miscellaneous

121

“protected tenancy” has the same meaning as in section 1 of the Rent Act
1977;

“statutory tenancy” is to be construed in accordance with section 2 of that
Act;

“secure tenancy” has the same meaning as in section 79 of the Housing Act
1985.

PART 14

GENERAL EXCEPTIONS

191 Statutory provisions

Schedule 22 (statutory provisions) has effect.

192 National security

A person does not contravene this Act only by doing, for the purpose of
safeguarding national security, anything it is proportionate to do for that
purpose.

193 Charities

(1) A person does not contravene this Act only by restricting the provision of
benefits to persons who share a protected characteristic if—

(a) the person acts in pursuance of a charitable instrument, and
(b) the provision of the benefits is within subsection (2).

(2) The provision of benefits is within this subsection if it is—
(a) a proportionate means of achieving a legitimate aim, or
(b) for the purpose of preventing or compensating for a disadvantage

linked to the protected characteristic.

(3) It is not a contravention of this Act for—
(a) a person who provides supported employment to treat persons who

have the same disability or a disability of a prescribed description more
favourably than those who do not have that disability or a disability of
such a description in providing such employment;

(b) a Minister of the Crown to agree to arrangements for the provision of
supported employment which will, or may, have that effect.

(4) If a charitable instrument enables the provision of benefits to persons of a class
defined by reference to colour, it has effect for all purposes as if it enabled the
provision of such benefits—

(a) to persons of the class which results if the reference to colour is ignored,
or

(b) if the original class is defined by reference only to colour, to persons
generally.

(5) It is not a contravention of this Act for a charity to require members, or persons
wishing to become members, to make a statement which asserts or implies
membership or acceptance of a religion or belief; and for this purpose
restricting the access by members to a benefit, facility or service to those who
make such a statement is to be treated as imposing such a requirement.

Page 161



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 14 — General exceptions

122

(6) Subsection (5) applies only if—
(a) the charity, or an organisation of which it is part, first imposed such a

requirement before 18 May 2005, and
(b) the charity or organisation has not ceased since that date to impose such

a requirement.

(7) It is not a contravention of section 29 for a person, in relation to an activity
which is carried on for the purpose of promoting or supporting a charity, to
restrict participation in the activity to persons of one sex.

(8) A charity regulator does not contravene this Act only by exercising a function
in relation to a charity in a manner which the regulator thinks is expedient in
the interests of the charity, having regard to the charitable instrument.

(9) Subsection (1) does not apply to a contravention of—
(a) section 39;
(b) section 40;
(c) section 41;
(d) section 55, so far as relating to the provision of vocational training.

(10) Subsection (9) does not apply in relation to disability.

194 Charities: supplementary

(1) This section applies for the purposes of section 193.

(2) That section does not apply to race, so far as relating to colour.

(3) “Charity”—
(a) in relation to England and Wales, has the meaning given by section 1(1)

of the Charities Act 2006;
(b) in relation to Scotland, means a body entered in the Scottish Charity

Register.

(4) “Charitable instrument” means an instrument establishing or governing a
charity (including an instrument made or having effect before the
commencement of this section).

(5) The charity regulators are—
(a) the Charity Commission for England and Wales;
(b) the Scottish Charity Regulator.

(6) Section 107(5) applies to references in subsection (5) of section 193 to members,
or persons wishing to become members, of a charity.

(7) “Supported employment” means facilities provided, or in respect of which
payments are made, under section 15 of the Disabled Persons (Employment)
Act 1944.

195 Sport

(1) A person does not contravene this Act, so far as relating to sex, only by doing
anything in relation to the participation of another as a competitor in a gender-
affected activity.

(2) A person does not contravene section 29, 33, 34 or 35, so far as relating to
gender reassignment, only by doing anything in relation to the participation of

Page 162



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 14 — General exceptions

123

a transsexual person as a competitor in a gender-affected activity if it is
necessary to do so to secure in relation to the activity—

(a) fair competition, or
(b) the safety of competitors.

(3) A gender-affected activity is a sport, game or other activity of a competitive
nature in circumstances in which the physical strength, stamina or physique of
average persons of one sex would put them at a disadvantage compared to
average persons of the other sex as competitors in events involving the activity.

(4) In considering whether a sport, game or other activity is gender-affected in
relation to children, it is appropriate to take account of the age and stage of
development of children who are likely to be competitors.

(5) A person who does anything to which subsection (6) applies does not
contravene this Act only because of the nationality or place of birth of another
or because of the length of time the other has been resident in a particular area
or place.

(6) This subsection applies to—
(a) selecting one or more persons to represent a country, place or area or a

related association, in a sport or game or other activity of a competitive
nature;

(b) doing anything in pursuance of the rules of a competition so far as
relating to eligibility to compete in a sport or game or other such
activity.

196 General

Schedule 23 (general exceptions) has effect.

197 Age

(1) A Minister of the Crown may by order amend this Act to provide that any of
the following does not contravene this Act so far as relating to age— 

(a) specified conduct;
(b) anything done for a specified purpose;
(c) anything done in pursuance of arrangements of a specified description.

(2) Specified conduct is conduct—
(a) of a specified description,
(b) carried out in specified circumstances, or
(c) by or in relation to a person of a specified description.

(3) An order under this section may—
(a) confer on a Minister of the Crown or the Treasury a power to issue

guidance about the operation of the order (including, in particular,
guidance about the steps that may be taken by persons wishing to rely
on an exception provided for by the order);

(b) require the Minister or the Treasury to carry out consultation before
issuing guidance under a power conferred by virtue of paragraph (a);

(c) make provision (including provision to impose a requirement) that
refers to guidance issued under a power conferred by virtue of
paragraph (a).

Page 163



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 14 — General exceptions

124

(4) Guidance given by a Minister of the Crown or the Treasury in anticipation of
the making of an order under this section is, on the making of the order, to be
treated as if it has been issued in accordance with the order.

(5) For the purposes of satisfying a requirement imposed by virtue of subsection
(3)(b), the Minister or the Treasury may rely on consultation carried out before
the making of the order that imposes the requirement (including consultation
carried out before the commencement of this section).

(6) Provision by virtue of subsection (3)(c) may, in particular, refer to provisions
of the guidance that themselves refer to a document specified in the guidance.

(7) Guidance issued (or treated as issued) under a power conferred by virtue of
subsection (3)(a) comes into force on such day as the person who issues the
guidance may by order appoint; and an order under this subsection may
include the text of the guidance or of extracts from it.

(8) This section is not affected by any provision of this Act which makes special
provision in relation to age.

(9) The references to this Act in subsection (1) do not include references to—
(a) Part 5 (work);
(b) Chapter 2 of Part 6 (further and higher education).

PART 15

FAMILY PROPERTY

198 Abolition of husband’s duty to maintain wife

The rule of common law that a husband must maintain his wife is abolished.

199 Abolition of presumption of advancement

(1) The presumption of advancement (by which, for example, a husband is
presumed to be making a gift to his wife if he transfers property to her, or
purchases property in her name) is abolished.

(2) The abolition by subsection (1) of the presumption of advancement does not
have effect in relation to—

(a) anything done before the commencement of this section, or
(b) anything done pursuant to any obligation incurred before the

commencement of this section.

200 Amendment of Married Women’s Property Act 1964

(1) In section 1 of the Married Women’s Property Act 1964 (money and property
derived from housekeeping allowance made by husband to be treated as
belonging to husband and wife in equal shares)—

(a) for “the husband for” substitute “either of them for”, and
(b) for “the husband and the wife” substitute “them”.

(2) Accordingly, that Act may be cited as the Matrimonial Property Act 1964.

(3) The amendments made by this section do not have effect in relation to any
allowance made before the commencement of this section.

Page 164



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 15 — Family property

125

201 Civil partners: housekeeping allowance

(1) After section 70 of the Civil Partnership Act 2004 insert—

“70A Money and property derived from housekeeping allowance

Section 1 of the Matrimonial Property Act 1964 (money and property
derived from housekeeping allowance to be treated as belonging to
husband and wife in equal shares) applies in relation to—

(a) money derived from any allowance made by a civil partner for
the expenses of the civil partnership home or for similar
purposes, and

(b) any property acquired out of such money,
as it applies in relation to money derived from any allowance made by
a husband or wife for the expenses of the matrimonial home or for
similar purposes, and any property acquired out of such money.”

(2) The amendment made by this section does not have effect in relation to any
allowance made before the commencement of this section.

PART 16

GENERAL AND MISCELLANEOUS

Civil partnerships

202 Civil partnerships on religious premises

(1) The Civil Partnership Act 2004 is amended as follows.

(2) Omit section 6(1)(b) and (2) (prohibition on use of religious premises for
registration of civil partnership).

(3) In section 6A (power to approve premises for registration of civil partnership),
after subsection (2), insert—

“(2A) Regulations under this section may provide that premises approved for
the registration of civil partnerships may differ from those premises
approved for the registration of civil marriages.

(2B) Provision by virtue of subsection (2)(b) may, in particular, provide that
applications for approval of premises may only be made with the
consent (whether general or specific) of a person specified, or a person
of a description specified, in the provision.

(2C) The power conferred by section 258(2), in its application to the power
conferred by this section, includes in particular—

(a) power to make provision in relation to religious premises that
differs from provision in relation to other premises;

(b) power to make different provision for different kinds of
religious premises.”

(4) In that section, after subsection (3), insert—

“(3A) For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Act places an obligation on
religious organisations to host civil partnerships if they do not wish to
do so.

Page 165



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 16 — General and miscellaneous

126

(3B) “Civil marriage” means marriage solemnised otherwise than according
to the rites of the Church of England or any other religious usages.

(3C) “Religious premises” means premises which—
(a) are used solely or mainly for religious purposes, or
(b) have been so used and have not subsequently been used solely

or mainly for other purposes.”

EU obligations

203 Harmonisation

(1) This section applies if—
(a) there is a Community obligation of the United Kingdom which a

Minister of the Crown thinks relates to the subject matter of the
Equality Acts,

(b) the obligation is to be implemented by the exercise of the power under
section 2(2) of the European Communities Act 1972 (the implementing
power), and

(c) the Minister thinks that it is appropriate to make harmonising
provision in the Equality Acts.

(2) The Minister may by order make the harmonising provision.

(3) If the Minister proposes to make an order under this section, the Minister must
consult persons and organisations the Minister thinks are likely to be affected
by the harmonising provision.

(4) If, as a result of the consultation under subsection (3), the Minister thinks it
appropriate to change the whole or part of the proposal, the Minister must
carry out such further consultation with respect to the changes as the Minister
thinks appropriate.

(5) The Equality Acts are the Equality Act 2006 and this Act.

(6) Harmonising provision is provision made in relation to relevant subject matter
of the Equality Acts—

(a) which corresponds to the implementing provision, or
(b) which the Minister thinks is necessary or expedient in consequence of

or related to provision made in pursuance of paragraph (a) or the
implementing provision.

(7) The implementing provision is provision made or to be made in exercise of the
implementing power in relation to so much of the subject matter of the
Equality Acts as implements a Community obligation.

(8) Relevant subject matter of the Equality Acts is so much of the subject matter of
those Acts as does not implement a Community obligation.

(9) A harmonising provision may amend a provision of the Equality Acts.

(10) The reference to this Act does not include a reference to this section or Schedule
24 or to a provision specified in that Schedule.

(11) A Minister of the Crown must report to Parliament on the exercise of the power
under subsection (2)—

Page 166



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 16 — General and miscellaneous

127

(a) at the end of the period of 2 years starting on the day this section comes
into force;

(b) at the end of each succeeding period of 2 years.

204 Harmonisation: procedure

(1) If, after the conclusion of the consultation required under section 203, the
Minister thinks it appropriate to proceed with the making of an order under
that section, the Minister must lay before Parliament—

(a) a draft of a statutory instrument containing the order, together with
(b) an explanatory document.

(2) The explanatory document must—
(a) introduce and give reasons for the harmonising provision;
(b) explain why the Minister thinks that the conditions in subsection (1) of

section 203 are satisfied;
(c) give details of the consultation carried out under that section;
(d) give details of the representations received as a result of the

consultation;
(e) give details of such changes as were made as a result of the

representations.

(3) Where a person making representations in response to the consultation has
requested the Minister not to disclose them, the Minister must not disclose
them under subsection (2)(d) if, or to the extent that, to do so would
(disregarding any connection with proceedings in Parliament) constitute an
actionable breach of confidence.

(4) If information in representations made by a person in response to consultation
under section 203 relates to another person, the Minister need not disclose the
information under subsection (2)(d) if or to the extent that—

(a) the Minister thinks that the disclosure of information could adversely
affect the interests of that other person, and

(b) the Minister has been unable to obtain the consent of that other person
to the disclosure.

(5) The Minister may not act under subsection (1) before the end of the period of
12 weeks beginning with the day on which the consultation under section
203(3) begins.

(6) Laying a draft of a statutory instrument in accordance with subsection (1)
satisfies the condition as to laying imposed by subsection (8) of section 208, in
so far as that subsection applies in relation to orders under section 203.

Application

205 Crown application

(1) The following provisions of this Act bind the Crown—
(a) Part 1 (public sector duty regarding socio-economic inequalities);
(b) Part 3 (services and public functions), so far as relating to the exercise

of public functions;
(c) Chapter 1 of Part 11 (public sector equality duty).

Page 167



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 16 — General and miscellaneous

128

(2) Part 5 (work) binds the Crown as provided for by that Part.

(3) The remainder of this Act applies to Crown acts as it applies to acts done by a
private person.

(4) For the purposes of subsection (3), an act is a Crown act if (and only if) it is
done—

(a) by or on behalf of a member of the executive,
(b) by a statutory body acting on behalf of the Crown, or
(c) by or on behalf of the holder of a statutory office acting on behalf of the

Crown.

(5) A statutory body or office is a body or office established by an enactment.

(6) The provisions of Parts 2 to 4 of the Crown Proceedings Act 1947 apply to
proceedings against the Crown under this Act as they apply to proceedings in
England and Wales which, as a result of section 23 of that Act, are treated for
the purposes of Part 2 of that Act as civil proceedings by or against the Crown.

(7) The provisions of Part 5 of that Act apply to proceedings against the Crown
under this Act as they apply to proceedings in Scotland which, as a result of
that Part, are treated as civil proceedings by or against the Crown.

(8) But the proviso to section 44 of that Act (removal of proceedings from the
sheriff to the Court of Session) does not apply to proceedings under this Act.

206 Information society services

Schedule 25 (information society services) has effect.

Subordinate legislation

207 Exercise of power

(1) A power to make an order or regulations under this Act is exercisable by a
Minister of the Crown, unless there is express provision to the contrary.

(2) Orders, regulations or rules under this Act must be made by statutory
instrument.

(3) Subsection (2) does not apply to—
(a) a transitional exemption order under Part 1 of Schedule 11,
(b) a transitional exemption order under Part 1 of Schedule 12, or
(c) an order under paragraph 1(3) of Schedule 14 that does not modify an

enactment.

(4) Orders or regulations under this Act—
(a) may make different provision for different purposes;
(b) may include consequential, incidental, supplementary, transitional,

transitory or saving provision.

(5) Nothing in section 163(4), 174(4) or 182(3) affects the generality of the power
under subsection (4)(a).

(6) The power under subsection (4)(b), in its application to section 37, 153, 154(2),
155(5), 197 or 216 or to paragraph 7(1) of Schedule 11 or paragraph 1(3) or 2(3)

Page 168



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 16 — General and miscellaneous

129

of Schedule 14, includes power to amend an enactment (including, in the case
of section 197 or 216, this Act).

(7) In the case of section 216 (commencement), provision by virtue of subsection
(4)(b) may be included in a separate order from the order that provides for the
commencement to which the provision relates; and, for that purpose, it does
not matter—

(a) whether the order providing for the commencement includes provision
by virtue of subsection (4)(b);

(b) whether the commencement has taken place.

(8) A statutory instrument containing an Order in Council under section 82
(offshore work) is subject to annulment in pursuance of a resolution of either
House of Parliament.

208 Ministers of the Crown, etc.

(1) This section applies where the power to make an order or regulations under
this Act is exercisable by a Minister of the Crown or the Treasury.

(2) A statutory instrument containing (whether alone or with other provision) an
order or regulations that amend this Act or another Act of Parliament, or an Act
of the Scottish Parliament or an Act or Measure of the National Assembly for
Wales, is subject to the affirmative procedure.

(3) But a statutory instrument is not subject to the affirmative procedure by virtue
of subsection (2) merely because it contains—

(a) an order under section 59 (local authority functions);
(b) an order under section 151 (power to amend list of public authorities

for the purposes of the public sector equality duty) that provides for the
omission of an entry where the authority concerned has ceased to exist
or the variation of an entry where the authority concerned has changed
its name;

(c) an order under paragraph 1(3) of Schedule 14 (educational charities
and endowments) that modifies an enactment.

(4) A statutory instrument containing (whether alone or with other provision) an
order or regulations mentioned in subsection (5) is subject to the affirmative
procedure.

(5) The orders and regulations referred to in subsection (4) are—
(a) regulations under section 30 (services: ships and hovercraft);
(b) regulations under section 78 (gender pay gap information);
(c) regulations under section 81 (work: ships and hovercraft);
(d) an order under section 105 (election candidates: expiry of provision);
(e) regulations under section 106 (election candidates: diversity

information);
(f) regulations under section 153 or 154(2) (public sector equality duty:

powers to impose specific duties);
(g) regulations under section 184(4) (rail vehicle accessibility: procedure

for exemption orders);
(h) an order under section 203 (EU obligations: harmonisation);
(i) regulations under paragraph 9(3) of Schedule 20 (rail vehicle

accessibility: determination of turnover for purposes of penalties).

Page 169



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 16 — General and miscellaneous

130

(6) A statutory instrument that is not subject to the affirmative procedure by virtue
of subsection (2) or (4) is subject to the negative procedure.

(7) But a statutory instrument is not subject to the negative procedure by virtue of
subsection (6) merely because it contains—

(a) an order under section 183(1) (rail vehicle accessibility: exemptions);
(b) an order under section 216 (commencement) that—

(i) does not amend an Act of Parliament, an Act of the Scottish
Parliament or an Act or Measure of the National Assembly for
Wales, and

(ii) is not made in reliance on section 207(7).

(8) If a statutory instrument is subject to the affirmative procedure, the order or
regulations contained in it must not be made unless a draft of the instrument is
laid before and approved by a resolution of each House of Parliament.

(9) If a statutory instrument is subject to the negative procedure, it is subject to
annulment in pursuance of a resolution of either House of Parliament.

(10) If a draft of a statutory instrument containing an order or regulations under
section 2, 151, 153, 154(2) or 155(5) would, apart from this subsection, be treated
for the purposes of the Standing Orders of either House of Parliament as a
hybrid instrument, it is to proceed in that House as if it were not a hybrid
instrument.

209 The Welsh Ministers

(1) This section applies where the power to make an order or regulations under
this Act is exercisable by the Welsh Ministers.

(2) A statutory instrument containing (whether alone or with other provision) an
order or regulations mentioned in subsection (3) is subject to the affirmative
procedure.

(3) The orders and regulations referred to in subsection (2) are—
(a) regulations under section 2 (socio-economic inequalities);
(b) an order under section 151 (power to amend list of public authorities

for the purposes of the public sector equality duty);
(c) regulations under section 153 or 154(2) (public sector equality duty:

powers to impose specific duties);
(d) regulations under section 155(5) that amend an Act of Parliament or an

Act or Measure of the National Assembly for Wales (public sector
equality duty: power to modify or remove specific duties).

(4) But a statutory instrument is not subject to the affirmative procedure by virtue
of subsection (2) merely because it contains an order under section 151 that
provides for—

(a) the omission of an entry where the authority concerned has ceased to
exist, or 

(b) the variation of an entry where the authority concerned has changed its
name.

(5) A statutory instrument that is not subject to the affirmative procedure by virtue
of subsection (2) is subject to the negative procedure.

Page 170



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 16 — General and miscellaneous

131

(6) If a statutory instrument is subject to the affirmative procedure, the order or
regulations contained in it must not be made unless a draft of the instrument is
laid before and approved by a resolution of the National Assembly for Wales.

(7) If a statutory instrument is subject to the negative procedure, it is subject to
annulment in pursuance of a resolution of the National Assembly for Wales.

210 The Scottish Ministers

(1) This section applies where the power to make an order, regulations or rules
under this Act is exercisable by the Scottish Ministers.

(2) A statutory instrument containing (whether alone or with other provision) an
order or regulations mentioned in subsection (3) is subject to the affirmative
procedure.

(3) The orders and regulations referred to in subsection (2) are—
(a) regulations under section 2 (socio-economic inequalities);
(b) regulations under section 37 (power to make provision about

adjustments to common parts in Scotland);
(c) an order under section 151 (power to amend list of public authorities

for the purposes of the public sector equality duty);
(d) regulations under section 153 or 154(2) (public sector equality duty:

powers to impose specific duties);
(e) regulations under section 155(5) that amend an Act of Parliament or an

Act of the Scottish Parliament (public sector equality duty: power to
modify or remove specific duties).

(4) But a statutory instrument is not subject to the affirmative procedure by virtue
of subsection (2) merely because it contains an order under section 151 that
provides for—

(a) the omission of an entry where the authority concerned has ceased to
exist, or 

(b) the variation of an entry where the authority concerned has changed its
name.

(5) A statutory instrument that is not subject to the affirmative procedure by virtue
of subsection (2) is subject to the negative procedure.

(6) If a statutory instrument is subject to the affirmative procedure, the order or
regulations contained in it must not be made unless a draft of the instrument is
laid before and approved by a resolution of the Scottish Parliament.

(7) If a statutory instrument is subject to the negative procedure, it is subject to
annulment in pursuance of a resolution of the Scottish Parliament.

Amendments, etc.

211 Amendments, repeals and revocations

(1) Schedule 26 (amendments) has effect.

(2) Schedule 27 (repeals and revocations) has effect.

Page 171



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 16 — General and miscellaneous

132

Interpretation

212 General interpretation

(1) In this Act—
“armed forces” means any of the naval, military or air forces of the Crown;
“the Commission” means the Commission for Equality and Human

Rights;
“detriment” does not, subject to subsection (5), include conduct which

amounts to harassment;
“the Education Acts” has the meaning given in section 578 of the

Education Act 1996;
“employment” and related expressions are (subject to subsection (11)) to

be read with section 83;
“enactment” means an enactment contained in—

(a) an Act of Parliament, 
(b) an Act of the Scottish Parliament,
(c) an Act or Measure of the National Assembly for Wales, or
(d) subordinate legislation;

“equality clause” means a sex equality clause or maternity equality clause;
“equality rule” means a sex equality rule or maternity equality rule;
“man” means a male of any age;
“maternity equality clause” has the meaning given in section 73;
“maternity equality rule” has the meaning given in section 75;
“non-discrimination rule” has the meaning given in section 61;
“occupational pension scheme” has the meaning given in section 1 of the

Pension Schemes Act 1993;
“parent” has the same meaning as in—

(a) the Education Act 1996 (in relation to England and Wales);
(b) the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 (in relation to Scotland);

“prescribed” means prescribed by regulations;
“profession” includes a vocation or occupation;
“sex equality clause” has the meaning given in section 66;
“sex equality rule” has the meaning given in section 67;
“subordinate legislation” means—

(a) subordinate legislation within the meaning of the Interpretation
Act 1978, or

(b) an instrument made under an Act of the Scottish Parliament or
an Act or Measure of the National Assembly for Wales;

“substantial” means more than minor or trivial;
“trade” includes any business;
“woman” means a female of any age.

(2) A reference (however expressed) to an act includes a reference to an omission.

(3) A reference (however expressed) to an omission includes (unless there is
express provision to the contrary) a reference to—

(a) a deliberate omission to do something;
(b) a refusal to do it;
(c) a failure to do it.

Page 172



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 16 — General and miscellaneous

133

(4) A reference (however expressed) to providing or affording access to a benefit,
facility or service includes a reference to facilitating access to the benefit,
facility or service.

(5) Where this Act disapplies a prohibition on harassment in relation to a specified
protected characteristic, the disapplication does not prevent conduct relating
to that characteristic from amounting to a detriment for the purposes of
discrimination within section 13 because of that characteristic.

(6) A reference to occupation, in relation to premises, is a reference to lawful
occupation.

(7) The following are members of the executive—
(a) a Minister of the Crown;
(b) a government department;
(c) the Welsh Ministers, the First Minister for Wales or the Counsel

General to the Welsh Assembly Government;
(d) any part of the Scottish Administration.

(8) A reference to a breach of an equality clause or rule is a reference to a breach of
a term modified by, or included by virtue of, an equality clause or rule.

(9) A reference to a contravention of this Act does not include a reference to a
breach of an equality clause or rule, unless there is express provision to the
contrary.

(10) “Member”, in relation to an occupational pension scheme, means an active
member, a deferred member or a pensioner member (within the meaning, in
each case, given by section 124 of the Pensions Act 1995).

(11) “Employer”, “deferred member”, “pension credit member”, “pensionable
service”, “pensioner member” and “trustees or managers” each have, in
relation to an occupational pension scheme, the meaning given by section 124
of the Pensions Act 1995.

(12) A reference to the accrual of rights under an occupational pension scheme is to
be construed in accordance with that section.

(13) Nothing in section 28, 32, 84, 90, 95 or 100 is to be regarded as an express
exception.

213 References to maternity leave, etc.

(1) This section applies for the purposes of this Act.

(2) A reference to a woman on maternity leave is a reference to a woman on—
(a) compulsory maternity leave,
(b) ordinary maternity leave, or
(c) additional maternity leave.

(3) A reference to a woman on compulsory maternity leave is a reference to a
woman absent from work because she satisfies the conditions prescribed for
the purposes of section 72(1) of the Employment Rights Act 1996.

(4) A reference to a woman on ordinary maternity leave is a reference to a woman
absent from work because she is exercising the right to ordinary maternity
leave.

Page 173



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Part 16 — General and miscellaneous

134

(5) A reference to the right to ordinary maternity leave is a reference to the right
conferred by section 71(1) of the Employment Rights Act 1996.

(6) A reference to a woman on additional maternity leave is a reference to a
woman absent from work because she is exercising the right to additional
maternity leave.

(7) A reference to the right to additional maternity leave is a reference to the right
conferred by section 73(1) of the Employment Rights Act 1996.

(8) “Additional maternity leave period” has the meaning given in section 73(2) of
that Act.

214 Index of defined expressions

Schedule 28 lists the places where expressions used in this Act are defined or
otherwise explained.

Final provisions

215 Money

There is to be paid out of money provided by Parliament any increase
attributable to this Act in the expenses of a Minister of the Crown.

216 Commencement

(1) The following provisions come into force on the day on which this Act is
passed—

(a) section 186(2) (rail vehicle accessibility: compliance);
(b) this Part (except sections 202 (civil partnerships on religious premises),

206 (information society services) and 211 (amendments, etc)).

(2) Part 15 (family property) comes into force on such day as the Lord Chancellor
may by order appoint.

(3) The other provisions of this Act come into force on such day as a Minister of
the Crown may by order appoint.

217 Extent

(1) This Act forms part of the law of England and Wales.

(2) This Act, apart from section 190 (improvements to let dwelling houses) and
Part 15 (family property), forms part of the law of Scotland.

(3) Each of the following also forms part of the law of Northern Ireland—
(a) section 82 (offshore work);
(b) section 105(3) and (4) (expiry of Sex Discrimination (Election

Candidates) Act 2002);
(c) section 199 (abolition of presumption of advancement).

218 Short title

This Act may be cited as the Equality Act 2010.

Page 174



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 1 — Disability: supplementary provision

135

S C H E D U L E S

SCHEDULE 1 Section 6

DISABILITY: SUPPLEMENTARY PROVISION

PART 1

DETERMINATION OF DISABILITY

Impairment

1 Regulations may make provision for a condition of a prescribed description
to be, or not to be, an impairment.

Long-term effects

2 (1) The effect of an impairment is long-term if—
(a) it has lasted for at least 12 months,
(b) it is likely to last for at least 12 months, or
(c) it is likely to last for the rest of the life of the person affected.

(2) If an impairment ceases to have a substantial adverse effect on a person’s
ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities, it is to be treated as
continuing to have that effect if that effect is likely to recur.

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), the likelihood of an effect recurring
is to be disregarded in such circumstances as may be prescribed.

(4) Regulations may prescribe circumstances in which, despite sub-paragraph
(1), an effect is to be treated as being, or as not being, long-term.

Severe disfigurement

3 (1) An impairment which consists of a severe disfigurement is to be treated as
having a substantial adverse effect on the ability of the person concerned to
carry out normal day-to-day activities.

(2) Regulations may provide that in prescribed circumstances a severe
disfigurement is not to be treated as having that effect.

(3) The regulations may, in particular, make provision in relation to deliberately
acquired disfigurement.

Substantial adverse effects

4 Regulations may make provision for an effect of a prescribed description on
the ability of a person to carry out normal day-to-day activities to be treated
as being, or as not being, a substantial adverse effect.

Page 175



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 1 — Disability: supplementary provision

Part 1 — Determination of disability

136

Effect of medical treatment

5 (1) An impairment is to be treated as having a substantial adverse effect on the
ability of the person concerned to carry out normal day-to-day activities if—

(a) measures are being taken to treat or correct it, and
(b) but for that, it would be likely to have that effect.

(2) “Measures” includes, in particular, medical treatment and the use of a
prosthesis or other aid.

(3) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply—
(a) in relation to the impairment of a person’s sight, to the extent that the

impairment is, in the person’s case, correctable by spectacles or
contact lenses or in such other ways as may be prescribed;

(b) in relation to such other impairments as may be prescribed, in such
circumstances as are prescribed.

Certain medical conditions

6 (1) Cancer, HIV infection and multiple sclerosis are each a disability.

(2) HIV infection is infection by a virus capable of causing the Acquired
Immune Deficiency Syndrome.

Deemed disability

7 (1) Regulations may provide for persons of prescribed descriptions to be treated
as having disabilities.

(2) The regulations may prescribe circumstances in which a person who has a
disability is to be treated as no longer having the disability.

(3) This paragraph does not affect the other provisions of this Schedule.

Progressive conditions

8 (1) This paragraph applies to a person (P) if—
(a) P has a progressive condition,
(b) as a result of that condition P has an impairment which has (or had)

an effect on P’s ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities, but
(c) the effect is not (or was not) a substantial adverse effect.

(2) P is to be taken to have an impairment which has a substantial adverse effect
if the condition is likely to result in P having such an impairment.

(3) Regulations may make provision for a condition of a prescribed description
to be treated as being, or as not being, progressive.

Past disabilities

9 (1) A question as to whether a person had a disability at a particular time (“the
relevant time”) is to be determined, for the purposes of section 6, as if the
provisions of, or made under, this Act were in force when the act
complained of was done had been in force at the relevant time.

(2) The relevant time may be a time before the coming into force of the provision
of this Act to which the question relates.

Page 176



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 1 — Disability: supplementary provision
Part 2 — Guidance

137

PART 2

GUIDANCE

Preliminary

10 This Part of this Schedule applies in relation to guidance referred to in
section 6(5).

Examples

11 The guidance may give examples of—
(a) effects which it would, or would not, be reasonable, in relation to

particular activities, to regard as substantial adverse effects;
(b) substantial adverse effects which it would, or would not, be

reasonable to regard as long-term.

Adjudicating bodies

12 (1) In determining whether a person is a disabled person, an adjudicating body
must take account of such guidance as it thinks is relevant.

(2) An adjudicating body is—
(a) a court;
(b) a tribunal;
(c) a person (other than a court or tribunal) who may decide a claim

relating to a contravention of Part 6 (education).

Representations

13 Before issuing the guidance, the Minister must—
(a) publish a draft of it;
(b) consider any representations made to the Minister about the draft;
(c) make such modifications as the Minister thinks appropriate in the

light of the representations.

Parliamentary procedure

14 (1) If the Minister decides to proceed with proposed guidance, a draft of it must
be laid before Parliament.

(2) If, before the end of the 40-day period, either House resolves not to approve
the draft, the Minister must take no further steps in relation to the proposed
guidance.

(3) If no such resolution is made before the end of that period, the Minister must
issue the guidance in the form of the draft.

(4) Sub-paragraph (2) does not prevent a new draft of proposed guidance being
laid before Parliament.

(5) The 40-day period—
(a) begins on the date on which the draft is laid before both Houses (or,

if laid before each House on a different date, on the later date);

Page 177



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 1 — Disability: supplementary provision

Part 2 — Guidance

138

(b) does not include a period during which Parliament is prorogued or
dissolved;

(c) does not include a period during which both Houses are adjourned
for more than 4 days.

Commencement

15 The guidance comes into force on the day appointed by order by the
Minister.

Revision and revocation

16 (1) The Minister may—
(a) revise the whole or part of guidance and re-issue it;
(b) by order revoke guidance.

(2) A reference to guidance includes a reference to guidance which has been
revised and re-issued.

SCHEDULE 2 Section 31

SERVICES AND PUBLIC FUNCTIONS: REASONABLE ADJUSTMENTS

Preliminary

1 This Schedule applies where a duty to make reasonable adjustments is
imposed on A by this Part.

The duty

2 (1) A must comply with the first, second and third requirements.

(2) For the purposes of this paragraph, the reference in section 20(3), (4) or (5) to
a disabled person is to disabled persons generally.

(3) Section 20 has effect as if, in subsection (4), for “to avoid the disadvantage”
there were substituted—

“(a) to avoid the disadvantage, or
(b) to adopt a reasonable alternative method of providing the

service or exercising the function.”

(4) In relation to each requirement, the relevant matter is the provision of the
service, or the exercise of the function, by A.

(5) Being placed at a substantial disadvantage in relation to the exercise of a
function means—

(a) if a benefit is or may be conferred in the exercise of the function,
being placed at a substantial disadvantage in relation to the
conferment of the benefit, or

(b) if a person is or may be subjected to a detriment in the exercise of the
function, suffering an unreasonably adverse experience when being
subjected to the detriment.

Page 178



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 2 — Services and public functions: reasonable adjustments

139

(6) In relation to the second requirement, a physical feature includes a physical
feature brought by or on behalf of A, in the course of providing the service
or exercising the function, on to premises other than those that A occupies
(as well as including a physical feature in or on premises that A occupies).

(7) If A is a service-provider, nothing in this paragraph requires A to take a step
which would fundamentally alter—

(a) the nature of the service, or
(b) the nature of A’s trade or profession.

(8) If A exercises a public function, nothing in this paragraph requires A to take
a step which A has no power to take.

Special provision about transport

3 (1) This paragraph applies where A is concerned with the provision of a service
which involves transporting people by land, air or water.

(2) It is never reasonable for A to have to take a step which would—
(a) involve the alteration or removal of a physical feature of a vehicle

used in providing the service;
(b) affect whether vehicles are provided;
(c) affect what vehicles are provided;
(d) affect what happens in the vehicle while someone is travelling in it.

(3) But, for the purpose of complying with the first or third requirement, A may
not rely on sub-paragraph (2)(b), (c) or (d) if the vehicle concerned is—

(a) a hire-vehicle designed and constructed for the carriage of
passengers, comprising more than 8 seats in addition to the driver’s
seat and having a maximum mass not exceeding 5 tonnes,

(b) a hire-vehicle designed and constructed for the carriage of goods and
having a maximum mass not exceeding 3.5 tonnes,

(c) a vehicle licensed under section 48 of the Local Government
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 or section 7 of the Private Hire
Vehicles (London) Act 1998 (or under a provision of a local Act
corresponding to either of those provisions),

(d) a private hire car (within the meaning of section 23 of the Civic
Government (Scotland) Act 1982),

(e) a public service vehicle (within the meaning given by section 1 of the
Public Passenger Vehicles Act 1981),

(f) a vehicle built or adapted to carry passengers on a railway or
tramway (within the meaning, in each case, of the Transport and
Works Act 1992),

(g) a taxi,
(h) a vehicle deployed to transport the driver and passengers of a vehicle

that has broken down or is involved in an accident, or
(i) a vehicle deployed on a system using a mode of guided transport

(within the meaning of the Transport and Works Act 1992).

(4) In so far as the second requirement requires A to adopt a reasonable
alternative method of providing the service to disabled persons, A may not,
for the purpose of complying with the requirement, rely on sub-paragraph
(2)(b), (c) or (d) if the vehicle is within sub-paragraph (3)(h).

Page 179



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 2 — Services and public functions: reasonable adjustments

140

(5) A may not, for the purpose of complying with the first, second or third
requirement rely on sub-paragraph (2) of this paragraph if A provides the
service by way of a hire-vehicle built to carry no more than 8 passengers.

(6) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (5) in its application to the second
requirement, a part of a vehicle is to be regarded as a physical feature if it
requires alteration in order to facilitate the provision of—

(a) hand controls to enable a disabled person to operate braking and
accelerator systems in the vehicle, or

(b) facilities for the stowage of a wheelchair.

(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (6)(a), fixed seating and in-built electrical
systems are not physical features; and for the purposes of sub-paragraph
(6)(b), fixed seating is not a physical feature.

(8) In the case of a vehicle within sub-paragraph (3), a relevant device is not an
auxiliary aid for the purposes of the third requirement.

(9) A relevant device is a device or structure, or equipment, the installation,
operation or maintenance of which would necessitate making a permanent
alteration to, or which would have a permanent effect on, the internal or
external fabric of the vehicle.

(10) Regulations may amend this paragraph so as to provide for sub-paragraph
(2) not to apply, or to apply only so far as is prescribed, in relation to vehicles
of a prescribed description.

Interpretation

4 (1) This paragraph applies for the purposes of paragraph 3.

(2) A “hire-vehicle” is a vehicle hired (by way of a trade) under a hiring
agreement to which section 66 of the Road Traffic Offenders Act 1988
applies.

(3) A “taxi”, in England and Wales, is a vehicle—
(a) licensed under section 37 of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847,
(b) licensed under section 6 of the Metropolitan Public Carriage Act

1869, or
(c) drawn by one or more persons or animals.

(4) A “taxi”, in Scotland, is—
(a) a hire car engaged, by arrangements made in a public place between

the person to be transported (or a person acting on that person’s
behalf) and the driver, for a journey starting there and then, or

(b) a vehicle drawn by one or more persons or animals.

Page 180



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 3 — Services and public functions: exceptions
Part 1 — Constitutional matters

141

SCHEDULE 3 Section 31

SERVICES AND PUBLIC FUNCTIONS: EXCEPTIONS

PART 1

CONSTITUTIONAL MATTERS

Parliament

1 (1) Section 29 does not apply to the exercise of—
(a) a function of Parliament;
(b) a function exercisable in connection with proceedings in Parliament.

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not permit anything to be done to or in relation to an
individual unless it is done by or in pursuance of a resolution or other
deliberation of either House or of a Committee of either House.

Legislation

2 (1) Section 29 does not apply to preparing, making or considering—
(a) an Act of Parliament;
(b) a Bill for an Act of Parliament;
(c) an Act of the Scottish Parliament;
(d) a Bill for an Act of the Scottish Parliament;
(e) an Act of the National Assembly for Wales;
(f) a Bill for an Act of the National Assembly for Wales.

(2) Section 29 does not apply to preparing, making, approving or considering—
(a) a Measure of the National Assembly for Wales;
(b) a proposed Measure of the National Assembly for Wales.

(3) Section 29 does not apply to preparing, making, confirming, approving or
considering an instrument which is made under an enactment by—

(a) a Minister of the Crown;
(b) the Scottish Ministers or a member of the Scottish Executive;
(c) the Welsh Ministers, the First Minister for Wales or the Counsel

General to the Welsh Assembly Government.

(4) Section 29 does not apply to preparing, making, confirming, approving or
considering an instrument to which paragraph 6(a) of Schedule 2 to the
Synodical Government Measure 1969 (1969 No. 2) (Measures, Canons, Acts
of Synod, orders, etc.) applies.

(5) Section 29 does not apply to anything done in connection with the
preparation, making, consideration, approval or confirmation of an
instrument made by—

(a) Her Majesty in Council;
(b) the Privy Council.

(6) Section 29 does not apply to anything done in connection with the
imposition of a requirement or condition which comes within Schedule 22
(statutory provisions).

Page 181



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 3 — Services and public functions: exceptions

Part 1 — Constitutional matters

142

Judicial functions

3 (1) Section 29 does not apply to—
(a) a judicial function;
(b) anything done on behalf of, or on the instructions of, a person

exercising a judicial function;
(c) a decision not to commence or continue criminal proceedings;
(d) anything done for the purpose of reaching, or in pursuance of, a

decision not to commence or continue criminal proceedings.

(2) A reference in sub-paragraph (1) to a judicial function includes a reference
to a judicial function conferred on a person other than a court or tribunal.

Armed forces

4 (1) Section 29(6), so far as relating to relevant discrimination, does not apply to
anything done for the purpose of ensuring the combat effectiveness of the
armed forces.

(2) “Relevant discrimination” is—
(a) age discrimination;
(b) disability discrimination;
(c) gender reassignment discrimination;
(d) sex discrimination.

Security services, etc.

5 Section 29 does not apply to—
(a) the Security Service;
(b) the Secret Intelligence Service;
(c) the Government Communications Headquarters;
(d) a part of the armed forces which is, in accordance with a requirement

of the Secretary of State, assisting the Government Communications
Headquarters.

PART 2

EDUCATION

6 In its application to a local authority in England and Wales, section 29, so far
as relating to age discrimination or religious or belief-related discrimination,
does not apply to—

(a) the exercise of the authority’s functions under section 14 of the
Education Act 1996 (provision of schools);

(b) the exercise of its function under section 13 of that Act in so far as it
relates to a function of its under section 14 of that Act.

7 In its application to an education authority, section 29, so far as relating to
age discrimination or religious or belief-related discrimination, does not
apply to—

(a) the exercise of the authority’s functions under section 17 of the
Education (Scotland) Act 1980 (provision of schools);

Page 182



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 3 — Services and public functions: exceptions
Part 2 — Education

143

(b) the exercise of its functions under section 1 of that Act, section 2 of
the Standards in Scotland’s Schools etc. Act 2000 (asp 6) or section 4
or 5 of the Education (Additional Support for Learning) (Scotland)
Act 2004 (asp 4) (general responsibility for education) in so far as it
relates to a matter specified in paragraph (a);

(c) the exercise of its functions under subsection (1) of section 50 of the
Education (Scotland) Act 1980 (education of pupils in exceptional
circumstances) in so far as it consists of making arrangements of the
description referred to in subsection (2) of that section.

8 (1) In its application to a local authority in England and Wales or an education
authority, section 29, so far as relating to sex discrimination, does not apply
to the exercise of the authority’s functions in relation to the establishment of
a school.

(2) But nothing in sub-paragraph (1) is to be taken as disapplying section 29 in
relation to the exercise of the authority’s functions under section 14 of the
Education Act 1996 or section 17 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1982.

9 Section 29, so far as relating to age discrimination, does not apply in relation
to anything done in connection with—

(a) the curriculum of a school,
(b) admission to a school,
(c) transport to or from a school, or
(d) the establishment, alteration or closure of schools.

10 (1) Section 29, so far as relating to disability discrimination, does not require a
local authority in England or Wales exercising functions under the
Education Acts or an education authority exercising relevant functions to
remove or alter a physical feature.

(2) Relevant functions are functions under—
(a) the Education (Scotland) Act 1980,
(b) the Education (Scotland) Act 1996,
(c) the Standards in Scotland’s Schools etc. Act 2000, or
(d) the Education (Additional Support for Learning) (Scotland) Act

2004.

11 Section 29, so far as relating to religious or belief-related discrimination,
does not apply in relation to anything done in connection with—

(a) the curriculum of a school;
(b) admission to a school which has a religious ethos;
(c) acts of worship or other religious observance organised by or on

behalf of a school (whether or not forming part of the curriculum);
(d) the responsible body of a school which has a religious ethos;
(e) transport to or from a school;
(f) the establishment, alteration or closure of schools.

12 This Part of this Schedule is to be construed in accordance with Chapter 1 of
Part 6.

Page 183



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 3 — Services and public functions: exceptions

Part 3 — Health and care

144

PART 3

HEALTH AND CARE

Blood services

13 (1) A person operating a blood service does not contravene section 29 only by
refusing to accept a donation of an individual’s blood if—

(a) the refusal is because of an assessment of the risk to the public, or to
the individual, based on clinical, epidemiological or other data
obtained from a source on which it is reasonable to rely, and

(b) the refusal is reasonable.

(2) A blood service is a service for the collection and distribution of human
blood for the purposes of medical services.

(3) “Blood” includes blood components.

Health and safety

14 (1) A service-provider (A) who refuses to provide the service to a pregnant
woman does not discriminate against her in contravention of section 29
because she is pregnant if—

(a) A reasonably believes that providing her with the service would,
because she is pregnant, create a risk to her health or safety,

(b) A refuses to provide the service to persons with other physical
conditions, and

(c) the reason for that refusal is that A reasonably believes that
providing the service to such persons would create a risk to their
health or safety.

(2) A service-provider (A) who provides, or offers to provide, the service to a
pregnant woman on conditions does not discriminate against her in
contravention of section 29 because she is pregnant if—

(a) the conditions are intended to remove or reduce a risk to her health
or safety,

(b) A reasonably believes that the provision of the service without the
conditions would create a risk to her health or safety,

(c) A imposes conditions on the provision of the service to persons with
other physical conditions, and

(d) the reason for the imposition of those conditions is that A reasonably
believes that the provision of the service to such persons without
those conditions would create a risk to their health or safety.

Care within the family

15 A person (A) does not contravene section 29 only by participating in
arrangements under which (whether or not for reward) A takes into A’s
home, and treats as members of A’s family, persons requiring particular care
and attention.

Page 184



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 3 — Services and public functions: exceptions
Part 4 — Immigration

145

PART 4

IMMIGRATION

Disability

16 (1) This paragraph applies in relation to disability discrimination.

(2) Section 29 does not apply to—
(a) a decision within sub-paragraph (3); 
(b) anything done for the purposes of or in pursuance of a decision

within that sub-paragraph.

(3) A decision is within this sub-paragraph if it is a decision (whether or not
taken in accordance with immigration rules) to do any of the following on
the ground that doing so is necessary for the public good—

(a) to refuse entry clearance;
(b) to refuse leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom;
(c) to cancel leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom;
(d) to vary leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom;
(e) to refuse an application to vary leave to enter or remain in the United

Kingdom.

(4) Section 29 does not apply to—
(a) a decision taken, or guidance given, by the Secretary of State in

connection with a decision within sub-paragraph (3);
(b) a decision taken in accordance with guidance given by the Secretary

of State in connection with a decision within that sub-paragraph.

Nationality and ethnic or national origins

17 (1) This paragraph applies in relation to race discrimination so far as relating
to—

(a) nationality, or
(b) ethnic or national origins.

(2) Section 29 does not apply to anything done by a relevant person in the
exercise of functions exercisable by virtue of a relevant enactment.

(3) A relevant person is—
(a) a Minister of the Crown acting personally, or
(b) a person acting in accordance with a relevant authorisation.

(4) A relevant authorisation is a requirement imposed or express authorisation
given—

(a) with respect to a particular case or class of case, by a Minister of the
Crown acting personally;

(b) with respect to a particular class of case, by a relevant enactment or
by an instrument made under or by virtue of a relevant enactment.

(5) The relevant enactments are—
(a) the Immigration Acts,
(b) the Special Immigration Appeals Commission Act 1997,

Page 185



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 3 — Services and public functions: exceptions

Part 4 — Immigration

146

(c) a provision made under section 2(2) of the European Communities
Act 1972 which relates to immigration or asylum, and

(d) a provision of Community law which relates to immigration or
asylum.

(6) The reference in sub-paragraph (5)(a) to the Immigration Acts does not
include a reference to—

(a) sections 28A to 28K of the Immigration Act 1971 (powers of arrest,
entry and search, etc.), or

(b) section 14 of the Asylum and Immigration (Treatment of Claimants,
etc.) Act 2004 (power of arrest).

Religion or belief

18 (1) This paragraph applies in relation to religious or belief-related
discrimination.

(2) Section 29 does not apply to a decision within sub-paragraph (3) or anything
done for the purposes of or in pursuance of a decision within that sub-
paragraph.

(3) A decision is within this sub-paragraph if it is a decision taken in accordance
with immigration rules—

(a) to refuse entry clearance or leave to enter the United Kingdom, or to
cancel leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom, on the
grounds that the exclusion of the person from the United Kingdom
is conducive to the public good, or

(b) to vary leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom, or to refuse
an application to vary leave to enter or remain in the United
Kingdom, on the grounds that it is undesirable to permit the person
to remain in the United Kingdom.

(4) Section 29 does not apply to a decision within sub-paragraph (5), or
anything done for the purposes of or in pursuance of a decision within that
sub-paragraph, if the decision is taken on grounds mentioned in sub-
paragraph (6).

(5) A decision is within this sub-paragraph if it is a decision (whether or not
taken in accordance with immigration rules) in connection with an
application for entry clearance or for leave to enter or remain in the United
Kingdom.

(6) The grounds referred to in sub-paragraph (4) are—
(a) the grounds that a person holds an office or post in connection with

a religion or belief or provides a service in connection with a religion
or belief,

(b) the grounds that a religion or belief is not to be treated in the same
way as certain other religions or beliefs, or

(c) the grounds that the exclusion from the United Kingdom of a person
to whom paragraph (a) applies is conducive to the public good.

(7) Section 29 does not apply to—
(a) a decision taken, or guidance given, by the Secretary of State in

connection with a decision within sub-paragraph (3) or (5);

Page 186



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 3 — Services and public functions: exceptions
Part 4 — Immigration

147

(b) a decision taken in accordance with guidance given by the Secretary
of State in connection with a decision within either of those sub-
paragraphs.

Interpretation

19 A reference to entry clearance, leave to enter or remain or immigration rules
is to be construed in accordance with the Immigration Act 1971.

PART 5

INSURANCE, ETC.

Services arranged by employer

20 (1) Section 29 does not apply to the provision of a relevant financial service if
the provision is in pursuance of arrangements made by an employer for the
service-provider to provide the service to the employer’s employees, and
other persons, as a consequence of the employment.

(2) “Relevant financial service” means—
(a) insurance or a related financial service, or
(b) a service relating to membership of or benefits under a personal

pension scheme (within the meaning given by section 1 of the
Pension Schemes Act 1993).

Disability

21 (1) It is not a contravention of section 29, so far as relating to disability
discrimination, to do anything in connection with insurance business if—

(a) that thing is done by reference to information that is both relevant to
the assessment of the risk to be insured and from a source on which
it is reasonable to rely, and

(b) it is reasonable to do that thing.

(2) “Insurance business” means business which consists of effecting or carrying
out contracts of insurance; and that definition is to be read with—

(a) section 22 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000,
(b) any relevant order under that Act, and
(c) Schedule 2 to that Act.

Sex, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity

22 (1) It is not a contravention of section 29, so far as relating to relevant
discrimination, to do anything in relation to an annuity, life insurance
policy, accident insurance policy or similar matter involving the assessment
of risk if—

(a) that thing is done by reference to actuarial or other data from a
source on which it is reasonable to rely, and

(b) it is reasonable to do that thing.

(2) In the case of a contract of insurance, or a contract for related financial
services, entered into before 6 April 2008, sub-paragraph (1) applies only in
relation to differences in premiums and benefits that are applicable to a
person under the contract.

Page 187



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 3 — Services and public functions: exceptions

Part 5 — Insurance, etc.

148

(3) In the case of a contract of insurance, or a contract for related financial
services, entered into on or after 6 April 2008, sub-paragraph (1) applies only
in relation to differences in premiums and benefits if—

(a) the use of sex as a factor in the assessment of risk is based on relevant
and accurate actuarial and statistical data,

(b) the data are compiled, published (whether in full or in summary
form) and regularly updated in accordance with guidance issued by
the Treasury,

(c) the differences are proportionate having regard to the data, and
(d) the differences do not result from costs related to pregnancy or to a

woman’s having given birth in the period of 26 weeks ending on the
day on which the thing in question is done.

(4) “Relevant discrimination” is—
(a) gender reassignment discrimination;
(b) pregnancy and maternity discrimination;
(c) sex discrimination.

(5) For the purposes of the application of sub-paragraph (3) to gender
reassignment discrimination by virtue of section 13, that section has effect as
if in subsection (1), after “others” there were inserted “of B’s sex”.

(6) In the application of sub-paragraph (3) to a contract entered into before 22
December 2008, paragraph (d) is to be ignored.

Existing insurance policies

23 (1) It is not a contravention of section 29, so far as relating to relevant
discrimination, to do anything in connection with insurance business in
relation to an existing insurance policy.

(2) “Relevant discrimination” is—
(a) age discrimination;
(b) disability discrimination;
(c) gender reassignment discrimination;
(d) pregnancy and maternity discrimination;
(e) race discrimination;
(f) religious or belief-related discrimination;
(g) sex discrimination;
(h) sexual orientation discrimination.

(3) An existing insurance policy is a policy of insurance entered into before the
date on which this paragraph comes into force.

(4) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply where an existing insurance policy was
renewed, or the terms of such a policy were reviewed, on or after the date on
which this paragraph comes into force.

(5) A review of an existing insurance policy which was part of, or incidental to,
a general reassessment by the service-provider of the pricing structure for a
group of policies is not a review for the purposes of sub-paragraph (4).

(6) “Insurance business” has the meaning given in paragraph 21.

Page 188



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 3 — Services and public functions: exceptions
Part 6 — Marriage

149

PART 6

MARRIAGE

Gender reassignment: England and Wales

24 (1) A person does not contravene section 29, so far as relating to gender
reassignment discrimination, only because of anything done in reliance on
section 5B of the Marriage Act 1949 (solemnisation of marriages involving
person of acquired gender).

(2) A person (A) whose consent to the solemnisation of the marriage of a person
(B) is required under section 44(1) of the Marriage Act 1949 (solemnisation
in registered building) does not contravene section 29, so far as relating to
gender reassignment discrimination, by refusing to consent if A reasonably
believes that B’s gender has become the acquired gender under the Gender
Recognition Act 2004.

(3) Sub-paragraph (4) applies to a person (A) who may, in a case that comes
within the Marriage Act 1949 (other than the case mentioned in sub-
paragraph (1)), solemnise marriages according to a form, rite or ceremony of
a body of persons who meet for religious worship. 

(4) A does not contravene section 29, so far as relating to gender reassignment
discrimination, by refusing to solemnise, in accordance with a form, rite or
ceremony as described in sub-paragraph (3), the marriage of a person (B) if
A reasonably believes that B’s gender has become the acquired gender
under the Gender Recognition Act 2004.

Gender reassignment: Scotland

25 (1) An approved celebrant (A) does not contravene section 29, so far as relating
to gender reassignment discrimination, only by refusing to solemnise the
marriage of a person (B) if A reasonably believes that B’s gender has become
the acquired gender under the Gender Recognition Act 2004.

(2) In sub-paragraph (1) “approved celebrant” has the meaning given in section
8(2)(a) of the Marriage (Scotland) Act 1977 (persons who may solemnise
marriage).

PART 7

SEPARATE AND SINGLE SERVICES

Separate services for the sexes

26 (1) A person does not contravene section 29, so far as relating to sex
discrimination, by providing separate services for persons of each sex if—

(a) a joint service for persons of both sexes would be less effective, and
(b) the limited provision is a proportionate means of achieving a

legitimate aim.

(2) A person does not contravene section 29, so far as relating to sex
discrimination, by providing separate services differently for persons of
each sex if—

(a) a joint service for persons of both sexes would be less effective,

Page 189



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 3 — Services and public functions: exceptions

Part 7 — Separate and single services

150

(b) the extent to which the service is required by one sex makes it not
reasonably practicable to provide the service otherwise than as a
separate service provided differently for each sex, and

(c) the limited provision is a proportionate means of achieving a
legitimate aim.

(3) This paragraph applies to a person exercising a public function in relation to
the provision of a service as it applies to the person providing the service.

Single-sex services

27 (1) A person does not contravene section 29, so far as relating to sex
discrimination, by providing a service only to persons of one sex if—

(a) any of the conditions in sub-paragraphs (2) to (7) is satisfied, and
(b) the limited provision is a proportionate means of achieving a

legitimate aim.

(2) The condition is that only persons of that sex have need of the service.

(3) The condition is that—
(a) the service is also provided jointly for persons of both sexes, and
(b) the service would be insufficiently effective were it only to be

provided jointly.

(4) The condition is that—
(a) a joint service for persons of both sexes would be less effective, and
(b) the extent to which the service is required by persons of each sex

makes it not reasonably practicable to provide separate services.

(5) The condition is that the service is provided at a place which is, or is part
of—

(a) a hospital, or
(b) another establishment for persons requiring special care,

supervision or attention.

(6) The condition is that—
(a) the service is provided for, or is likely to be used by, two or more

persons at the same time, and
(b) the circumstances are such that a person of one sex might reasonably

object to the presence of a person of the opposite sex.

(7) The condition is that—
(a) there is likely to be physical contact between a person (A) to whom

the service is provided and another person (B), and
(b) B might reasonably object if A were not of the same sex as B.

(8) This paragraph applies to a person exercising a public function in relation to
the provision of a service as it applies to the person providing the service.

Gender reassignment

28 (1) A person does not contravene section 29, so far as relating to gender
reassignment discrimination, only because of anything done in relation to a
matter within sub-paragraph (2) if the conduct in question is a proportionate
means of achieving a legitimate aim.

Page 190



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 3 — Services and public functions: exceptions
Part 7 — Separate and single services

151

(2) The matters are—
(a) the provision of separate services for persons of each sex;
(b) the provision of separate services differently for persons of each sex;
(c) the provision of a service only to persons of one sex.

Services relating to religion

29 (1) A minister does not contravene section 29, so far as relating to sex
discrimination, by providing a service only to persons of one sex or separate
services for persons of each sex, if—

(a) the service is provided for the purposes of an organised religion,
(b) it is provided at a place which is (permanently or for the time being)

occupied or used for those purposes, and
(c) the limited provision of the service is necessary in order to comply

with the doctrines of the religion or is for the purpose of avoiding
conflict with the strongly held religious convictions of a significant
number of the religion’s followers.

(2) The reference to a minister is a reference to a minister of religion, or other
person, who—

(a) performs functions in connection with the religion, and
(b) holds an office or appointment in, or is accredited, approved or

recognised for purposes of, a relevant organisation in relation to the
religion.

(3) An organisation is a relevant organisation in relation to a religion if its
purpose is—

(a) to practise the religion,
(b) to advance the religion,
(c) to teach the practice or principles of the religion,
(d) to enable persons of the religion to receive benefits, or to engage in

activities, within the framework of that religion, or
(e) to foster or maintain good relations between persons of different

religions.

(4) But an organisation is not a relevant organisation in relation to a religion if
its sole or main purpose is commercial.

Services generally provided only for persons who share a protected characteristic

30 If a service is generally provided only for persons who share a protected
characteristic, a person (A) who normally provides the service for persons
who share that characteristic does not contravene section 29(1) or (2)—

(a) by insisting on providing the service in the way A normally provides
it, or

(b) if A reasonably thinks it is impracticable to provide the service to
persons who do not share that characteristic, by refusing to provide
the service.

Page 191



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 3 — Services and public functions: exceptions

Part 8 — Television, radio and on-line broadcasting and distribution

152

PART 8

TELEVISION, RADIO AND ON-LINE BROADCASTING AND DISTRIBUTION

31 (1) Section 29 does not apply to the provision of a content service (within the
meaning given by section 32(7) of the Communications Act 2003).

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply to the provision of an electronic
communications network, electronic communications service or associated
facility (each of which has the same meaning as in that Act).

PART 9

TRANSPORT

Application to disability

32 This Part of this Schedule applies in relation to disability discrimination.

Transport by air

33 (1) Section 29 does not apply to—
(a) transporting people by air;
(b) a service provided on a vehicle for transporting people by air.

(2) Section 29 does not apply to anything governed by Regulation (EC) No
1107/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 July 2006
concerning the rights of disabled persons and persons with reduced
mobility when travelling by air.

Transport by land

34 (1) Section 29 does not apply to transporting people by land, unless the vehicle
concerned is—

(a) a hire-vehicle designed and constructed for the carriage of
passengers and comprising no more than 8 seats in addition to the
driver’s seat,

(b) a hire-vehicle designed and constructed for the carriage of
passengers, comprising more than 8 seats in addition to the driver’s
seat and having a maximum mass not exceeding 5 tonnes,

(c) a hire-vehicle designed and constructed for the carriage of goods and
having a maximum mass not exceeding 3.5 tonnes,

(d) a vehicle licensed under section 48 of the Local Government
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 or section 7 of the Private Hire
Vehicles (London) Act 1998 (or under a provision of a local Act
corresponding to either of those provisions),

(e) a private hire car (within the meaning of section 23 of the Civic
Government (Scotland) Act 1982),

(f) a public service vehicle (within the meaning given by section 1 of the
Public Passenger Vehicles Act 1981),

(g) a vehicle built or adapted to carry passengers on a railway or
tramway (within the meaning, in each case, of the Transport and
Works Act 1992),

(h) a taxi,

Page 192



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 3 — Services and public functions: exceptions
Part 9 — Transport

153

(i) a vehicle deployed to transport the driver and passengers of a vehicle
that has broken down or is involved in an accident, or

(j) a vehicle deployed on a system using a mode of guided transport
(within the meaning of the Transport and Works Act 1992).

(2) Paragraph 4 of Schedule 2 applies for the purposes of this paragraph as it
applies for the purposes of paragraph 3 of that Schedule.

PART 10

SUPPLEMENTARY

Power to amend

35 (1) A Minister of the Crown may by order amend this Schedule—
(a) so as to add, vary or omit an exception to section 29, so far as relating

to disability, religion or belief or sexual orientation;
(b) so as to add, vary or omit an exception to section 29(6), so far as

relating to gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race or
sex.

(2) But provision by virtue of sub-paragraph (1) may not amend this Schedule—
(a) so as to omit an exception in paragraph 1, 2 or 3;
(b) so as to reduce the extent to which an exception in paragraph 1, 2 or

3 applies.

(3) For the purposes of an order under sub-paragraph (1)(a), so far as relating to
disability, which makes provision in relation to transport by air, it does not
matter whether the transport is within or outside the United Kingdom.

(4) Before making an order under this paragraph the Minister must consult the
Commission.

(5) Nothing in this paragraph affects the application of any other provision of
this Act to conduct outside England and Wales or Scotland.

SCHEDULE 4 Section 38

PREMISES: REASONABLE ADJUSTMENTS

Preliminary

1 This Schedule applies where a duty to make reasonable adjustments is
imposed on A by this Part.

The duty in relation to let premises

2 (1) This paragraph applies where A is a controller of let premises.

(2) A must comply with the first and third requirements.

(3) For the purposes of this paragraph, the reference in section 20(3) to a
provision, criterion or practice of A’s includes a reference to a term of the
letting.

Page 193



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 4 — Premises: reasonable adjustments

154

(4) For those purposes, the reference in section 20(3) or (5) to a disabled person
is a reference to a disabled person who—

(a) is a tenant of the premises, or 
(b) is otherwise entitled to occupy them.

(5) In relation to each requirement, the relevant matters are—
(a) the enjoyment of the premises;
(b) the use of a benefit or facility, entitlement to which arises as a result

of the letting.

(6) Sub-paragraph (2) applies only if A receives a request from or on behalf of
the tenant or a person entitled to occupy the premises to take steps to avoid
the disadvantage or provide the auxiliary aid.

(7) If a term of the letting that prohibits the tenant from making alterations puts
the disabled person at the disadvantage referred to in the first requirement,
A is required to change the term only so far as is necessary to enable the
tenant to make alterations to the let premises so as to avoid the
disadvantage.

(8) It is never reasonable for A to have to take a step which would involve the
removal or alteration of a physical feature.

(9) For the purposes of this paragraph, physical features do not include
furniture, furnishings, materials, equipment or other chattels in or on the
premises; and none of the following is an alteration of a physical feature—

(a) the replacement or provision of a sign or notice;
(b) the replacement of a tap or door handle;
(c) the replacement, provision or adaptation of a door bell or door entry

system;
(d) changes to the colour of a wall, door or any other surface.

(10) The terms of a letting include the terms of an agreement relating to it.

The duty in relation to premises to let

3 (1) This paragraph applies where A is a controller of premises to let.

(2) A must comply with the first and third requirements.

(3) For the purposes of this paragraph, the reference in section 20(3) or (5) to a
disabled person is a reference to a disabled person who is considering taking
a letting of the premises.

(4) In relation to each requirement, the relevant matter is becoming a tenant of
the premises.

(5) Sub-paragraph (2) applies only if A receives a request by or on behalf of a
disabled person within sub-paragraph (3) for A to take steps to avoid the
disadvantage or provide the auxiliary aid.

(6) Nothing in this paragraph requires A to take a step which would involve the
removal or alteration of a physical feature.

(7) Sub-paragraph (9) of paragraph 2 applies for the purposes of this paragraph
as it applies for the purposes of that paragraph.

Page 194



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 4 — Premises: reasonable adjustments

155

The duty in relation to commonhold units

4 (1) This paragraph applies where A is a commonhold association; and the
reference to a commonhold association is a reference to the association in its
capacity as the person who manages a commonhold unit.

(2) A must comply with the first and third requirements.

(3) For the purposes of this paragraph, the reference in section 20(3) to a
provision, criterion or practice of A’s includes a reference to—

(a) a term of the commonhold community statement, or
(b) any other term applicable by virtue of the transfer of the unit to the

unit-holder.

(4) For those purposes, the reference in section 20(3) or (5) to a disabled person
is a reference to a disabled person who—

(a) is the unit-holder, or
(b) is otherwise entitled to occupy the unit.

(5) In relation to each requirement, the relevant matters are—
(a) the enjoyment of the unit;
(b) the use of a benefit or facility, entitlement to which arises as a result

of a term within sub-paragraph (3)(a) or (b).

(6) Sub-paragraph (2) applies only if A receives a request from or on behalf of
the unit-holder or a person entitled to occupy the unit to take steps to avoid
the disadvantage or provide the auxiliary aid.

(7) If a term within sub-paragraph (3)(a) or (b) that prohibits the unit-holder
from making alterations puts the disabled person at the disadvantage
referred to in the first requirement, A is required to change the term only so
far as is necessary to enable the unit-holder to make alterations to the unit so
as to avoid the disadvantage.

(8) It is never reasonable for A to have to take a step which would involve the
removal or alteration of a physical feature; and sub-paragraph (9) of
paragraph 2 applies in relation to a commonhold unit as it applies in relation
to let premises.

The duty in relation to common parts

5 (1) This paragraph applies where A is a responsible person in relation to
common parts.

(2) A must comply with the second requirement.

(3) For the purposes of this paragraph, the reference in section 20(4) to a
physical feature is a reference to a physical feature of the common parts.

(4) For those purposes, the reference in section 20(4) to a disabled person is a
reference to a disabled person who—

(a) is a tenant of the premises,
(b) is a unit-holder, or
(c) is otherwise entitled to occupy the premises,

and uses or intends to use the premises as the person’s only or main home.

Page 195



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 4 — Premises: reasonable adjustments

156

(5) In relation to the second requirement, the relevant matter is the use of the
common parts.

(6) Sub-paragraph (2) applies only if—
(a) A receives a request by or on behalf of a disabled person within sub-

paragraph (4) for A to take steps to avoid the disadvantage, and
(b) the steps requested are likely to avoid or reduce the disadvantage.

Consultation on adjustments relating to common parts

6 (1) In deciding whether it is reasonable to take a step for the purposes of
paragraph 5, A must consult all persons A thinks would be affected by the
step.

(2) The consultation must be carried out within a reasonable period of the
request being made.

(3) A is not required to have regard to a view expressed against taking a step in
so far as A reasonably believes that the view is expressed because of the
disabled person’s disability.

(4) Nothing in this paragraph affects anything a commonhold association is
required to do pursuant to Part 1 of the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform
Act 2002.

Agreement on adjustments relating to common parts

7 (1) If A decides that it is reasonable to take a step for the purposes of paragraph
5, A and the disabled person must agree in writing the rights and
responsibilities of each of them in relation to the step.

(2) An agreement under this paragraph must, in particular, make provision as
to the responsibilities of the parties in relation to—

(a) the costs of any work to be undertaken;
(b) other costs arising from the work;
(c) the restoration of the common parts to their former condition if the

relevant disabled person stops living in the premises.

(3) It is always reasonable before the agreement is made for A to insist that the
agreement should require the disabled person to pay—

(a) the costs referred to in paragraphs (a) and (b) of sub-paragraph (2),
and

(b) the costs of the restoration referred to in paragraph (c) of that sub-
paragraph.

(4) If an agreement under this paragraph is made, A’s obligations under the
agreement become part of A’s interest in the common parts and pass on
subsequent disposals accordingly.

(5) Regulations may require a party to an agreement under this paragraph to
provide, in prescribed circumstances, prescribed information about the
agreement to persons of a prescribed description.

(6) The regulations may require the information to be provided in a prescribed
form.

Page 196



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 4 — Premises: reasonable adjustments

157

(7) Regulations may make provision as to circumstances in which an agreement
under this paragraph is to cease to have effect, in so far as the agreement
does not itself make provision for termination.

Victimisation

8 (1) This paragraph applies where the relevant disabled person comes within
paragraph 2(4)(b), 4(4)(b) or 5(4)(c).

(2) A must not, because of costs incurred in connection with taking steps to
comply with a requirement imposed for the purposes of paragraph 2, 4 or 5,
subject to a detriment—

(a) a tenant of the premises, or
(b) the unit-holder.

Regulations

9 (1) This paragraph applies for the purposes of section 36 and this Schedule.

(2) Regulations may make provision as to—
(a) circumstances in which premises are to be treated as let, or as not let,

to a person;
(b) circumstances in which premises are to be treated as being, or as not

being, to let;
(c) who is to be treated as being, or as not being, a person entitled to

occupy premises otherwise than as tenant or unit-holder;
(d) who is to be treated as being, or as not being, a person by whom

premises are let;
(e) who is to be treated as having, or as not having, premises to let;
(f) who is to be treated as being, or as not being, a manager of premises.

(3) Provision made by virtue of this paragraph may amend this Schedule.

SCHEDULE 5 Section 38

PREMISES: EXCEPTIONS

Owner-occupier

1 (1) This paragraph applies to the private disposal of premises by an owner-
occupier.

(2) A disposal is a private disposal only if the owner-occupier does not—
(a) use the services of an estate agent for the purpose of disposing of the

premises, or
(b) publish (or cause to be published) an advertisement in connection

with their disposal.

(3) Section 33(1) applies only in so far as it relates to race.

(4) Section 34(1) does not apply in so far as it relates to—
(a) religion or belief, or
(b) sexual orientation.

Page 197



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 5 — Premises: exceptions

158

(5) In this paragraph—
“estate agent” means a person who, by way of profession or trade,

provides services for the purpose of—
(a) finding premises for persons seeking them, or
(b) assisting in the disposal of premises;

“owner-occupier” means a person who—
(a) owns an estate or interest in premises, and
(b) occupies the whole of them.

2 (1) Section 36(1)(a) does not apply if—
(a) the premises are, or have been, the only or main home of a person by

whom they are let, and
(b) since entering into the letting, neither that person nor any other by

whom they are let has used a manager for managing the premises.

(2) A manager is a person who, by profession or trade, manages let premises.

(3) Section 36(1)(b) does not apply if—
(a) the premises are, or have been, the only or main home of a person

who has them to let, and
(b) neither that person nor any other who has the premises to let uses the

services of an estate agent for letting the premises.

(4) “Estate agent” has the meaning given in paragraph 1.

Small premises

3 (1) This paragraph applies to anything done by a person in relation to the
disposal, occupation or management of part of small premises if—

(a) the person or a relative of that person resides, and intends to
continue to reside, in another part of the premises, and

(b) the premises include parts (other than storage areas and means of
access) shared with residents of the premises who are not members
of the same household as the resident mentioned in paragraph (a).

(2) Sections 33(1), 34(1) and 35(1) apply only in so far as they relate to race.

(3) Premises are small if—
(a) the only other persons occupying the accommodation occupied by

the resident mentioned in sub-paragraph (1)(a) are members of the
same household, 

(b) the premises also include accommodation for at least one other
household,

(c) the accommodation for each of those other households is let, or
available for letting, on a separate tenancy or similar agreement, and

(d) the premises are not normally sufficient to accommodate more than
two other households.

(4) Premises are also small if they are not normally sufficient to provide
residential accommodation for more than six persons (in addition to the
resident mentioned in sub-paragraph (1)(a) and members of the same
household).

(5) In this paragraph, “relative” means—
(a) spouse or civil partner, 

Page 198



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 5 — Premises: exceptions

159

(b) unmarried partner, 
(c) parent or grandparent,
(d) child or grandchild (whether or not legitimate), 
(e) the spouse, civil partner or unmarried partner of a child or

grandchild,
(f) brother or sister (whether of full blood or half-blood), or
(g) a relative within paragraph (c), (d), (e) or (f) whose relationship

arises as a result of marriage or civil partnership.

(6) In sub-paragraph (5), a reference to an unmarried partner is a reference to
the other member of a couple consisting of—

(a) a man and a woman who are not married to each other but are living
together as husband and wife, or

(b) two people of the same sex who are not civil partners of each other
but are living together as if they were.

4 (1) Section 36(1) does not apply if—
(a) the premises in question are small premises,
(b) the relevant person or a relative of that person resides, and intends

to continue to reside, in another part of the premises, and
(c) the premises include parts (other than storage areas and means of

access) shared with residents of the premises who are not members
of the same household as the resident mentioned in paragraph (b).

(2) The relevant person is the person who, for the purposes of section 36(1), is—
(a) the controller of the premises, or 
(b) the responsible person in relation to the common parts to which the

premises relate.

(3) “Small premises” and “relative” have the same meaning as in paragraph 3.

5 A Minister of the Crown may by order amend paragraph 3 or 4.

SCHEDULE 6 Section 52

OFFICE-HOLDERS: EXCLUDED OFFICES

Work to which other provisions apply

1 (1) An office or post is not a personal or public office in so far as one or more of
the provisions mentioned in sub-paragraph (2)—

(a) applies in relation to the office or post, or
(b) would apply in relation to the office or post but for the operation of

some other provision of this Act.

(2) Those provisions are—
(a) section 39 (employment);
(b) section 41 (contract work);
(c) section 44 (partnerships).
(d) section 45 (LLPs);
(e) section 47 (barristers);
(f) section 48 (advocates);

Page 199



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 6 — Office-holders: excluded offices

160

(g) section 55 (employment services) so far as applying to the provision
of work experience within section 56(2)(a) or arrangements within
section 56(2)(c) for such provision.

Political offices

2 (1) An office or post is not a personal or public office if it is a political office.

(2) A political office is an office or post set out in the second column of the
following Table—

Political setting Office or post

Houses of Parliament An office of the House of Commons held
by a member of that House

An office of the House of Lords held by a
member of that House

A Ministerial office within the meaning
of section 2 of the House of Commons
Disqualification Act 1975

The office of the Leader of the Opposition
within the meaning of the Ministerial and
other Salaries Act 1975

The office of the Chief Opposition Whip,
or of an Assistant Opposition Whip,
within the meaning of that Act

Scottish Parliament An office of the Scottish Parliament held
by a member of the Parliament

The office of a member of the Scottish
Executive

The office of a junior Scottish Minister

National Assembly for
Wales

An office of the National Assembly for
Wales held by a member of the Assembly

The office of a member of the Welsh
Assembly Government

Local government in
England (outside
London)

An office of a county council, district
council or parish council in England held
by a member of the council

An office of the Council of the Isles of
Scilly held by a member of the Council

Local government in
London

An office of the Greater London
Authority held by the Mayor of London
or a member of the London Assembly

Page 200



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 6 — Office-holders: excluded offices

161

(3) The reference to a registered political party is a reference to a party
registered in the Great Britain register under Part 2 of the Political Parties,
Elections and Referendums Act 2000.

Honours etc.

3 A life peerage (within the meaning of the Life Peerages Act 1958), or any
other dignity or honour conferred by the Crown, is not a personal or public
office.

SCHEDULE 7 Section 80

EQUALITY OF TERMS: EXCEPTIONS

PART 1

TERMS OF WORK

Compliance with laws regulating employment of women, etc.

1 Neither a sex equality clause nor a maternity equality clause has effect in
relation to terms of work affected by compliance with laws regulating—

(a) the employment of women;
(b) the appointment of women to personal or public offices.

An office of a London borough council
held by a member of the council

An office of the Common Council of the
City of London held by a member of the
Council

Local government in
Wales

An office of a county council, county
borough council or community council in
Wales held by a member of the council

Local government in
Scotland

An office of a council constituted under
section 2 of the Local Government etc.
(Scotland) Act 1994 held by a member of
the council

An office of a council established under
section 51 of the Local Government
(Scotland) Act 1973 held by a member of
the council

Political parties An office of a registered political party

Political setting Office or post

Page 201



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 7 — Equality of terms: exceptions

Part 1 — Terms of work

162

Pregnancy, etc.

2 A sex equality clause does not have effect in relation to terms of work
affording special treatment to women in connection with pregnancy or
childbirth.

PART 2

OCCUPATIONAL PENSION SCHEMES

Preliminary

3 (1) A sex equality rule does not have effect in relation to a difference as between
men and women in the effect of a relevant matter if the difference is
permitted by or by virtue of this Part of this Schedule.

(2) “Relevant matter” has the meaning given in section 67.

State retirement pensions

4 (1) This paragraph applies where a man and a woman are eligible, in such
circumstances as may be prescribed, to receive different amounts by way of
pension.

(2) The difference is permitted if, in prescribed circumstances, it is attributable
only to differences between men and women in the retirement benefits to
which, in prescribed circumstances, the man and woman are or would be
entitled.

(3) “Retirement benefits” are benefits under sections 43 to 55 of the Social
Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992 (state retirement pensions).

Actuarial factors

5 (1) A difference as between men and women is permitted if it consists of
applying to the calculation of the employer’s contributions to an
occupational pension scheme actuarial factors which—

(a) differ for men and women, and
(b) are of such description as may be prescribed.

(2) A difference as between men and women is permitted if it consists of
applying to the determination of benefits of such description as may be
prescribed actuarial factors which differ for men and women.

Power to amend

6 (1) Regulations may amend this Part of this Schedule so as to add, vary or omit
provision about cases where a difference as between men and women in the
effect of a relevant matter is permitted.

(2) The regulations may make provision about pensionable service before the
date on which they come into force (but not about pensionable service before
17 May 1990).

Page 202



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 8 — Work: reasonable adjustments
Part 1 — Introductory

163

SCHEDULE 8 Section 83

WORK: REASONABLE ADJUSTMENTS

PART 1

INTRODUCTORY

Preliminary

1 This Schedule applies where a duty to make reasonable adjustments is
imposed on A by this Part of this Act.

The duty

2 (1) A must comply with the first, second and third requirements.

(2) For the purposes of this paragraph—
(a) the reference in section 20(3) to a provision, criterion or practice is a

reference to a provision, criterion or practice applied by or on behalf
of A;

(b) the reference in section 20(4) to a physical feature is a reference to a
physical feature of premises occupied by A;

(c) the reference in section 20(3), (4) or (5) to a disabled person is to an
interested disabled person.

(3) In relation to the first and third requirements, a relevant matter is any matter
specified in the first column of the applicable table in Part 2 of this Schedule.

(4) In relation to the second requirement, a relevant matter is—
(a) a matter specified in the second entry of the first column of the

applicable table in Part 2 of this Schedule, or 
(b) where there is only one entry in a column, a matter specified there.

(5) If two or more persons are subject to a duty to make reasonable adjustments
in relation to the same interested disabled person, each of them must comply
with the duty so far as it is reasonable for each of them to do so. 

3 (1) This paragraph applies if a duty to make reasonable adjustments is imposed
on A by section 55 (except where the employment service which A provides
is the provision of vocational training within the meaning given by section
56(6)(b)).

(2) The reference in section 20(3), (4) and (5) to a disabled person is a reference
to an interested disabled person.

(3) In relation to each requirement, the relevant matter is the employment
service which A provides.

(4) Sub-paragraph (5) of paragraph 2 applies for the purposes of this paragraph
as it applies for the purposes of that paragraph.

Page 203



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 8 — Work: reasonable adjustments

Part 2 — Interested disabled person

164

PART 2

INTERESTED DISABLED PERSON

Preliminary

4 An interested disabled person is a disabled person who, in relation to a
relevant matter, is of a description specified in the second column of the
applicable table in this Part of this Schedule.

Employers (see section 39)

5 (1) This paragraph applies where A is an employer.

(2) Where A is the employer of a disabled contract worker (B), A must comply
with the first, second and third requirements on each occasion when B is
supplied to a principal to do contract work.

(3) In relation to the first requirement (as it applies for the purposes of sub-
paragraph (2))—

(a) the reference in section 20(3) to a provision, criterion or practice is a
reference to a provision, criterion or practice applied by or on behalf
of all or most of the principals to whom B is or might be supplied, 

(b) the reference to being put at a substantial disadvantage is a reference
to being likely to be put at a substantial disadvantage that is the same
or similar in the case of each of the principals referred to in
paragraph (a), and

(c) the requirement imposed on A is a requirement to take such steps as
it would be reasonable for A to have to take if the provision, criterion
or practice were applied by or on behalf of A.

(4) In relation to the second requirement (as it applies for the purposes of sub-
paragraph (2))—

(a) the reference in section 20(4) to a physical feature is a reference to a
physical feature of premises occupied by each of the principals
referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(a),

(b) the reference to being put at a substantial disadvantage is a reference
to being likely to be put at a substantial disadvantage that is the same
or similar in the case of each of those principals, and

(c) the requirement imposed on A is a requirement to take such steps as
it would be reasonable for A to have to take if the premises were
occupied by A.

Relevant matter Description of disabled person

Deciding to whom to offer
employment.

A person who is, or has notified A that
the person may be, an applicant for the
employment.

Employment by A. An applicant for employment by A.

An employee of A’s.

Page 204



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 8 — Work: reasonable adjustments
Part 2 — Interested disabled person

165

(5) In relation to the third requirement (as it applies for the purposes of sub-
paragraph (2))—

(a) the reference in section 20(5) to being put at a substantial
disadvantage is a reference to being likely to be put at a substantial
disadvantage that is the same or similar in the case of each of the
principals referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(a), and

(b) the requirement imposed on A is a requirement to take such steps as
it would be reasonable for A to have to take if A were the person to
whom B was supplied.

Principals in contract work (see section 41)

6 (1) This paragraph applies where A is a principal.

(2) A is not required to do anything that a disabled person’s employer is
required to do by virtue of paragraph 5.

Partnerships (see section 44)

7 (1) This paragraph applies where A is a firm or a proposed firm.

(2) Where a firm or proposed firm (A) is required by this Schedule to take a step
in relation to an interested disabled person (B)—

(a) the cost of taking the step is to be treated as an expense of A;
(b) the extent to which B should (if B is or becomes a partner) bear the

cost is not to exceed such amount as is reasonable (having regard in
particular to B’s entitlement to share in A’s profits).

LLPs (see section 45)

8 (1) This paragraph applies where A is an LLP or a proposed LLP.

Relevant matter Description of disabled person

Contract work that A may make
available.

A person who is, or has notified A
that the person may be, an applicant
to do the work.

Contract work that A makes
available.

A person who is supplied to do the
work.

Relevant matter Description of disabled person

Deciding to whom to offer a
position as a partner.

A person who is, or has notified A that
the person may be, a candidate for the
position.

A position as a partner. A candidate for the position.

The partner who holds the position.

Page 205



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 8 — Work: reasonable adjustments

Part 2 — Interested disabled person

166

(2) Where an LLP or proposed LLP (A) is required by this Schedule to take a
step in relation to an interested disabled person (B)—

(a) the cost of taking the step is to be treated as an expense of A;
(b) the extent to which B should (if B is or becomes a member) bear the

cost is not to exceed such amount as is reasonable (having regard in
particular to B’s entitlement to share in A’s profits).

Barristers and their clerks (see section 47)

9 This paragraph applies where A is a barrister or barrister’s clerk.

Advocates and their clerks (see section 48)

10 This paragraph applies where A is an advocate or advocate’s clerk.

Relevant matter Description of disabled person

Deciding to whom to offer a
position as a member.

A person who is, or has notified A that
the person may be, a candidate for the
position.

A position as a member. A candidate for the position.

The member who holds the position.

Relevant matter Description of disabled person

Deciding to whom to offer a
pupillage or tenancy.

A person who is, or has notified A that
the person may be, an applicant for the
pupillage or tenancy.

A pupillage or tenancy. An applicant for the pupillage or
tenancy.

The pupil or tenant.

Relevant matter Description of disabled person

Deciding who to offer to take as a
devil or to whom to offer
membership of a stable.

A person who applies, or has notified
A that the person may apply, to be
taken as a devil or to become a
member of the stable.

The relationship with a devil or
membership of a stable.

An applicant to be taken as a devil or
to become a member of the stable.

The devil or member.

Page 206



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 8 — Work: reasonable adjustments
Part 2 — Interested disabled person

167

Persons making appointments to offices etc. (see sections 49 to 51)

11 This paragraph applies where A is a person who has the power to make an
appointment to a personal or public office.

12 This paragraph applies where A is a relevant person in relation to a personal
or public office.

13 This paragraph applies where A is a person who has the power to make a
recommendation for, or give approval to, an appointment to a public office.

14 In relation to the second requirement in a case within paragraph 11, 12 or 13,
the reference in paragraph 2(2)(b) to premises occupied by A is to be read as
a reference to premises—

(a) under the control of A, and
(b) at or from which the functions of the office concerned are performed.

Relevant matter Description of disabled person

Deciding to whom to offer the
appointment.

A person who is, or has notified A that
the person may be, seeking the
appointment.

A person who is being considered for
the appointment.

Appointment to the office. A person who is seeking, or being
considered for, appointment to the
office.

Relevant matter Description of disabled person

Appointment to the office. A person appointed to the office.

Relevant matter Description of disabled person

Deciding who to recommend or
approve for appointment to the
office.

A person who is, or has notified A that
the person may be, seeking
recommendation or approval for
appointment to the office.

A person who is being considered for
recommendation or approval for
appointment to the office.

An appointment to the office. A person who is seeking, or being
considered for, appointment to the
office in question.

Page 207



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 8 — Work: reasonable adjustments

Part 2 — Interested disabled person

168

Qualifications bodies (see section 53)

15 (1) This paragraph applies where A is a qualifications body.

(2) A provision, criterion or practice does not include the application of a
competence standard.

Employment service-providers (see section 55)

16 This paragraph applies where—
(a) A is an employment service-provider, and
(b) the employment service which A provides is vocational training

within the meaning given by section 56(6)(b).

Trade organisations (see section 57)

17 This paragraph applies where A is a trade organisation.

Relevant matter Description of disabled person

Deciding upon whom to confer a
relevant qualification.

A person who is, or has notified A that
the person may be, an applicant for the
conferment of the qualification.

Conferment by the body of a
relevant qualification.

An applicant for the conferment of the
qualification.

A person who holds the qualification.

Relevant matter Description of disabled person

Deciding to whom to offer to
provide the service.

A person who is, or has notified A that
the person may be, an applicant for the
provision of the service.

Provision by A of the service. A person who applies to A for the
provision of the service.

A person to whom A provides the
service.

Relevant matter Description of disabled person

Deciding to whom to offer
membership of the organisation.

A person who is, or has notified A
that the person may be, an applicant
for membership.

Membership of the organisation. An applicant for membership.

A member.

Page 208



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 8 — Work: reasonable adjustments
Part 2 — Interested disabled person

169

Local authorities (see section 58)

18 (1) This paragraph applies where A is a local authority.

(2) Regulations may, for the purposes of a case within this paragraph, make
provision—

(a) as to circumstances in which a provision, criterion or practice is, or is
not, to be taken to put a disabled person at the disadvantage referred
to in the first requirement;

(b) as to circumstances in which a physical feature is, or is not, to be
taken to put a disabled person at the disadvantage referred to in the
second requirement;

(c) as to circumstances in which it is, or in which it is not, reasonable for
a local authority to be required to take steps of a prescribed
description;

(d) as to steps which it is always, or which it is never, reasonable for a
local authority to take.

Occupational pensions (see section 61)

19 This paragraph applies where A is, in relation to an occupational pension
scheme, a responsible person within the meaning of section 61.

PART 3

LIMITATIONS ON THE DUTY

Lack of knowledge of disability, etc.

20 (1) A is not subject to a duty to make reasonable adjustments if A does not
know, and could not reasonably be expected to know—

(a) in the case of an applicant or potential applicant, that an interested
disabled person is or may be an applicant for the work in question;

(b) in any other case referred to in this Part of this Schedule, that an
interested disabled person has a disability and is likely to be placed
at the disadvantage referred to in the first, second or third
requirement.

(2) An applicant is, in relation to the description of A specified in the first
column of the table, a person of a description specified in the second column
(and the reference to a potential applicant is to be construed accordingly).

Relevant matter Description of disabled person

A member’s carrying-out of official
business.

The member.

Relevant matter Description of disabled person

Carrying out A’s functions in
relation to the scheme.

A person who is or may be a member
of the scheme.

Page 209



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 8 — Work: reasonable adjustments

Part 3 — Limitations on the duty

170

(3) If the duty to make reasonable adjustments is imposed on A by section 55,
this paragraph applies only in so far as the employment service which A
provides is vocational training within the meaning given by section 56(6)(b).

SCHEDULE 9 Section 83

WORK: EXCEPTIONS

PART 1

OCCUPATIONAL REQUIREMENTS

General

1 (1) A person (A) does not contravene a provision mentioned in sub-paragraph
(2) by applying in relation to work a requirement to have a particular
protected characteristic, if A shows that, having regard to the nature or
context of the work—

(a) it is an occupational requirement,
(b) the application of the requirement is a proportionate means of

achieving a legitimate aim, and
(c) the person to whom A applies the requirement does not meet it (or

A has reasonable grounds for not being satisfied that the person
meets it).

(2) The provisions are—

Description of A Applicant

An employer An applicant for employment

A firm or proposed firm A candidate for a position as a partner

An LLP or proposed LLP A candidate for a position as a member

A barrister or barrister’s
clerk

An applicant for a pupillage or tenancy

An advocate or advocate’s
clerk

An applicant for being taken as an
advocate’s devil or for becoming a
member of a stable

A relevant person in
relation to a personal or
public office

A person who is seeking appointment to,
or recommendation or approval for
appointment to, the office

A qualifications body An applicant for the conferment of a
relevant qualification

An employment service-
provider

An applicant for the provision of an
employment service

A trade organisation An applicant for membership

Page 210



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 9 — Work: exceptions
Part 1 — Occupational requirements

171

(a) section 39(1)(a) or (c) or (2)(b) or (c);
(b) section 41(1)(b);
(c) section 44(1)(a) or (c) or (2)(b) or (c);
(d) section 45(1)(a) or (c) or (2)(b) or (c);
(e) section 49(3)(a) or (c) or (6)(b) or (c);
(f) section 50(3)(a) or (c) or (6)(b) or (c);
(g) section 51(1).

(3) The references in sub-paragraph (1) to a requirement to have a protected
characteristic are to be read—

(a) in the case of gender reassignment, as references to a requirement not
to be a transsexual person (and section 7(3) is accordingly to be
ignored);

(b) in the case of marriage and civil partnership, as references to a
requirement not to be married or a civil partner (and section 8(2) is
accordingly to be ignored).

(4) In the case of a requirement to be of a particular sex, sub-paragraph (1) has
effect as if in paragraph (c), the words from “(or” to the end were omitted.

Religious requirements relating to sex, marriage etc., sexual orientation

2 (1) A person (A) does not contravene a provision mentioned in sub-paragraph
(2) by applying in relation to employment a requirement to which sub-
paragraph (4) applies if A shows that—

(a) the employment is for the purposes of an organised religion, 
(b) the application of the requirement engages the compliance or non-

conflict principle, and
(c) the person to whom A applies the requirement does not meet it (or

A has reasonable grounds for not being satisfied that the person
meets it).

(2) The provisions are—
(a) section 39(1)(a) or (c) or (2)(b) or (c);
(b) section 49(3)(a) or (c) or (6)(b) or (c);
(c) section 50(3)(a) or (c) or (6)(b) or (c);
(d) section 51(1).

(3) A person does not contravene section 53(1) or (2)(a) or (b) by applying in
relation to a relevant qualification (within the meaning of that section) a
requirement to which sub-paragraph (4) applies if the person shows that—

(a) the qualification is for the purposes of employment mentioned in
sub-paragraph (1)(a), and

(b) the application of the requirement engages the compliance or non-
conflict principle.

(4) This sub-paragraph applies to—
(a) a requirement to be of a particular sex;
(b) a requirement not to be a transsexual person;
(c) a requirement not to be married or a civil partner;
(d) a requirement not to be married to, or the civil partner of, a person

who has a living former spouse or civil partner;

Page 211



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 9 — Work: exceptions

Part 1 — Occupational requirements

172

(e) a requirement relating to circumstances in which a marriage or civil
partnership came to an end;

(f) a requirement related to sexual orientation.

(5) The application of a requirement engages the compliance principle if the
requirement is applied so as to comply with the doctrines of the religion.

(6) The application of a requirement engages the non-conflict principle if,
because of the nature or context of the employment, the requirement is
applied so as to avoid conflicting with the strongly held religious
convictions of a significant number of the religion’s followers.

(7) A reference to employment includes a reference to an appointment to a
personal or public office.

(8) In the case of a requirement within sub-paragraph (4)(a), sub-paragraph (1)
has effect as if in paragraph (c) the words from “(or” to the end were omitted.

Other requirements relating to religion or belief

3 A person (A) with an ethos based on religion or belief does not contravene a
provision mentioned in paragraph 1(2) by applying in relation to work a
requirement to be of a particular religion or belief if A shows that, having
regard to that ethos and to the nature or context of the work—

(a) it is an occupational requirement,
(b) the application of the requirement is a proportionate means of

achieving a legitimate aim, and
(c) the person to whom A applies the requirement does not meet it (or

A has reasonable grounds for not being satisfied that the person
meets it).

Armed forces

4 (1) A person does not contravene section 39(1)(a) or (c) or (2)(b) by applying in
relation to service in the armed forces a relevant requirement if the person
shows that the application is a proportionate means of ensuring the combat
effectiveness of the armed forces.

(2) A relevant requirement is—
(a) a requirement to be a man;
(b) a requirement not to be a transsexual person.

(3) This Part of this Act, so far as relating to age or disability, does not apply to
service in the armed forces; and section 55, so far as relating to disability,
does not apply to work experience in the armed forces.

Employment services

5 (1) A person (A) does not contravene section 55(1) or (2) if A shows that A’s
treatment of another person relates only to work the offer of which could be
refused to that other person in reliance on paragraph 1, 2, 3 or 4.

(2) A person (A) does not contravene section 55(1) or (2) if A shows that A’s
treatment of another person relates only to training for work of a description
mentioned in sub-paragraph (1).

(3) A person (A) does not contravene section 55(1) or (2) if A shows that—

Page 212



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 9 — Work: exceptions
Part 1 — Occupational requirements

173

(a) A acted in reliance on a statement made to A by a person with the
power to offer the work in question to the effect that, by virtue of sub-
paragraph (1) or (2), A’s action would be lawful, and

(b) it was reasonable for A to rely on the statement.

(4) A person commits an offence by knowingly or recklessly making a
statement such as is mentioned in sub-paragraph (3)(a) which in a material
respect is false or misleading.

(5) A person guilty of an offence under sub-paragraph (4) is liable on summary
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 5 on the standard scale.

Interpretation

6 (1) This paragraph applies for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule.

(2) A reference to contravening a provision of this Act is a reference to
contravening that provision by virtue of section 13.

(3) A reference to work is a reference to employment, contract work, a position
as a partner or as a member of an LLP, or an appointment to a personal or
public office.

(4) A reference to a person includes a reference to an organisation.

(5) A reference to section 39(2)(b), 44(2)(b), 45(2)(b), 49(6)(b) or 50(6)(b) is to be
read as a reference to that provision with the omission of the words “or for
receiving any other benefit, facility or service”.

(6) A reference to section 39(2)(c), 44(2)(c), 45(2)(c), 49(6)(c), 50(6)(c), 53(2)(a) or
55(2)(c) (dismissal, etc.) does not include a reference to that provision so far
as relating to sex.

(7) The reference to paragraph (b) of section 41(1), so far as relating to sex, is to
be read as if that paragraph read—

“(b) by not allowing the worker to do the work.”

PART 2

EXCEPTIONS RELATING TO AGE

Preliminary

7 For the purposes of this Part of this Schedule, a reference to an age
contravention is a reference to a contravention of this Part of this Act, so far
as relating to age.

Retirement

8 (1) It is not an age contravention to dismiss a relevant worker at or over the age
of 65 if the reason for the dismissal is retirement.

(2) Each of the following is a relevant worker—
(a) an employee within the meaning of section 230(1) of the

Employment Rights Act 1996;
(b) a person in Crown employment;
(c) a relevant member of the House of Commons staff;

Page 213



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 9 — Work: exceptions

Part 2 — Exceptions relating to age

174

(d) a relevant member of the House of Lords staff.

(3) Retirement is a reason for dismissal only if it is a reason for dismissal by
virtue of Part 10 of the Employment Rights Act 1996.

Applicants at or approaching retirement age

9 (1) A person does not contravene section 39(1)(a) or (c), so far as relating to age,
in a case where the other person—

(a) has attained the age limit, or would have attained it before the end of
six months beginning with the date on which the application for the
employment had to be made, and

(b) would, if recruited for the employment, be a relevant worker within
the meaning of paragraph 8.

(2) The age limit is whichever is the greater of—
(a) the age of 65, and
(b) the normal retirement age in the case of the employment concerned.

(3) The reference to the normal retirement age is to be construed in accordance
with section 98ZH of the Employment Rights Act 1996.

Benefits based on length of service

10 (1) It is not an age contravention for a person (A) to put a person (B) at a
disadvantage when compared with another (C), in relation to the provision
of a benefit, facility or service in so far as the disadvantage is because B has
a shorter period of service than C.

(2) If B’s period of service exceeds 5 years, A may rely on sub-paragraph (1)
only if A reasonably believes that doing so fulfils a business need.

(3) A person’s period of service is whichever of the following A chooses—
(a) the period for which the person has been working for A at or above

a level (assessed by reference to the demands made on the person)
that A reasonably regards as appropriate for the purposes of this
paragraph, or

(b) the period for which the person has been working for A at any level.

(4) The period for which a person has been working for A must be based on the
number of weeks during the whole or part of which the person has worked
for A.

(5) But for that purpose A may, so far as is reasonable, discount—
(a) periods of absence;
(b) periods that A reasonably regards as related to periods of absence.

(6) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(b), a person is to be treated as having
worked for A during any period in which the person worked for a person
other than A if—

(a) that period counts as a period of employment with A as a result of
section 218 of the Employment Rights Act 1996, or

(b) if sub-paragraph (a) does not apply, that period is treated as a period
of employment by an enactment pursuant to which the person’s
employment was transferred to A.

Page 214



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 9 — Work: exceptions
Part 2 — Exceptions relating to age

175

(7) For the purposes of this paragraph, the reference to a benefit, facility or
service does not include a reference to a benefit, facility or service which may
be provided only by virtue of a person’s ceasing to work.

The national minimum wage: young workers

11 (1) It is not an age contravention for a person to pay a young worker (A) at a
lower rate than that at which the person pays an older worker (B) if—

(a) the hourly rate for the national minimum wage for a person of A’s
age is lower than that for a person of B’s age, and

(b) the rate at which A is paid is below the single hourly rate.

(2) A young worker is a person who qualifies for the national minimum wage
at a lower rate than the single hourly rate; and an older worker is a person
who qualifies for the national minimum wage at a higher rate than that at
which the young worker qualifies for it.

(3) The single hourly rate is the rate prescribed under section 1(3) of the
National Minimum Wage Act 1998.

The national minimum wage: apprentices

12 (1) It is not an age contravention for a person to pay an apprentice who does not
qualify for the national minimum wage at a lower rate than the person pays
an apprentice who does.

(2) An apprentice is a person who—
(a) is employed under a contract of apprenticeship, or
(b) as a result of provision made by virtue of section 3(2)(a) of the

National Minimum Wage Act 1998 (persons not qualifying), is
treated as employed under a contract of apprenticeship.

Redundancy

13 (1) It is not an age contravention for a person to give a qualifying employee an
enhanced redundancy payment of an amount less than that of an enhanced
redundancy payment which the person gives to another qualifying
employee, if each amount is calculated on the same basis.

(2) It is not an age contravention to give enhanced redundancy payments only
to those who are qualifying employees by virtue of sub-paragraph (3)(a) or
(b).

(3) A person is a qualifying employee if the person—
(a) is entitled to a redundancy payment as a result of section 135 of the

Employment Rights Act 1996,
(b) agrees to the termination of the employment in circumstances where

the person would, if dismissed, have been so entitled,
(c) would have been so entitled but for section 155 of that Act

(requirement for two years’ continuous employment), or
(d) agrees to the termination of the employment in circumstances where

the person would, if dismissed, have been so entitled but for that
section.

Page 215



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 9 — Work: exceptions

Part 2 — Exceptions relating to age

176

(4) An enhanced redundancy payment is a payment the amount of which is,
subject to sub-paragraphs (5) and (6), calculated in accordance with section
162(1) to (3) of the Employment Rights Act 1996.

(5) A person making a calculation for the purposes of sub-paragraph (4)—
(a) may treat a week’s pay as not being subject to a maximum amount;
(b) may treat a week’s pay as being subject to a maximum amount above

that for the time being specified in section 227(1) of the Employment
Rights Act 1996;

(c) may multiply the appropriate amount for each year of employment
by a figure of more than one.

(6) Having made a calculation for the purposes of sub-paragraph (4) (whether
or not in reliance on sub-paragraph (5)), a person may multiply the amount
calculated by a figure of more than one.

(7) In sub-paragraph (5), “the appropriate amount” has the meaning given in
section 162 of the Employment Rights Act 1996, and “a week’s pay” is to be
read with Chapter 2 of Part 14 of that Act.

(8) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (4) to (6), the reference to “the relevant
date” in subsection (1)(a) of section 162 of that Act is, in the case of a person
who is a qualifying employee by virtue of sub-paragraph (3)(b) or (d), to be
read as reference to the date of the termination of the employment.

Life assurance

14 (1) This paragraph applies if a person (A) takes early retirement because of ill
health.

(2) It is not an age contravention to provide A with life assurance cover for the
period starting when A retires and ending—

(a) if there is a normal retirement age, when A attains the normal
retirement age;

(b) in any other case, when A attains the age of 65.

(3) The normal retirement age in relation to A is the age at which, when A
retires, persons holding comparable positions in the same undertaking are
normally required to retire.

Child care

15 (1) A person does not contravene a relevant provision, so far as relating to age,
only by providing, or making arrangements for or facilitating the provision
of, care for children of a particular age group.

(2) The relevant provisions are—
(a) section 39(2)(b);
(b) section 41(1)(c);
(c) section 44(2)(b);
(d) section 45(2)(b);
(e) section 47(2)(b);
(f) section 48(2)(b);
(g) section 49(6)(b);
(h) section 50(6)(b);

Page 216



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 9 — Work: exceptions
Part 2 — Exceptions relating to age

177

(i) section 57(2)(a);
(j) section 58(3)(a).

(3) Facilitating the provision of care for a child includes—
(a) paying for some or all of the cost of the provision;
(b) helping a parent of the child to find a suitable person to provide care

for the child;
(c) enabling a parent of the child to spend more time providing care for

the child or otherwise assisting the parent with respect to the care
that the parent provides for the child.

(4) A child is a person who has not attained the age of 17.

(5) A reference to care includes a reference to supervision.

Contributions to personal pension schemes

16 (1) A Minister of the Crown may by order provide that it is not an age
contravention for an employer to maintain or use, with respect to
contributions to personal pension schemes, practices, actions or decisions
relating to age which are of a specified description.

(2) An order authorising the use of practices, actions or decisions which are not
in use before the order comes into force must not be made unless the
Minister consults such persons as the Minister thinks appropriate.

(3) “Personal pension scheme” has the meaning given in section 1 of the Pension
Schemes Act 1993; and “employer”, in relation to a personal pension scheme,
has the meaning given in section 318(1) of the Pensions Act 2004.

PART 3

OTHER EXCEPTIONS

Non-contractual payments to women on maternity leave

17 (1) A person does not contravene section 39(1)(b) or (2), so far as relating to
pregnancy and maternity, by depriving a woman who is on maternity leave
of any benefit from the terms of her employment relating to pay.

(2) The reference in sub-paragraph (1) to benefit from the terms of a woman’s
employment relating to pay does not include a reference to—

(a) maternity-related pay (including maternity-related pay that is
increase-related),

(b) pay (including increase-related pay) in respect of times when she is
not on maternity leave, or

(c) pay by way of bonus in respect of times when she is on compulsory
maternity leave.

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), pay is increase-related in so far as it
is to be calculated by reference to increases in pay that the woman would
have received had she not been on maternity leave.

(4) A reference to terms of her employment is a reference to terms of her
employment that are not in her contract of employment, her contract of
apprenticeship or her contract to do work personally.

Page 217



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 9 — Work: exceptions

Part 3 — Other exceptions

178

(5) “Pay” means benefits—
(a) that consist of the payment of money to an employee by way of

wages or salary, and
(b) that are not benefits whose provision is regulated by the contract

referred to in sub-paragraph (4).

(6) “Maternity-related pay” means pay to which a woman is entitled—
(a) as a result of being pregnant, or
(b) in respect of times when she is on maternity leave.

Benefits dependent on marital status, etc.

18 (1) A person does not contravene this Part of this Act, so far as relating to sexual
orientation, by doing anything which prevents or restricts a person who is
not married from having access to a benefit, facility or service—

(a) the right to which accrued before 5 December 2005 (the day on which
section 1 of the Civil Partnership Act 2004 came into force), or

(b) which is payable in respect of periods of service before that date.

(2) A person does not contravene this Part of this Act, so far as relating to sexual
orientation, by providing married persons and civil partners (to the
exclusion of all other persons) with access to a benefit, facility or service.

Provision of services etc. to the public

19 (1) A does not contravene a provision mentioned in sub-paragraph (2) in
relation to the provision of a benefit, facility or service to B if A is concerned
with the provision (for payment or not) of a benefit, facility or service of the
same description to the public.

(2) The provisions are—
(a) section 39(2) and (4);
(b) section 41(1) and (3);
(c) sections 44(2) and (6) and 45(2) and (6);
(d) sections 49(6) and (8) and 50(6), (7), (9) and (10).

(3) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply if—
(a) the provision by A to the public differs in a material respect from the

provision by A to comparable persons,
(b) the provision to B is regulated by B’s terms, or
(c) the benefit, facility or service relates to training.

(4) “Comparable persons” means—
(a) in relation to section 39(2) or (4), the other employees;
(b) in relation to section 41(1) or (3), the other contract workers supplied

to the principal;
(c) in relation to section 44(2) or (6), the other partners of the firm;
(d) in relation to section 45(2) or (6), the other members of the LLP;
(e) in relation to section 49(6) or (8) or 50(6), (7), (9) or (10), persons

holding offices or posts not materially different from that held by B.

(5) “B’s terms” means—
(a) the terms of B’s employment,
(b) the terms on which the principal allows B to do the contract work,

Page 218



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 9 — Work: exceptions
Part 3 — Other exceptions

179

(c) the terms on which B has the position as a partner or member, or 
(d) the terms of B’s appointment to the office.

(6) A reference to the public includes a reference to a section of the public which
includes B.

Insurance contracts, etc.

20 (1) It is not a contravention of this Part of this Act, so far as relating to relevant
discrimination, to do anything in relation to an annuity, life insurance
policy, accident insurance policy or similar matter involving the assessment
of risk if—

(a) that thing is done by reference to actuarial or other data from a
source on which it is reasonable to rely, and

(b) it is reasonable to do it.

(2) “Relevant discrimination” is—
(a) gender reassignment discrimination;
(b) marriage and civil partnership discrimination;
(c) pregnancy and maternity discrimination;
(d) sex discrimination.

SCHEDULE 10 Section 88

ACCESSIBILITY FOR DISABLED PUPILS

Accessibility strategies

1 (1) A local authority in England and Wales must, in relation to schools for which
it is the responsible body, prepare—

(a) an accessibility strategy;
(b) further such strategies at such times as may be prescribed.

(2) An accessibility strategy is a strategy for, over a prescribed period—
(a) increasing the extent to which disabled pupils can participate in the

schools’ curriculums;
(b) improving the physical environment of the schools for the purpose

of increasing the extent to which disabled pupils are able to take
advantage of education and benefits, facilities or services provided
or offered by the schools;

(c) improving the delivery to disabled pupils of information which is
readily accessible to pupils who are not disabled.

(3) The delivery in sub-paragraph (2)(c) must be—
(a) within a reasonable time;
(b) in ways which are determined after taking account of the pupils’

disabilities and any preferences expressed by them or their parents.

(4) An accessibility strategy must be in writing.

(5) A local authority must keep its accessibility strategy under review during
the period to which it relates and, if necessary, revise it.

Page 219



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 10 — Accessibility for disabled pupils

180

(6) A local authority must implement its accessibility strategy.

2 (1) In preparing its accessibility strategy, a local authority must have regard
to—

(a) the need to allocate adequate resources for implementing the
strategy;

(b) guidance as to the matters mentioned in sub-paragraph (3).

(2) The authority must also have regard to guidance as to compliance with
paragraph 1(5).

(3) The matters are—
(a) the content of an accessibility strategy;
(b) the form in which it is to be produced;
(c) persons to be consulted in its preparation.

(4) Guidance may be issued—
(a) for England, by a Minister of the Crown;
(b) for Wales, by the Welsh Ministers.

(5) A local authority must, if asked, make a copy of its accessibility strategy
available for inspection at such reasonable times as it decides.

(6) A local authority in England must, if asked by a Minister of the Crown, give
the Minister a copy of its accessibility strategy.

(7) A local authority in Wales must, if asked by the Welsh Ministers, give them
a copy of its accessibility strategy.

Accessibility plans

3 (1) The responsible body of a school in England and Wales must prepare—
(a) an accessibility plan;
(b) further such plans at such times as may be prescribed.

(2) An accessibility plan is a plan for, over a prescribed period—
(a) increasing the extent to which disabled pupils can participate in the

school’s curriculum,
(b) improving the physical environment of the school for the purpose of

increasing the extent to which disabled pupils are able to take
advantage of education and benefits, facilities or services provided
or offered by the school, and

(c) improving the delivery to disabled pupils of information which is
readily accessible to pupils who are not disabled.

(3) The delivery in sub-paragraph (2)(c) must be—
(a) within a reasonable time;
(b) in ways which are determined after taking account of the pupils’

disabilities and any preferences expressed by them or their parents.

(4) An accessibility plan must be in writing.

(5) The responsible body must keep its accessibility plan under review during
the period to which it relates and, if necessary, revise it.

(6) The responsible body must implement its accessibility plan.

Page 220



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 10 — Accessibility for disabled pupils

181

(7) A relevant inspection may extend to the performance by the responsible
body of its functions in relation to the preparation, publication, review,
revision and implementation of its accessibility plan.

(8) A relevant inspection is an inspection under—
(a) Part 1 of the Education Act 2005, or
(b) Chapter 1 of Part 4 of the Education and Skills Act 2008 (regulation

and inspection of independent education provision in England).

4 (1) In preparing an accessibility plan, the responsible body must have regard to
the need to allocate adequate resources for implementing the plan.

(2) The proprietor of an independent educational institution (other than an
Academy) must, if asked, make a copy of the school’s accessibility plan
available for inspection at such reasonable times as the proprietor decides.

(3) The proprietor of an independent educational institution in England (other
than an Academy) must, if asked by a Minister of the Crown, give the
Minister a copy of the school’s accessibility plan.

(4) The proprietor of an independent school in Wales (other than an Academy)
must, if asked by the Welsh Ministers, give them a copy of the school’s
accessibility plan.

Power of direction

5 (1) This sub-paragraph applies if the appropriate authority is satisfied (whether
or not on a complaint) that a responsible body—

(a) has acted or is proposing to act unreasonably in the discharge of a
duty under this Schedule, or

(b) has failed to discharge such a duty.

(2) This sub-paragraph applies if the appropriate authority is satisfied (whether
or not on a complaint) that a responsible body of a school specified in sub-
paragraph (3)—

(a) has acted or is proposing to act unreasonably in the discharge of a
duty the body has in relation to the provision to the authority of
copies of the body’s accessibility plan or the inspection of that plan,
or

(b) has failed to discharge the duty.

(3) The schools are—
(a) schools approved under section 342 of the Education Act 1996 (non-

maintained special schools);
(b) Academies.

(4) This sub-paragraph applies if a Tribunal has made an order under
paragraph 5 of Schedule 17 and the appropriate authority is satisfied
(whether or not on a complaint) that the responsible body concerned—

(a) has acted or is proposing to act unreasonably in complying with the
order, or

(b) has failed to comply with the order.

(5) If sub-paragraph (1), (2) or (4) applies, the appropriate authority may give a
responsible body such directions as the authority thinks expedient as to—

(a) the discharge by the body of the duty, or

Page 221



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 10 — Accessibility for disabled pupils

182

(b) compliance by the body with the order.

(6) A direction may be given in relation to sub-paragraph (1) or (2) even if the
performance of the duty is contingent on the opinion of the responsible
body.

(7) A direction may not, unless sub-paragraph (8) applies, be given to the
responsible body of a school in England in respect of a matter—

(a) that has been complained about to a Local Commissioner in
accordance with Chapter 2 of Part 10 of the Apprenticeships, Skills,
Children and Learning Act 2009 (parental complaints against
governing bodies etc.), or

(b) that the appropriate authority thinks could have been so complained
about.

(8) This sub-paragraph applies if—
(a) the Local Commissioner has made a recommendation to the

responsible body under section 211(4) of the Apprenticeships, Skills,
Children and Learning Act 2009 (statement following investigation)
in respect of the matter, and

(b) the responsible body has not complied with the recommendation.

(9) A direction—
(a) may be varied or revoked by the appropriate authority;
(b) may be enforced, on the application of the appropriate authority, by

a mandatory order obtained in accordance with section 31 of the
Senior Courts Act 1981.

(10) The appropriate authority is—
(a) in relation to the responsible body of a school in England, the

Secretary of State;
(b) in relation to the responsible body of a school in Wales, the Welsh

Ministers.

Supplementary

6 (1) This paragraph applies for the purposes of this Schedule.

(2) Regulations may prescribe services which are, or are not, to be regarded as
being—

(a) education;
(b) a benefit, facility or service.

(3) The power to make regulations is exercisable by—
(a) in relation to England, a Minister of the Crown;
(b) in relation to Wales, the Welsh Ministers.

(4) “Disabled pupil” includes a disabled person who may be admitted to the
school as a pupil.

(5) “Responsible body” means—
(a) in relation to a maintained school or a maintained nursery school, the

local authority or governing body;
(b) in relation to a pupil referral unit, the local authority;
(c) in relation to an independent educational institution, the proprietor;

Page 222



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 10 — Accessibility for disabled pupils

183

(d) in relation to a special school not maintained by a local authority, the
proprietor.

(6) “Governing body”, in relation to a maintained school, means the body
corporate (constituted in accordance with regulations under section 19 of the
Education Act 2002) which the school has as a result of that section.

(7) “Maintained school” has the meaning given in section 20 of the School
Standards and Framework Act 1998; and “maintained nursery school” has
the meaning given in section 22 of that Act.

SCHEDULE 11 Section 89

SCHOOLS: EXCEPTIONS

PART 1

SEX DISCRIMINATION

Admission to single-sex schools

1 (1) Section 85(1), so far as relating to sex, does not apply in relation to a single-
sex school.

(2) A single-sex school is a school which—
(a) admits pupils of one sex only, or
(b) on the basis of the assumption in sub-paragraph (3), would be taken

to admit pupils of one sex only. 

(3) That assumption is that pupils of the opposite sex are to be disregarded if—
(a) their admission to the school is exceptional, or
(b) their numbers are comparatively small and their admission is

confined to particular courses or classes.

(4) In the case of a school which is a single-sex school by virtue of sub-
paragraph (3)(b), section 85(2)(a) to (d), so far as relating to sex, does not
prohibit confining pupils of the same sex to particular courses or classes.

Single-sex boarding at schools

2 (1) Section 85(1), so far as relating to sex, does not apply in relation to admission
as a boarder to a school to which this paragraph applies.

(2) Section 85(2)(a) to (d), so far as relating to sex, does not apply in relation to
boarding facilities at a school to which this paragraph applies.

(3) This paragraph applies to a school (other than a single-sex school) which has
some pupils as boarders and others as non-boarders and which—

(a) admits as boarders pupils of one sex only, or
(b) on the basis of the assumption in sub-paragraph (4), would be taken

to admit as boarders pupils of one sex only.

(4) That assumption is that pupils of the opposite sex admitted as boarders are
to be disregarded if their numbers are small compared to the numbers of
other pupils admitted as boarders.

Page 223



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 11 — Schools: exceptions

Part 1 — Sex discrimination

184

Single-sex schools turning co-educational

3 (1) If the responsible body of a single-sex school decides to alter its admissions
arrangements so that the school will cease to be a single-sex school, the body
may apply for a transitional exemption order in relation to the school.

(2) If the responsible body of a school to which paragraph 2 applies decides to
alter its admissions arrangements so that the school will cease to be one to
which that paragraph applies, the body may apply for a transitional
exemption order in relation to the school.

(3) A transitional exemption order in relation to a school is an order which,
during the period specified in the order as the transitional period,
authorises— 

(a) sex discrimination by the responsible body of the school in the
arrangements it makes for deciding who is offered admission as a
pupil;

(b) the responsible body, in the circumstances specified in the order, not
to admit a person as a pupil because of the person’s sex.

(4) Paragraph 4 applies in relation to the making of transitional exemption
orders.

(5) The responsible body of a school does not contravene this Act, so far as
relating to sex discrimination, if—

(a) in accordance with a transitional exemption order, or
(b) pending the determination of an application for a transitional

exemption order in relation to the school, 
it does not admit a person as a pupil because of the person’s sex.

4 (1) In the case of a maintained school within the meaning given by section 32 of
the Education and Inspections Act 2006, a transitional exemption order may
be made in accordance with such provision as is made in regulations under
section 21 of that Act (orders made by local authority or adjudicator in
relation to schools in England).

(2) In the case of a school in Wales maintained by a local authority, a transitional
exemption order may be made in accordance with paragraph 22 of Schedule
6, or paragraph 17 of Schedule 7, to the School Standards and Framework
Act 1998 (orders made by Welsh Ministers).

(3) In the case of a school in Scotland managed by an education authority or in
respect of which the managers are for the time being receiving grants under
section 73(c) or (d) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980—

(a) the responsible body may submit to the Scottish Ministers an
application for the making of a transitional exemption order, and

(b) the Scottish Ministers may make the order.

(4) Where, under section 113A of the Learning and Skills Act 2000, the Learning
and Skills Council for England make proposals to the Secretary of State for
an alteration in the admissions arrangements of a single-sex school or a
school to which paragraph 2 applies—

(a) the making of the proposals is to be treated as an application to the
Secretary of State for the making of a transitional exemption order,
and

(b) the Secretary of State may make the order.

Page 224



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 11 — Schools: exceptions
Part 1 — Sex discrimination

185

(5) Where proposals are made to the Welsh Ministers under section 113A of the
Learning and Skills Act 2000 for an alteration in the admissions
arrangements of a single-sex school or a school to which paragraph 2
applies—

(a) the making of the proposals is to be treated as an application to the
Welsh Ministers for the making of a transitional exemption order,
and

(b) the Welsh Ministers may make the order.

(6) In the case of a school in England or Wales not coming within sub-paragraph
(1), (2), (4) or (5) or an independent school in Scotland—

(a) the responsible body may submit to the Commission an application
for the making of a transitional exemption order, and

(b) the Commission may make the order.

(7) An application under sub-paragraph (6) must specify—
(a) the period proposed by the responsible body as the transitional

period to be specified in the order,
(b) the stages within that period by which the body proposes to move to

the position where section 85(1)(a) and (c), so far as relating to sex, is
complied with, and

(c) any other matters relevant to the terms and operation of the order
applied for.

(8) The Commission must not make an order on an application under sub-
paragraph (6) unless satisfied that the terms of the application are
reasonable, having regard to—

(a) the nature of the school’s premises,
(b) the accommodation, equipment and facilities available, and
(c) the responsible body’s financial resources.

PART 2

RELIGIOUS OR BELIEF-RELATED DISCRIMINATION

School with religious character etc.

5 Section 85(1) and (2)(a) to (d), so far as relating to religion or belief, does not
apply in relation to—

(a) a school designated under section 69(3) of the School Standards and
Framework Act 1998 (foundation or voluntary school with religious
character);

(b) a school listed in the register of independent schools for England or
for Wales, if the school’s entry in the register records that the school
has a religious ethos;

(c) a school transferred to an education authority under section 16 of the
Education (Scotland) Act 1980 (transfer of certain schools to
education authorities) which is conducted in the interest of a church
or denominational body;

(d) a school provided by an education authority under section 17(2) of
that Act (denominational schools);

(e) a grant-aided school (within the meaning of that Act) which is
conducted in the interest of a church or denominational body;

Page 225



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 11 — Schools: exceptions

Part 2 — Religious or belief-related discrimination

186

(f) a school registered in the register of independent schools for
Scotland if the school admits only pupils who belong, or whose
parents belong, to one or more particular denominations;

(g) a school registered in that register if the school is conducted in the
interest of a church or denominational body.

Curriculum, worship, etc.

6 Section 85(2)(a) to (d), so far as relating to religion or belief, does not apply
in relation to anything done in connection with acts of worship or other
religious observance organised by or on behalf of a school (whether or not
forming part of the curriculum).

Power to amend

7 (1) A Minister of the Crown may by order amend this Part of this Schedule—
(a) so as to add, vary or omit an exception to section 85;
(b) so as to make provision about the construction or application of

section 19(2)(d) in relation to section 85.

(2) The power under sub-paragraph (1) is exercisable only in relation to
religious or belief-related discrimination.

(3) Before making an order under this paragraph the Minister must consult—
(a) the Welsh Ministers,
(b) the Scottish Ministers, and
(c) such other persons as the Minister thinks appropriate.

PART 3

DISABILITY DISCRIMINATION

Permitted form of selection

8 (1) A person does not contravene section 85(1), so far as relating to disability,
only by applying a permitted form of selection.

(2) In relation to England and Wales, a permitted form of selection is—
(a) in the case of a maintained school which is not designated as a

grammar school under section 104 of the School Standards and
Framework Act 1998, a form of selection mentioned in section 99(2)
or (4) of that Act;

(b) in the case of a maintained school which is so designated, its selective
admission arrangements (within the meaning of section 104 of that
Act);

(c) in the case of an independent educational institution, arrangements
which provide for some or all of its pupils to be selected by reference
to general or special ability or aptitude, with a view to admitting only
pupils of high ability or aptitude.

(3) In relation to Scotland, a permitted form of selection is—
(a) in the case of a school managed by an education authority,

arrangements approved by the Scottish Ministers for the selection of
pupils for admission;

Page 226



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 11 — Schools: exceptions
Part 3 — Disability discrimination

187

(b) in the case of an independent school, arrangements which provide
for some or all of its pupils to be selected by reference to general or
special ability or aptitude, with a view to admitting only pupils of
high ability or aptitude.

(4) “Maintained school” has the meaning given in section 22 of the School
Standards and Framework Act 1998.

SCHEDULE 12 Section 94

FURTHER AND HIGHER EDUCATION EXCEPTIONS

PART 1

SINGLE-SEX INSTITUTIONS, ETC.

Admission to single-sex institutions

1 (1) Section 91(1), so far as relating to sex, does not apply in relation to a single-
sex institution.

(2) A single-sex institution is an institution to which section 91 applies, which—
(a) admits students of one sex only, or
(b) on the basis of the assumption in sub-paragraph (3), would be taken

to admit students of one sex only.

(3) That assumption is that students of the opposite sex are to be disregarded
if—

(a) their admission to the institution is exceptional, or
(b) their numbers are comparatively small and their admission is

confined to particular courses or classes.

(4) In the case of an institution which is a single-sex institution by virtue of sub-
paragraph (3)(b), section 91(2)(a) to (d), so far as relating to sex, does not
prohibit confining students of the same sex to particular courses or classes.

Single-sex institutions turning co-educational

2 (1) If the responsible body of a single-sex institution decides to alter its
admissions arrangements so that the institution will cease to be a single-sex
institution, the body may apply for a transitional exemption order in relation
to the institution.

(2) A transitional exemption order relating to an institution is an order which,
during the period specified in the order as the transitional period,
authorises—

(a) sex discrimination by the responsible body of the institution in the
arrangements it makes for deciding who is offered admission as a
student;

(b) the responsible body, in the circumstances specified in the order, not
to admit a person as a student because of the person’s sex.

(3) Paragraph 3 applies in relation to the making of a transitional exemption
order.

Page 227



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 12 — Further and higher education exceptions

Part 1 — Single-sex institutions, etc.

188

(4) The responsible body of an institution does not contravene this Act, so far as
relating to sex discrimination, if —

(a) in accordance with a transitional exemption order, or
(b) pending the determination of an application for a transitional

exemption order in relation to the institution,
it does not admit a person as a student because of the person’s sex.

(5) The responsible body of an institution does not contravene this Act, so far as
relating to sex discrimination, if —

(a) in accordance with a transitional exemption order, or
(b) pending the determination of an application for a transitional

exemption order in relation to the institution,
it discriminates in the arrangements it makes for deciding who is offered
admission as a student.

3 (1) In the case of a single-sex institution—
(a) its responsible body may submit to the Commission an application

for the making of a transitional exemption order, and
(b) the Commission may make the order.

(2) An application under sub-paragraph (1) must specify—
(a) the period proposed by the responsible body as the transitional

period to be specified in the order,
(b) the stages, within that period, by which the body proposes to move

to the position where section 91(1)(a) and (c), so far as relating to sex,
is complied with, and

(c) any other matters relevant to the terms and operation of the order
applied for.

(3) The Commission must not make an order on an application under sub-
paragraph (1) unless satisfied that the terms of the application are
reasonable, having regard to—

(a) the nature of the institution’s premises,
(b) the accommodation, equipment and facilities available, and
(c) the responsible body’s financial resources.

PART 2

OTHER EXCEPTIONS

Occupational requirements

4 A person (P) does not contravene section 91(1) or (2) if P shows that P’s
treatment of another person relates only to training that would help fit that
other person for work the offer of which the other person could be refused
in reliance on Part 1 of Schedule 9.

Institutions with a religious ethos

5 (1) The responsible body of an institution which is designated for the purposes
of this paragraph does not contravene section 91(1), so far as relating to
religion or belief, if, in the admission of students to a course at the
institution—

(a) it gives preference to persons of a particular religion or belief,

Page 228



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 12 — Further and higher education exceptions
Part 2 — Other exceptions

189

(b) it does so to preserve the institution’s religious ethos, and
(c) the course is not a course of vocational training.

(2) A Minister of the Crown may by order designate an institution if satisfied
that the institution has a religious ethos.

Benefits dependent on marital status, etc.

6 A person does not contravene section 91, so far as relating to sexual
orientation, by providing married persons and civil partners (to the
exclusion of all other persons) with access to a benefit, facility or service.

Child care

7 (1) A person does not contravene section 91(2)(b) or (d), so far as relating to age,
only by providing, or making arrangements for or facilitating the provision
of, care for children of a particular age group.

(2) Facilitating the provision of care for a child includes—
(a) paying for some or all of the cost of the provision;
(b) helping a parent of the child to find a suitable person to provide care

for the child;
(c) enabling a parent of the child to spend more time providing care for

the child or otherwise assisting the parent with respect to the care
that the parent provides for the child.

(3) A child is a person who has not attained the age of 17.

(4) A reference to care includes a reference to supervision.

SCHEDULE 13 Section 98

EDUCATION: REASONABLE ADJUSTMENTS

Preliminary

1 This Schedule applies where a duty to make reasonable adjustments is
imposed on A by this Part.

The duty for schools

2 (1) This paragraph applies where A is the responsible body of a school to which
section 85 applies.

(2) A must comply with the first and third requirements.

(3) For the purposes of this paragraph— 
(a) the reference in section 20(3) to a provision, criterion or practice is a

reference to a provision, criterion or practice applied by or on behalf
of A;

(b) the reference in section 20(3) or (5) to a disabled person is—
(i) in relation to a relevant matter within sub-paragraph (4)(a), a

reference to disabled persons generally;

Page 229



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 13 — Education: reasonable adjustments

190

(ii) in relation to a relevant matter within sub-paragraph (4)(b), a
reference to disabled pupils generally.

(4) In relation to each requirement, the relevant matters are—
(a) deciding who is offered admission as a pupil;
(b) provision of education or access to a benefit, facility or service.

The duty for further or higher education institutions

3 (1) This paragraph applies where A is the responsible body of an institution to
which section 91 applies.

(2) A must comply with the first, second and third requirements.

(3) For the purposes of this paragraph—
(a) the reference in section 20(3) to a provision, criterion or practice is a

reference to a provision, criterion or practice applied by or on behalf
of A;

(b) the reference in section 20(4) to a physical feature is a reference to a
physical feature of premises occupied by A;

(c) the reference in section 20(3), (4) or (5) to a disabled person is—
(i) in relation to a relevant matter within sub-paragraph (4)(a), a

reference to disabled persons generally;
(ii) in relation to a relevant matter within sub-paragraph (4)(b) or

(c), a reference to disabled students generally;
(iii) in relation to a relevant matter within sub-paragraph (4)(d) or

(e) below, a reference to an interested disabled person.

(4) In relation to each requirement, the relevant matters are—
(a) deciding who is offered admission as a student;
(b) provision of education;
(c) access to a benefit, facility or service;
(d) deciding on whom a qualification is conferred;
(e) a qualification that A confers.

4 (1) An interested disabled person is a disabled person who, in relation to a
relevant matter specified in the first column of the table, is of a description
specified in the second column.

(2) A provision, criterion or practice does not include the application of a
competence standard.

Case Description of disabled person

Deciding upon whom to confer a
qualification.

A person who is, or has notified A that
the person may be, an applicant for the
conferment of the qualification.

A qualification that A confers. An applicant for the conferment by A
of the qualification.

A person on whom A confers the
qualification.

Page 230



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 13 — Education: reasonable adjustments

191

(3) A competence standard is an academic, medical or other standard applied
for the purpose of determining whether or not a person has a particular level
of competence or ability.

The duty relating to certain other further or higher education courses

5 (1) This paragraph applies where A is the responsible body in relation to a
course to which section 92 applies.

(2) A must comply with the first, second and third requirements; but if A is the
governing body of a maintained school (within the meaning given by that
section), A is not required to comply with the second requirement.

(3) For the purposes of this paragraph—
(a) the reference in section 20(3) to a provision, criterion or practice is a

reference to a provision, criterion or practice applied by or on behalf
of A;

(b) the reference in section 20(4) to a physical feature is a reference to a
physical feature of premises occupied by A;

(c) the reference in section 20(3), (4) or (5) to a disabled person is—
(i) in relation to a relevant matter within sub-paragraph (4)(a), a

reference to disabled persons generally;
(ii) in relation to a relevant matter within sub-paragraph (4)(b), a

reference to disabled persons generally who are enrolled on
the course.

(4) In relation to each requirement, the relevant matters are—
(a) arrangements for enrolling persons on a course of further or higher

education secured by A;
(b) services provided by A for persons enrolled on the course.

The duty relating to recreational or training facilities

6 (1) This paragraph applies where A is the responsible body in relation to
facilities to which section 93 applies.

(2) A must comply with the first, second and third requirements.

(3) For the purposes of this paragraph—
(a) the reference in section 20(3) to a provision, criterion or practice is a

reference to a provision, criterion or practice applied by or on behalf
of A;

(b) the reference in section 20(4) to a physical feature is a reference to a
physical feature of premises occupied by A;

(c) the reference in section 20(3), (4) or (5) to a disabled person is a
reference to disabled persons generally.

(4) In relation to each requirement, the relevant matter is A’s arrangements for
providing the recreational or training facilities.

Code of practice

7 In deciding whether it is reasonable for A to have to take a step for the
purpose of complying with the first, second or third requirement, A must

Page 231



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 13 — Education: reasonable adjustments

192

have regard to relevant provisions of a code of practice issued under section
14 of the Equality Act 2006.

Confidentiality requests

8 (1) This paragraph applies if a person has made a confidentiality request of
which A is aware.

(2) In deciding whether it is reasonable for A to have to take a step in relation to
that person so as to comply with the first, second or third requirement, A
must have regard to the extent to which taking the step is consistent with the
request.

(3) In a case within paragraph 2, a “confidentiality request” is a request—
(a) that the nature or existence of a disabled person’s disability be

treated as confidential, and
(b) which satisfies either of the following conditions.

(4) The first condition is that the request is made by the person’s parent.

(5) The second condition is that—
(a) it is made by the person, and
(b) A reasonably believes that the person has sufficient understanding of

the nature and effect of the request.

(6) In a case within paragraph 3, a “confidentiality request” is a request by a
disabled person that the nature or existence of the person’s disability be
treated as confidential.

The duty for general qualifications bodies

9 (1) This paragraph applies where A is a qualifications body for the purposes of
section 96.

(2) Paragraphs 3 and 4(1), so far as relating to qualifications, apply to a
qualifications body as they apply to a responsible body.

(3) This paragraph is subject to section 96(7).

SCHEDULE 14 Section 99

EDUCATIONAL CHARITIES AND ENDOWMENTS

Educational charities

1 (1) This paragraph applies to a trust deed or other instrument—
(a) which concerns property applicable for or in connection with the

provision of education in an establishment in England and Wales to
which section 85 or 91 applies, and

(b) which in any way restricts the benefits available under the
instrument to persons of one sex.

(2) Sub-paragraph (3) applies if, on the application of the trustees or the
responsible body (within the meaning of that section), a Minister of the

Page 232



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 14 — Educational charities and endowments

193

Crown is satisfied that the removal or modification of the restriction would
be conducive to the advancement of education without sex discrimination.

(3) The Minister may by order make such modifications of the instrument as
appear to the Minister expedient for removing or modifying the restriction.

(4) If the trust was created by a gift or bequest, an order must not be made until
the end of the period of 25 years after the date when the gift or bequest took
effect.

(5) Sub-paragraph (4) does not apply if the donor or the personal
representatives of the donor or testator consent in writing to making the
application for the order.

(6) The Minister must require the applicant to publish a notice—
(a) containing particulars of the proposed order;
(b) stating that representations may be made to the Minister within a

period specified in the notice.

(7) The period must be not less than one month beginning with the day after the
date of the notice.

(8) The applicant must publish the notice in the manner specified by the
Minister.

(9) The cost of publication may be paid out of the property of the trust.

(10) Before making the order, the Minister must take account of representations
made in accordance with the notice.

Educational endowments

2 (1) This paragraph applies to an educational endowment—
(a) to which section 104 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 applies,

and
(b) which in any way restricts the benefit of the endowment to persons

of one sex.

(2) Sub-paragraph (3) applies if, on the application of the governing body of an
educational endowment, the Scottish Ministers are satisfied that the removal
or modification of the provision which restricts the benefit of the
endowment to persons of one sex would be conducive to the advancement
of education without sex discrimination.

(3) The Scottish Ministers may by order make such provision as they think
expedient for removing or modifying the restriction.

(4) If the Scottish Ministers propose to make such an order they must publish a
notice in such manner as they think sufficient for giving information to
persons they think may be interested in the endowment—

(a) containing particulars of the proposed order;
(b) stating that representations may be made with respect to the

proposal within such period as is specified in the notice.

(5) The period must be not less than one month beginning with the day after the
date of publication of the notice.

Page 233



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 14 — Educational charities and endowments

194

(6) The cost of publication is to be paid out of the funds of the endowment to
which the notice relates.

(7) Before making an order, the Scottish Ministers—
(a) must consider representations made in accordance with the notice;
(b) may cause a local inquiry to be held into the representations under

section 67 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980.

(8) A reference to an educational endowment includes a reference to—
(a) a scheme made or approved for the endowment under Part 6 of the

Education (Scotland) Act 1980;
(b) in the case of an endowment the governing body of which is entered

in the Scottish Charity Register, a scheme approved for the
endowment under section 39 or 40 of the Charities and Trustee
Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 (asp 10);

(c) an endowment which is, by virtue of section 108(1) of the Education
(Scotland) Act 1980, treated as if it were an educational endowment
(or which would, but for the disapplication of that section by section
122(4) of that Act, be so treated);

(d) a university endowment, the Carnegie Trust, a theological
endowment and a new endowment.

(9) Expressions used in this paragraph and in Part 6 of the Education (Scotland)
Act 1980 have the same meaning in this paragraph as in that Part.

SCHEDULE 15 Section 107

ASSOCIATIONS: REASONABLE ADJUSTMENTS

Preliminary

1 This Schedule applies where a duty to make reasonable adjustments is
imposed on an association (A) by this Part.

The duty

2 (1) A must comply with the first, second and third requirements.

(2) For the purposes of this paragraph, the reference in section 20(3), (4) or (5) to
a disabled person is a reference to disabled persons who—

(a) are, or are seeking to become or might wish to become, members,
(b) are associates, or
(c) are, or are likely to become, guests.

(3) Section 20 has effect as if, in subsection (4), for “to avoid the disadvantage”
there were substituted—

“(a) to avoid the disadvantage, or
(b) to adopt a reasonable alternative method of affording access

to the benefit, facility or service or of admitting persons to
membership or inviting persons as guests.”

(4) In relation to the first and third requirements, the relevant matters are—
(a) access to a benefit, facility or service;

Page 234



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 15 — Associations: reasonable adjustments

195

(b) members’ or associates’ retaining their rights as such or avoiding
having them varied;

(c) being admitted to membership or invited as a guest.

(5) In relation to the second requirement, the relevant matters are—
(a) access to a benefit, facility or service;
(b) being admitted to membership or invited as a guest.

(6) In relation to the second requirement, a physical feature includes a physical
feature brought by or on behalf of A, in the course of or for the purpose of
providing a benefit, facility or service, on to premises other than those that
A occupies (as well as including a physical feature in or on premises that A
occupies).

(7) Nothing in this paragraph requires A to take a step which would
fundamentally alter—

(a) the nature of the benefit, facility or service concerned, or
(b) the nature of the association.

(8) Nor does anything in this paragraph require a member or associate in whose
house meetings of the association take place to make adjustments to a
physical feature of the house.

SCHEDULE 16 Section 107

ASSOCIATIONS: EXCEPTIONS

Single characteristic associations

1 (1) An association does not contravene section 101(1) by restricting membership
to persons who share a protected characteristic.

(2) An association that restricts membership to persons who share a protected
characteristic does not breach section 101(3) by restricting the access by
associates to a benefit, facility or service to such persons as share the
characteristic.

(3) An association that restricts membership to persons who share a protected
characteristic does not breach section 102(1) by inviting as guests, or by
permitting to be invited as guests, only such persons as share the
characteristic.

(4) Sub-paragraphs (1) to (3), so far as relating to race, do not apply in relation
to colour.

(5) This paragraph does not apply to an association that is a registered political
party.

Health and safety

2 (1) An association (A) does not discriminate against a pregnant woman in
contravention of section 101(1)(b) because she is pregnant if—

(a) the terms on which A is prepared to admit her to membership
include a term intended to remove or reduce a risk to her health or
safety,

Page 235



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 16 — Associations: exceptions

196

(b) A reasonably believes that admitting her to membership on terms
which do not include that term would create a risk to her health or
safety,

(c) the terms on which A is prepared to admit persons with other
physical conditions to membership include a term intended to
remove or reduce a risk to their health or safety, and

(d) A reasonably believes that admitting them to membership on terms
which do not include that term would create a risk to their health or
safety.

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies to section 102(1)(b) as it applies to section
101(1)(b); and for that purpose a reference to admitting a person to
membership is to be read as a reference to inviting the person as a guest or
permitting the person to be invited as a guest.

(3) An association (A) does not discriminate against a pregnant woman in
contravention of section 101(2)(a) or (3)(a) or 102(2)(a) because she is
pregnant if—

(a) the way in which A affords her access to a benefit, facility or service
is intended to remove or reduce a risk to her health or safety,

(b) A reasonably believes that affording her access to the benefit, facility
or service otherwise than in that way would create a risk to her
health or safety,

(c) A affords persons with other physical conditions access to the
benefit, facility or service in a way that is intended to remove or
reduce a risk to their health or safety, and

(d) A reasonably believes that affording them access to the benefit,
facility or service otherwise than in that way would create a risk to
their health or safety.

(4) An association (A) which does not afford a pregnant woman access to a
benefit, facility or service does not discriminate against her in contravention
of section 101(2)(a) or (3)(a) or 102(2)(a) because she is pregnant if—

(a) A reasonably believes that affording her access to the benefit, facility
or service would, because she is pregnant, create a risk to her health
or safety,

(b) A does not afford persons with other physical conditions access to
the benefit, facility or service, and

(c) the reason for not doing so is that A reasonably believes that
affording them access to the benefit, facility or service would create
a risk to their health or safety.

(5) An association (A) does not discriminate against a pregnant woman under
section 101(2)(c) or (3)(c) because she is pregnant if—

(a) the variation of A’s terms of membership, or rights as an associate, is
intended to remove or reduce a risk to her health or safety,

(b) A reasonably believes that not making the variation to A’s terms or
rights would create a risk to her health or safety,

(c) A varies the terms of membership, or rights as an associate, of
persons with other physical conditions,

(d) the variation of their terms or rights is intended to remove or reduce
a risk to their health or safety, and

(e) A reasonably believes that not making the variation to their terms or
rights would create a risk to their health or safety.

Page 236



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 17 — Disabled pupils: enforcement
Part 1 — Introductory

197

SCHEDULE 17 Section 116

DISABLED PUPILS: ENFORCEMENT

PART 1

INTRODUCTORY

1 In this Schedule— 
“the Tribunal” means—

(a) in relation to a school in England, the First-tier Tribunal;
(b) in relation to a school in Wales, the Special Educational

Needs Tribunal for Wales;
(c) in relation to a school in Scotland, an Additional Support

Needs Tribunal for Scotland;
“the English Tribunal” means the First-tier Tribunal;
“the Welsh Tribunal” means the Special Educational Needs Tribunal

for Wales;
“the Scottish Tribunal” means an Additional Support Needs Tribunal

for Scotland;
“responsible body” is to be construed in accordance with section 85.

PART 2

TRIBUNALS IN ENGLAND AND WALES

Introductory

2 This Part of this Schedule applies in relation to the English Tribunal and the
Welsh Tribunal.

Jurisdiction

3 A claim that a responsible body has contravened Chapter 1 of Part 6 because
of a person’s disability may be made to the Tribunal by the person’s parent.

Time for bringing proceedings

4 (1) Proceedings on a claim may not be brought after the end of the period of 6
months starting with the date when the conduct complained of occurred.

(2) If, in relation to proceedings or prospective proceedings under section 27 of
the Equality Act 2006, the dispute is referred for conciliation in pursuance of
arrangements under that section before the end of that period, the period is
extended by 3 months.

(3) The Tribunal may consider a claim which is out of time.

(4) Sub-paragraph (3) does not apply if the Tribunal has previously decided
under that sub-paragraph not to consider a claim.

(5) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)—
(a) if the contravention is attributable to a term in a contract, the conduct

is to be treated as extending throughout the duration of the contract;

Page 237



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 17 — Disabled pupils: enforcement

Part 2 — Tribunals in England and Wales

198

(b) conduct extending over a period is to be treated as occurring at the
end of the period;

(c) failure to do something is to be treated as occurring when the person
in question decided on it.

(6) In the absence of evidence to the contrary, a person (P) is to be taken to
decide on failure to do something—

(a) when P acts inconsistently with doing it, or
(b) if P does not act inconsistently, on the expiry of the period in which

P might reasonably have been expected to do it.

Powers

5 (1) This paragraph applies if the Tribunal finds that the contravention has
occurred.

(2) The Tribunal may make such order as it thinks fit.

(3) The power under sub-paragraph (2)—
(a) may, in particular, be exercised with a view to obviating or reducing

the adverse effect on the person of any matter to which the claim
relates;

(b) does not include power to order the payment of compensation.

Procedure

6 (1) This paragraph applies in relation to the Welsh Tribunal.

(2) The Welsh Ministers may by regulations make provision as to—
(a) the proceedings on a claim under paragraph 3;
(b) the making of a claim.

(3) The regulations may, in particular, include provision—
(a) as to the manner in which a claim must be made;
(b) for enabling functions relating to preliminary or incidental matters

(including in particular a decision under paragraph 4(3) to be
performed by the President or by the person occupying the chair);

(c) enabling hearings to be conducted in the absence of a member other
than the person occupying the chair;

(d) as to persons who may appear on behalf of the parties;
(e) for granting such rights to disclosure or inspection of documents or

to further particulars as may be granted by the county court;
(f) requiring persons to attend to give evidence and produce

documents;
(g) for authorising the administration of oaths to witnesses;
(h) for deciding claims without a hearing in prescribed circumstances;
(i) as to the withdrawal of claims;
(j) for enabling the Tribunal to stay proceedings;

(k) for the award of costs or expenses;
(l) for settling costs or expenses (and, in particular, for enabling costs to

be assessed in the county court);
(m) for the registration and proof of decisions and orders;

Page 238



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 17 — Disabled pupils: enforcement
Part 2 — Tribunals in England and Wales

199

(n) for enabling prescribed decisions to be reviewed, or prescribed
orders to be varied or revoked, in such circumstances as may be
decided in accordance with the regulations.

(4) Proceedings must be held in private, except in prescribed circumstances.

(5) The Welsh Ministers may pay such allowances for the purpose of or in
connection with the attendance of persons at the Tribunal as they may
decide.

(6) Part 1 of the Arbitration Act 1996 does not apply to the proceedings, but
regulations may make provision in relation to such proceedings that
corresponds to a provision of that Part.

(7) The regulations may make provision for a claim to be heard, in prescribed
circumstances, with an appeal under Part 4 of the Education Act 1996
(special educational needs).

(8) A person commits an offence by failing to comply with—
(a) a requirement in respect of the disclosure or inspection of documents

imposed by virtue of sub-paragraph (3)(e), or
(b) a requirement imposed by virtue of sub-paragraph (3)(f).

(9) A person guilty of the offence is liable on summary conviction to a fine not
exceeding level 3 on the standard scale.

PART 3

TRIBUNALS IN SCOTLAND

Introductory

7 This Part of this Schedule applies in relation to the Scottish Tribunal.

Jurisdiction

8 A claim that a responsible body has contravened Chapter 1 of Part 6 because
of a person’s disability may be made to the Tribunal by—

(a) the person’s parent;
(b) where the person has capacity to make the claim, the person.

Powers

9 (1) This paragraph applies if the Tribunal finds the contravention has occurred.

(2) The Tribunal may make such order as it thinks fit.

(3) The power under sub-paragraph (2)—
(a) may, in particular, be exercised with a view to obviating or reducing

the adverse effect on the person of any matter to which the claim
relates;

(b) does not include power to order the payment of compensation.

Procedure etc.

10 (1) The Scottish Ministers may make rules as to—
(a) the proceedings on a claim under paragraph 8;

Page 239



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 17 — Disabled pupils: enforcement

Part 3 — Tribunals in Scotland

200

(b) the making of a claim.

(2) The rules may, in particular, include provision for or in connection with—
(a) the form and manner in which a claim must be made;
(b) the time within which a claim is to be made;
(c) the withdrawal of claims;
(d) the recovery and inspection of documents;
(e) the persons who may appear on behalf of the parties;
(f) the persons who may be present at proceedings alongside any party

or witness to support the party or witness;
(g) enabling specified persons other than the parties to appear or be

represented in specified circumstances;
(h) requiring specified persons to give notice to other specified persons

of specified matters;
(i) the time within which any such notice must be given;
(j) enabling Tribunal proceedings to be conducted in the absence of any

member of a Tribunal other than the convener;
(k) enabling any matters that are preliminary or incidental to the

determination of proceedings to be determined by the convenor of a
Tribunal alone or with such other members of the Tribunal as may be
specified;

(l) enabling Tribunals to be held in private;
(m) enabling a Tribunal to exclude any person from attending all or part

of Tribunal proceedings;
(n) enabling a Tribunal to impose reporting restrictions in relation to all

or part of Tribunal proceedings;
(o) enabling a Tribunal to determine specified matters without holding

a hearing;
(p) the recording and publication of decisions and orders of a Tribunal;
(q) enabling a Tribunal to commission medical and other reports in

specified circumstances;
(r) requiring a Tribunal to take specified actions, or to determine

specified proceedings, within specified periods;
(s) enabling a Tribunal to make an award of expenses;
(t) the taxation or assessment of such expenses;

(u) enabling a Tribunal, in specified circumstances, to review, or to vary
or revoke, any of its decisions, orders or awards;

(v) enabling a Tribunal, in specified circumstances, to review the
decisions, orders or awards of another Tribunal and take such action
(including variation and revocation) in respect of those decisions,
orders or awards as it thinks fit.

Appeals

11 (1) Either of the persons specified in sub-paragraph (2) may appeal on a point
of law to the Court of Session against a decision of a Tribunal relating to a
claim under this Schedule.

(2) Those persons are—
(a) the person who made the claim;
(b) the responsible body.

Page 240



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 17 — Disabled pupils: enforcement
Part 3 — Tribunals in Scotland

201

(3) Where the Court of Session allows an appeal under sub-paragraph (1) it
may—

(a) remit the reference back to the Tribunal or to a differently constituted
Tribunal to be considered again and give the Tribunal such
directions about the consideration of the case as the Court thinks fit;

(b) make such ancillary orders as it considers necessary or appropriate.

Amendment of Education (Additional Support for Learning) (Scotland) Act 2004

12 The Education (Additional Support for Learning) (Scotland) Act 2004 (asp 4)
is amended as follows—

(a) in section 17(1), omit “to exercise the functions which are conferred
on a Tribunal by virtue of this Act”;

(b) after section 17(1), insert—

“(1A) Tribunals are to exercise the functions which are conferred on
them by virtue of—

(a) this Act, and
(b) the Equality Act 2010”;

(c) in the definition of “Tribunal functions” in paragraph 1 of Schedule
1, after “Act” insert “or the Equality Act 2010”.

PART 4

ADMISSIONS AND EXCLUSIONS

Admissions

13 (1) This paragraph applies if appeal arrangements have been made in relation
to admissions decisions.

(2) A claim that a responsible body has, because of a person’s disability,
contravened Chapter 1 of Part 6 in respect of an admissions decision must be
made under the appeal arrangements.

(3) The body hearing the claim has the powers it has in relation to an appeal
under the appeal arrangements.

(4) Appeal arrangements are arrangements under—
(a) section 94 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998, or
(b) an agreement between the responsible body for an Academy and the

Secretary of State under section 482 of the Education Act 1996,
enabling an appeal to be made by the person’s parent against the decision.

(5) An admissions decision is—
(a) a decision of a kind mentioned in section 94(1) or (2) of the School

Standards and Framework Act 1998;
(b) a decision as to the admission of a person to an Academy taken by

the responsible body or on its behalf.

Exclusions

14 (1) This paragraph applies if appeal arrangements have been made in relation
to exclusion decisions.

Page 241



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 17 — Disabled pupils: enforcement

Part 4 — Admissions and exclusions

202

(2) A claim that a responsible body has, because of a person’s disability,
contravened Chapter 1 of Part 6 in respect of an exclusion decision must be
made under the appeal arrangements.

(3) The body hearing the claim has the powers it has in relation to an appeal
under the appeal arrangements.

(4) Appeal arrangements are arrangements under—
(a) section 52(3) of the Education Act 2002, or
(b) an agreement between the responsible body for an Academy and the

Secretary of State under section 482 of the Education Act 1996,
enabling an appeal to be made by the person’s parent against the decision.

(5) An exclusion decision is—
(a) a decision of a kind mentioned in 52(3) of the Education Act 2002;
(b) a decision taken by the responsible body or on its behalf not to

reinstate a pupil who has been permanently excluded from an
Academy by its head teacher.

(6) “Responsible body”, in relation to a maintained school, includes the
discipline committee of the governing body if that committee is required to
be established as a result of regulations made under section 19 of the
Education Act 2002.

(7) “Maintained school” has the meaning given in section 20(7) of the School
Standards and Framework Act 1998.

SCHEDULE 18 Section 149

PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY: EXCEPTIONS

Children

1 (1) Section 149, so far as relating to age, does not apply to the exercise of a
function relating to—

(a) the provision of education to pupils in schools;
(b) the provision of benefits, facilities or services to pupils in schools;
(c) the provision of accommodation, benefits, facilities or services in

community homes pursuant to section 53(1) of the Children Act
1989;

(d) the provision of accommodation, benefits, facilities or services
pursuant to arrangements under section 82(5) of that Act
(arrangements by the Secretary of State relating to the
accommodation of children);

(e) the provision of accommodation, benefits, facilities or services in
residential establishments pursuant to section 26(1)(b) of the
Children (Scotland) Act 1995.

(2) “Pupil” and “school” each have the same meaning as in Chapter 1 of Part 6.

Page 242



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 18 — Public sector equality duty: exceptions

203

Immigration

2 (1) In relation to the exercise of immigration and nationality functions, section
149 has effect as if subsection (1)(b) did not apply to the protected
characteristics of age, race or religion or belief; but for that purpose “race”
means race so far as relating to—

(a) nationality, or
(b) ethnic or national origins.

(2) “Immigration and nationality functions” means functions exercisable by
virtue of—

(a) the Immigration Acts (excluding sections 28A to 28K of the
Immigration Act 1971 so far as they relate to criminal offences),

(b) the British Nationality Act 1981,
(c) the British Nationality (Falkland Islands) Act 1983,
(d) the British Nationality (Hong Kong) Act 1990,
(e) the Hong Kong (War Wives and Widows) Act 1996,
(f) the British Nationality (Hong Kong) Act 1997,
(g) the Special Immigration Appeals Commission Act 1997, or
(h) a provision made under section 2(2) of the European Communities

Act 1972, or of Community law, which relates to the subject matter
of an enactment within paragraphs (a) to (g).

Judicial functions, etc.

3 (1) Section 149 does not apply to the exercise of—
(a) a judicial function;
(b) a function exercised on behalf of, or on the instructions of, a person

exercising a judicial function.

(2) The references to a judicial function include a reference to a judicial function
conferred on a person other than a court or tribunal.

Exceptions that are specific to section 149(2)

4 (1) Section 149(2) (application of section 149(1) to persons who are not public
authorities but by whom public functions are exercisable) does not apply
to—

(a) a person listed in sub-paragraph (2);
(b) the exercise of a function listed in sub-paragraph (3).

(2) Those persons are—
(a) the House of Commons;
(b) the House of Lords;
(c) the Scottish Parliament;
(d) the National Assembly for Wales;
(e) the General Synod of the Church of England;
(f) the Security Service;
(g) the Secret Intelligence Service;
(h) the Government Communications Headquarters;

Page 243



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 18 — Public sector equality duty: exceptions

204

(i) a part of the armed forces which is, in accordance with a requirement
of the Secretary of State, assisting the Government Communications
Headquarters.

(3) Those functions are—
(a) a function in connection with proceedings in the House of Commons

or the House of Lords;
(b) a function in connection with proceedings in the Scottish Parliament

(other than a function of the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body);
(c) a function in connection with proceedings in the National Assembly

for Wales (other than a function of the Assembly Commission).

Power to amend Schedule

5 (1) A Minister of the Crown may by order amend this Schedule so as to add,
vary or omit an exception to section 149.

(2) But provision by virtue of sub-paragraph (1) may not amend this Schedule—
(a) so as to omit an exception in paragraph 3;
(b) so as to omit an exception in paragraph 4(1) so far as applying for the

purposes of paragraph 4(2)(a) to (e) or (3);
(c) so as to reduce the extent to which an exception referred to in

paragraph (a) or (b) applies.

SCHEDULE 19 Section 150

PUBLIC AUTHORITIES

PART 1

PUBLIC AUTHORITIES: GENERAL

Ministers of the Crown and government departments

A Minister of the Crown.
A government department other than the Security Service, the Secret

Intelligence Service or the Government Communications
Headquarters.

Armed forces

Any of the armed forces other than any part of the armed forces which is,
in accordance with a requirement of the Secretary of State, assisting the
Government Communications Headquarters.

National Health Service

A Strategic Health Authority established under section 13 of the National
Health Service Act 2006, or continued in existence by virtue of that
section.

A Primary Care Trust established under section 18 of that Act, or
continued in existence by virtue of that section.

Page 244



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 19 — Public authorities
Part 1 — Public authorities: general

205

An NHS trust established under section 25 of that Act.
A Special Health Authority established under section 28 of that Act other

than NHS Blood and Transplant and the NHS Business Services
Authority.

An NHS foundation trust within the meaning given by section 30 of that
Act.

Local government

A county council, district council or parish council in England.
A parish meeting constituted under section 13 of the Local Government

Act 1972.
Charter trustees constituted under section 246 of that Act for an area in

England.
The Greater London Authority.
A London borough council.
The Common Council of the City of London in its capacity as a local

authority or port health authority.
The Sub-Treasurer of the Inner Temple or the Under-Treasurer of the

Middle Temple, in that person’s capacity as a local authority.
The London Development Agency.
The London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority.
Transport for London.
The Council of the Isles of Scilly.
The Broads Authority established by section 1 of the Norfolk and Suffolk

Broads Act 1988.
A regional development agency established by the Regional

Development Agencies Act 1998 (other than the London Development
Agency).

A fire and rescue authority constituted by a scheme under section 2 of the
Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004, or a scheme to which section 4 of that
Act applies, for an area in England.

An internal drainage board which is continued in being by virtue of
section 1 of the Land Drainage Act 1991 for an area in England.

A National Park authority established by an order under section 63 of the
Environment Act 1995 for an area in England.

A Passenger Transport Executive for an integrated transport area in
England (within the meaning of Part 2 of the Transport Act 1968).

A port health authority constituted by an order under section 2 of the
Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984 for an area in England.

A waste disposal authority established by virtue of an order under section
10(1) of the Local Government Act 1985.

A joint authority established under Part 4 of that Act for an area in
England (including, by virtue of section 77(9) of the Local Transport Act
2008, an Integrated Transport Authority established under Part 5 of
that Act of 2008).

A body corporate established pursuant to an order under section 67 of the
Local Government Act 1985.

A joint committee constituted in accordance with section 102(1)(b) of the
Local Government Act 1972 for an area in England.

Page 245



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 19 — Public authorities

Part 1 — Public authorities: general

206

A joint board which is continued in being by virtue of section 263(1) of
that Act for an area in England.

Other educational bodies

The governing body of an educational establishment maintained by an
English local authority (within the meaning of section 162 of the
Education and Inspections Act 2006).

The governing body of an institution in England within the further
education sector (within the meaning of section 91(3) of the Further and
Higher Education Act 1992).

The governing body of an institution in England within the higher
education sector (within the meaning of section 91(5) of that Act).

Police

A police authority established under section 3 of the Police Act 1996.
The Metropolitan Police Authority established under section 5B of that

Act.
The Common Council of the City of London in its capacity as a police

authority.

PART 2

PUBLIC AUTHORITIES: RELEVANT WELSH AUTHORITIES

Welsh Assembly Government, etc.

The Welsh Ministers.
The First Minister for Wales.
The Counsel General to the Welsh Assembly Government.
A subsidiary of the Welsh Ministers (within the meaning given by section

134(4) of the Government of Wales Act 2006).

National Health Service

A Local Health Board established under section 11 of the National Health
Service (Wales) Act 2006.

An NHS trust established under section 18 of that Act.
A Special Health Authority established under section 22 of that Act other

than NHS Blood and Transplant and the NHS Business Services
Authority.

A Community Health Council in Wales.

Local government

A county council, county borough council or community council in
Wales.

Charter trustees constituted under section 246 of the Local Government
Act 1972 for an area in Wales.

A fire and rescue authority constituted by a scheme under section 2 of the
Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004, or a scheme to which section 4 of that
Act applies, for an area in Wales.

Page 246



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 19 — Public authorities
Part 2 — Public authorities: relevant Welsh authorities

207

An internal drainage board which is continued in being by virtue of
section 1 of the Land Drainage Act 1991 for an area in Wales.

A National Park authority established by an order under section 63 of the
Environment Act 1995 for an area in Wales.

A port health authority constituted by an order under section 2 of the
Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984 for an area in Wales.

A joint authority established under Part 4 of the Local Government Act
1985 for an area in Wales.

A joint committee constituted in accordance with section 102(1)(b) of the
Local Government Act 1972 for an area in Wales.

A joint board which is continued in being by virtue of section 263(1) of
that Act for an area in Wales.

Other educational bodies

The governing body of an educational establishment maintained by a
Welsh local authority (within the meaning of section 162 of the
Education and Inspections Act 2006).

The governing body of an institution in Wales within the further
education sector (within the meaning of section 91(3) of the Further and
Higher Education Act 1992).

The governing body of an institution in Wales within the higher
education sector (within the meaning of section 91(5) of that Act).

PART 3

PUBLIC AUTHORITIES: RELEVANT SCOTTISH AUTHORITIES

Scottish Administration

An office-holder in the Scottish Administration (within the meaning
given by section 126(7)(a) of the Scotland Act 1998).

National Health Service

A Health Board constituted under section 2 of the National Health Service
(Scotland) Act 1978.

A Special Health Board constituted under that section.

Local government

A council constituted under section 2 of the Local Government etc.
(Scotland) Act 1994.

A community council established under section 51 of the Local
Government (Scotland) Act 1973.

A joint board within the meaning of section 235(1) of that Act.
A joint fire and rescue board constituted by a scheme under section 2(1)

of the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005.
A licensing board established under section 5 of the Licensing (Scotland)

Act 2005, or continued in being by virtue of that section.
A National Park authority established by a designation order made under

section 6 of the National Parks (Scotland) Act 2000.

Page 247



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 19 — Public authorities

Part 3 — Public authorities: relevant Scottish authorities

208

Scottish Enterprise and Highlands and Islands Enterprise, established
under the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990.

Other educational bodies

An education authority in Scotland (within the meaning of section 135(1)
of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980).

The managers of a grant-aided school (within the meaning of that
section).

The board of management of a college of further education (within the
meaning of section 36(1) of the Further and Higher Education
(Scotland) Act 1992).

In the case of such a college of further education not under the
management of a board of management, the board of governors of the
college or any person responsible for the management of the college,
whether or not formally constituted as a governing body or board of
governors.

The governing body of an institution within the higher education sector
(within the meaning of Part 2 of the Further and Higher Education
(Scotland) Act 1992).

Police

A police authority established under section 2 of the Police (Scotland) Act
1967.

SCHEDULE 20 Section 186

RAIL VEHICLE ACCESSIBILITY: COMPLIANCE

Rail vehicle accessibility compliance certificates

1 (1) A regulated rail vehicle which is prescribed, or is of a prescribed class or
description, must not be used for carriage unless a compliance certificate is
in force for the vehicle.

(2) A “compliance certificate” is a certificate that the Secretary of State is
satisfied that the regulated rail vehicle conforms with the provisions of rail
vehicle accessibility regulations with which it is required to conform.

(3) A compliance certificate is subject to such conditions as are specified in it.

(4) A compliance certificate may not be issued for a rail vehicle unless the
Secretary of State has been provided with a report of a compliance
assessment of the vehicle.

(5) A “compliance assessment” is an assessment of a rail vehicle against
provisions of rail vehicle accessibility regulations with which the vehicle is
required to conform.

(6) If a regulated rail vehicle is used for carriage in contravention of sub-
paragraph (1), the Secretary of State may require the operator of the vehicle
to pay a penalty.

Page 248



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 20 — Rail vehicle accessibility: compliance

209

(7) The Secretary of State must review a decision not to issue a compliance
certificate if before the end of the prescribed period the applicant—

(a) asks the Secretary of State to review the decision, and
(b) pays any fee fixed under paragraph 4.

(8) For the purposes of the review, the Secretary of State must consider any
representations made by the applicant in writing before the end of the
prescribed period.

Regulations as to compliance certificates

2 (1) Regulations may make provision as to compliance certificates.

(2) The regulations may (in particular) include provision—
(a) as to applications for and issue of certificates;
(b) specifying conditions to which certificates are subject;
(c) as to the period for which a certificate is in force;
(d) as to circumstances in which a certificate ceases to be in force;
(e) dealing with failure to comply with a specified condition;
(f) for the examination of rail vehicles in respect of which applications

have been made;
(g) with respect to the issue of copies of certificates in place of those

which have been lost or destroyed.

Regulations as to compliance assessments

3 (1) Regulations may make provision as to compliance assessments.

(2) The regulations—
(a) may make provision as to the person who has to have carried out the

assessment;
(b) may (in particular) require that the assessment be one carried out by

a person who has been appointed by the Secretary of State to carry
out compliance assessments (an “appointed assessor”).

(3) For the purposes of any provisions in the regulations made by virtue of sub-
paragraph (2)(b), the regulations—

(a) may make provision about appointments of appointed assessors,
including (in particular)—

(i) provision for an appointment to be on application or
otherwise than on application;

(ii) provision as to who may be appointed;
(iii) provision as to the form of applications for appointment;
(iv) provision as to information to be supplied with applications

for appointment;
(v) provision as to terms and conditions, or the period or

termination, of an appointment;
(vi) provision for terms and conditions of an appointment,

including any as to its period or termination, to be as agreed
by the Secretary of State when making the appointment;

(b) may make provision authorising an appointed assessor to charge
fees in connection with, or incidental to, the carrying out of a
compliance assessment, including (in particular)—

Page 249



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 20 — Rail vehicle accessibility: compliance

210

(i) provision restricting the amount of a fee;
(ii) provision authorising fees that contain a profit element;

(iii) provision for advance payment of fees;
(c) may make provision requiring an appointed assessor to carry out a

compliance assessment, and to do so in accordance with any
procedures that may be prescribed, if prescribed conditions (which
may include conditions as to the payment of fees to the assessor) are
satisfied;

(d) must make provision for the referral to the Secretary of State of
disputes between—

(i) an appointed assessor carrying out a compliance assessment,
and

(ii) the person who requested the assessment,
relating to which provisions of rail vehicle accessibility regulations
the vehicle is to be assessed against or to what amounts to conformity
with any of those provisions.

(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(b) to (d) a compliance assessment
includes pre-assessment activities (for example, a consideration of how the
outcome of a compliance assessment would be affected by the carrying out
of particular proposed work).

Fees in respect of compliance certificates

4 (1) The Secretary of State may charge such fees, payable at such times, as are
prescribed in respect of—

(a) applications for, and the issue of, compliance certificates;
(b) copies of compliance certificates;
(c) reviews under paragraph 1(7);
(d) referrals of disputes under provision made by virtue of paragraph

3(3)(d).

(2) Fees received by the Secretary of State must be paid into the Consolidated
Fund.

(3) Regulations under this paragraph may make provision for the repayment of
fees, in whole or in part, in such circumstances as are prescribed.

(4) Before making regulations under this paragraph the Secretary of State must
consult such representative organisations as the Secretary of State thinks fit.

Penalty for using rail vehicle that does not conform with accessibility regulations

5 (1) If the Secretary of State thinks that a regulated rail vehicle does not conform
with a provision of rail vehicle accessibility regulations with which it is
required to conform, the Secretary of State may give the operator of the
vehicle a notice—

(a) identifying the vehicle, the provision and how the vehicle fails to
conform;

(b) specifying the improvement deadline.

(2) The improvement deadline may not be earlier than the end of the prescribed
period beginning with the day the notice is given.

(3) Sub-paragraph (4) applies if—

Page 250



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 20 — Rail vehicle accessibility: compliance

211

(a) the Secretary of State has given a notice under sub-paragraph (1),
(b) the improvement deadline specified in the notice has passed, and
(c) the Secretary of State thinks that the vehicle still does not conform

with the provision identified in the notice.

(4) The Secretary of State may give the operator a further notice—
(a) identifying the vehicle, the provision and how the vehicle fails to

conform;
(b) specifying the final deadline.

(5) The final deadline may not be earlier than the end of the prescribed period
beginning with the day the further notice is given.

(6) The Secretary of State may require the operator to pay a penalty if—
(a) the Secretary of State has given notice under sub-paragraph (4), and
(b) the vehicle is used for carriage at a time after the final deadline when

the vehicle does not conform with the provision identified in the
notice.

Penalty for using rail vehicle otherwise than in conformity with accessibility regulations

6 (1) If the Secretary of State thinks that a regulated rail vehicle has been used for
carriage otherwise than in conformity with a provision of rail vehicle
accessibility regulations with which the use of the vehicle is required to
conform, the Secretary of State may give the operator of the vehicle a
notice—

(a) identifying the provision and how it was breached;
(b) identifying each vehicle operated by the operator that is covered by

the notice;
(c) specifying the improvement deadline.

(2) The improvement deadline may not be earlier than the end of the prescribed
period beginning with the day the notice is given.

(3) Sub-paragraph (4) applies if—
(a) the Secretary of State has given a notice under sub-paragraph (1),
(b) the improvement deadline specified in the notice has passed, and
(c) the Secretary of State thinks that a vehicle covered by the notice has

after that deadline been used for carriage otherwise than in
conformity with the provision identified in the notice.

(4) The Secretary of State may give the operator a further notice—
(a) identifying the provision and how it was breached;
(b) identifying each vehicle operated by the operator that is covered by

the further notice;
(c) specifying the final deadline.

(5) The final deadline may not be earlier than the end of the prescribed period
beginning with the day the further notice is given.

(6) The Secretary of State may require the operator to pay a penalty if—
(a) the Secretary of State has given notice under sub-paragraph (4), and
(b) a vehicle covered by the notice is at a time after the final deadline

used for carriage otherwise than in conformity with the provision
identified in the notice.

Page 251



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 20 — Rail vehicle accessibility: compliance

212

Inspection of rail vehicles

7 (1) If the condition in sub-paragraph (2) is satisfied, a person authorised by the
Secretary of State (an “inspector”) may inspect a regulated rail vehicle for
conformity with provisions of the accessibility regulations with which it is
required to conform.

(2) The condition is that the Secretary of State—
(a) has reasonable grounds for suspecting that the vehicle does not

conform with such provisions, or
(b) has given a notice under paragraph 5(1) or (4) relating to the vehicle.

(3) For the purpose of exercising the power under sub-paragraph (1) an
inspector may—

(a) enter premises if the inspector has reasonable grounds for suspecting
that the vehicle is at the premises;

(b) enter the vehicle;
(c) require any person to afford such facilities and assistance with

respect to matters under the person’s control as are necessary to
enable the inspector to exercise the power.

(4) An inspector must, if required to do so, produce evidence of the Secretary of
State’s authorisation.

(5) For the purposes of paragraph 5(1) the Secretary of State may draw such
inferences as appear proper from any obstruction of the exercise of the
power under sub-paragraph (1).

(6) Sub-paragraphs (7) and (8) apply if the power under sub-paragraph (1) is
exercisable by virtue of sub-paragraph (2)(b).

(7) The Secretary of State may treat paragraph 5(3)(c) as satisfied in relation to a
vehicle if—

(a) the inspector takes steps to exercise the power after a notice is given
under paragraph 5(1) but before a notice is given under paragraph
5(4), and

(b) a person obstructs the exercise of the power.

(8) The Secretary of State may require the operator of a vehicle to pay a penalty
if—

(a) the operator, or a person acting on the operator’s behalf,
intentionally obstructs the exercise of the power, and

(b) the obstruction occurs after a notice has been given under paragraph
5(4) in respect of the vehicle.

(9) In this paragraph “inspect” includes test.

Supplementary powers

8 (1) For the purposes of paragraph 5 the Secretary of State may give notice to a
person requiring the person to supply the Secretary of State by a time
specified in the notice with a vehicle number or other identifier for a rail
vehicle—

(a) of which the person is the operator, and
(b) which is specified in the notice.

Page 252



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 20 — Rail vehicle accessibility: compliance

213

(2) The time specified may not be earlier than the end of the period of 14 days
beginning with the day the notice is given.

(3) If the person does not comply with the notice, the Secretary of State may
require the person to pay a penalty.

(4) If the Secretary of State has given a notice to a person under paragraph 5(1)
or 6(1), the Secretary of State may request the person to supply the Secretary
of State, by a time specified in the request, with a statement detailing the
steps taken in response to the notice.

(5) The time specified may not be earlier than the improvement deadline.

(6) The Secretary of State may treat paragraph 5(3)(c) or (as the case may be)
paragraph 6(3)(c) as being satisfied in relation to a vehicle if a request under
sub-paragraph (4) is not complied with by the time specified.

Penalties: amount, due date and recovery

9 (1) In this paragraph and paragraphs 10 to 12 “penalty” means a penalty under
this Schedule.

(2) The amount of a penalty must not exceed whichever is the lesser of—
(a) the maximum prescribed for the purposes of this sub-paragraph;
(b) 10% of the turnover of the person on whom it is imposed.

(3) Turnover is to be determined by such means as are prescribed.

(4) A penalty must be paid to the Secretary of State before the end of the
prescribed period.

(5) A sum payable as a penalty may be recovered as a debt due to the Secretary
of State.

(6) In proceedings for recovery of a penalty no question may be raised as to—
(a) liability to the penalty;
(b) its amount.

(7) Sums paid to the Secretary of State as a penalty must be paid into the
Consolidated Fund.

Penalties: code of practice

10 (1) The Secretary of State must issue a code of practice specifying matters to be
considered in determining the amount of a penalty.

(2) The Secretary of State may—
(a) revise the whole or part of the code;
(b) issue the code as revised.

(3) Before issuing the code the Secretary of State must lay a draft of it before
Parliament.

(4) After laying the draft before Parliament, the Secretary of State may bring the
code into operation by order.

(5) The Secretary of State must have regard to the code and any other relevant
matter—

(a) when imposing a penalty;

Page 253



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 20 — Rail vehicle accessibility: compliance

214

(b) when considering an objection under paragraph 11.

(6) In sub-paragraphs (3) to (5) a reference to the code includes a reference to the
code as revised.

Penalties: procedure

11 (1) If the Secretary of State decides that a person is liable to a penalty the
Secretary of State must notify the person.

(2) The notification must—
(a) state the Secretary of State’s reasons for the decision;
(b) state the amount of the penalty;
(c) specify the date by which and manner in which the penalty must be

paid;
(d) explain how the person may object to the penalty.

(3) The person may give the Secretary of State notice of objection to the penalty
on the ground that—

(a) the person is not liable to the penalty, or
(b) the amount of the penalty is too high.

(4) A notice of objection must—
(a) be in writing;
(b) give the reasons for the objection;
(c) be given before the end of the period prescribed for the purposes of

this sub-paragraph.

(5) On considering a notice of objection the Secretary of State may—
(a) cancel the penalty;
(b) reduce the amount of the penalty;
(c) do neither of those things.

(6) The Secretary of State must inform the objector of the decision under sub-
paragraph (5) before the end of the period prescribed for the purposes of this
sub-paragraph (or such longer period as is agreed with the objector).

Penalties: appeals

12 (1) A person may appeal to the court against a penalty on the ground that—
(a) the person is not liable to the penalty;
(b) the amount of the penalty is too high.

(2) The court may—
(a) allow the appeal and cancel the penalty;
(b) allow the appeal and reduce the amount of the penalty;
(c) dismiss the appeal.

(3) An appeal under this section is a re-hearing of the Secretary of State’s
decision and is to be determined having regard to—

(a) any code of practice under paragraph 10 which has effect at the time
of the appeal;

(b) any other matter which the court thinks is relevant (whether or not
the Secretary of State was aware of it).

Page 254



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 20 — Rail vehicle accessibility: compliance

215

(4) An appeal may be brought under this section whether or not—
(a) the person has given notice of objection under paragraph 11(3);
(b) the penalty has been reduced under paragraph 11(5).

(5) In this section “the court” is—
(a) in England and Wales, a county court;
(b) in Scotland, the sheriff.

(6) The sheriff may transfer the proceedings to the Court of Session.

(7) If the sheriff makes a determination under sub-paragraph (2), a party to the
proceedings may appeal against the determination on a point of law to—

(a) the Sheriff Principal, or
(b) the Court of Session.

Forgery, etc.

13 (1) Section 188 has effect—
(a) as if a compliance certificate were a “relevant document”;
(b) as if subsection (4) included a reference to a compliance certificate.

(2) A person commits an offence by pretending, with intent to deceive, to be a
person authorised to exercise a power under paragraph 7.

(3) A person guilty of an offence under sub-paragraph (2) is liable on summary
conviction to a fine not exceeding level 4 on the standard scale.

Regulations

14 A power to make regulations under this Schedule is exercisable by the
Secretary of State.

Interpretation

15 (1) In this Schedule—
“compliance assessment” has the meaning given in paragraph 1(5);
“compliance certificate” has the meaning given in paragraph 1(2);
“operator”, in relation to a rail vehicle, means the person having the

management of the vehicle.

(2) If an exemption order under section 183 authorises the use of a rail vehicle
even though the vehicle does not conform with a provision of rail vehicle
accessibility regulations, a reference in this Schedule to provisions of rail
vehicle accessibility regulations with which the vehicle is required to
conform does not, in relation to the vehicle, include a reference to that
provision.

Page 255



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 21 — Reasonable adjustments: supplementary

216

SCHEDULE 21 Section 189

REASONABLE ADJUSTMENTS: SUPPLEMENTARY

Preliminary

1 This Schedule applies for the purposes of Schedules 2, 4, 8, 13 and 15.

Binding obligations, etc.

2 (1) This paragraph applies if—
(a) a binding obligation requires A to obtain the consent of another

person to an alteration of premises which A occupies,
(b) where A is a controller of let premises, a binding obligation requires

A to obtain the consent of another person to a variation of a term of
the tenancy, or

(c) where A is a responsible person in relation to common parts, a
binding obligation requires A to obtain the consent of another person
to an alteration of the common parts.

(2) For the purpose of discharging a duty to make reasonable adjustments—
(a) it is always reasonable for A to have to take steps to obtain the

consent, but
(b) it is never reasonable for A to have to make the alteration before the

consent is obtained.

(3) In this Schedule, a binding obligation is a legally binding obligation in
relation to premises, however arising; but the reference to a binding
obligation in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or (c) does not include a reference to an
obligation imposed by a tenancy.

(4) The steps referred to in sub-paragraph (2)(a) do not include applying to a
court or tribunal.

Landlord’s consent

3 (1) This paragraph applies if—
(a) A occupies premises under a tenancy,
(b) A is proposing to make an alteration to the premises so as to comply

with a duty to make reasonable adjustments, and
(c) but for this paragraph, A would not be entitled to make the

alteration.

(2) This paragraph also applies if—
(a) A is a responsible person in relation to common parts,
(b) A is proposing to make an alteration to the common parts so as to

comply with a duty to make reasonable adjustments,
(c) A is the tenant of property which includes the common parts, and
(d) but for this paragraph, A would not be entitled to make the

alteration.

(3) The tenancy has effect as if it provided—
(a) for A to be entitled to make the alteration with the written consent of

the landlord,

Page 256



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 21 — Reasonable adjustments: supplementary

217

(b) for A to have to make a written application for that consent,
(c) for the landlord not to withhold the consent unreasonably, and
(d) for the landlord to be able to give the consent subject to reasonable

conditions.

(4) If a question arises as to whether A has made the alteration (and,
accordingly, complied with a duty to make reasonable adjustments), any
constraint attributable to the tenancy must be ignored unless A has applied
to the landlord in writing for consent to the alteration.

(5) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) or (2), A must be treated as not
entitled to make the alteration if the tenancy—

(a) imposes conditions which are to apply if A makes an alteration, or
(b) entitles the landlord to attach conditions to a consent to the

alteration.

Proceedings before county court or sheriff

4 (1) This paragraph applies if, in a case within Part 3, 4, 6 or 7 of this Act—
(a) A has applied in writing to the landlord for consent to the alteration,

and
(b) the landlord has refused to give consent or has given consent subject

to a condition.

(2) A (or a disabled person with an interest in the alteration being made) may
refer the matter to a county court or, in Scotland, the sheriff.

(3) The county court or sheriff must determine whether the refusal or condition
is unreasonable.

(4) If the county court or sheriff finds that the refusal or condition is
unreasonable, the county court or sheriff—

(a) may make such declaration as it thinks appropriate;
(b) may make an order authorising A to make the alteration specified in

the order (and requiring A to comply with such conditions as are so
specified).

Joining landlord as party to proceedings

5 (1) This paragraph applies to proceedings relating to a contravention of this Act
by virtue of section 20.

(2) A party to the proceedings may request the employment tribunal, county
court or sheriff (“the judicial authority”) to direct that the landlord is joined
or sisted as a party to the proceedings.

(3) The judicial authority—
(a) must grant the request if it is made before the hearing of the

complaint or claim begins;
(b) may refuse the request if it is made after the hearing begins;
(c) must refuse the request if it is made after the complaint or claim has

been determined.

(4) If the landlord is joined or sisted as a party to the proceedings, the judicial
authority may determine whether—

(a) the landlord has refused to consent to the alteration;

Page 257



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 21 — Reasonable adjustments: supplementary

218

(b) the landlord has consented subject to a condition;
(c) the refusal or condition was unreasonable.

(5) If the judicial authority finds that the refusal or condition was unreasonable,
it—

(a) may make such declaration as it thinks appropriate;
(b) may make an order authorising A to make the alteration specified in

the order (and requiring A to comply with such conditions as are so
specified);

(c) may order the landlord to pay compensation to the complainant or
claimant.

(6) An employment tribunal may act in reliance on sub-paragraph (5)(c) instead
of, or in addition to, acting in reliance on section 124(2); but if it orders the
landlord to pay compensation it must not do so in reliance on section 124(2).

(7) If a county court or the sheriff orders the landlord to pay compensation, it
may not order A to do so.

Regulations

6 (1) Regulations may make provision as to circumstances in which a landlord is
taken for the purposes of this Schedule to have—

(a) withheld consent;
(b) withheld consent reasonably;
(c) withheld consent unreasonably.

(2) Regulations may make provision as to circumstances in which a condition
subject to which a landlord gives consent is taken—

(a) to be reasonable;
(b) to be unreasonable.

(3) Regulations may make provision supplementing or modifying the
preceding paragraphs of this Schedule, or provision made under this
paragraph, in relation to a case where A’s tenancy is a sub-tenancy.

(4) Provision made by virtue of this paragraph may amend the preceding
paragraphs of this Schedule.

Interpretation

7 An expression used in this Schedule and in Schedule 2, 4, 8, 13 or 15 has the
same meaning in this Schedule as in that Schedule.

SCHEDULE 22 Section 191

STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Statutory authority

1 (1) A person (P) does not contravene a provision specified in the first column of
the table, so far as relating to the protected characteristic specified in the
second column in respect of that provision, if P does anything P must do
pursuant to a requirement specified in the third column.

Page 258



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 22 — Statutory provisions

219

(2) A reference in the table to Part 6 does not include a reference to that Part so
far as relating to vocational training.

(3) In this paragraph a reference to an enactment includes a reference to—
(a) a Measure of the General Synod of the Church of England;
(b) an enactment passed or made on or after the date on which this Act

is passed.

(4) In the table, a relevant requirement or condition is a requirement or
condition imposed (whether before or after the passing of this Act) by—

(a) a Minister of the Crown;
(b) a member of the Scottish Executive;
(c) the National Assembly for Wales (constituted by the Government of

Wales Act 1998);
(d) the Welsh Ministers, the First Minister for Wales or the Counsel

General to the Welsh Assembly Government.

Protection of women

2 (1) A person (P) does not contravene a specified provision only by doing in
relation to a woman (W) anything P is required to do to comply with—

(a) a pre-1975 Act enactment concerning the protection of women;
(b) a relevant statutory provision (within the meaning of Part 1 of the

Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974) if it is done for the purpose
of the protection of W (or a description of women which includes W);

Specified provision Protected 
characteristic

Requirement

Parts 3 to 7 Age A requirement of an enactment

Parts 3 to 7 and 12 Disability A requirement of an enactment

A relevant requirement or
condition imposed by virtue of
an enactment

Parts 3 to 7 Religion or belief A requirement of an enactment

A relevant requirement or
condition imposed by virtue of
an enactment

Section 29(6) and
Parts 6 and 7

Sex A requirement of an enactment

Parts 3, 4, 6 and 7 Sexual orientation A requirement of an enactment

A relevant requirement or
condition imposed by virtue of
an enactment

Page 259



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 22 — Statutory provisions

220

(c) a requirement of a provision specified in Schedule 1 to the
Employment Act 1989 (provisions concerned with protection of
women at work).

(2) The references to the protection of women are references to protecting
women in relation to—

(a) pregnancy or maternity, or
(b) any other circumstances giving rise to risks specifically affecting

women.

(3) It does not matter whether the protection is restricted to women.

(4) These are the specified provisions—
(a) Part 5 (work);
(b) Part 6 (education), so far as relating to vocational training.

(5) A pre-1975 Act enactment is an enactment contained in—
(a) an Act passed before the Sex Discrimination Act 1975;
(b) an instrument approved or made by or under such an Act (including

one approved or made after the passing of the 1975 Act).

(6) If an Act repeals and re-enacts (with or without modification) a pre-1975
enactment then the provision re-enacted must be treated as being in a pre-
1975 enactment.

(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(c), a reference to a provision in
Schedule 1 to the Employment Act 1989 includes a reference to a provision
for the time being having effect in place of it.

(8) This paragraph applies only to the following protected characteristics—
(a) pregnancy and maternity;
(b) sex.

Educational appointments, etc: religious belief

3 (1) A person does not contravene Part 5 (work) only by doing a relevant act in
connection with the employment of another in a relevant position.

(2) A relevant position is—
(a) the head teacher or principal of an educational establishment;
(b) the head, a fellow or other member of the academic staff of a college,

or institution in the nature of a college, in a university;
(c) a professorship of a university which is a canon professorship or one

to which a canonry is annexed.

(3) A relevant act is anything it is necessary to do to comply with—
(a) a requirement of an instrument relating to the establishment that the

head teacher or principal must be a member of a particular religious
order;

(b) a requirement of an instrument relating to the college or institution
that the holder of the position must be a woman;

(c) an Act or instrument in accordance with which the professorship is
a canon professorship or one to which a canonry is annexed.

Page 260



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 22 — Statutory provisions

221

(4) Sub-paragraph (3)(b) does not apply to an instrument taking effect on or
after 16 January 1990 (the day on which section 5(3) of the Employment Act
1989 came into force).

(5) A Minister of the Crown may by order provide that anything in sub-
paragraphs (1) to (3) does not have effect in relation to—

(a) a specified educational establishment or university;
(b) a specified description of educational establishments.

(6) An educational establishment is—
(a) a school within the meaning of the Education Act 1996 or the

Education (Scotland) Act 1980;
(b) a college, or institution in the nature of a college, in a university;
(c) an institution designated by order made, or having effect as if made,

under section 129 of the Education Reform Act 1988;
(d) a college of further education within the meaning of section 36 of the

Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992;
(e) a university in Scotland;
(f) an institution designated by order under section 28 of the Further

and Higher Education Act 1992 or section 44 of the Further and
Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992.

(7) This paragraph does not affect paragraph 2 of Schedule 9.

4 A person does not contravene this Act only by doing anything which is
permitted for the purposes of—

(a) section 58(6) or (7) of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998
(dismissal of teachers because of failure to give religious education
efficiently);

(b) section 60(4) and (5) of that Act (religious considerations relating to
certain appointments);

(c) section 124A of that Act (preference for certain teachers at
independent schools of a religious character).

Crown employment, etc.

5 (1) A person does not contravene this Act—
(a) by making or continuing in force rules mentioned in sub-paragraph

(2);
(b) by publishing, displaying or implementing such rules;
(c) by publishing the gist of such rules.

(2) The rules are rules restricting to persons of particular birth, nationality,
descent or residence—

(a) employment in the service of the Crown;
(b) employment by a prescribed public body;
(c) holding a public office (within the meaning of section 50).

(3) The power to make regulations for the purpose of sub-paragraph (2)(b) is
exercisable by the Minister for the Civil Service.

(4) In this paragraph “public body” means a body (whether corporate or
unincorporated) exercising public functions (within the meaning given by
section 31(4)).

Page 261



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 23 — General exceptions

222

SCHEDULE 23 Section 196

GENERAL EXCEPTIONS

Acts authorised by statute or the executive

1 (1) This paragraph applies to anything done—
(a) in pursuance of an enactment;
(b) in pursuance of an instrument made by a member of the executive

under an enactment;
(c) to comply with a requirement imposed (whether before or after the

passing of this Act) by a member of the executive by virtue of an
enactment;

(d) in pursuance of arrangements made (whether before or after the
passing of this Act) by or with the approval of, or for the time being
approved by, a Minister of the Crown;

(e) to comply with a condition imposed (whether before or after the
passing of this Act) by a Minister of the Crown.

(2) A person does not contravene Part 3, 4, 5 or 6 by doing anything to which
this paragraph applies which discriminates against another because of the
other’s nationality.

(3) A person (A) does not contravene Part 3, 4, 5 or 6 if, by doing anything to
which this paragraph applies, A discriminates against another (B) by
applying to B a provision, criterion or practice which relates to—

(a) B’s place of ordinary residence;
(b) the length of time B has been present or resident in or outside the

United Kingdom or an area within it.

Organisations relating to religion or belief

2 (1) This paragraph applies to an organisation the purpose of which is—
(a) to practise a religion or belief,
(b) to advance a religion or belief,
(c) to teach the practice or principles of a religion or belief,
(d) to enable persons of a religion or belief to receive any benefit, or to

engage in any activity, within the framework of that religion or
belief, or

(e) to foster or maintain good relations between persons of different
religions or beliefs.

(2) This paragraph does not apply to an organisation whose sole or main
purpose is commercial.

(3) The organisation does not contravene Part 3, 4 or 7, so far as relating to
religion or belief or sexual orientation, only by restricting—

(a) membership of the organisation;
(b) participation in activities undertaken by the organisation or on its

behalf or under its auspices;
(c) the provision of goods, facilities or services in the course of activities

undertaken by the organisation or on its behalf or under its auspices;
(d) the use or disposal of premises owned or controlled by the

organisation.

Page 262



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 23 — General exceptions

223

(4) A person does not contravene Part 3, 4 or 7, so far as relating to religion or
belief or sexual orientation, only by doing anything mentioned in sub-
paragraph (3) on behalf of or under the auspices of the organisation.

(5) A minister does not contravene Part 3, 4 or 7, so far as relating to religion or
belief or sexual orientation, only by restricting—

(a) participation in activities carried on in the performance of the
minister’s functions in connection with or in respect of the
organisation;

(b) the provision of goods, facilities or services in the course of activities
carried on in the performance of the minister’s functions in
connection with or in respect of the organisation.

(6) Sub-paragraphs (3) to (5) permit a restriction relating to religion or belief
only if it is imposed—

(a) because of the purpose of the organisation, or
(b) to avoid causing offence, on grounds of the religion or belief to which

the organisation relates, to persons of that religion or belief.

(7) Sub-paragraphs (3) to (5) permit a restriction relating to sexual orientation
only if it is imposed—

(a) because it is necessary to comply with the doctrine of the
organisation, or

(b) to avoid conflict with strongly held convictions within sub-
paragraph (9).

(8) In sub-paragraph (5), the reference to a minister is a reference to a minister
of religion, or other person, who—

(a) performs functions in connection with a religion or belief to which
the organisation relates, and

(b) holds an office or appointment in, or is accredited, approved or
recognised for the purposes of the organisation.

(9) The strongly held convictions are—
(a) in the case of a religion, the strongly held religious convictions of a

significant number of the religion’s followers;
(b) in the case of a belief, the strongly held convictions relating to the

belief of a significant number of the belief’s followers.

(10) This paragraph does not permit anything which is prohibited by section 29,
so far as relating to sexual orientation, if it is done—

(a) on behalf of a public authority, and
(b) under the terms of a contract between the organisation and the

public authority.

(11) In the application of this paragraph in relation to sexual orientation, sub-
paragraph (1)(e) must be ignored.

(12) In the application of this paragraph in relation to sexual orientation, in sub-
paragraph (3)(d), “disposal” does not include disposal of an interest in
premises by way of sale if the interest being disposed of is—

(a) the entirety of the organisation’s interest in the premises, or
(b) the entirety of the interest in respect of which the organisation has

power of disposal.

(13) In this paragraph— 

Page 263



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 23 — General exceptions

224

(a) “disposal” is to be construed in accordance with section 38;
(b) “public authority” has the meaning given in section 150(1).

Communal accommodation

3 (1) A person does not contravene this Act, so far as relating to sex
discrimination or gender reassignment discrimination, only because of
anything done in relation to—

(a) the admission of persons to communal accommodation;
(b) the provision of a benefit, facility or service linked to the

accommodation.

(2) Sub-paragraph (1)(a) does not apply unless the accommodation is managed
in a way which is as fair as possible to both men and women.

(3) In applying sub-paragraph (1)(a), account must be taken of—
(a) whether and how far it is reasonable to expect that the

accommodation should be altered or extended or that further
accommodation should be provided, and

(b) the frequency of the demand or need for use of the accommodation
by persons of one sex as compared with those of the other.

(4) In applying sub-paragraph (1)(a) in relation to gender reassignment,
account must also be taken of whether and how far the conduct in question
is a proportionate means of achieving a legitimate aim.

(5) Communal accommodation is residential accommodation which includes
dormitories or other shared sleeping accommodation which for reasons of
privacy should be used only by persons of the same sex.

(6) Communal accommodation may include—
(a) shared sleeping accommodation for men and for women;
(b) ordinary sleeping accommodation;
(c) residential accommodation all or part of which should be used only

by persons of the same sex because of the nature of the sanitary
facilities serving the accommodation.

(7) A benefit, facility or service is linked to communal accommodation if—
(a) it cannot properly and effectively be provided except for those using

the accommodation, and
(b) a person could be refused use of the accommodation in reliance on

sub-paragraph (1)(a).

(8) This paragraph does not apply for the purposes of Part 5 (work) unless such
arrangements as are reasonably practicable are made to compensate for—

(a) in a case where sub-paragraph (1)(a) applies, the refusal of use of the
accommodation;

(b) in a case where sub-paragraph (1)(b) applies, the refusal of provision
of the benefit, facility or service.

Training provided to non-EEA residents, etc.

4 (1) A person (A) does not contravene this Act, so far as relating to nationality,
only by providing a non-resident (B) with training, if A thinks that B does
not intend to exercise in Great Britain skills B obtains as a result.

Page 264



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 23 — General exceptions

225

(2) A non-resident is a person who is not ordinarily resident in an EEA state.

(3) The reference to providing B with training is—
(a) if A employs B in relevant employment, a reference to doing

anything in or in connection with the employment;
(b) if A as a principal allows B to do relevant contract work, a reference

to doing anything in or in connection with allowing B to do the work;
(c) in a case within paragraph (a) or (b) or any other case, a reference to

affording B access to facilities for education or training or ancillary
benefits.

(4) Employment or contract work is relevant if its sole or main purpose is the
provision of training in skills.

(5) In the case of training provided by the armed forces or Secretary of State for
purposes relating to defence, sub-paragraph (1) has effect as if—

(a) the reference in sub-paragraph (2) to an EEA state were a reference
to Great Britain, and

(b) in sub-paragraph (4), for “its sole or main purpose is” there were
substituted “it is for purposes including”.

(6) “Contract work” and “principal” each have the meaning given in section 41.

SCHEDULE 24 Section 203

HARMONISATION: EXCEPTIONS

Part 1 (public sector duty regarding socio-economic
inequalities)

Chapter 2 of Part 5 (occupational pensions)

Section 78 (gender pay gap)

Section 106 (election candidates: diversity information)

Chapters 1 to 3 and 5 of Part 9 (enforcement), except section 136

Sections 142 and 146 (unenforceable terms, declaration in
respect of void terms)

Chapter 1 of Part 11 (public sector equality duty)

Part 12 (disabled persons: transport)

Part 13 (disability: miscellaneous)

Section 197 (power to specify age exceptions)

Part 15 (family property)

Part 16 (general and miscellaneous)

Schedule 1 (disability: supplementary provision)

Page 265



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 24 — Harmonisation: exceptions

226

In Schedule 3 (services and public functions: exceptions)—
(a) in Part 3 (health and care), paragraphs 13 and 14;
(b) Part 4 (immigration);
(c) Part 5 (insurance);
(d) Part 6 (marriage);
(e) Part 7 (separate and single services), except paragraph

30;
(f) Part 8 (television, radio and on-line broadcasting and

distribution);
(g) Part 9 (transport);
(h) Part 10 (supplementary)

Schedule 4 (premises: reasonable adjustments)

Schedule 5 (premises: exceptions), except paragraph 1

Schedule 6 (office-holders: excluded offices), except so far as
relating to colour or nationality or marriage and civil
partnership

Schedule 8 (work: reasonable adjustments)

In Schedule 9 (work: exceptions)—
(a) Part 1 (general), except so far as relating to colour or

nationality;
(b) Part 2 (exceptions relating to age);
(c) Part 3 (other exceptions), except paragraph 19 so far as

relating to colour or nationality

Schedule 10 (education: accessibility for disabled pupils)

Schedule 13 (education: reasonable adjustments), except
paragraphs 2, 5, 6 and 9

Schedule 17 (education: disabled pupils: enforcement)

Schedule 18 (public sector equality duty: exceptions)

Schedule 19 (list of public authorities)

Schedule 20 (rail vehicle accessibility: compliance)

Schedule 21 (reasonable adjustments: supplementary)

In Schedule 22 (exceptions: statutory provisions), paragraphs 2
and 5

Schedule 23 (general exceptions), except paragraph 2

Schedule 25 (information society services)

Page 266



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 25 — Information society services

227

SCHEDULE 25 Section 206

INFORMATION SOCIETY SERVICES

Service providers

1 (1) This paragraph applies where a person concerned with the provision of an
information society service (an “information society service provider”) is
established in Great Britain.

(2) This Act applies to anything done by the person in an EEA state (other than
the United Kingdom) in providing the service as this Act would apply if the
act in question were done by the person in Great Britain.

2 (1) This paragraph applies where an information society service provider is
established in an EEA state (other than the United Kingdom).

(2) This Act does not apply to anything done by the person in providing the
service.

Exceptions for mere conduits

3 (1) An information society service provider does not contravene this Act only
by providing so much of an information society service as consists in—

(a) the provision of access to a communication network, or
(b) the transmission in a communication network of information

provided by the recipient of the service.

(2) But sub-paragraph (1) applies only if the service provider does not—
(a) initiate the transmission,
(b) select the recipient of the transmission, or
(c) select or modify the information contained in the transmission.

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the provision of access to a
communication network, and the transmission of information in a
communication network, includes the automatic, intermediate and transient
storage of the information transmitted so far as the storage is solely for the
purpose of carrying out the transmission in the network.

(4) Sub-paragraph (3) does not apply if the information is stored for longer than
is reasonably necessary for the transmission.

Exception for caching

4 (1) This paragraph applies where an information society service consists in the
transmission in a communication network of information provided by a
recipient of the service.

(2) The information society service provider does not contravene this Act only
by doing anything in connection with the automatic, intermediate and
temporary storage of information so provided if—

(a) the storage of the information is solely for the purpose of making
more efficient the onward transmission of the information to other
recipients of the service at their request, and

(b) the condition in sub-paragraph (3) is satisfied.

(3) The condition is that the service-provider—

Page 267



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 25 — Information society services

228

(a) does not modify the information,
(b) complies with such conditions as are attached to having access to the

information, and
(c) (where sub-paragraph (4) applies) expeditiously removes the

information or disables access to it.

(4) This sub-paragraph applies if the service-provider obtains actual knowledge
that—

(a) the information at the initial source of the transmission has been
removed from the network,

(b) access to it has been disabled, or
(c) a court or administrative authority has required the removal from

the network of, or the disablement of access to, the information.

Exception for hosting

5 (1) An information society service provider does not contravene this Act only
by doing anything in providing so much of an information society service as
consists in the storage of information provided by a recipient of the service,
if—

(a) the service provider had no actual knowledge when the information
was provided that its provision amounted to a contravention of this
Act, or

(b) on obtaining actual knowledge that the provision of the information
amounted to a contravention of that section, the service provider
expeditiously removed the information or disabled access to it.

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply if the recipient of the service is acting
under the authority of the control of the service provider.

Monitoring obligations

6 An injunction or interdict under Part 1 of the Equality Act 2006 may not
impose on a person concerned with the provision of a service of a
description given in paragraph 3(1), 4(1) or 5(1)—

(a) a liability the imposition of which would contravene Article 12, 13 or
14 of the E-Commerce Directive;

(b) a general obligation of the description given in Article 15 of that
Directive.

Interpretation

7 (1) This paragraph applies for the purposes of this Schedule.

(2) “Information society service”—
(a) has the meaning given in Article 2(a) of the E-Commerce Directive

(which refers to Article 1(2) of Directive 98/34/EC of the European
Parliament and of the Council of 22 June 1998 laying down a
procedure for the provision of information in the field of technical
standards and regulations), and

(b) is summarised in recital 17 of the E-Commerce Directive as covering
“any service normally provided for remuneration, at a distance, by
means of electronic equipment for the processing (including digital

Page 268



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 25 — Information society services

229

compression) and storage of data, and at the individual request of a
recipient of a service”.

(3) “The E-Commerce Directive” means Directive 2000/31/EC of the European
Parliament and of the Council of 8 June 2000 on certain legal aspects of
information society services, in particular electronic commerce, in the
Internal Market (Directive on electronic commerce).

(4) “Recipient” means a person who (whether for professional purposes or not)
uses an information society service, in particular for seeking information or
making it accessible.

(5) An information society service-provider is “established” in a country or
territory if the service-provider—

(a) effectively pursues an economic activity using a fixed establishment
in that country or territory for an indefinite period, and

(b) is a national of an EEA state or a body mentioned in Article 48 of the
EEC treaty.

(6) The presence or use in a particular place of equipment or other technical
means of providing an information society service is not itself sufficient to
constitute the establishment of a service-provider.

(7) Where it cannot be decided from which of a number of establishments an
information society service is provided, the service is to be regarded as
provided from the establishment at the centre of the information society
service provider’s activities relating to that service.

(8) Section 212(4) does not apply to references to providing a service.

SCHEDULE 26 Section 211

AMENDMENTS

Local Government Act 1988

1 Part 2 of the Local Government Act 1988 (public supply or works contracts)
is amended as follows.

2 In section 17 (local and other public authority contracts: exclusion of non-
commercial considerations)—

(a) omit subsection (9), and
(b) after that subsection insert—

“(10) This section does not prevent a public authority to which it
applies from exercising any function regulated by this section
with reference to a non-commercial matter to the extent that
the authority considers it necessary or expedient to do so to
enable or facilitate compliance with—

(a) the duty imposed on it by section 149 of the Equality
Act 2010 (public sector equality duty), or

(b) any duty imposed on it by regulations under section
153 or 154 of that Act (powers to impose specific
duties).”

Page 269



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 26 — Amendments

230

3 Omit section 18 (exceptions to section 17 relating to race relations matters).

4 In section 19 (provisions supplementary to or consequential on section 17)
omit subsection (10).

Employment Act 1989

5 (1) Section 12 of the Employment Act 1989 (Sikhs: requirements as to safety
helmets) is amended as follows.

(2) In subsection (1), for “requirement or condition”, in the first three places,
substitute “provision, criterion or practice”.

(3) In that subsection, for the words from “section 1(1)(b)” to the end substitute
“section 19 of the Equality Act 2010 (indirect discrimination), the provision,
criterion or practice is to be taken as one in relation to which the condition
in subsection (2)(d) of that section (proportionate means of achieving a
legitimate aim) is satisfied”.

(4) In subsection (2), for the words from “the Race Relations Act” to the end
substitute “section 13 of the Equality Act 2010 as giving rise to
discrimination against any other person”.

Equality Act 2006

6 The Equality Act 2006 is amended as follows.

7 (1) Section 8 (equality and diversity) is amended as follows.

(2) In subsection (1)— 
(a) in paragraph (d) for “equality enactments” substitute “Equality Act

2010”, and
(b) in paragraph (e) for “the equality enactments” substitute “that Act”.

(3) In subsection (4) for “Disability Discrimination Act 1995 (c. 50)” substitute
“Equality Act 2010”.

8 In section 10(2) (meaning of group) for paragraph (d) substitute—
“(d) gender reassignment (within the meaning of section 7 of the

Equality Act 2010),”.

9 For section 11(3)(c) (interpretation) substitute—
“(c) a reference to the equality and human rights enactments is a

reference to the Human Rights Act 1998, this Act and the
Equality Act 2010.”

10 (1) Section 14 (codes of practice) is amended as follows.

(2) For subsection (1) substitute—

“(1) The Commission may issue a code of practice in connection with any
matter addressed by the Equality Act 2010.”

(3) In subsection (2)(a) for “a provision or enactment listed in subsection (1)”
substitute “the Equality Act 2010 or an enactment made under that Act”.

(4) In subsection (3)—

Page 270



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 26 — Amendments

231

(a) in paragraph (a) for “section 49G(7) of the Disability Discrimination
Act 1995 (c. 50)” substitute “section 190(7) of the Equality Act 2010”,
and

(b) for paragraph (c)(iv) substitute—
“(iv) section 190 of the Equality Act 2010.”

(5) In subsection (5)(a) for “listed in subsection (1)” substitute “a matter
addressed by the Equality Act 2010”.

(6) In subsection (9) for “section 76A” to “duties)” substitute “section 149, 153 or
154 of the Equality Act 2010 (public sector equality duty)”.

11 In section 16(4) (inquiries: matters which the Commission may consider and
report on) for “equality enactments” substitute “Equality Act 2010”.

12 In section 21(2)(b) (unlawful act notice: specification of legislative provision)
for “equality enactments” substitute “Equality Act 2010”.

13 After section 24 insert—

“24A Enforcement powers: supplemental

(1) This section has effect in relation to—
(a) an act which is unlawful because, by virtue of any of sections

13 to 18 of the Equality Act 2010, it amounts to a
contravention of any of Parts 3, 4, 5, 6 or 7 of that Act, 

(b) an act which is unlawful because it amounts to a
contravention of section 60(1) of that Act (or to a
contravention of section 111 or 112 of that Act that relates to
a contravention of section 60(1) of that Act) (enquiries about
disability and health),

(c) an act which is unlawful because it amounts to a
contravention of section 106 of that Act (information about
diversity in range of election candidates etc.),

(d) an act which is unlawful because, by virtue of section 108(1)
of that Act, it amounts to a contravention of any of Parts 3, 4,
5, 6 or 7 of that Act, or

(e) the application of a provision, criterion or practice which, by
virtue of section 19 of that Act, amounts to a contravention of
that Act.

(2) For the purposes of sections 20 to 24 of this Act, it is immaterial
whether the Commission knows or suspects that a person has been
or may be affected by the unlawful act or application.

(3) For those purposes, an unlawful act includes making arrangements
to act in a particular way which would, if applied to an individual,
amount to a contravention mentioned in subsection (1)(a).

(4) Nothing in this Act affects the entitlement of a person to bring
proceedings under the Equality Act 2010 in respect of a
contravention mentioned in subsection (1).”

14 Omit section 25 (restraint of unlawful advertising etc.).

15 Omit section 26 (supplemental).

16 (1) Section 27 (conciliation) is amended as follows.

Page 271



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 26 — Amendments

232

(2) For subsection (1) (disputes in relation to which the Commission may make
arrangements for the provision of conciliation services) substitute—

“(1) The Commission may make arrangements for the provision of
conciliation services for disputes in respect of which proceedings
have been or could be determined by virtue of section 114 of the
Equality Act 2010.”

17 (1) Section 28 (legal assistance) is amended as follows.

(2) In subsection (1)—
(a) in paragraph (a) for “equality enactments” substitute “Equality Act

2010”, and
(b) in paragraph (b) for “the equality enactments” substitute “that Act”.

(3) In subsection (5) for “Part V of the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 (c. 50)
(public” substitute “Part 12 of the Equality Act 2010 (disabled persons:”.

(4) In subsection (6)—
(a) for “the equality enactments”, on the first occasion it appears,

substitute “the Equality Act 2010”, and
(b) for “the equality enactments”, on each other occasion it appears,

substitute “that Act”.

(5) In subsection (7)—
(a) in paragraph (a) for “equality enactments” substitute “Equality Act

2010”, and
(b) in paragraph (b) for “the equality enactments” substitute “that Act”.

(6) In subsection (8) for “Part V of the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 (c. 50)”
substitute “Part 12 of the Equality Act 2010”.

(7) In subsection (9) for “equality enactments” substitute “Equality Act 2010”.

(8) In subsection (12)—
(a) for “A reference in” to “includes a reference” substitute “This section

applies”, and
(b) after paragraph (b) add “as it applies to the Equality Act 2010.”

18 For section 31(1) (duties in respect of which Commission may assess
compliance) substitute—

“(1) The Commission may assess the extent to which or the manner in
which a person has complied with a duty under or by virtue of
section 149, 153 or 154 of the Equality Act 2010 (public sector equality
duty).”

19 (1) Section 32 (public sector duties: compliance notice) is amended as follows.

(2) For subsection (1) substitute—

“(1) This section applies where the Commission thinks that a person has
failed to comply with a duty under or by virtue of section 149, 153 or
154 of the Equality Act 2010 (public sector equality duty).”

(3) In subsection (4) for “section 76A” to “Disability Discrimination Act 1995”
substitute “section 149 of the Equality Act 2010”.

Page 272



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 26 — Amendments

233

(4) In subsection (9)(a) for “section 76A” to “Disability Discrimination Act 1995
(c. 50)” substitute “section 149 of the Equality Act 2010”.

(5) In subsection (9)(b) for “in any other case” substitute “where the notice
related to a duty by virtue of section 153 or 154 of that Act”.

(6) In subsection (11) for “section 76B” to “Disability Discrimination Act 1995”
substitute “section 153 or 154 of the Equality Act 2010”.

20 Omit section 33 (equality and human rights enactments). 

21 (1) Section 34 (meaning of unlawful) is amended as follows.

(2) In subsection (1) for “equality enactments” substitute “Equality Act 2010”.

(3) In subsection (2)—
(a) after “virtue of” insert “any of the following provisions of the

Equality Act 2010”, and
(b) for paragraphs (a) to (c) substitute— 

“(a) section 1 (public sector duty regarding socio-economic
inequalities),

(b) section 149, 153 or 154 (public sector equality duty), 
(c) Part 12 (disabled persons: transport), or
(d) section 190 (disability: improvements to let dwelling

houses).”

22 (1) Section 35 (general: definitions) is amended as follows.

(2) In the definition of “religion or belief”, for “Part 2 (as defined by section 44)”
substitute “section 10 of the Equality Act 2010”.

(3) For the definition of “sexual orientation” substitute—
““sexual orientation” has the same meaning as in section 12 of

the Equality Act 2010.”

23 In section 39(4) (orders subject to affirmative resolution procedure) for “,
27(10) or 33(3)” substitute “or 27(10)”.

24 Omit section 43 (transitional: rented housing in Scotland).

25 Omit Part 2 (discrimination on grounds of religion or belief).

26 Omit section 81 (regulations).

27 Omit Part 4 (public functions).

28 In section 94(3) (extent: Northern Ireland)— 
(a) omit “and 41 to 56”, and
(b) omit “and the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 (c. 50)”.

29 (1) Schedule 1 (the Commission: constitution, etc.) is amended as follows.

(2) In paragraph 52(3)(a) for “Parts 1, 3, 4, 5 and 5B of the Disability
Discrimination Act 1995 (c. 50)” substitute “Parts 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 12 and 13 of the
Equality Act 2010, in so far as they relate to disability”.

(3) In paragraph 53 for “Part 2 of the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 (c. 50)”
substitute “Part 5 of the Equality Act 2010”.

Page 273



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 26 — Amendments

234

(4) In paragraph 54 for “Part 2 of the Disability Discrimination Act 1995”
substitute “Part 5 of the Equality Act 2010”.

30 In Schedule 3 (consequential amendments), omit paragraphs 6 to 35 and 41
to 56.

SCHEDULE 27 Section 211

REPEALS AND REVOCATIONS

PART 1

REPEALS

Short title Extent of repeal 

Equal Pay Act 1970 The whole Act.
Sex Discrimination Act 1975 The whole Act.
Race Relations Act 1976 The whole Act.
Sex Discrimination Act 1986 The whole Act.
Local Government Act 1988 Section 17(9).

Section 18.
Section 19(10).

Employment Act 1989 Sections 1 to 7.
Section 9.

Social Security Act 1989 In Schedule 5, paragraph 5.
Disability Discrimination Act

1995
The whole Act. 

Pensions Act 1995 Sections 62 to 65.
Greater London Authority Act

1999
Section 404.

Sex Discrimination (Election
Candidates) Act 2002

Section 1.

Civil Partnership Act 2004 Section 6(1)(b) and (2).
Education (Additional Support

for Learning) (Scotland) Act
2004

In section 17(1) “to exercise the functions which
are conferred on a Tribunal by virtue of this
Act”.

Equality Act 2006 Section 25.
Section 26.
Section 33.
Section 43.
Part 2.
Section 81.
Part 4.
In section 94(3) “and 41 to 56” and “and the

Disability Discrimination Act 1995 (c. 50)”.
In Schedule 3—

(a) paragraphs 6 to 35;
(b) paragraphs 41 to 56.

Page 274



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 27 — Repeals and revocations
Part 2 — Revocations

235

PART 2

REVOCATIONS

SCHEDULE 28 Section 214

INDEX OF DEFINED EXPRESSIONS

Title Extent of revocation

Occupational Pension Schemes
(Equal Treatment)
Regulations 1995 (S.I. 1995/
3183)

The whole Regulations.

Employment Equality (Religion
or Belief) Regulations 2003
(S.I. 2003/1660)

The whole Regulations.

Employment Equality (Sexual
Orientation) Regulations
2003 (S.I. 2003/1661)

The whole Regulations.

Disability Discrimination Act
1995 (Pensions) Regulations
2003 (S.I. 2003/2770)

The whole Regulations.

Occupational Pension Schemes
(Equal Treatment)
(Amendment) Regulations
2005 (S.I. 2005/1923)

The whole Regulations.

Employment Equality (Age)
Regulations 2006 (S.I. 2006/
1031)

The whole Regulations (other than Schedules 6
and 8).

Equality Act (Sexual
Orientation) Regulations
2007 (S.I. 2007/1263)

The whole Regulations.

Sex Discrimination
(Amendment of Legislation)
Regulations 2008 (S.I. 2008/
963)

The whole Regulations.

Expression Provision

Accrual of rights, in relation to an
occupational pension scheme

Section 212(12)

Additional maternity leave Section 213(6) and (7)

Additional maternity leave period Section 213(8)

Age discrimination Section 25(1)

Page 275



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 28 — Index of defined expressions

236

Age group Section 5(2)

Armed forces Section 212(1)

Association Section 107(2)

Auxiliary aid Section 20(11)

Belief Section 10(2)

Breach of an equality clause or rule Section 212(8)

The Commission Section 212(1)

Commonhold Section 38(7)

Compulsory maternity leave Section 213(3)

Contract work Section 41(6)

Contract worker Section 41(7)

Contravention of this Act Section 212(9)

Crown employment Section 83(9)

Detriment Section 212(1) and (5)

Disability Section 6(1)

Disability discrimination Section 25(2)

Disabled person Section 6(2) and (4)

Discrimination Sections 13 to 19, 21 and 108

Disposal, in relation to premises Section 38(3) to (5)

Education Acts Section 212(1)

Employer, in relation to an
occupational pension scheme

Section 212(11)

Employment Section 212(1)

Enactment Section 212(1)

Equality clause Section 212(1)

Equality rule Section 212(1)

Firm Section 46(2)

Gender reassignment Section 7(1)

Gender reassignment discrimination Section 25(3)

Harassment Section 26(1)

Expression Provision

Page 276



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 28 — Index of defined expressions

237

Independent educational institution Section 89(7)

LLP Section 46(4)

Man Section 212(1)

Marriage and civil partnership Section 8

Marriage and civil partnership
discrimination

Section 25(4)

Maternity equality clause Section 212(1)

Maternity equality rule Section 212(1)

Maternity leave Section 213(2)

Member, in relation to an
occupational pension scheme

Section 212(10)

Member of the executive Section 212(7)

Non-discrimination rule Section 212(1)

Occupation, in relation to premises Section 212(6)

Occupational pension scheme Section 212(1)

Offshore work Section 82(3)

Ordinary maternity leave Section 213(4) and (5)

Parent Section 212(1)

Pension credit member Section 212(11)

Pensionable service Section 212(11)

Pensioner member Section 212(11)

Personal office Section 49(2)

Physical feature Section 20(10)

Pregnancy and maternity
discrimination

Section 25(5)

Premises Section 38(2)

Prescribed Section 212(1)

Profession Section 212(1)

Proposed firm Section 46(3)

Proposed LLP Section 46(5)

Proprietor, in relation to a school Section 89(4)

Expression Provision

Page 277



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 28 — Index of defined expressions

238

Protected characteristics Section 4

Protected period, in relation to
pregnancy

Section 18(6)

Provision of a service Sections 31 and 212(4)

Public function Sections 31(4) and 150(5)

Public office Sections 50(2) and 52(4)

Pupil Section 89(3) 

Race Section 9(1)

Race discrimination Section 25(6)

Reasonable adjustments, duty to
make

Section 20

Relevant member of the House of
Commons staff

Section 83(5)

Relevant member of the House of
Lords staff

Section 83(6)

Relevant person, in relation to a
personal or public office

Section 52(6)

Religion Section 10(1)

Religious or belief-related
discrimination

Section 25(7)

Requirement, the first, second or third Section 20

Responsible body, in relation to a
further or higher education institution

Section 91(12)

Responsible body, in relation to a
school 

Section 85(9)

School Section 89(5) and (6)

Service-provider Section 29(1)

Sex Section 11

Sex discrimination Section 25(8)

Sex equality clause Section 212(1)

Sex equality rule Section 212(1)

Sexual orientation Section 12(1)

Sexual orientation discrimination Section 25(9)

Expression Provision

Page 278



Equality Act 2010 (c. 15)
Schedule 28 — Index of defined expressions

239

Student Section 94(3)

Subordinate legislation Section 212(1)

Substantial Section 212(1)

Taxi, for the purposes of Part 3
(services and public functions)

Schedule 2, paragraph 4

Taxi, for the purposes of Chapter 1 of
Part 12 (disabled persons: transport)

Section 173(1)

Tenancy Section 38(6)

Trade Section 212(1)

Transsexual person Section 7(2)

Trustees or managers, in relation to an
occupational pension scheme

Section 212(11)

University Section 94(4)

Victimisation Section 27(1)

Vocational training Section 56(6)

Woman Section 212(1)

Expression Provision

? Crown copyright 2010

Printed in the UK by The Stationery OYce Limited under the authority and superintendence of Carol Tullo, Controller

of Her Majesty’s Stationery OYce and Queen’s Printer of Acts of Parliament

4/2010 445975 19585

Page 279



This page is intentionally left blank



Easy access to historic buildings   

Easy Access to 
Historic
Buildings

Annex C
Page 281



Easy access to historic buildings   

English Heritage’s
commitment 
to access
Too many people think of the historic 
environment as being inaccessible. 
English Heritage knows that this need 
not be the case. On the contrary, we 
have seen and been involved with 
some amazing solutions to all types of 
barriers, physical and otherwise. What 
we have learnt is that with the right kind 
of thought and discussion a way can be 
found round almost any barrier. We also 
recognise that people’s expectations – 
and the technical opportunities to meet 
them – are constantly evolving. For 
that reason we are using our growing 
awareness to the issues disabled 
people face to constantly improve the 
accessibility of all our own services. 

While the needs of disabled people 
must be our highest priority, we also 
know that easier access will benefit 
almost all of us at some stage in our 
lives. Whether during pregnancy, as a 
parent pushing a buggy or an older 
person who is finding steps a bit harder 
to manage, we all value thoughtful and 
effective design for our access needs.

We want to see the broadest 
possible public access to the historic 
environment and to the interpretation 
that makes it come alive. This is 
because we believe that the historic 
environment can make a positive 
difference to the lives not only of 
individuals but whole communities. 
For that reason we will continue to 
promote solutions that make access 
easier while simultaneously encouraging 
responsible care of the historic places 
that matter to us all. 

In its search for a more inclusive 
approach to the historic environment 
English Heritage is keen to celebrate 
access solutions that combine 
conservation with excellent, high quality 
modern design. Our publications on 
Easy Access to Historic Landscapes and 
Easy Access to Historic Buildings show 
how this vision can be turned into 
practical reality.

Baroness Andrews 
Chair, English Heritage

Annex C
Page 282



Easy access to historic buildings

5

Conservation principles 7

The statutory framework 8

The Equality Act 2010 8

Planning permission 9

The Building Regulations 2010: 
Approved Document M (2004) 10

Listed building consent 11

Ecclesiastical buildings 13 

Scheduled monument consent 13

Historic gardens and landscapes 14

15

What is reasonable? 15

The access strategy 15

The access audit 17

The conservation assessment 17

The access plan 17

Management issues 19

Funding for access improvements 20

Barriers to access 21

Overcoming barriers 21

Removing the feature 25

Altering the feature 25

Finding ways round barriers to access 26

Providing the service in another way 26

29

Practical advice and examples 29

Horizontal movement 30

Making an entrance 30

Inside the building 31

Floors 31

Doors and openings 32

Thresholds 33

Corridors 33

Visual contrast 33

Vertical movement 35

Ramps 35

Stairs and landings 37

Handrails 37

Lifts 40

Emergency escape 44

Lighting, signs and information 45

Lighting 45

Signs 45

Information 46

Landscape and settings 47

Street furniture and seating 49

Published sources of information 50

Where to go for further help 52

Contents

Contents

Part 1:  
Why access matters 

Part 2:   
Planning better access 

Part 3:  
Making access a reality 

Annex C
Page 283



Easy access to historic buildings   

Access was improved at the scheduled Ypres Tower in Rye, East Sussex, by creating a gently sloping approach path across 
the lawn and reconstructing an original medieval doorway to give level access to the ground floor.

4 5

Access Policy

The policy of the Equality Act is not a minimalist policy of simply ensuring that some 
access is available to disabled people; it is, so far as is reasonably practicable, to 
approximate the access enjoyed by disabled people to that enjoyed by the rest of 
the public. The purpose of the duty to make reasonable adjustments is to provide 
access to a service as close as it is reasonably possible to get to the standard normally 
offered to the public at large (and their equivalents in relation to associations or the 
exercise of public functions).

Equality Act 2010 Statutory Code of Practice: Services, Public Functions and Associations, 
2011, page 90, 7.4

Annex C
Page 284



Easy access to historic buildings

Part 1:
Why access matters

4 5

Part 1

English Heritage recognises that everyone 
should be able to enjoy easy and inclusive 
access to the historic environment. 
Removing the barriers to access can allow 
many more people to use and benefit 
from the historic environment, and if done 
sensitively need not compromise the ability 
of future generations to do the same. 

Providing easy access to properties that 
have changes of level, uneven routes and 
other obstacles can seem daunting. It is 
nevertheless remarkable how much can 
be achieved with careful thought and good 
advice. While physical barriers often pose 
the greatest challenges, improvements 
to interpretation and services can also 
increase people’s ability to engage with 
our cultural heritage, compensating at least 
in part for any unavoidable limitations to 
physical access. 

Making it easier to use buildings and their 
surrounding landscapes can also be a 
legislative requirement. The Equality Act 
gives people protection from discrimination 
in a range of areas including the accessing 
of services, education and employment. 
Organisations and individuals who have 
duties under the Act have to make sure 
that they do not discriminate, which means 
that they may need to adapt their premises 
to allow disabled people to access services 
and employment. 

These guidelines are intended for those 
who own, manage or occupy historic 
buildings in England. They are also for the 
benefit of those who will be professionally 
involved in planning alterations or in 
advising on alternative forms of service 
provision. Their first aim is to explain 
how the process of improving access can 
be satisfactorily aligned with the wider 
principles of conservation. As well as 
providing a summary of the statutory 
framework they illustrate different 
successful approaches, ranging from 
minor improvement works to high-quality 
modern design solutions.

The guidelines do not deal with those 
aspects of access that relate to broader 
policies, practices and procedures, or with 
general design issues. These are covered 
in detail in other publications – good, 
comprehensive design guidance is available 
in BS 8300 and also covered in Approved 
Document M of the Building Regulations. 
The guidelines do, however, contain 
significant detail on the nature of historic 
buildings, their features and the challenges 
they pose.

Annex C
Page 285



Easy access to historic buildings   

The construction of a new visitor centre at Whitby Abbey, 
with a passenger lift within the ruined shell of the 17th-
century mansion, provided the opportunity to improve 
access to the abbey ruins. Consent was obtained to open 
up a blocked doorway at upper-floor level and to form a 
ramped bridge from the opening onto the elevated abbey 
precincts.

Picture to the right:  
© Martine Hamilton Knight / Built Vision 

Picture below:  
© Tony Bartholomew

6 7

Part 1 Annex C
Page 286



Easy access to historic buildings

Conservation principles

6 7

Part 1

Buildings, landscapes and monuments – 
the physical survivals of our past – are 
protected not their own sake but for our 
benefit and that of the generations who 
will succeed us. They are an integral part 
of our cultural identity and contribute 
towards a strong sense of place, whether 
in a local, regional or national context. 
They are irreplaceable, but sometimes they 
need to be modified to meet the changing 
needs of their occupants. The survival of 
most historic buildings depends upon their 
continued, viable use and this may, among 
other things, require alterations to improve 
access.

Sensitive alteration will have due regard for 
what it is that makes a particular building 
special or significant. Significance may arise 
from its distinctive physical features, from its 
layout and relative completeness, from the 
materials and methods of its construction, 
or from its association with particular 
personalities and events. Significance may 
also lie in the archaeological remains 
that survive hidden in the ground below. 
Understanding the significance of a building 
is a vital first step in thinking about how 
much it can be changed. 

In most cases access can be improved 
without compromising the special interest 
of historic buildings. There are only rare 
occasions when nothing can be done to 
improve or facilitate access. By undertaking 
a careful process of research, brief-taking, 
consultation and creative exploration of 
alternatives, good quality solutions that 
add a new layer of history to our historic 
buildings are usually possible.

The English Heritage document 
Conservation Principles: Policies and Guidance 
for the Sustainable Management of the 
Historic Environment sets out a consistent 
approach to making decisions about all 
aspects of the historic environment. It also 
shows how its protection can be reconciled 
with the economic and social needs and 
aspirations of the people who live in it. The 
principles align with the National Planning 
Policy Framework, which sets out the 
Government’s planning policies for England, 
provides a framework for sustainable 
development and gives strategies for 
conserving and enhancing the historic 
environment. The provision of easy access 
can be an important part of a sustainable 
approach to caring for the historic 
environment and Conservation Principles 
shows how access can be improved 
without compromising the significance of 
special places.

Consent for the new passenger lift at Colchester 
Castle was dependent upon the outcome of an 
archaeological investigation. The cost and time to conduct 
an investigation needs to be anticipated in the building 
budget and programme.

Annex C
Page 287



Easy access to historic buildings   

The statutory framework

The Equality Act 2010

The Equality Act provides a legal frame-
work to protect the rights of individuals 
and advance equality of opportunity for 
all. The Act covers discrimination because 
of age, disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy 
and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 
and sexual orientation. These categories 
are known in the Act as ‘protected 
characteristics’. The Act sets out the 
different ways in which it is unlawful to 
treat someone, such as direct and indirect 
discrimination, harassment, victimisation and 
failing to make a reasonable adjustment for 
a disabled person. 

People and organisations who own, manage 
or occupy historic buildings in England, 
and who have duties under the service- 
provider, employer, education and other 
provisions of the act, need to ensure that 
they do not discriminate against people 
with protected characteristics. When 
considering physical access to buildings 
and their surroundings it is necessary to 
take account of duties relating to disabled 
people and to consider potential barriers 
to access. However, it is important to 
remember that the Equality Act is about 
people and not buildings. The Act does not 
include standards for accessible building 
design, though following good-practice 
guidance, such as the standards set out in 
BS 8300 and Approved Document M of the 
Building Regulations, can help duty holders 
provide a reasonable standard of access 
and thus fulfill their duties under  
the Act.

Employers

All employers, large and small, have a 
duty to make reasonable adjustments to 
avoid substantial disadvantage to disabled 
employees. The duty to make these 
changes is not speculative, but relates to 
the actual needs of a specific individual 
who is disabled. It may, however, be 
more cost-effective to consider access 
improvements as part of a programme of 
planned refurbishment, thereby allowing 
for disabled people to be employed in 
the future without the need for further 
alterations. 

Service providers

The duty to make reasonable adjustments 
requires service providers to take positive 
steps to ensure that disabled people can 
access services at a standard that is as close 
as possible to that offered to the public 
at large. This duty may require service 
providers to make reasonable adjustments 
to any physical features, including furniture 
and displays, wherever disabled customers 
or potential customers would otherwise 
be at a substantial disadvantage compared 
with non-disabled people. 

Unlike the duty imposed on employers, this 
is an anticipatory duty; service providers 
are required to anticipate the needs of 
disabled people and to accommodate 
them in a wide variety of ways. The duty 
to make reasonable adjustments is also 
a continuous one and service providers 
will need to review the changes they have 
made at periodic intervals. 

8 9

Part 1 Annex C
Page 288



Easy access to historic buildings

Volunteers

Volunteers may also be protected under 
the Equality Act. If volunteers have a 
contract and receive more than just out-
of-pocket expenses then they may be 
treated as employees. Other volunteers 
may also be protected as guidance states 
that providing someone with a volunteering 
opportunity counts as providing them with 
a service and so service-provider duties 
come into play. 

Educational institutions

Post-16 educational institutions have a 
duty to make reasonable adjustments for 
disabled students, including modifications to 
physical features. This duty is similar to that 
imposed on service providers and is again 
anticipatory.

Where educational buildings are used for 
conferences, banquets, and other non-
educational purposes, this is likely to give 
rise to service-provider duties.

The Public Sector Equality Duty

The Public Sector Equality Duty, which 
is made up of a general equality duty 
supported by specific duties, is part of the 
Equality Act and applies to certain public 
sector bodies, including key organisations 
such as local authorities and the providers 
of health, transport and education services. 
Those bodies must have due regard to the 
need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation, advance 
equality of opportunity and foster good 
relations between different groups. This 
duty encourages consideration of physical 

access for disabled people and the making 
of appropriate adjustments.

8 9

Part 1

The Equality Act does not override 
other legislation such as listed building 
or planning legislation, and the need 
to obtain appropriate approvals still 
applies in the case of changes made to 
improve access. 

Planning permission

Planning control is the system used to 
manage the development of land and 
buildings; it is administered by local 
planning authorities. Planning permission 
is required for most kinds of work that 
involve material alteration to the external 
appearance of a building. It also covers 
most changes of use. A planning application 
normally needs to be supported by a 
design and access statement that sets out 
the principles that have been applied to 
the proposal and then goes on to provide 
information about how inclusive access is 
to be achieved. It needs to make particular 
reference to the needs of disabled people, 
and can be used to explain any proposed 
reasonable adjustments to physical features 
of the building.

Annex C
Page 289



Easy access to historic buildings   

10 11

Part 1

The Planning system can play an important role in facilitating social interaction and 
creating healthy, inclusive communities … Local Planning Authorities should aim 
to involve all sections of the community in the development of Local Plans and in 
planning decisions, and should facilitate neighbourhood planning. Planning policies and 
decisions should … aim to achieve places which promote … (among other things) … 
safe and accessible environments (and) developments. 

Extracts from Paragraph 69 of the National Planning Policy Framework. DCLG,  
March 2012.

The Building Regulations 2010: 
Approved Document M (2004)

Part M of the Building Regulations is about 
access to and use of buildings. It applies 
to material alterations of and extensions 
to non-domestic buildings and to material 
changes to some non-domestic uses. The 
regulation requires reasonable provision to 
be made for people to gain access to the 
building and to use its facilities. Approved 
Document M gives guidance on meeting the 
regulation and sets out minimum standards 
for access.

Following the guidance in Approved 
Document M can be a helpful way to 
establish reasonable provision under the 
Equality Act. Failing to meet the guidance 
need not automatically imply discrimination, 
however, as there may be other means 
of achieving the same end result. This 
approach is in line with the principles that 
underpin the protection of listed buildings, 
in that it can allow access to be provided 
in ways that avoid removing those features 
of a building which contribute to its 
significance, and thus to its listing. 

Access statements and Part M of the 
Building Regulations

Departure from the guidance set out in 
Approved Document M can be explained 
by an access statement supporting the 
application. In the case of existing buildings, 
and particularly in the case of historic 
buildings, such a statement will allow a 
designer to identify the constraints imposed 
by the existing structure and its immediate 
environment. Where full access proves 
to be impracticable or only achievable 
at disproportionate cost, compensatory 
measures can be proposed. Essentially the 
access statement is a way of demonstrating 
that every effort has been made to provide 
an inclusive environment and it should not 
be used to justify lower standards of access 
provision.

Annex C
Page 290



Easy access to historic buildings

Historic buildings  
and Approved Document M

The need to conserve the special 
characteristics of historic buildings is 
recognised in Approved Document M. The 
guidance states that the aim should be 
to improve accessibility where practically 
possible, provided that the work does not 
prejudice the character of the building or 
increase the risk of long-term deterioration 
to the building fabric or fittings. 
Consultation with conservation and access 
officers is recommended, as well as taking 
into account the views of English Heritage 
and local access groups in order to make 
the building as accessible as possible.

Listed building consent

Under the terms of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
(1990) consent is required for any works 
of demolition, alteration or extension that 
will affect the character of a listed building, 

including any associated structures and 
fittings within its curtilage. Listed building 
legislation applies to both internal and 
external changes, irrespective of whether 
features are identified separately in the list 
description. The advice of the local planning 
authority should be sought on the need 
for consent at an early stage in the design 
process.

When seeking listed building consent it is 
important to provide information about 
the architectural and historical significance 
of the building and to assess the likely 
impact of the access proposals in relation 
to this. The application must demonstrate 
why any potentially damaging works are 
necessary or desirable, thus establishing 
that a balance is being struck between 
conservation and access. If a detailed 
proposal is refused consent it may still 
be possible to achieve an acceptable 
alternative design solution through 
negotiation and resubmission. Even if 
consent continues to be refused, there is 
likely to be a means of appeal. Whether 
or not the service provider’s duty to take 
all reasonable steps to ensure accessibility 
includes pursuing an appeal will depend on 
the circumstances of the case. 

It may also be necessary to apply for listed 
building consent for temporary access 
measures, including those made in advance 
of permanent solutions being adopted, 
if these will affect the character of the 
building. The local planning authority will 
advise on the need for consent. Portable 
ramps that are not fixed in place and which 
are removed after use do not require 
consent. 

BS 8300:2009 + A1:2010 Design of 
buildings and their approaches to 
meet the needs of disabled people. 
Code of practice 

BS 8300 provides guidance on good 
practice in the design of buildings and 
their approaches to allow convenient 
use by disabled people. The extent to 
which the standards apply to historic 
buildings will be determined on an 
individual basis. It should be noted that 
in certain respects guidance in the 
British Standard differs from that in 
Approved Document M.

10 11

Part 1 Annex C
Page 291



Easy access to historic buildings   

The refurbished entrance to the Treasury in Horse Guards Road has a symmetrical arrangement of ramp and steps. High-quality design complements 
the refurbishment of the historic elements.

Stair lifts are visually 
intrusive and not an 
ideal access solution, 
but can provide access 
when it is impossible 
to accommodate a 
vertical lift. At Winchester 
Cathedral the scale of the 
background architecture 
helps reduce the visual 
impact.

12 13

Part 1 Annex C
Page 292



Easy access to historic buildings

Ecclesiastical buildings

Some Christian denominations are 
exempted from the need to obtain listed 
building consent under the terms of the 
1990 Planning Act, because they have 
consent procedures of their own which 
have been accepted by the Government as 
providing an appropriate level of protection 
for their historic buildings. For the Church 
of England, all places of worship (not just 
those which are listed) are subject to the 
Faculty Jurisdiction system, which balances 
the needs of worship and mission with 
care and conservation of the buildings. 
Other denominations with their own 
control systems are the Church in Wales, 
the Roman Catholic Church, the Methodist 
Church, the United Reformed Church 
and the Baptist Union of Great Britain. 
However, the service provider provisions 
of the Equality Act cover activities within 
places of worship, irrespective of the 
denomination.

Under the Church of England’s Faculty 
Jurisdiction Rules, parishes proposing 
significant alterations to their listed church 
should provide a Statement of Significance 
and Statement of Need to be taken into 
account when changes to the buildings are 
proposed. This emphasises the principle, 
also set out in the Church of England’s 
case law of consistory court judgements, 
that where changes are proposed to 
a listed church there should be a clear 
need for the works which is sufficient to 
outweigh the normal assumption against 
alteration. Improvements to access should 
be considered in this context, in the light of 
what is reasonable.

Scheduled monument consent

As well as being listed, some historic 
buildings and their surroundings may be 
protected under the Ancient Monuments 
Act (1979). Consent is required for any 
work to an archaeological site or building 
that has been registered as a scheduled 
monument. Applications for consent are 
dealt with by the Department for Culture, 
Media and Sport, acting on advice from 
English Heritage.

The consent procedures will include 
four key principles: an application to an 
independent body, consultation with 
amenity bodies, consideration being 
given to the significance of the buildings 
themselves, and a right of appeal. 

At All Souls Church, Langham Place, London, an 
inconspicuous handrail leads up the side of the porch 
steps and a shallow ramp to a side entrance leads to a 
lobby and passenger lift that serves the church and the 
crypt. Visual impact upon the porch, which is of critical 
significance to the streetscape and the church, is minimal.

12 13

Part 1 Annex C
Page 293



Easy access to historic buildings   

Historic gardens and 
landscapes

The parks, gardens and other designed 
landscapes associated with historic buildings 
may also be of special historic interest in 
their own right and therefore included 
on English Heritage’s Register of Parks and 
Gardens. The Register contains a diverse 
range of sites: gardens, squares, cemeteries 
and parks. If planning permission is required 
for any proposed alterations, the local 
planning authority must consult the Garden 
History Society in all cases, and English 
Heritage in the case of gardens registered 
as grade I or II*. 

Where planning permission is not required 
but the proposed changes may affect the 
character or appearance of the garden 
or landscape, it is still advisable to seek 
professional guidance, especially in the 
case of ecclesiastical buildings, which will 
need denominational approval. Historic 
landscapes not included in the Register 
may be of considerable local value and any 
changes to their design, layout, character or 
appearance should be considered in this 
context.

At Stourhead, Wiltshire, the ramped path provides an 
alternative route adjacent to the garden steps.

If a building within a historic landscape is 
listed, changes to that landscape may also 
impact upon the setting of the building and 
should be considered in relation to the 
significance of both. Planning permission 
may be required for such changes, and 
the advice of the local planning authority 
should be sought.

Guidance on access to historic gardens 
and landscapes is given in English Heritage’s 
companion guide, Easy Access to Historic 
Landscapes.

The ramped access at the Geffrye Museum in London 
has been designed as part of the sunken herb garden.

14 15

Part 1 Annex C
Page 294



Easy access to historic buildings

Part 2:
Planning better access
What is reasonable?
The access strategy

Any organisation, be it a high-street 
retailer, museum or restaurant, that wants 
to make it easier for people to use its 
historic building is strongly advised to 
start by establishing an access strategy 
– a document that answers six simple 
questions:

• what is it that needs to be improved – is 
it the building itself, the way it is managed 
or a combination of the two?

• what would be a reasonable adjustment?

• what are the statutory obligations that 
have to be met? 

• which are the conservation consider-
ations that need to be taken into account? 

• who is going to be responsible for 
balancing these requirements?

• how much will it cost and how long is it 
going to take?

The secret of a successful strategy is clarity 
– making sure that the needs of visitors 
and users are as clearly understood as 
the sensitivities of the building that will 
be accommodating them. With careful 
planning it should be possible to provide 
suitable access for disabled people without 
compromising a building's special interest. 

Strategic commitment from the top of the 
organisation is another vital component, as 
is the presence of someone who will be 
responsible for implementing and reviewing 
the measures identified in the access 
planning process.

The Equality Act requires service 
providers to make reasonable 
adjustments for disabled people in 
the way they deliver their services. 
However, the Act does not specify 
how a service provider should go 
about meeting its obligations; it is 
up to them to decide whether they 
need to physically alter an obstructing 
feature or whether they can find a 
way of avoiding it or providing the 
same service in an alternative way.

It is not always necessary to remove 
an obstacle. In many cases the same 
desired result can be achieved by 
providing alternative routes or re-
organising the use of spaces, without 
any need for physical alterations. To 
avoid making the wrong decisions 
organisations and professionals should 
never undertake access works without 
first understanding which solutions 
would actually be preferred by 
disabled people themselves.

14 15

Part 2 Annex C
Page 295



Easy access to historic buildings   

Access strategy 

• Set objectives and framework

• Allocate budget

Access audit 

• Identify access needs

• Make recommendations 

Conservation assessment 

• Identify and describe special architectural, 
historic and archaeological interest 

Draft access plan 

• Consider options

• Reconcile access and conservation needs 

• Is proposed adjustment reasonable?

• Consult with access officer, conservation 
bodies and disabled user group

Development of proposals

• Develop design if physical alteration 
recommended

• Consents required?

• Further consultation with disabled people

The access plan 

• Site or building specific

• Range of solutions, from managed change to physical alteration 

• Implemented in stages according to access needs, long-term strategy and budget

• Reviewed regularly in relation to the access strategy

16 17

Part 2 Annex C
Page 296



Easy access to historic buildings

The access audit

The first step in planning access 
improvements is to undertake an access 
audit. This will assess and document 
barriers to access which exist within a 
building and its surroundings. A good 
audit will consider the requirements of 
wheelchair users, ambulant disabled people 
and those with sensory impairments 
and learning disabilities. It will consider 
intellectual access as well as physical access 
and can take into account the needs of 
families with young children and older 
people.

It is helpful for the audit to follow the 
sequence of the visitor’s journey through 
the building – from arrival on foot, by car 
or public transport, through entry into 
the building, access to each of the services 
and facilities provided and finally to the 
exit route. An audit can also consider how 
people would be helped to leave in the 
event of an emergency. 

The purpose of the audit is to compare 
the existing situation with best-practice 
guidance, thereby helping to identify any 
barriers to access that there may be. The 
auditor will make recommendations about 
possible ways of improving access, taking 
into account the use and nature of the 
building. It is recommended that someone 
experienced in assessing access issues 
should carry out the audit. Reference could 
be made to the National Register of Access 
Consultants.

The conservation assessment

A complementary part of the process will 
be to prepare a conservation assessment 
that establishes the significance of a building 
or site and its constituent parts in terms 
of its special architectural, historic or 
archaeological interest. These are usually 
prepared by architectural historians or 
conservation architects but amenity 
societies and local authorities may also 
be a source of guidance. In the case of 
ecclesiastical buildings, the statement of 
significance should provide the equivalent 
of a conservation assessment.

The access plan

Once an access audit and conservation 
assessment have been completed it 
becomes possible to prepare a detailed 
access plan that reconciles, where 
necessary, the needs of access and 
conservation. The plan will consider options 
for improvement, identify needs and 
impacts, and look at what is likely to be a 
reasonable adjustment. This stage of the 
process should include consultation not 
only with access and conservation bodies 
but with disabled people themselves.

The aim of an access plan should be, 
as far as is reasonably practicable, 
to provide a standard of access for 
disabled people equal to that enjoyed 
by the rest of the public.

16 17

Part 2 Annex C
Page 297



Easy access to historic buildings   

The access plan will normally have four 
related objectives: 

• establish short and long-term aims in 
relation to opportunities

• set out proposed solutions, ranging from 
change of operational use to physical 
alteration

• identify statutory consents or other 
approvals that are required 

• propose timescales for implementation.

Linked to maintenance and management 
procedures, the plan can also help ensure 
that access remains an ongoing priority. 
To make sure this happens it should be 
reviewed at regular intervals and used to 
record decisions and alterations to the 
original scheme and timetable.

The role of the conservation officer

The job of local authority building 
conservation officers is to provide 
specialist advice on the repair and 
maintenance of historic buildings. 
This can be particularly valuable if 
alterations to improve access are likely 
to need planning permission or listed 
building consent.

It is the detailed preparation of the access 
plan that will confirm the need for any 
alterations to a historic building, including 
those requiring listed building or scheduled 
monument consent. However, the process 
should begin by considering all the other 
options available – including the provision 
of the service by other means – and 
assessing the impact that each of these 
would have on the building’s significance. 

If there are any conflicts between the 
interests of access and conservation, it may 
be possible to reconcile these through 
creative and sensitive design. For financial 
and operational reasons physical works 
may need to phased over a period of time, 
in which case the plan may need to allow 
for alternative ways of providing the service 
in the interim. 

The access plan should not be restricted to 
wheelchair users. It also needs to consider 
the requirements of people with limited 
mobility, sensory impairments and learning 
disabilities, families with young children and 
older people. A well-drafted plan should 
be central to any organisation’s strategic 
commitment to improving access. It also 
needs to be reviewed regularly so that the 
current provisions can be kept up-to-date, 
not only in terms of changes in regulations 
but also new technical solutions, both of 
which the service provider is duty-bound 
to take reasonable steps to comply with. 

Focus groups made up of disabled people, 
or drawn from a local access group, can be 
invaluable in testing proposals before they 
are incorporated into the access plan. The 
finished plan can also be used both as the 
basis of any access statement required for 
statutory consents and to provide a useful 
record of decisions taken in relation to 
duties under the Equality Act.

18 19

Part 2 Annex C
Page 298



Easy access to historic buildings

The role of the access officer

Access officers are normally based 
in the planning or building control 
departments of local authorities. As 
well as helping to develop access 
policies and design guidance, they 
advise on development proposals in 
relation to planning policy and Part M 
of the Building Regulations. They also 
facilitate local access groups made up 
of disabled people. All of this makes 
them invaluable sources of practical 
advice on access improvements so 
they should be consulted as early as 
possible in the development of an 
access plan.

18 19

Part 2

Management issues

No access plan will be truly successful 
unless it is underpinned by a commitment 
from the very top of the organisation 
to meet or exceed currently agreed 
standards of good practice. It also needs 
the backing of universal staff awareness 
brought about through a combination 
of training and ongoing management 
support. An accessible WC used to store 
cleaning materials rapidly ceases to be 
accessible; a cluttered reception desk with 
a profusion of leaflets and notices offers 
clear information to no one. Good access 
depends on the effective management of 
the whole service – in many instances a 
simple change in operational working can 
overcome an apparently stubborn physical 
access issue. 

A successful access plan will consider a range of solutions, including management procedures and physical improvements..

Annex C
Page 299



Easy access to historic buildings   

No1 Smithery, Chatham 
Historic Dockyard, is a 
scheduled monument 
and grade II* listed. The 
restoration of the building 
includes a new accessible 
public entrance with 
ramp and steps. The scale 
of the façade allows this 
significant new addition. 

© vHH/James Brittain

Power-assisted doors located in the returns of the  
portico at the Royal Opera House provide an easily 
accessible route.

At Ripon Town Hall the whole pavement has been 
ramped up to threshold level over the original steps, 
part of a scheme that included the addition of a lift and 
accessible toilets inside. Railings have been added because 
of the increase in kerb height, but no handrail has been 
provided for the steps.

20 21

Part 2

Funding for access 
improvements

Neither English Heritage nor the Heritage 
Lottery Fund (HLF) is in a position to 
provide the owners of historic buildings 
with money specifically to improve 
access. However, HLF can fund physical 
and sensory access improvements to 
historic buildings or sites (including places 
of worship) if they form part of a wider 
project to repair and open up the building 
or site to the public. HLF can also grant-aid 
the completion of an access audit as part 
of the development phase of a project.

Annex C
Page 300



Easy access to historic buildings

Barriers to access
Overcoming barriers

First and foremost, the access planning 
process is about finding ways to overcome 
the barriers to access that are the concern 
of the Equality Act – and especially those 
relating to physical obstructions.

All service providers covered by the 
Equality Act are required to make whatever 
reasonable adjustments are necessary to 
ensure that disabled people are not put 
at a substantial disadvantage. Potential 
obstacles fall into two broad categories: 

• external physical elements of the building 
and its setting, including landscape 
features, kerbs, exterior surfaces, paving, 
parking areas, building entrances and exits 
as well as emergency escape routes

• any feature arising from the design or 
construction of a building itself, including 
architectural details (such as plinths, 
column bases, staircases, ironwork 
and door openings), fixtures, fittings, 
furnishings, furniture, equipment and 
other materials.

King’s Bench Walk, Inner Temple, London. A short-
rise platform lift is positioned behind railings where it 
descends to basement level and connects to the primary 
circulation routes.

20 21

Part 2 Annex C
Page 301



Easy access to historic buildings   

With a minor adjustment to liturgical practice, a church 
member in a wheelchair receives communion in the nave 
at the church of St James the Great, Colchester.

Cobbles and setts can be difficult for ambulant disabled 
people to walk on, especially if they are rough, uneven or 
open-jointed. At Brougham Castle, Cumbria, a smooth 
path is laid across an uneven surface to create a more 
accessible route.

22 23

Part 2

It is important that each feature is properly 
understood, both in its own right and in 
the context of the whole building. Every 
effort should be made to leave features 
unchanged and visible if they contribute 
to the building’s significance, character 
or composition. In some circumstances a 
reasonable adjustment may involve avoiding 
a feature rather than making an alteration. 

The type of service or activity that takes 
place within the building will also be a 
major factor in determining the appropriate 
level of access and the required degree of 
alteration. The Equality Act lists the factors 
that affect whether a potential adjustment 
is seen as reasonable – the size and 
financial resources of an organisation are 
taken into account..

Any proposed change of use that involves 
service-provider or education functions 
needs  careful consideration of the way in 
which the resultant access requirements 
could be accommodated within the 
existing structure.

The Equality Act outlines four options for 
overcoming a barrier caused by a physical 
feature. These are: 

•  removal of the feature 

•  alterations to the feature 

•  providing a reasonable means of  
avoiding it

• providing the service by a reasonable 
alternative method if none of the 
preceding options is viable.

Annex C
Page 302



Easy access to historic buildings

The Act does not prescribe which option 
should be considered first, but the Code 
of Practice recommends that service 
providers should start by considering 
whether the physical feature which creates 
a barrier can be removed or altered. This 
represents an inclusive approach to access 
because it makes services available to 
everyone in the same way. The Act requires 
that any means of avoiding the physical 
feature must be a ‘reasonable’ one. In 
determining reasonableness consideration 
should be given to the dignity of disabled 

people and the extent to which they are 
caused inconvenience or anxiety. It should 
always be remembered that the aim is to 
achieve a standard of access for disabled 
people that is equal to that enjoyed by the 
rest of the public.

At the Royal Academy, Piccadilly, the permanent scheme (right) which replaced unsightly temporary ramps (left) involved the modification of the plinth 
to accommodate the raised courtyard levels. Picture to the left © Francis Ware

22 23

Part 2 Annex C
Page 303



Easy access to historic buildings   

The new entrance 
arrangements at St John’s 
Smith Square include a 
ramp from the pavement 
giving access to a lift 
serving internal levels.

The stone balustrade has been cut through on one side 
of the entrance to the Seaman’s Hall at Somerset House 
to provide ramped access.

Dialogue and discussion

English Heritage encourages early 
pre-application consultation with 
local-authority conservation, building 
control, access and archaeology staff; 
with local access groups and, in the 
case of major buildings undergoing 
potentially substantial alterations, 
with its own staff. In many planning 
departments, applications involving 
access provisions are reviewed by an 
access officer, who should be able 
to advise on the suitability of the 
proposed solutions, or recommend 
alternative sources of advice and 
guidance. Continuous dialogue and 
feedback from users can ease the 
handling of applications for listed 
building and other consents, and 
help to achieve solutions which 
satisfactorily combine access and 
conservation.

24 25

Part 2 Annex C
Page 304



Easy access to historic buildings

The Christopher Wren-designed church of St James 
sits between Piccadilly and Jermyn streets, which are 
at different levels. Level access has been achieved from 
Jermyn Street by altering a window to form a doorway, 
which is located in a 19th-century addition to the original 
body of the church and deemed less sensitive.

Visitor using the interactive display in the Visitor Centre at 
Knole, Kent.

© National Trust Images/Stuart Cox

24 25

Part 2

Removing the feature

It may be the case that those features 
which form a barrier are also those 
which make up the special interest of the 
building – a narrow doorway or staircase 
for example. In this case, removal is unlikely 
to constitute a reasonable adjustment. 
Additive change is more likely to be 
appropriate than destructive change. It may 
be the case that when balancing the long-
term future of the building with the short-
term needs of its occupants a reversible 
semi-permanent solution may be the most 
appropriate. 

To determine reasonableness, it will be 
essential to assess the relative contribution 
such features make to the building as a 
whole, and to set this against the costs 
and benefits which removal might bring. 
Frequency of use could also be a significant 
issue when making this assessment.

Altering the feature

It may be possible to make alterations 
without adversely affecting the historic 
fabric or quality of the building. Alternatives 
that look beyond standard solutions might 
include the sympathetic reduction, rather 
than removal, of physical features. Where it 
is not possible to adhere completely to the 
design standard recommended in BS 8300 
or Approved Document M of the Building 
Regulations, the access statement can be 
used to identify the constraints imposed 
by the existing structure and justify the 
proposed reasonable adjustment.

Annex C
Page 305



Easy access to historic buildings   

These before and after photographs show the removal 
of steps and the lowering of the entrance levels at the 
United Church, Winchester.

: © Joe LowPicture below

At St Michael’s House in Cambridge access has been provided to the café and exhibition 
space. The scheme does not meet all the provisions of Approved Document M of the 
Building Regulations but still provides a reasonable standard of access.

26 27

Part 2

Finding ways round barriers  
to access

It may be possible to avoid the feature 
that creates a barrier by changing the way 
in which a building is managed, perhaps 
by providing access via a side route or by 
opening up a secondary main entrance. The 
principal entrance may still be available, but 
the preferred option would be to ensure 
that everyone uses the accessible entrance. 
This may require further changes to the 
management of the building and to the use 
of its internal spaces. Circulation routes 
within a building could be adjusted to avoid 
barriers such as stepped thresholds and 
narrow doorways. 

Providing the service in 
another way

This option can be considered in addition 
to the approaches discussed above 
or where physical changes have been 
considered and rejected. However, this 
approach alone may not be considered 
reasonable if one of the other options 
would have provided a more inclusive 
service for all users. In considering this 
option, service providers might investigate, 
for example: 

• relocating public services from the upper 
to the ground floor, in order to overcome 
barriers to access 

•  using print, computer or audio-visual 
means to provide access to the service, 
where physical barriers cannot be 
overcome. 

It is recommended that disabled users of 
the service should be consulted to establish 
the acceptability of providing the service in 
a different way to that offered to others.

Annex C
Page 306



Easy access to historic buildings

Picture above: At Morley Town Hall in West Yorkshire an 
accessible principal entrance has been created at the side 
of the building, making use of the sloping pavement to 
provide level access.

Picture right: At the Queen’s House in Greenwich level 
access has been provided at basement level by forming a 
gently dished semicircular forecourt in front of an existing 
central door opening on the north front. The new paved 
route forms the access for all public visitors.

© Peter Cook / VIEW

Reasonable adjustments in practice

The Equality Act Code of Practice guidance for service providers gives a list of 
measures that can be taken to identify or make reasonable adjustments:

• planning in advance for the requirements of disabled people and reviewing the 
reasonable adjustments in place

• conducting access audits on premises

• asking disabled customers for their views on reasonable adjustments

• consulting local and national disability groups

• drawing disabled people’s attention to relevant reasonable adjustments so they 
know they can use the service

• properly maintaining auxiliary aids and having contingency plans in place in case of 
the failure of the auxiliary aid

• training employees to appreciate how to respond to requests for reasonable 
adjustment

• encouraging employees to develop additional serving skills for disabled people  
(for example, communicating with hearing-impaired people); 

• ensuring that employees are aware of the duty to make reasonable adjustments and 
understand how to communicate with disabled customers so that such adjustments 
can be identified and made.

26 27

Part 2 Annex C
Page 307



Easy access to historic buildings   

28 29

Part 2

At the Lady Lever Art Gallery in Port Sunlight the public 
entrance was relocated to the west elevation and a new 
ramp introduced to provide access to the main gallery. 
A glass balustrade and the use of concrete matching the 
colour of the limestone cladding limits the visual impact of 
the new intervention.

© Chester Masonry

At Cragside, near Morpeth, a touch-screen computer 
provides a virtual tour of parts of the house that are 
inaccessible.

© National Trust

Annex C
Page 308



Easy access to historic buildings

Part 3: Making access
a reality
Practical advice and examples
Easy physical access involves people being 
able to circulate freely and cope with 
changes in level. Horizontal movement 
is most likely to be constrained by floor 
surfaces, corridors, doorways, thresholds 
and small changes in level. Improvements to 
vertical circulation may require alterations 
to steps, stairs and handrails or involve the 
introduction of ramps or lifts. All of these 
can affect the appearance and significance 
of the building. Path surfaces, steps and 
gradients present similar issues in parks 
and gardens and much of the guidance 
below will be equally applicable to outdoor 
environments.

What follows is an overview of situations 
in which difficult decisions often need to 
be made. Some of the examples may not 
conform strictly to guidance in Approved 
Document M of the Building Regulations 
but nevertheless achieve a successful 
balance between reasonable adjustment 
and the sensitivities of historic places.

Where there is a physical barrier, the service provider’s aim should be to make its 
services accessible to disabled people and, in particular, to provide access to a service 
as close as it is reasonably possible to get to the standard normally offered to the 
public at large. When considering which option to adopt, service providers must 
balance and compare the alternatives in light of the policy of the Act, which is, as far 
as is reasonably practicable, to approximate the access enjoyed by disabled persons to 
that enjoyed by the rest of the public.

Equality Act 2010 Statutory Code of Practice: Services, Public Functions and Associations, 
2011, page 106, 7.58

28 29

Part 3 Annex C
Page 309



Easy access to historic buildings   

30 31

Part 3

Asymmetrical elevations can accommodate alteration more easily. The addition of 
this significant ramp at Ealing Town Hall does not upset the balance of the overall 
composition and the design and use of materials is sympathetic.

At Huddersfield station the asymmetry of a single ramp rising to the portico is 
insignificant when seen against the heroic scale of the larger design.

At Manchester Art 
Gallery the symmetrical 
composition of the main 
façade is not disturbed by 
the ramp, which rises to the 
portico entrance on one 
side only. 

Horizontal 
movement
Making an entrance

The aim should be to make a building’s 
main entrance accessible to everyone on a 
permanent basis. Conservation constraints 
may arise from the design and character of 
the building’s façade and setting and each 
building will have its own characteristics, 
which should, as far as possible, be 
respected in considering alterations for 
access. 

Classical buildings, for example, are usually 
built to a single, unified plan that follows 
strict rules of symmetry and proportion. 
Derived from the idea of a temple, the 
entrance is often set upon a base and 
approached by a flight of steps. Alterations 
to such buildings need to respect these 
rules, although sometimes relatively small-
scale changes may break them without 
significantly affecting the appearance.

Symmetry may be less of an issue in 
other types of less formal architecture. 
Proportion and balance will still be 
important, but greater flexibility may allow, 
for example, the insertion of a single 
asymmetrical ramp. 

Georgian and Victorian terraced houses 
with steps up to the front door can pose 
seemingly intractable problems in relation 
to access. Alternative entrance points such 
as a mews may be available. Alternatively a 
basement area between the building and 
the pavement may allow the incorporation 
of a platform lift to provide access from 

Annex C
Page 310



Easy access to historic buildings

street level to the basement floor. Platform 
lifts can often be visually less intrusive than 
ramps over basement areas. 

In urban locations, space in front of 
buildings will frequently be restricted. 
Where it is available, it may be possible 
to re-grade the pedestrian approach up 
to or within a porch or portico. Where 
an existing entrance cannot be adapted it 
may be possible to form a new accessible 
entrance for everyone to use.

A Minton tile floor, such as this one underneath matting 
at Osborne House, is particularly vulnerable to both foot 
traffic and wheelchairs and needs to be protected.

Many entrances to 18th-century and 19th-century 
terraced town houses have steps up to the front 
entrance, along with a basement area. An external 
platform lift was installed within the basement area of 
this London house, the steps and landing altered and the 
railings adapted in keeping with the existing design. A lift 
was installed within the house. The house has since been 
sold and the platform lift removed.

Inside the building

Large secular buildings were often 
designed with a hierarchy of spaces and a 
prescribed sequence of movement through 
the building – the entrance hall, principal 
staircase, primary corridor and principal 
rooms. The form and decoration of each of 
these spaces may be part of the building’s 
special interest and the visual impact of any 

alteration must be carefully considered. In 
smaller buildings there may simply be too 
little space for additions such as ramps 
or lifts, while the visual impact might be 
equally damaging. 

When dealing with level changes and 
restricted space, the conservation concerns 
are likely to centre on issues of scale, 
proportion and continuity in materials, 
design and finish, as well as structural 
factors affecting corridor widths and floor 
levels. 

Floors

Routes through buildings need to be free 
of trip hazards and smooth enough for 
easy wheelchair use. However, the levelling 
or alteration of historic floors should only 
be considered as a last resort once other 
less potentially damaging options have been 
fully considered.

30 31

Part 3 Annex C
Page 311



Easy access to historic buildings   

If the historic floor surface is particularly 
fragile, it is likely to require protection 
against foot traffic and wheelchairs, 
especially the heavy electrically powered 
ones. A temporary covering, removable 
for occasional viewing, may be the only 
appropriate answer. In such cases, fully 
accessible information about the floor and 
its importance should be available near by. 

Over-polished floors can be hazardous 
and slip-resistant finishes are important, 
particularly in areas where the floor 
may become wet. Loose rugs without 
any underlay to anchor them or with 
edges creating a trip hazard should also 
be avoided. Thick pile carpets can hinder 
wheelchair passage.

Doors and openings

Door and window openings establish 
the character of an elevation and are an 
integral part of the façade; alterations to 
their proportions or detail should generally 
be avoided. 

Where the principal entrance is a key 
element in the design of a building façade, 
the door frame or surround and the door 
itself are likely to be significant. Alteration 
may be possible but should be carefully 
considered. In the case of heavy doors 
it may be possible to add a powered 
opening device or at least a bell to call for 
assistance.

Standard guidance recommends an 800mm 
clear opening for a head-on approach, 
although the majority of manually propelled 
wheelchairs can manage with slightly less 
than this. A compromise may therefore be 

possible, subject to consultation. Approved 
Document M suggests a minimum clear 
width of 750mm in existing buildings.

Room to manoeuvre alongside the leading 
edge of a door is particularly important. 
Where space is inadequate and an 
alternative route is not feasible, doors 
could be held open or even removed. 

Wheelchairs and other mobility aids can 
inadvertently damage narrow door cases 
and joinery. Applied protection may be 
necessary to safeguard the historic fabric. 

Double doors with narrow leaves can 
also pose a problem as it can be difficult 
for a wheelchair user to open both doors 
together. Doors can be held open with 
electromagnetic catches, linked if necessary 
to a fire alarm system. Powered opening 
may be possible, although the addition 
of devices may cause damage to joinery. 
It may even be possible to fix the leaves 
together to act as a single door. Sometimes 
leaves may have to be replaced with 
ones of unequal width, to provide a clear 
800mm opening on one side.

The addition of vision panels in important 
historic doors is rarely acceptable. It is 
more usual to hold doors open to achieve 
improved access.

Every effort should be made to retain 
historic door furniture or traditional 
ironmongery that is integral to the  
design and character of the door. 
Automating the door opening or relying  
on staff assistance is likely to be preferable 
to replacing significant fittings with  
lever-type handles. 

32 33

Part 3 Annex C
Page 312



Easy access to historic buildings

Removal of original timbers in significant buildings 
should be avoided, especially when integral to the frame 
construction. Exposed sill plates across thresholds, such as 
this one at Deal Castle in Kent, typically pose a problem. 
A reversible ramp to provide access across the threshold 
is likely to be preferable to raising the floor locally.

Consideration should be given to the 
height, ease of use and visual contrast 
between the handle and door. Self-closing 
mechanisms with an abrupt or heavy 
action should be regularly adjusted to their 
minimum operating pressure.

Thresholds

The generally accepted maximum raised 
threshold over which an independent 
wheelchair user can manoeuvre is 15mm, 
although in practice some people may 
be able to negotiate a slightly higher one, 
especially if the leading edge is bevelled. 
Short temporary threshold ramps can be 

provided, though care should be taken to 
ensure they are used safely.

In timber-framed buildings every effort 
should be made to avoid cutting sill plates 
or other framing members that contribute 
to the building’s structural integrity. A 
bevelled fillet on either side can resolve a 
small difference in height. If sill plates are to 
be covered by a raised floor or ramp, care 
should be taken to maintain ventilation and 
avoid moisture entrapment, which can lead 
to timber decay.

Corridors

Circulation routes must allow easy 
movement and provide a sense of location 
and direction. The preferred unobstructed 
width of a corridor is 1200mm, though 
1800mm is recommended to allow 
wheelchair users to pass each other.

Visual contrast

Visual contrast can be a useful way to 
distinguish floor and wall surfaces and 
thus help people to orient themselves. 
Contrasting colour for doors or door 
frames and potential obstructions will also 
help them to move around safely. Light 
reflectance values (LRV) should be checked 
to ensure adequate contrast.

Visual contrast to step nosings is 
recommended and can be particularly 
helpful for people with visual impairments. 
Contrasting nosings can be provided on 
carpeted stairs, removable paint can be 
used if appropriate and where alteration 
is not possible directional lighting can help 
provide shadow contrast.

32 33

Part 3 Annex C
Page 313



Easy access to historic buildings   

Access improvements at the Almeida Theatre, London, 
were part of a larger project. The foyer ramp gives access 
to the stalls seating area.

The addition of a carefully detailed external structure 
has improved access to this civic building in Corsham, 
Wiltshire, while not compromising its appearance.

© Wiltshire Council

Modifications to the relatively modern bridge to the Inner 
Ward at Barnard Castle, Co Durham, replaced steps with 
a ramp, giving an accessible main visitor route.

A ramp made by sloping the paving at the west front of 
Winchester Cathedral created an accessible route into 
the building.

34 35

Part 3 Annex C
Page 314



Easy access to historic buildings

Vertical movement
Ramps

Ramps are usually preferable to platform 
lifts and can provide easy and convenient 
access provided gradients are not too 
steep or too long. They also tend to be 
cheaper and much easier to maintain. 
However, where changes of level are too 
great, where there is inadequate space or 
there is an established need to protect 
architectural or archaeological features, a lift 
may still have to be considered.

Any slope of 1:20 or steeper is defined  
as a ramp by Approved Document M. 
Gradients should be as shallow as 
practicable as steep slopes create 
difficulties for some wheelchair users 
and ambulant disabled people. Standard 
guidance advises a maximum gradient 
of 1:12 for a distance of up to 2m 
between level landings. A longer ramp is 
acceptable where the gradient is shallower 
and suitable landings are provided. In 
exceptional circumstances, steeper grades 
over shorter distances may be preferable 
to no ramp at all, although these will not be 
suitable for some wheelchair users without 
assistance and care should be taken to 
ensure safe use. Electrically powered 
wheelchairs can generally cope with 
steeper slopes than manually propelled 
ones. The case for a steeper or longer ramp 
than that recommended in the Approved 
Document M would need to be made in 
the Access Statement. 

At St James’ Church, Colchester, the level change at the 
north porch is more than a metre. A removable ramp at 
the south door provides access until a permanent solution 
is provided.

Removable ramps tend 
to remain in place for 
several years. They rarely 
represent a satisfactory 
architectural solution 
but can be used out of 
necessity while a well-
designed permanent 
solution is being agreed.

Removable timber 
ramps, such as this one 
at Richmond Castle in 
North Yorkshire, can 
provide access where a 
permanent intervention is 
not possible.

34 35

Part 3 Annex C
Page 315



Easy access to historic buildings   

When forming permanent ramps and 
raising floor levels, account should be 
taken of design features such as skirtings, 
plinths or dado rails. These can often make 
important contributions to the scale and 
proportion of a room. 

Temporary ramps can have a detrimental 
visual impact and are unlikely to provide 
a satisfactory long-term solution to 
access problems. However, they may be 
considered a reasonable adjustment prior 
to the provision of a planned permanent 
solution, or where access may be needed 
for a relatively short period in a building’s 
life, or where use is infrequent. Temporary 
measures should be made to the same 
standards of design and construction as 
permanent interventions, not least because 
they may also require formal approval. 
Just like permanent arrangements, they 
should seek to minimise visual impact and 
to provide the greatest possible degree of 
integration and independence.

A ramp to one side of the 
entrance to the Foundling 
Museum, London, sits 
behind an existing wall. 
The new central handrail 
to the steps allows for left 
and right-hand use.

The use of portable ramps has 
management implications, such as the 
availability of staff to erect and remove 
them as required and to ensure their 
safe use. They may be used from time to 
time for a single visitor, or periodically for 
an event lasting several days. As well as 
avoiding the risk of visual intrusion, portable 
ramps may also be preferable for smaller 
properties or those where wheelchair 
use is infrequent. Appropriate staffing 
arrangements, training and storage space 
are integral parts of the solution. 

In places of worship, changes in floor 
levels may have historical and liturgical 
significance. Where level changes are 
not great a temporary ramp might 
be considered though a permanent 
intervention, carefully designed to 
respect the historic integrity of its 
surroundings, is always preferable.

 It may not be possible or 
desirable to alter some 
stairs. Where this is the 
case alternative forms of 
access, such as a virtual 
tour, could be considered.

36 37

Part 3 Annex C
Page 316



Easy access to historic buildings

Many ambulant disabled people do not find 
ramps easy to use. Where a change of level 
is greater than 300mm it is recommended 
that steps are provided as well as a ramp. 
Changes of level of 2m or more should be 
accompanied by an alternative means of 
access such as a lift.

This stair at Manchester Town hall has a handrail to one 
side only, not meeting current guidance. The addition of a 
secondary handrail was not deemed necessary because 
lift access is available near by.

The new handrail at Huddersfield station is 
in keeping with its context.

The original handrail at the Walker Art 
Gallery in Liverpool does not comply 
with current profile recommendations 
and does not project 300mm beyond the 
top riser because it abuts the pilaster. No 
changes have been proposed as a nearby 
lift provides alternative access.

36 37

Part 3

Stairs and landings

The principal staircase is often the major 
element in the most important public 
space within a building. It is therefore likely 
to be of considerable architectural and 
historic importance. Such staircases often 
fail to comply with current standards and 
changing them is likely to be contentious. 
An alternative solution may be possible if 
there is a secondary staircase that would 
be less sensitive to alteration. 

Handrails

Handrails are highly visible and so represent 
a critical design issue. The introduction of 
new handrails to stairs will inevitably impact 
upon the character of existing spaces 
and features, even when designed with 
great care and sensitivity. Detailed design 
studies, supported by accurate drawings 
and visualisations, are essential if such 
interventions are to be properly planned 
and their impact fully understood. 

In older buildings, handrails were not 
generally designed to extend 300mm 
beyond the first or last riser, or to have the 
currently recommended profile. Where 
handrails do not extend or have a profile 
that cannot be gripped it may be possible 
to insert a more suitable additional rail. 

Annex C
Page 317



Easy access to historic buildings   

Current standards require all flights of 
steps to have handrails on both sides and 
additional central handrails where a flight is 
more than 1800mm wide. On wider flights 
where side handrails cannot be provided 
a single, central handrail gives the desired 
left- and right-hand option. On narrow 
stairways, one good handrail is better than 
none.

The historic context of a staircase may 
suggest the replication of an existing 
handrail design which does not fully comply 
with guidance in Approved Document M, 
but which could nonetheless be regarded 
as a reasonable adjustment. Where 
conservation and aesthetic considerations 
require the retention of non-compliant but 
historic handrails then this issue should be 
raised in the Access Statement.

A mock-up (picture above right) was used to investigate the visual impact of the 
proposed handrail at the grade I listed John Rylands Library, Manchester, before the 
permanent installation. The resulting permanent handrail (below) has been designed to 
relate to the very high-quality bronze work in the library. The central location improves 
access to the stairs with minimal impact on the building fabric.

This handrail at the Bank of England shows how it is possible to form new versions that match existing designs and materials.

38 39

Part 3 Annex C
Page 318



Easy access to historic buildings

At the Victoria and Albert Museum in London long 
symmetrical shallow ramps have been combined with 
steps that complement the scale of the Cromwell Road 
frontage. There is one central handrail to the steps.

A new accessible entrance at Tate Britain has wide steps 
and ramps.

This elegant solution at the Royal Institute of British 
Architects overcomes a small change of level at the 
entrance.

The once-derelict grade I listed church of St Luke in 
London has been converted into a community and music 
education centre for the London Symphony Orchestra. 
Access improvements to the entrance are sensitive to the 
architectural importance of the building.

© Matthew Weinreb – imeagefind.com

38 39

Part 3 Annex C
Page 319



Easy access to historic buildings   

Lifts

The best way to provide accessible 
circulation between different floors of 
a building is to install an integrated and 
suitably sized passenger lift. As well as 
helping wheelchair users it can also be 
of benefit to ambulant disabled people, 
older people and people with pushchairs. 
A passenger lift is more likely to be 
feasible in larger buildings. Where space is 
at a premium, or a lower-cost solution is 
required, a short-rise platform lift may be a 
more viable solution. 

Passenger and platform lifts are best 
located in the less-sensitive parts of 
historic buildings, for example secondary 
staircases and light wells or in areas that 
have already been disturbed or altered. 
Pits and openings for lift shafts should be 
carefully located to avoid loss or damage to 
significant timbers, archaeological remains 
or decorative surfaces.

Lift controls should be designed for ease of 
use by everyone and should incorporate 
tactile, visually contrasting illuminated 
buttons set at an appropriate height and 
location. Audible information can help 
people using and waiting for the lift.

The lift car should be large enough to 
accommodate any type of wheelchair 
with at least one other passenger. A lift 
car 2000mm wide by 1400mm deep will 
accommodate most scooters and allow 
wheelchair users to turn through 180 
degrees. It may also be more suitable 
where there is heavy visitor use.

At the Queen’s House in Greenwich a new staircase replaced a service stair that had 
been altered and so had potential for further change. The new stair allowed for the 
construction of a lift in the stair well. While not meeting all the standards in Approved 
Document M, the lift does provide access to upper floor levels for the first time.

© Peter Cook / View

A lift at Blickling Hall in 
Norfolk has been located 
within one of the turrets 
without damage to the 
internal structure.

40 41

Part 3 Annex C
Page 320



Easy access to historic buildings

In some historic buildings, a smaller car 
may be the only option. The minimum size 
needed to accommodate one wheelchair 
user and a companion is 1400mm deep 
by 1100mm wide. If circumstances allow, it 
should operate as a through lift, with doors 
on opposite sides, so that the wheelchair 
user does not have to turn round or 
reverse on exit. This also applies to short-
rise platform lifts.

Whatever the type of lift, requirements for 
ongoing maintenance and management 
should not be overlooked, particularly in 
the case of external lifts that are exposed 
to the elements.

Certain passenger lifts and most platform 
lifts avoid the need for expensive and 
space-consuming overruns and lifts pits. 
Short-rise platform lifts offer scope for 
level changes up to 4m if contained 
within an enclosed lift shaft. The minimum 
platform size required to accommodate 
a wheelchair user is 800mm wide by 
1250mm where the platform is not 
enclosed and 900mm wide by 1400mm 
deep when it is. An enclosed platform 
1100mm wide by 1400mm deep will 
accommodate an accompanied wheelchair 
user and is the smallest that will allow 
two doors located at 90 degrees to one 
another. 

 At St Luke’s Church in London the rebuilding of an 
unsafe internal staircase allowed space for a lift, making all 
levels accessible.

© Matthew Weinreb – imeagefind.com

These sensitively designed steps with adjacent platform 
lift at the main entrance to St Mary’s Church in Beverley 
overcome a substantial change of level and provide 
improved access for everyone.

40 41

Part 3 Annex C
Page 321



Easy access to historic buildings   

Traditional stair or platform lifts that follow 
the incline of a stair should only be used 
where standard passenger or platform 
lifts cannot be installed. They tend to be 
unpopular with disabled people and can be 
undignified or impossible for some people 
to use. They may also create unacceptable 
visual intrusion and cannot be fitted to 
a staircase on an escape route if they 
constitute a hazard or reduce the width 
of the stairway to less than the acceptable 
minimum. They should only be considered 
as a last resort when it is impossible to 
accommodate a vertical lift or ramp or 
where alternative routes are not available. 

This platform lift at Lambeth Palace has been carefully 
designed with glass sides and matching floor finish. The lift 
and stair do not detract from their surroundings.

© Dennis Gilbert / VIEW

At St George’s, Brandon Hill, in Bristol external hydraulic lifts provide 
access at two level changes between the upper churchyard car 
park and the church, which is now a concert hall. The lifts have also 
proved useful in moving heavier equipment and large instruments.

At Eastbury Manor, Barking, the entrance lobby floor can be raised 
to form a ramp to overcome a level change at the entrance.

42 43

Part 3 Annex C
Page 322



Easy access to historic buildings

Stair climbers are devices that are attached 
to wheelchairs to allow them to be 
transported up or down a flight of stairs. 
They must be operated by trained staff, do 
not serve all types of wheelchair, nor do 
they resolve the access problems of those 
who have difficulties with steps. They may 
also cause embarrassment and can give 

rise to anxiety because of their perceived 
lack of safety. The damage they can do to 
stair treads may also make them unsuitable 
for use on significant historic staircases. 
A stair climber may be the only solution 
to some access problems but should only 
be considered when there is no other 
practical option.

A wheelchair platform lift was provided when the stairs to the Saint’s Chapel at St Albans Cathedral were rebuilt. The 
area was carefully excavated by the cathedral archaeologist before construction went ahead. The lift motor is housed 
below the steps so cannot be heard. 

© Dennis Gilbert / VIEW

42 43

Part 3 Annex C
Page 323



Easy access to historic buildings   

Emergency escape

Ways out must be considered alongside 
ways in. Responsibility for providing an 
adequate means of escape for everyone 
using a building rests with the building 
management or service providers. 
Emergency plans should allow for 
evacuation without reliance on the fire 
service, and should be drawn up following 
consultation with the fire officer and 
disabled users of the building to ensure 
their needs are taken into account. All 
staff who may be expected to help with 
the evacuation of disabled people should 
receive appropriate training. 

The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) 
Order 2005 sets out requirements for 
fire safety and is supported by a number 
of supplementary guides including Fire 
Safety Risk Assessment – Means of Escape 
for Disabled People. Guidance is also given 
in BS 9999: 2008 Code of Practice for Fire 
Safety in the Design, Management and Use 
of Buildings.

Disabled people may be able to 
evacuate themselves from ground-floor 
accommodation but need assistance with 
escape from higher or lower floor levels. It 
may be necessary to provide fire-protected 
places of refuge adjacent to staircases 
where people can safely wait for assistance. 
An evacuation lift is the preferred form 
of escape and increasingly used as an 
alternative to carrying wheelchair users 
down the stairs. Guidance on evacuation 
lifts is given in BS 9999.

Emergency evacuation plans should be 
sufficiently flexible to meet the needs 
of disabled visitors whose specific 
requirements cannot be identified in 
advance. Separate plans for disabled 
employees can be tailored to their 
particular needs and the known availability 
of assistance.

These fire doors at Winchester Cathedral were sensitively designed and 
custom made to fit a range of openings.

44 45

Part 3

Evacuation chairs can form a  
useful part of an emergency  
escape strategy, but some people 
may be unable to transfer to a  
chair or may prefer to be carried  
in their wheelchair.

Annex C
Page 324



Easy access to historic buildings

Lighting, signs and information
Lighting

Good lighting allows people to move 
easily and safely into and around buildings. 
Effectively used, it can make obstacles 
appear more obvious and provide guidance 
along routes. 

Lighting should avoid glare, pools of 
bright light and areas of deep shadow. 
Interior lighting schemes may need 
to be supplemented by sensitively 
positioned additional fittings to ensure 
that appropriate levels of illumination are 
achieved, particularly where there are 
stairs or changes in level. For example, 
window blinds can be a useful method of 
eliminating glare or confusing shadows at 
certain times of the day.

Sudden changes in light levels should be 
avoided, and areas of transition from bright 
to dimly lit space should be created where 
possible. It can be helpful to provide a place 
to rest or pause and become accustomed 
to the lower levels of lighting. While high-
contrast lighting schemes that enhance 
the dramatic effect of a building or space 
are becoming increasingly common, it is 
usually possible to ensure that lighting levels 
are more consistent in those areas where 
safety may be an issue.

Signs

Signs should be simple, short, easily 
understood and located where they will 
be well lit and clearly visible. Exterior signs 
need to identify the accessible entrance if 
this is not also the main entrance. Signs can 
also indicate distances to key features or 
areas, the presence and gradient of inclines, 
and how assistance may be obtained. 

Clear and easily visible signs designed to 
a consistent style help everyone – for 
example, people who are deaf or hearing 
impaired may be reluctant to ask for 
directions in case they are unable to hear 
or decipher the response. Signs using 
symbols are useful for people with learning 
disabilities and visitors whose first language 
is not English.

Picture top left: Some 
people, such as this visitor 
to Dyrham Park, will 
require information in 
alternative formats, such 
as Braille. 

© National Trust Images/
David Levenson

At St Luke’s Church in London signs are designed to be 
easy to read. This sign can also be played like a xylophone, 
with a different note for each location.

© Matthew Weinreb – imeagefind.com

Picture below: Accessible 
information can be 
provided in a range of 
ways, as here at the 
National Trust’s ‘Back to 
Backs’ in Birmingham.

© National Trust Images/
David Levenson

44 45

Part 3 Annex C
Page 325



Easy access to historic buildings   

Use of trained staff to provide guided tours can be part of an overall 
access strategy.

© National Trust / Bob Bishop

access guide

English Heritage produces a guide to give 
information on access for visitors to its 
properties.

46 47

Part 3

In general the signboard should contrast 
with its background and the lettering 
should contrast with the signboard. Lower-
case lettering with opening capitals is 
generally easier to read than all capitals. 
The size of the lettering also needs to be 
appropriate for the distance from which 
it will be viewed. The sign itself should 
be at a height that allows it to be seen in 
crowded areas or where queues are likely. 
Braille and embossed information may be 
incorporated in signs in a historic interior, 
provided it is done with sensitivity, although 
it will always be most effective as part of an 
integrated communication scheme. Tactile 
signs are only useful if placed where they 
can be easily reached.

Wherever signs are to be positioned, 
careful consideration needs to be given to 
the way they are fixed and the impact they 
will have on the character of the space to 
which they are being added. Free-standing 
signs may sometimes be more appropriate 
than permanently mounted ones, for 
example when events are taking place.

Information

Comprehensive information about access, 
itself in accessible formats, is often most 
usefully provided in advance of a visit. An 
access guide can be sent out as a leaflet 
or provided on a website to allow people 
to plan their visit. As well as explaining 
how the building can be reached by public 
transport it will describe the parking 
facilities and access arrangements in and 
around the building, highlighting any access 
restrictions and alternative provisions that 
have been made.

All staff, and especially those who deal 
with the public, should be familiar with the 
requirements of disabled people, and with 
the facilities available to them. Training of 
this kind requires a strategic commitment 
on the part of any organisation and is 
particularly effective when it is specifically 
targeted towards each person’s role.

Annex C
Page 326



Easy access to historic buildings

Landscape and 
settings
An accompanying English Heritage guide 
Easy Access to Historic Landscapes has been 
produced to help property owners and 
managers make their historic landscapes 
more accessible to all visitors. Like this 
document, it provides guidance on 
achieving a balance between access and 
conservation and gives examples of good 
practice.

English Heritage's streetscape manuals, 
Streets for All, set out principles of good 
practice for street management – such as 
reducing clutter, co-ordinating design and 
reinforcing local character. The manuals, 
covering each of the English regions, 
provide advice on street design that 
reflects the region's historic character.

Access to a building and its surroundings, or 
to wider historic landscapes, should always 
be considered from the point of arrival, 
whether by foot, car or public transport. 
Many historic paths or drives are made of 
cobble or sett paving, riven stone slabs or 
gravel, all of which can represent a barrier 
to access. These materials are nonetheless 
often an integral part of the significance 
and character of the landscape.

In Tunbridge Wells, where the paving tradition is red and 
blue brick, the tactile surface at crossings is made with 
brick paviors.

The various types of tactile paving can be formed using 
natural stone.

Tactile blister paving in Chichester is made with machined 
York stone to integrate into the surrounding paving.

46 47

Part 3 Annex C
Page 327



Easy access to historic buildings   

The compressed hoggin 
path to the South Terrace 
at Kenwood House 
in London provides a 
suitable surface for all 
to use while still being 
appropriate in the historic 
landscape setting.

These two photographs 
show gravel paths at 
Audley End House. 
Deep gravel can cause 
difficulties for wheelchair 
users and others; bound 
gravel will provide a 
firmer and more even 
surface.

Carefully positioned level 
areas can provide resting 
places on long routes.

At the Tower of London a 
smoother route has been 
provided with paving slabs 
set into an area of stone 
setts.

48 49

Part 3

As with buildings, easy access to gardens 
and landscapes is best achieved by 
understanding their significance and the 
needs of users, thereby balancing the needs 
of access and conservation.  Examples of 
adjustments that could be considered and 
evaluated include:

• replacing existing gravel surfaces with self-
binding gravel to provide a firmer surface

• relaying stone setts with tighter joints or 
pointing them to form a less recessed 
joint

• incorporating a level route within an area 
which has an uneven surface

• introducing alternative routes through 
a park or to a building, and adding 
appropriate signs

• introducing alternative routes which give 
access to certain key features and views 
within the landscape, while acknowledging 
that it may not be possible to access all 
areas

• using interpretation or multimedia 
devices to provide alternative access to 
those areas that will remain physically 
inaccessible

• taking full advantage of the sensory 
qualities of all gardens and landscapes, 
and of seasonal changes

• providing handrails, powered mobility 
vehicles and frequent resting places to 
maximise access for as many people as 
possible

• use of trained staff and guided tours as 
an alternative to making physical changes.

Annex C
Page 328



Easy access to historic buildings

Street furniture and 
seating
Service providers should think carefully 
about the design, location and justification 
for street furniture such as interpretation 
panels, bollards, cycle racks, free-standing 
signs, lamp-posts and waste bins. These can 
become obstacles when set on pedestrian 
routes. Grouping items together can make 
them more easily visible and thus less of a 
hazard.

Benches and internal seating should 
offer a range of heights and a choice 
between those with and without backs 
and armrests. There should also be space 
for a wheelchair user to pull up next to a 
seated companion. Tables, where they are 
provided, should be wheelchair accessible.

Bollards should only be used when absolutely necessary. 
Visual contrast will increase the visibility of these and 
other potential obstacles.

Picture above: Tables such as this one, provided by the 
National Trust at Plas Newydd, Anglesey, allow wheelchair 
users to sit next to seated companions and also give 
space for pushchairs.

© National Trust

Picture right: This interpretation panel at St Augustine’s 
Abbey is carefully positioned to allow use by all visitors.

48 49

Part 3 Annex C
Page 329



Easy access to historic buildings   

Published sources of
information
Primary legislation

Ancient Monuments and Archaeological  
Areas Act 1979

Equality Act 2010

Planning Act 2008

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990

Special Educational Needs and  
Disability Act 2001

Town and Country Planning Act 1990

Official guidance and policy 
documents

Building Regulations 2010.  Approved 
Document M: Access to and Use of Buildings.   
2004 edition with 2010 amendments

BS 7913:1998. Guide to the Principles of 
the Conservation of Historic Buildings. 
British Standards Institute, 1998

BS 8300:2009+A1:2010. Design of Buildings 
and their Approaches to Meet the Needs 
of Disabled People: Code of Practice. British 
Standards Institute, 2010

BS 9999:2008. Code of Practice for Fire 
Safety in the Design, Management and Use 
of Buildings. British Standards Institute, 2008

Conservation Plan Guidance. Heritage 
Lottery Fund, 2012

Equality Act 2010 Code of Practice: 
Employment Statutory Code of Practice. 
Equality and Human Rights  
Commission, 2011

Equality Act 2010 Code of Practice: Services, 
Public Functions and Associations Statutory 
Code of Practice. London: Equality and 
Human Rights Commission, 2011

Making Your Project Accessible for Disabled 
People. Heritage Lottery Fund, 2012

National Planning Policy Framework. 
Department for Communities and Local 
Government, 2012

PPS5: Planning for the Historic Environment 
Planning Practice Guide. Department for 
Communities and Local Government, 2010

50 51

Published sources of information Annex C
Page 330



Easy access to historic buildings

Sources of publications and 
information

British Standards are available from the 
British Standards Institution at 
www.bsigroup.co.uk

Equality and Human Rights Commission 
(EHRC) publications can be downloaded at 
www.equalityhumanrights.com

English Heritage publications are available 
from www.english-heritage.org.uk

Building Regulations Approved documents 
can be downloaded at  
www.planningportal.gov.uk

HMSO and Stationery Office documents 
are available from www.tso.co.uk

UK legislation is available at  
www.legislation.gov.uk

For general enquiries about statutorily 
protected listed buildings, scheduled 
monuments and registered parks and 
gardens in England contact  
customers@english-heritage.org.uk

50 51

Published sources of information Annex C
Page 331



Easy access to historic buildings   

Where to go for
further help
General reading 

Barker, Peter and Fraser, June, 2000. Sign 
Design Guide – A Guide to Inclusive Signage. 
London: JMU Access Partnership and Sign 
Design Society

Brereton, Christopher, 1995. The Repair of 
Historic Buildings:  Advice on Principles and 
Methods. London: English Heritage 

Cave, Adrian, 2007. Making Existing Buildings 
Accessible: Museums and Art Galleries. 
London: RIBA

English Heritage, 2000. Streets for All: 
A Guide to the Management of London’s 
Streets. London: English Heritage

English Heritage, 2005. Streets for All 
(set of eight regional manuals).  
London: English Heritage

English Heritage, 2007. Conservation 
Principles: Policies and Guidance for the 
Sustainable Management of the Historic 
Environment. London: English Heritage

English Heritage, 2013. Practical Building 
Conservation: Conservation Basics. London: 
English Heritage

Penton, John, 2008. Widening the Eye of 
the Needle: Access to Church Buildings for 
People with Disabilities (3rd rev edn). London: 
Church House Publishing

Sawyer, Ann and Bright, Keith, 2008. The 
Access Manual: Auditing and Managing 
Inclusive Built Environments (2nd edn). 
Oxford: Blackwell

Access organisations

Action on Hearing Loss (formerly RNID) 
www.actiononhearingloss.org.uk 
020 7296 8000

Centre for Accessible Environments 
www.cae.org.uk 
020 7822 8232

National Register of Access Consultants 
www.nrac.org.uk 
020 7822 8232

Royal National Institute of Blind People 
www.rnib.org.uk 
0303 123 9999

52 53

Where to go for further help Annex C
Page 332



Easy access to historic buildings

National amenity societies

Ancient Monuments Society 
www.ancientmonumentssociety.org.uk 
020 7236 3934

Council for British Archaeology 
www.archaeologyuk.org 
01904 671 417

The Garden History Society 
www.gardenhistorysociety.org 
020 7608 2409

The Georgian Group 
www.georgiangroup.org.uk 
020 7529 8920 

Society for the Protection of Ancient 
Buildings 
www.spab.org.uk 
020 7377 1644

The Twentieth Century Society 
www.c20society.org.uk 
020 7250 3857

The Victorian Society 
www.victoriansociety.org.uk 
020 8994 1019

Church bodies

Baptist Union of Great Britain 
www.baptist.org.uk 
01235 517700 

Catholic Church in England and Wales 
www.cbcew.org.uk/care-of-churches 
 020 7630 8220

Church Care 
www.churchcare.co.uk (general) 
www.churchcare.co.uk/images/access_
and_disabled_people.pdf (access guidance)
0207 898 1000 (churches) 
020 7898 1888 (cathedrals)

Jewish Heritage UK 
www.jewish-heritage-uk.org 
161 238 8621

The Methodist Church 
www.methodist.org.uk 
020 7486 5502 (helpdesk) 
0161 235 6739 (conservation officer)

Religious Society of Friends (Quakers) 
www.quaker.org.uk/property-matters 
020 7633 1000

General Assembly of Unitarian and Free 
Christian Churches 
www.unitarian.org.uk
020 7240 2384

The United Reformed Church 
www.urc.org.uk 
020 7916 2020

52 53

Where to go for further help Annex C
Page 333



Easy access to historic buildings   

Other bodies

Association of Local Government 
Archaeological Officers UK 
www.algao.org.uk 
01975 564071

Cadw (Heritage in Wales) 
www.cadw.wales.gov.uk 
01443 336000

Department for Communities and Local 
Government 
www.communities.gov.uk 
0303 444 0000

Department of the Environment 
(Northern Ireland) 
www.doeni.gov.uk/niea/built-home 
028 9054 0540

Department for Environment, Food & 
Rural Affairs (DEFRA) 
www.defra.gov.uk 
08459 335577

English Heritage 
www.english-heritage.org.uk 
0870 333 1181 (Customer Services)

Heritage Lottery Fund 
www.hlf.org.uk 
020 7591 6000

Historic Scotland 
www.historic-scotland.gov.uk 
0131 668 8600

Institute of Historic Building Conservation 
www.ihbc.org.uk 
01747 873133 

National Trust 
www.nationaltrust.org.uk 
01793 817400

54 

Where to go for further help Annex C
Page 334



Published December 2012

© English Heritage 2012

Revised text by Ann Sawyer, Centre for 
Accessible Environments, based on first 
edition (2004) text by John Adams and 
Lisa Foster

Edited and brought to press by 
Whimster Associates

Artwork: chacha.co.uk

Images (unless otherwise specified) are 
© English Heritage. Every effort has 
been made to trace copyright holders 
and we apologise in advance for any 
unintentional omissions, which we would 
be pleased to correct in any subsequent 
edition of this publication. 

For copies of this document, or if you 
require an alternative accessible version 
(for instance in audio, Braille or large 
print) please contact:

Customer Services Department 
English Heritage 
PO Box 569 
Swindon SN2 2YP

tel: 0870 333 1181 
fax: 01793 414 926 
textphone: 0800 015 0516

English Heritage is the Government’s 
statutory adviser on the historic 
environment.

www.english-heritage.org.uk

Annex C
Page 335



Annex C
Page 336



 
Annex D 

 

Information Provided by English Heritage on ‘Establishing an  

Access Strategy’ 

 
Any organisation, be it a high street retailer, a museum or a restaurant, that is 
required to make reasonable adjustments under the Equality Act 2010 needs 
first to establish an ‘Access Strategy’. This requires a strategic commitment at 
a high level in the organisation to making the service more inclusive either 
through design or management measures, or more often a combination of the 
two.  
 
A timescale and budget need to be considered, and someone should assume 
responsibility for overseeing, evaluating and reviewing the implementation of 
any measures that are subsequently identified in the access planning process 
which needs to be well documented and transparent.  
 
To help identify what in practice is likely to be ‘reasonable’.  the Code of 
Practice: Services, Public Functions and Associations (2011) produced by the 
Equality and Human Rights Commission states:  
 
“What is a reasonable step for a particular service provider to have to take 
depends on all the circumstances of the case. It will vary according to:  
 
 the type of service being provided  
 the nature of the service provider and its size and resources  
 the effect of the disability on the individual disabled person” 

 
It is important that organisations and professionals do not undertake works 
involving access improvements without a good understanding of the needs of 
people with disabilities and the options available to meet those needs.   
 
The Access Planning Process  
Preparing an Access Plan, and working through the issues it raises is 
fundamental to the process of determining the need for changes to a historic 
building. The process should consider the options available (including the 
provision of the service by other means) the priorities for implementation and 
the likely impact of each proposal on the building’s significance. In reconciling 
access and conservation, the access plan can seek to embody best practice 
in access design and building conservation.  
 
The first step in planning access improvements is to undertake an ‘Access 
Audit’. This will assess and document the barriers to access which exist 
within a building and its surroundings. The complementary part of the process 

Page 337



 
Annex D 

will be to review or prepare a ‘Conservation Assessment’ that will establish 
the relative significance of a building or site in terms of its special 
architectural, historic or archaeological interest. Local authority conservation 
staff can provide advice on compiling these, as can your English Heritage 
regional office.  
 
An access plan:  
 
 Should consider the requirements of wheelchair users and those with 

restricted mobility, sensory impairments, and learning difficulties  
 Should take into account the needs of families with young children 
 Needs to take account of intellectual access which is as important as 

physical access for some disabled people 
 Should be central to any organisation’s strategic commitment to improving 

access  
 Needs to be reviewed regularly so that the current provisions can be kept 

up to date and take account of changes in regulations and in available 
solutions  

 Proposals should be tested before they are incorporated into the access 
plan by focus groups made up of people with disabilities or drawn from a 
local access groups  

 The plan can also inform any access statement required under Approved 
Document Part M of the Building Regulations. 

 
English Heritage believes that dignified access should be provided wherever 
practicable and celebrated with high-quality design that is also sensitive to the 
special interest of historic buildings.  
 
Local authorities who own or manage historic buildings are encouraged to 
adopt access plans that are consistent with the special architectural, historic 
or archaeological interest of the property or landscape concerned.  
 

Page 338



Annex E 

Accessing York’s Heritage & Cultural Offer 

 
York Minster 
The majority of the Minster is accessible with ramps in places. However until 
2016 the building is undergoing a period of transformation, so those requiring 
step free access are recommended to check beforehand for accessibility on 
the day of a proposed visit.  

On Arrival: 
 Designated Disabled car parking (Very limited space by Chapter House, 

phone ahead) 
 Hard surfaced car park  
 Level/ramped wheelchair access to entrance (Ramped access to West 

Door at present.) 
 Level/ramped wheelchair access into venue (Level) 
 Concessionary fee for wheelchair user (No charge for wheelchair user) 
 Concessionary fee for carer (Carer's pay to enter Minster only as the 

Tower is not accessible) 
 Easy access around ground floor/area of site  
 Wheelchair access to gardens/grounds  

Toilets: 
 Wheelchair accessible toilet/toilets  
 Grab rails in toilet  
 Easy access to wash basin and hand dryer/towels  
 Wheelchair turning space in accessible toilet  
 Space for right transfer to toilet  
 Room for carer/carers in accessible toilet  

Cafe/Shop: 
 Level/ramped access to shop  
 Level/ramped access to cafe/tearoom (No cafe/tearoom) 
 Wheelchair accessible picnic area (None seen) 

Other: 
Assistance dogs are welcome, and wheelchairs are available for loan/hire.  In 
certain areas a hearing loop can be made available, given advance notice.  
The Minster also offers special access to exhibits for the visually impaired, 
and guided tours can be provided. 
 
Fairfax House 
Fairfax House covers two floors with access to the first floor being via a 
staircase. Due to the character of this Grade 1 listed building, disabled 
access is limited and only possible with assistance at a ground floor level. 

Page 339



Annex E 

Visitors are encouraged to telephone in advance of their visit with their 
requirements so that staff can endeavour to assist them.  
 
There is a drop-off point for guests immediately outside the main entrance 
and a handrail for the steps up to the entrance. 
  
Information can be made available in audio format, and there is an audible 
alarm system.  There is also clear signage throughout the attraction e.g. 
colour contrast, large letters, pictograms.  
 

Barley Hall 

Barley Hall is a reconstructed medieval townhouse and leads to some 

restrictions for those visitors with mobility and access difficulties. 

Although there is access to the ground floor, the Great Hall features a raised 

threshold at the doorway. The first floor, on which the Parlour, Gallery, and 

Chambers are located, is accessed via a staircase, which some guests may 

find a little steep. Unfortunately, there is no lift to the first floor. 

 

There is a second fairly steep staircase down to the buttery, pantry and 

classroom, although the classroom can be accessed externally. It is advisable 

that small children are looked after when using the staircases.  

 
Visitors are encouraged to telephone in advance of their visit to discuss their 
access requirements.  Vehicles cannot park close to the Hall. The easiest 
access is from Swinegate / Grape Lane where you can park before 11am and 
after 4pm from Monday to Friday, before 10.30am and after 4.30pm on 
Saturday, and before 12pm and after 4pm on Sunday. 

 

Barley Hall has one male and one female toilet. Unfortunately, the Hall does 

not offer separate toilets for disabled guests or permanent baby changing 

facilities at this time 
 
Castle Museum 
On Arrival: 
• The venue does not have its own car park, but there is a car park for 

public use within approx 200m (Castle Car Park). 
 The car park is located at the front of the venue. 

 There is a ramp to access the main entrance. 

 The reception desk is low height. 
 
Inside Access - North Building: 
 There is no level access to the building.  There is a moderate ramp to the 

left within the entrance together with 9 clearly marked steps with a handrail  

Page 340



Annex E 

 
Inside Access - South Building: 
 There is no level access to this building.  There is a steep ramp to the 

right as you enter the building with a level landing at the top.  There are 
also 15+ clearly marked steps with handrails on both sides. 

 
The Museum exhibits cannot be audio described and there is no tactile 
signage or hearing assistance system.  However, concessions and touch 
tours are available.  There is also a wheelchair to borrow, which needs 
booking in advance 

 
Toilets: 

 There are accessible unisex toilets within both buildings but they are not 

for the sole use of disabled people.  The toilets all have level access and 

there is pictorial signage on or near the entrances. 

 The toilets in the south building have lateral transfer space with wall 

mounted grab rails on both sides. 

 In the north building the transfer space is on the right and support rails are 

fitted. 
 
Cafe/Shop: 
Within the Restaurant Bar there is ample room for a wheelchair user to 
manoeuvre, and the menu is clearly written on the wall. 
 
Yorkshire Museum 
The Yorkshire Museum is housed in a building on the old St. Marys Abbey 
site within the museum gardens. 

On Arrival: 
 Level/ramped wheelchair access to entrance (Ramped) 
 Level/ramped wheelchair access into venue (Level) 
 Concessionary fee for carer (Carer get's in free (but be sure to ask)) 
 Easy access around ground floor/area of site  
 Wheelchair access to gardens/grounds (Botanical Gardens separate area 

to visit) 
 Wheelchair access to other floors  
 lift controls at accessible height  

Toilets: 
 Wheelchair accessible toilet/toilets  
 Grab rails in toilet  
 Easy access to wash basin  
 easy access to hand dryer/towels  
 Wheelchair turning space in accessible toilet  

Page 341



Annex E 

 Space for left transfer to toilet  
 Room for carer/carers in accessible toilet  

Cafe/Shop: 
 Level/ramped access to shop  
 Level/ramped access to cafe/tearoom (Tea/coffee machine available in 

shop) 
 Accessible counter/cutlery if self service  
 Sufficient wheelchair access to tables  

Other: 
Assistance dogs are welcome, and wheelchairs are available for loan/hire.  A 
hearing loop is available in the theatre, and the Museum offers special access 
to exhibits for the visually impaired, and wheelchair access to interactive 
exhibits.  
 
Art Gallery 
The gallery is currently closed for major redevelopment and will reopen in 
2015 with 60% more gallery space, a new Centre for British Studio Ceramics 
and improved access arrangements.  Prior to the ongoing renovation work, 
the Art Gallery had a stair lift to the upper gallery and an accessible toilet. 

 
National Railway Museum 
The National Railway Museum in York is a large site which is mainly on one 
level. In the few areas where it is not, facilities have been put in place to 
enable all visitors, whatever their ability, to access the huge variety of 
interesting exhibits and memorabilia stretching back 300 years. 
 
The Great Hall and other exhibition rooms have many huge and ancient 
Railway engines in, some of which have been ramped to provide access up 
to the cab.  There is also a small road train that runs every half an hour from 
the Museum into York Centre which is fully accessible at the rear. 
 
On Arrival: 

 Designated Disabled car parking (hard surfaced car park)  
 Concessionary fee for wheelchair user (Free entrance to all) 
 Level wheelchair access to entrance into venue   
 Wheelchair access to gardens/grounds  
 Wheelchair access to other floors  via lift with controls at accessible 

height  
 
Toilets: 

 Wheelchair accessible toilet/toilets  
 Grab rails in toilet and easy access to wash basin and hand 

dryer/towels  

Page 342

http://www.yorkartgallery.org.uk/Page/Redevelopment2015.aspx


Annex E 

 Wheelchair turning space in accessible toilet  
 Space for left transfer to toilet (near entrance) 
 Space for right transfer to toilet (upstairs in 'works') 
 Room for carer/carers in accessible toilet  

 
Cafe/Shop: 

 Level/ramped access to shop  and cafe/tearoom  
 Accessible counter/cutlery for self service  
 Sufficient wheelchair access to tables  
 Wheelchair accessible picnic area  

 
Other: 
Assistance dogs are welcome.  Wheelchairs are available for loan/hire, and 
wheelchairs have access to the land train via the rear carriage. There is also 
special access to exhibits for the visually impaired.  
 

York Dungeon 
The York Dungeon welcomes guests with disabilities, together with their 
helpers and carers. The majority of the facilities are designed to be fully 
accessible to disabled guests. However it is situated in a Grade 2 Listed 
building leading to some restrictions for guests with mobility scooters. 
 
Navigating around the Dungeon is mainly via level pathways. However due to 
the nature of the attraction some floor surfaces are uneven. Access is also 
gained via low gradient slopes and specialised stair lifts (restrictions apply) to 
the various levels of the attraction. The York Dungeon tour lasts 
approximately 70 minutes, of which most you are required to stand. 
 
For safety reasons they can only accommodate one manual wheelchair user 
at a time, so wheelchair users are advised to book in advance to prevent any 
delays in starting the tour.  In case of an evacuation, there are two flights of 
stairs both with stair lifts (Max weight 120kg/ 18.8 stone) and guests must be 
able to transfer from wheelchair to stair lift unaided by Dungeon staff.   
 
The York Dungeon is not considered suitable for those suffering from 
claustrophobia. 
 
The York Dungeon experience is largely delivered by actors and voiceover 
audio, often in low light levels. Therefore guests with low vision or visual 
impairment and/or hearing difficulties may struggle to experience the 
attraction fully, and may have difficulty navigating around the facility.  
However a helper or carer is welcome to accompany a disabled visitor to 
assist, without charge.  
 

Page 343



Annex E 

Only one carer can receive free entry per disabled guest, and York Dungeon 
also requires documentary proof of disability i.e. blue/orange badge, DLA 
letter or doctor or physician letter.  Disabled guests are encouraged to 
prebook online or via the contact centre to avoid general admission queue 
lines and to book a time slot allocation.    

Where appropriate, York Dungeon’s website also provides access information 
relevant to specific sections of the tour e.g. the Dick Turpin Drop Benches - 
The drop benches are to give the illusion of hanging and give a sudden 
movement; wheelchair users must be able to transfer un-aided into and out of 
the ride seats. The benches are not suitable for visitors with: 

 

 Heart complaints or pacemakers 

 Back or neck complaints 

 Broken limbs or have had recent surgery 

 Pregnant guests 

 Have a condition that may result in injury or complication from quick 
movement 

 
On Arrival: 
Unfortunately the Dungeon does not have any designated parking.  The 
nearest car parks to the York Dungeon are Castle and Piccadilly which both 
have disabled parking bays.  
 
Toilets: 
The York Dungeon has fully accessible toilets. Toilets are located after the 
third show inside the Dungeon i.e. after leaving Guy Fawkes, down the stairs 
before entering Ghosts.  A disabled toilet is situated by the Lost Roman 
Legion Labyrinth.  
 
Other: 
Assistance dogs are welcome in the York Dungeon; however, due to health 
and safety regulations they are not permitted to ride on any rides with the 
guest.  A member of the party must be with the dog at all times, and there are 
loud noises, mist effects and smells (good and nasty) that may be A member 
of the party must be with the dog at all times, and there are loud noises, mist 
effects and smells (good and nasty) that may be distracting to the dogs. 
 
Jorvik Viking Centre 
A tour of the main exhibition lasts approximately 14 minutes and takes you 
around a 'realistic' Viking village with all the smells and sights.  Visitors travel 
round the main exhibition in a pod.  Each pod has a hearing loop to listen to 
the commentary.  A large print transcription of the ride commentary is 

Page 344



Annex E 

available, as is a Braille guide for the Artefacts Alive gallery. Guide dogs are 
welcome in the centre, although the ride may make some dogs nervous. 
 
Wheelchair users are advised to book in advance, as each pod can only 
accommodate one wheelchair at a time.  A wheelchair is placed on a 
movable platform at the front of the pod, and headphones are provided for the 
wheelchair user to listen to the commentary.  On arrival, a wheelchair user 
may also be asked a number of questions to ensure their maximum 
participation in the tour.   
 
Once the tour is finished, wheelchair users can continue into the rest of the 
centre, where there are many other exhibits to see. However if they want to 
go into the shop, which all other visitors exit through, they need to exit the 
building and then re-enter through the main door on the street. 
 
Some of the exhibits are in the basement which can be accessed via a lift - 
the area is quite dim although the floor is lit up underneath and this may 
disorientate some people. It is suggested that visitors who suffer from 
claustrophobia, speak to a member of staff about visiting downstairs, prior to 
paying. 
  
On Arrival: 
 Designated Disabled car parking in nearby Piccadilly Car Park (hard 

surfaced car park)  
 Concessionary fee for wheelchair users, but pre-booking is necessary  
 Level wheelchair access to entrance and easy access around the area of 

the site  
 lift with controls at accessible height  

 
Toilets: 
 Wheelchair accessible toilet/toilets  
 Grab rails and easy access to wash basin and hand dryer/towels  
 Wheelchair turning space in accessible toilet  
 Space for left transfer to toilet  
 Room for carer/carers in accessible toilet  

 
Cafe/Shop: 
 Level/ramped access to shop (Ramped access) 

 
Other: 
Assistance dogs are welcome although some aspects of the ride may make 
them nervous.  Wheelchairs are available for loan/hire, and the Centre offers 
special access to exhibits for the visually impaired.  
 

Page 345



Annex E 

 
 
Ghost Walk Tours  
These are offered via a few companies and many offer tours that are 
accessible for wheelchair users, some for a small concession fee. 
 
York Wheel  
The Wheel is wheelchair accessible as long as patrons are accompanied by a 
travelling companion or a member of staff. 

 
York River Boat Trips 
Wheelchairs users should be sure to book on 'The River Duchess', one of the 
many boats in the fleet owned by York Boat, as it is the only one with a 
disabled access toilet on board.  The boat is wide and fully accessible with 
tables and chairs down the length of its inside bar area. For those who 
are able, there is seating outside up on top, but for those unable to make it up 
there, there is a small seating area to the front of the boat which provides 
outside space for a wheelchair user to enjoy the good weather. 
 
Inside by the bar area is a toilet which has left hand transfer, through a bi-fold 
door, and although the space is on the tight side, with a little manoeuvring, 
access is possible. 
 
On Arrival: 
 Designated Disabled car parking in nearby public Car Parks at St George's 

Field & Castle (both hard surfaced car parks)  
 Ramped access at King's Staith Landing 
 Concessionary fee for wheelchair users and Carers  
 Pre-booking is necessary for wheelchair users to ensure 'River Duchess' is 

available on the day of your choice 
 Easy access around ground floor of boat  

 
Toilets: 
 Wheelchair accessible toilet/toilets  
 Grab rails in toilet and easy access to wash basin and hand dryer/towels  
 Room for carer/carers in accessible toilet  
 Measures to improve the space to side transfer are scheduled  

 
Cafe/Shop: 
 Level access to bar serving drinks & snacks  
 Accessible counter and sufficient wheelchair access to tables  

 
Other: 
Assistance dogs are welcome.  

Page 346



Annex E 

 
 
City Screen York 

The cinema suggests that advance booking is a good idea to enable staff to 

be ready to provide assistance if required.  All areas of the building are 

accessible to customers with limited mobility, including wheelchair users.  

Wheelchair spaces or seats in any particular part of the auditorium can be 

reserved and accompanying carers are eligible for a free ticket. 

 

The Box Office and bar all have adapted counters and accessible levels for 

transactions, and in the event of a fire, wheelchair users and other mobility-

impaired patrons will be evacuated by trained staff using evacuation chairs 

placed at, or near, the top (or bottom if in the basement) of staircases. 

 

For visually impaired customers, guide dogs are welcome, and an aisle seat 

can be reserved.  Alternatively a guide dog can be cared for by a member of 

staff for the duration of the performance.  Large print menus and film 

schedules are also available on request.  All stair rails have embossed tactile 

aids underneath which indicate the number of steps approaching each level. 

Three bumps mean that you are on the third step from the landing, two that 

you are on the second step etc.  

 

For customers with impaired hearing there are induction loop facilities at the 

Box Office and infrared facilities in all three screens.  The Box Office can 

provide receiving equipment to use the infrared system. Customers are asked 

for a credit card or a £5.00 deposit for the equipment, which is fully refunded 

on its return at the end of the screening. Certain performances carry subtitles 

and these are clearly indicated on the weekly listings flyer and in the free 

weekly email newsletter. 

 

There is a lift to the right as you enter the main foyer, which serves all floors 

and the basement areas.  The lift is fitted with a voice commentary and tactile 

aids and it has a telephone to contact a member of staff in an emergency. 

 

On Arrival: 

• Setting down is best done by drawing alongside the cinema in Coney 

Street. This can be done Monday to Friday before 11.00am and after 

4.00pm; Saturday before 10.30am – and after 4.30pm; and Sunday before 

12.00noon and after 4.00pm.   

• There are also parking spaces in St Helen's Square, Parliament Square 

and Davygate for orange-badge holders. 

 

 

Page 347



Annex E 

 

Toilets: 

• The main customer toilets are in the basement, which include a separate 

fully accessible toilet.  

• There is an additional toilet for people with disabilities on the top floor next 

to the entrance to the lift.  

• An emergency call-point  is provided in the disabled toilets should 

assistance be required. 

 
Reel Cinema 
The REEL Cinema website contains no information on the disabled access 

and facilities at each Reel Cinema.  Instead it suggests that cinema goers 

contact their local REEL Cinema for details. 

 
National Centre for Early Music 
The National Centre for Early Music is completely flat-floored throughout 
making it an accessible building for wheelchair users with or without an 
accompanied helper. The National Centre for Early Music has a state-of-the-
art induction hearing loop to ensure good quality of sound. 
 
There are two designated disabled car parking spaces in the adjacent car 
park, an entrance ramp and disabled toilet facilities.  The Centre also has a 
copy of a Braille map of York City Centre, produced by the Royal Institute for 
the Blind, which visitors are welcome to consult. 
 
Their website is also made more accessible as it offers viewers the option to 
increase the size of the text, translate the site into other languages, and to 
have the site read aloud. 

 
The Barbican 
York Barbican’s runs an Access Scheme which entitles patrons with 
disabilities to concessionary ticket prices.  Where patrons with disabilities 
need a carer to assist and attend an event, the combined cost is equivalent to 
the full cost of one ticket. Patrons with disabilities are also asked to provide 
their access requirements so that where possible, they can be seated 
appropriately. 

York Barbican has step-free access into the auditorium, meeting rooms, 
restaurants and bars, and the first floor is accessible via a lift.  Wheelchair 
spaces are located on Balcony Level in the ‘slips’ and in Stalls on either row 
A or row AA, whichever is the front row.  Level access seating is located on 
Balcony row A and Stalls rows A, AA and BB (where rows AA and BB are 
present). Each row B and above on both Stalls and Balcony involves 2 
shallow steps.   

Page 348



Annex E 

Priority Accessible Seats are available to book for those who require level 
access. These seats also have extra leg room and are suitable for those with 
assistance dogs or who normally require an aisle seat. 

The Barbican offers a wheelchair loan service (subject to availability) to help 
patrons to and from their Priority Access seats, and can be requested when 
booking tickets.  However this does not include staff assistance and anyone 
borrowing a wheelchair must be able to use it independently or have the 
assistance of a carer or companion.   

There is a hearing enhancement system in the auditorium and the monthly 
diary is available in alternative formats (large print and audio).  Hearing and 
assistance dogs are welcome throughout the building and auditorium, and 
dog mats are available on request. Aisle seats can also be requested. 

On Arrival: 
• Disabled parking spaces are available at nearby Q-Park Kent Street.  A 

parking voucher for the car park can be bought in advance for the reduced 
York Barbican rate of £5.00, valid from 3.00pm on the day of the concert 
until 9.00am the following morning. There are 4 disabled parking bays for 
Blue Badge holders in Q-Park Kent Street which are available on a first 
come, first served basis on the day. 

• The main entrance/Box Office entrance of York Barbican has level access 
from the piazza on Paragon Street. The ground floor foyer spaces are all 
level access. There is a lift to the upper level (Balcony) and the lift has 
voice announcements and raised lettering on the control panel. 
 

Toilets: 
• An accessible toilet is available on both floors of the Barbican 
 
Cafe/Shop: 
• All bars and the Box Office have low level counter positions. 
 

Grand Opera House 
York Grand Opera House is a member of the Ambassador Theatre Group 
(ATG).  Each of their 39 theatres has an Access Champion who is dedicated 
to ensuring that theatre goers with disabilities have a successful and 
enjoyable visit to the theatre.  
 
They have developed Visual Stories for patrons on the autistic spectrum to 
improve their visit to the theatre. These Visual Stories are intended to help 
prepare any new visitors for the experience of visiting a theatre and to 
familiarise them with their surroundings. 
 
 

Page 349



Annex E 

Detailed information about each theatre's wheelchair spaces, accessible 
toilets, lift services and general accessibility is provided via each theatre's 
website in the ‘Access’ section.  
 
Theatre goers are asked to explain their particular access requirements when 
booking tickets via the dedicated Access booking line and to specify if they 
are able to transfer or need a wheelchair space.  

 
Patrons are recommended to arrive 30 minutes before a performance starts 
and to notify a member of staff if assistance is required.  They recognise that 
many patrons are more comfortable transferring from their wheelchair to a 
theatre seat to watch a performance.  They therefore ask that patrons let 
them know the type of chair that they will be transferring from to ensure the 
theatre is able to store it during the performance. 
  
Each theatre also offers an ‘At Seat Service’ for any patrons with Access 
requirements. Front of House staff will take orders for drinks, ice cream, 
merchandise or kiosk items to be brought to the patron’s seat, both before the 
performance and during the interval, and this free service can be requested 
on arrival. 
 
Guide dogs are welcome in all ATG theatres and can be catered for. Patrons 
are asked to inform a member of staff about their dog at the time of booking 
to ensure that they are booked into the most appropriate and spacious seat. 
 
Audio Described Performances – This is where a verbal commentary is given 
through infra-red headsets to assist patrons who are visually impaired.  
Headsets are collected on arrival at the theatre from a member of staff in the 
foyer. They explain how the headset works and set it to the correct channel.  
 
A trained Audio Describer sits in a box at the back of the auditorium with a 
view of the stage and conducts the description live. An introduction is given 
prior to the show. During silent intervals in the show (e.g. when there is a 
scene change and no dialogue), verbal commentary describes the setting, 
costumes, characters, facial expressions, body language and action. The 
description does not interfere with the performance but fills in the gaps.  
 
Captioned Performances -These are similar to television subtitles and give 
patrons who are deaf, deafened, or hard of hearing access to live 
performance. Captions can also be useful for those whose first language is 
not English. The actors’ words appear on display units at the same time as 
they are spoken or sung. These display units are placed in the set, next to the 
stage, or in the auditorium, and display speakers’ names, sound effects and 
off-stage noises.  

Page 350



Annex E 

Most ATG theatres also have Sennheiser infra-red sound amplification 
systems installed, and offer two types of Hearing Enhancement Aids to 
support this system: 

• Induction Loop Necklace – these are suitable for patrons already wearing 
a Hearing Enhancement Aid.   Sound is amplified by putting the necklace 
around your neck, and switching hearing aids to the ‘T’ setting.  

 

• Headsets – these amplify sound through earpieces similar to regular 
headphones. This is suitable for patrons without a Hearing Aid. Personal 
headphones can be worn if preferred. 

Necklaces and headsets are collected from the theatre’s cloakroom, which 
are normally situated in the theatre’s main foyer. Theatre staff may request 
some form of deposit or identification when audio equipment is collected and 
this is returned on return of the equipment.  

BSL interpreted / Signed performances – these are signed performances for 
the benefit of patrons who use sign language. Trained British Signed 
Language (BSL) signers usually stand to one side of the stage and interpret 
the script used by the performers at the same time as it is being performed.  

 

Not all shows have Audio Described / Captioned / Signed performances - 
those that have are identified within brochures and online. The Access team 
is also aware when these performances are scheduled and are able to assist 
with booking requests, via the dedicated Access booking line, by email to the 
theatre’s Access Champion, or in person at the Box Office.  They can also 
advise on the best seats to book to ensure the best sight lines.  
 
Each theatre’s Access Champion can also provide additional resources, 
which might range from a synopsis of the show in CD format, a large print or 
Braille cast list, to an audio programme. Dependent on availability, these can 
be sent to patrons prior to the performance.  
 
Upcoming Assisted Performances at York Grand Opera House: 
 

• Captioned - Mon 22 Dec 2014 6:30pm Cinderella     
 

• Audio-Described - Sat 20 Sep 2014 2:30pm York Stage Musicals present 
Sister Act  
 

• Relaxed Performance - Mon 29 Dec 2014 2:00pm Cinderella  

ATG also offer Touch Tours and Orientation Visits at all of their theatres.  
Touch Tours give patrons who are visually impaired the opportunity to go up 
on stage and touch parts of the set and any major pieces of scenery, props 

Page 351

http://www.atgtickets.com/shows/cinderella/grand-opera-house-york/#showinfotabs=access
http://www.atgtickets.com/shows/sister-act/grand-opera-house-york/#showinfotabs=access
http://www.atgtickets.com/shows/sister-act/grand-opera-house-york/#showinfotabs=access
http://www.atgtickets.com/shows/cinderella/grand-opera-house-york/#showinfotabs=access


Annex E 

and costumes. This is to help audience members to immerse themselves in 
the imaginary world presented on stage.  Not all shows have Touch 
Tours. But each theatre’s Access Champion can advise on those that have 
and take Touch Tour bookings. 

An orientation visit enable patrons to have a tour of the theatre prior to their 
visit, ask any questions, and learn a bit more about what they can expect 
from the theatre environment. They cover a typical patron’s ‘journey’ from 
booking and collecting tickets to visiting the auditorium, the bars, chill out 
areas and accessible toilets.  They are especially beneficial for patrons who 
use a wheelchair, for groups with additional requirements, for patrons on the 
autistic spectrum, or for those who are going to attend a Relaxed or assisted 
performance.  They are usually organised on an ad hoc basis and can be 
arranged for individuals or groups depending on their needs. The majority of 
Orientation Visits will be arranged between 10am and 6pm on weekdays. It is 
possible to arrange visits at alternative times but if it’s prior to a performance 
it means other audience members would be in the theatre at the time.  
 

Theatre Royal 
The Theatre Royal considers providing ‘Access for All’ an essential part of 
what they do and their mission as a theatre.  They welcome all theatre-goers 
and provide an extensive range of services, and concessions for patrons with 
disabilities. 
  
There are 6 wheelchair spaces in the stalls in the Main House and 4 in The 
Studio.  There is no wheelchair access to other levels but there is an 
accessible toilet. There is also a wheelchair lift to The Studio and Café Bar, 
and there is wheelchair access and a wheelchair lift in the De Grey Rooms. 
  
The Main House has a radio-based hearing aid system , and The Studio is 
fitted with an infra-red hearing aid system.  Patrons are asked to inform the 
Box Office if they require these service when booking tickets. 
  
Audio Description, Signed and Captioned Performances 
Audio described, captioned and sign interpreted performances are available 
for most performances in the Main House with pre-show Touch Tours also 
available.  These can all be booked in advance through the Box Office and 
they recommend that tickets for Audio Described performances are booked at 
least 24 hours in advance.   
 
In addition, audio described and large print brochures are available, and 
guide dogs are welcome - the Theatre provides a 'dog sitting service' and 
water bowls. 
  
 

Page 352



Annex E 

Upcoming Assisted Performances at the Theatre Royal: 
 
• Audio Described - Sat 7 Jun, 2:30pm & 7:30pm - Morecambe 
• Audio Described - Sat 12 Jul, 2:30pm & 7:30pm - A Taste of Honey 
• Audio Described - Thu 21 Aug, 2:30pm & 7:00pm & Sat 23 Aug, 2:30pm & 

7:00pm - The Wind In The Willows 
 
• Signed Performance - Sat 30 Aug, 2:30pm - The Wind In the Willows 
 
• Captioned - Sat 23 Aug, 2.30pm - The Wind In the Willows 
 

 

 

 

Page 353

http://www.yorktheatreroyal.co.uk/shows/Morecambe.php#.UqjQKtJdXN4
http://www.yorktheatreroyal.co.uk/shows/A_Taste_Of_Honey.php#.UqjQSdJdXN4
http://www.yorktheatreroyal.co.uk/shows/The_Wind_In_The_Willows.php#.UqjQYNJdXN4
http://www.yorktheatreroyal.co.uk/shows/The_Wind_In_The_Willows.php#.UqjQYNJdXN4
http://www.yorktheatreroyal.co.uk/shows/The_Wind_In_The_Willows.php#.UqjQYNJdXN4


This page is intentionally left blank



The National Code of Practice for Visitor Attractions

Our Promise To Visitors
The National Code of Practice for Visitor Attractions

For the purpose of the charter a visitor attraction is defined as:

“ A permanently established excursion destination, a primary 
purpose of which is to allow public access for entertainment, 
interest or education and can include places of worship; 
rather than being primarily a retail outlet or a venue for 
sporting, theatrical, or film performances. It must be open  
to the public, for published periods of the year, and should 
be capable of attracting day visitors or tourists, as well as 
local residents.”

www.visitengland.org

Annex FPage 355



The National Code of Practice for Visitor Attractions

The owner and management undertake:

1.  To provide in promotional materials, an accurate description of the amenities, facilities  
and services of the Attraction. 

2.  To indicate on all such promotional materials any requirements for pre-booking,  
and any significant restrictions on entry. 

3.  To welcome all visitors courteously and without discrimination in relation to gender, sexual 
orientation, disability, race, religion or belief. To respect the requirements of the Equality Act 
2010 by making ‘reasonable’ adjustments to improve service for disabled people and make 
available an Access Statement describing the accessibility aspects of a visit to the Attraction. 

4.   To describe accurately and display clearly:  
a) Any charges for entry including service charges and taxes where applicable  
 and any additional charges for individual attractions or special exhibitions  
b) Dates and hours of operation, both opening and closing.

5.  To provide in promotional materials for visitor enquiries; a postal address, an e-mail 
address, a telephone number and a website address from which the detailed information 
specified in 1, 2, 3 and 4 can be obtained.

6.  To hold a current public liability insurance policy or comparable Government indemnity,  
and to comply with all applicable planning, health, safety, fire and other statutory 
requirements and regulations. 

7.  To provide signage and orientation information as appropriate to the Attraction,  
to assist visitors in understanding and enjoying the Attraction.

8.  To consider the needs of visitors for whom English is not their first language and 
as appropriate to the Attraction, to make arrangements that enable them to be adequately 
informed to enjoy their visit.

9.  To manage the Attraction in such a way as to ensure visitor safety, comfort and service,  
by sustaining a high standard of maintenance, customer care, courtesy and cleanliness.

10.  To ensure that all staff who meet visitors can provide information and guidance about  
the Attraction, and are readily distinguishable as staff, whether employees or volunteers.

Annex FPage 356



The National Code of Practice for Visitor Attractions

11.  To have regard to the need to manage and operate the Attraction in a sustainable way. 

12.  To provide, as appropriate to the nature, scale and location of the Attraction; coach,  
car, motor-cycle and bicycle parking, adequate toilets, and catering facilities. If any  
of these requirements cannot be made available on site, to provide information at 
appropriate points on where they can be found locally.

13.  To deal promptly and courteously with all enquiries, requests, reservations,  
correspondence and comments from visitors and try to resolve any complaints  
on site at the time of the visit.

14.  To provide a facility on site for comments to be recorded and to advise clearly the name  
and contact details (address, telephone and e-mail) of the person to whom comments  
by visitors should be addressed.

15. To display prominently the National Code of Practice Certificate.

Further explanation of the points of the National Code of Practice can be found on the 
VisitEngland website under Business Development.

All visitor attractions are encouraged to fully utilise the VAQAS business support tool.  
The Visitor Attraction Quality Assurance Scheme is managed by VisitEngland and 
provides an annual visit by an independent assessor followed by a detailed report.  
Information on how to join the VAQAS scheme can be found on the VisitEngland website 
under Business Development.

Current participants of VAQAS need not apply for the National Code of Practice as 
VAQAS provides automatic sign up to the Code.

Annex FPage 357



The National Code of Practice for Visitor Attractions

Withdrawal of Registered Status & Appeals Procedure

Where VisitEngland has reason to believe that a Registered Visitor Attraction may not be conforming to 
the requirements of the National Code of Practice, it will notify the proprietor, in writing, of the reason. 
A copy of the letter will also be sent to the appropriate  tourism authority and industry sector 
association (where applicable).

If no satisfactory answer is received from the proprietor within 14 days, VisitEngland may, at its own 
discretion, elect to remove the Registered status of the attraction. In such cases, VisitEngland will notify 
the proprietor of its intention (again copying the tourism authority and industry sector association). 
The proprietor will have the right to appeal against the decision, provided the appeal is submitted to 
VisitEngland, in writing, within 14 days of receipt of such notification.

Consideration of an appeal will be subject to the payment of an Appeal Fee of £150, payable to 
VisitEngland. The purpose of the Appeal Fee is to defray the costs that might be incurred in visiting  
the attraction. The fee will be refunded in the event of the appeal being upheld.

Where an appeal is made, an Appeals Panel will be formed consisting of:

• A VisitEngland representative

• A representative of the relevant tourism authority

•  Two representatives of visitor attractions within the same region, one of whom may be  
replaced by a representative of the relevant industry sector association.

The Appeals Panel will meet as soon as is practicable, but in any event, no longer than 28 days after  
the submission of the appeal.

The Apellant, or his/her representative will be invited to a meeting of the Panel.

After hearing the evidence, the Panel may, at its discretion, decide to visit the attraction before arriving 
at its decision. In such cases, the proprietor or his/her representative, will be invited to accompany  
the visit.

The recommendation of the Appeals Panel will be notified to VisitEngland and the Apellant in writing. 
VisitEngland’s decision, based on the recommendation of the Appeals Panel, will be final.

During the period of the appeal, the attraction’s eligibility to participate in national and local tourist 
board promotions will not be suspended.

Where the Registered status of an attraction has been withdrawn, it may re-apply to VisitEngland to be 
Registered again after one year. Applicants seeking to be re-Registered will be required to pay a fee of 
£150. Registered status will not be restored until the attraction has been inspected by VisitEngland and 
has been found to conform to the requirements of the National Code of Practice1. 

1 Footnote : Registered status does not automatically confer the right to membership of a tourism authority. It is entirely  
at the discretion of each tourist board whether a Registered visitor attraction is accepted or retained as a member.

Published by VisitEngland

Annex FPage 358


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	4 Disabled Access to York's Heritage & Cultural Offer - Interim Report
	Annex A UK Customer Profile on Disability
	Annex B Equality Act 2013 Extract
	Annex C English Heritage Booklet
	Annex D English Heritage Access Strategy Info
	Annex E
	Annex F VisitEngland Code of Practicefor Visitor Attractions




